

UNIVERSIDAD DE GRANADA

OPTIMUM DESIGN AND NOVEL CONTROL TECHNIQUES FOR ISOLATED, RESONANT AND QUASI-RESONANT, DCDC CONVERTERS

DISEÑO OPTIMIZADO Y TÉCNICAS DE CONTROL PARA CONVERTIDORES DCDC RESONANTES Y CUASI-RESONANTES CON AISLAMIENTO

A thesis submitted to the University of Granada in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy in Information and Communication Technologies

> Presented by: Manuel Escudero Rodríguez

> Supervisors: Diego Pedro Morales Santos Noel Rodríguez Santiago

Programa de Doctorado en Tecnologías de la Información y las Comunicaciones

Departamento de Electrónica y Tecnología de Computadores

Agosto 2021

Copyright 2021, Manuel Escudero Rodríguez

Editor: Universidad de Granada. Tesis Doctorales Autor: Manuel Escudero Rodríguez ISBN: 978-84-1117-142-7 URI: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10481/71760</u>

OPTIMUM DESIGN AND NOVEL CONTROL TECHNIQUES FOR ISOLATED, RESONANT AND QUASI-RESONANT, DCDC **CONVERTERS**

Thesis Acceptance

This student's Thesis, entitled "Optimum design and novel control techniques for isolated, resonant and quasi-resonant, DCDC converters" has been examined by the undersigned committee of examiners and has received full Approval for acceptance in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

APPROVAL: Chief Examiner

Declaración / Declaration

El doctorando / *The doctoral candidate* [Manuel Escudero Rodríguez] y los directores de la tesis / *and the thesis supervisor/s*: [Diego Pedro Morales Santos, y Noel Rodríguez Santiago]

Garantizamos, al firmar esta tesis doctoral, que el trabajo ha sido realizado por el doctorando bajo la dirección de los directores de la tesis y hasta donde nuestro conocimiento alcanza, en la realización del trabajo, se han respetado los derechos de otros autores a ser citados, cuando se han utilizado sus resultados o publicaciones.

Guarantee, by signing this doctoral thesis, that the work has been done by the doctoral candidate under the direction of the thesis supervisor/s and, as far as our knowledge reaches, in the performance of the work, the rights of other authors to be cited (when their results or publications have been used) have been respected.

Lugar y fecha / *Place and date*:

Director/es de la Tesis / Thesis supervisor/s;

Doctorando / Doctoral candidate:

Firma / Signed

Firma / Signed

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Thank you to my supervisors, Dr. Diego Pedro Morales Santos and Dr. Noel Rodríguez Santiago, for providing guidance and feedback throughout this project. Thank you to my collegues at Infineon Technologies AG, Matteo-Alessandro Kutschak and Dr. David Meneses Herrera, for their support and constructive discussions. Thanks also to Alfredo Medina Garcia, my first mentor at Infineon Technologies AG, who gave me my first opportunity of working abroad and introduced me to the world of the Switched Mode Power Supplies.

SUMMARY

MOTIVATION AND OBJECTIVES

The power supplies or power converters are required in many applications to convert between the AC of the distribution grid to AC or DC at different voltage and current levels required by the electric loads. Each application may include different conversion steps and at different voltage levels. In every conversion step part of the energy is lost and dissipated in the form of unwanted heat. The conversion efficiency in every step is the result of dividing the utilized output power by the total input power in the converter. The total efficiency of the system is the result of multiplying the individual efficiencies of the stages, and will always be necessarily lower than the minimum of the individual efficiencies in the conversion chain.

Traditional linear power supplies have been extensively replaced by the more efficient and smaller Switched Mode Power Supplies (SMPS). SMPS makes use of semiconductor switches commutating at a relatively high frequency and reactive circuit elements (inductors and capacitors) to perform the power conversion. The semiconductor switches in SMPS alternate between their on state, where their voltage drop is minimal, and their off state, where they don't conduct current. However, during the switches turn-on transition and turn-off transition, there is certain overlap of voltage and current which causes switching losses.

For the currently available semiconductor power switching devices the resonant and quasi-resonant converters are the most attractive options for achieving high efficiency, high power density or a combination of both at a reasonable cost. The key advantage of the resonant and quasi-resonant converters is the reduction of the switching losses. The switching losses can be reduced achieving Zero Voltage Switching (ZVS) for the turn-on transition and Zero Current Switching (ZCS) for the turn-off transition.

Among the isolated, resonant and quasi-resonant DCDC converter topologies, the most common ones in medium-high power and high-voltage applications are the series-parallel resonant converter (LLC), the Phase Shifted Full Bridge (PSFB) and the Dual Active Bridge (DAB) due to their simplicity and high efficiencies. Among those topologies each one has its own advantages and disadvantages, which makes each of them best suited for different applications, power and voltage ranges.

This thesis is focused in the study of the LLC and the PSFB. Both of this topologies are very promising and well suited for any of the available power switch semiconductor technologies in the market, and more specifically for Si Super Junction (SJ) MOSFETs, which are the most mature devices and the most competitive in cost currently and in the foreseeable future. The general objective of this thesis is the optimization, improved reliability and functionality of the LLC and the PSFB converters maintaining as much as possible the simplicity of the standard circuit configuration.

Therefore, this thesis comprises the design and construction of several DCDC converters with similar specifications and similar magnetic structures to study the achievable performance of the two main topologies objective of this work: LLC and PSFB. More specifically, the fundamental research objectives of this thesis include:

- The development of very high-efficiency DCDC converters for server applications, including the design optimization of quasi-resonant converters experimentally demonstrated with a 1.4 kW PSFB converter from 400 V to 12 V.
- The development of very high-efficiency DCDC converters for telecommunitation applications, including the design optimization of quasi-resonant converters, experimentally demonstrated with a 3.3 kW PSFB converter from 380 V to 54.5 V, and the design optimization of resonant converters, experimentally demostrated with a 3.3 kW half-bridge LLC converter from 400 V to 52 V.
- The development of bidirectional DCDC converters for Electrical Energy Storage (EES) applications, including the bidirectional operation of traditionally considered non-bidirectional PSFB converters, experimentally demonstrated with a 3.3 kW bidirectional PSFB from 380 V to 54 V and from 50 V to 400 V.
- The integration of a very high-efficiency DCDC converter in a complete two-stage off-line Power Supply Unit (PSU) for server applications, experimentally demonstrated with a 3 kW totem-pole ACDC converter followed by a 3 kW half-bridge LLC DCDC converter from 400 V to 50 V.

Once the objectives have been outlined and after the previous brief theoretical background, in the following we summarize the several contributions of this thesis together with the most relevant results obtained and the conclusions that could be derived from them.

RESULTS AND CONCLUSIONS

It has been found that, although PSFB can achieve higher efficiencies than what is commonly expected thanks to the newest devices and the newly proposed control techniques, the LLC is still potentially superior and capable

of higher efficiencies with less components at a lesser cost. However, in bidirectional applications the large signal gain range of the PSFB makes it arguably superior to the LLC.

A 3300 W bidirectional PSFB DCDC converter from 380 V to 54 V has been designed and built achieving 98 % efficiency in forward or buck mode and 97% in reverse or boost mode. The achieved power density is in the range of 4.34 W/cm³ (71.19 W/in³), which is enabled by the use of Surface Mount Device (SMD) packages, the innovative stacked magnetic construction and the innovative cooling solution. This DCDC converter proves the feasibility of PSFB topology as a high efficiency topology at the level of fully resonant topologies when combined with the latest SJ MOSFET technologies. This DCDC converter proves as well that the PSFB topology can be used as a bidirectional DCDC stage without changes in the standard design or construction of a traditional and well known topology, but only through innovations in control techniques powered by digital control.

A 3300 W LLC DCDC converter from 400 V to 51.5 V has been designed and built achieving 98.1 % peak of efficiency. The achieved power density is in the range of 4 W/cm³ (66 W/in³). The optimized layout and an optimized driving circuitry achieves benchmark performance with minimum stress on the devices, enabled also by the innovative cooling concepts presented in this converter. This DCDC converter proves the feasibility of the half-bridge LLC as a high-efficiency topology for a 3300 W converter, at the level of full-bridge LLC or a dual stage LLC. This DCDC converter also proves that digital control is not only capable of controlling the LLC topology but the most effective way to overcome its difficulties and pitfalls. Moreover, the included protections mechanisms and control schemes further boost the reliability and performance of the converter achieving the best possible efficiency.

A 1400 W PSFB DCDC converter from 400 V to 12 V has been designed and built achieving 97 % peak efficiency. The achieved power density is in the range of 3.70 W/cm³ (60.78 W/in³) thanks to the full SMD solution. This DCDC converter proves that an analytical optimum design procedure can further boost the performance of the PSFB near fully resonant topologies for low voltage outputs.

Finally, a complete 3 kW two stage off-line PSU for server applications has been designed and built achieving 97.5 % peak efficiency. The overall outer dimensions of the PSU are 73.5 mm x 520 mm x 40 mm, which yields a power density in the range of 32 W/inch³ (1.95 W/cm³). Due to the outer dimension limits, a planar transformer with reduced height and volume was preferred for this design.

In the next paragraphs the described contributions correspond to the published works that constitute this thesis by compendium of publications.

In the first contribution, a novel modulation scheme is proposed for the bidirectional operation of the PSFB DCDC converter reducing the secondary side rectifiers overshoot without requiring additional circuitry or lossy snubbering techniques. The novel modulation scheme is experimentally demonstrated in a 3.3 kW PSFB DCDC converter with nominal 380 V input and nominal 54.5 V output.

M. Escudero, D. Meneses, N. Rodriguez and D. P. Morales, "Modulation Scheme for the Bidirectional Operation of the Phase-Shift Full-Bridge Power Converter," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 35, no. 2, pp. 1377-1391, Feb. 2020.

In the second contribution, a novel modulation scheme is proposed for the reduction of the overshoot in the secondary side rectifiers in PSFB DCDC converters operating in Discontinuous Conduction Mode (DCM). Furthermore, other secondary side rectifiers overshoot causes are analyzed and solutions proposed for each of the scenarios. The novel modulation scheme and the design principles are experimentally demonstrated in a 3.3 kW PSFB DCDC converter with nominal 380 V input and nominal 54.5 V output.

M. Escudero, M. Kutschak, D. Meneses, D. P. Morales and N. Rodriguez, "Synchronous Rectifiers Drain Voltage Overshoot Reduction in PSFB Converters," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 35, no. 7, pp. 7419-7433, July 2020.

In the third contribution, a detailed set of design criteria for PSFB DCDC converters is proposed. The design optimization procedure is experimentally demonstrated with the design of a new 1.4 kW PSFB DCDC converter further exceeding the efficiency and power density of a previous 1.4 kW PSFB DCDC converter with similar specifications, input voltage (400 V) and output voltage (12 V).

Escudero, M.; Kutschak, M.-A.; Meneses, D.; Rodriguez, N.; Morales, D.P. A Practical Approach to the Design of a Highly Efficient PSFB DC-DC Converter for Server Applications. *Energies* 2019, *12*, 3723.

In the fourth contribution the impact in the performance and the design of resonant ZVS converters of the nonlinear distribution of charge in the capacitances of semiconductor devices is analyzed. A Si SJ device is compared to a SiC device of equivalent $C_{oss(tr)}$, and to a GaN device of equivalent $C_{oss(er)}$, in single device topologies and half-bridge based topologies, in full ZVS and in partial or full hard-switching. A prototype of 3300 W resonant LLC DCDC converter, with nominal 400 V input to 52 V output, was designed and built to demonstrate the validity of the analysis. M. Escudero, M. Kutschak, N. Fontana, N. Rodriguez and D. P. Morales, "Non-Linear Capacitance of Si SJ MOSFETs in Resonant Zero Voltage Switching Applications," in *IEEE Access*, vol. 8, pp. 116117-116131, 2020.

In the fifth contribution the design of a new complete power supply for server applications is discussed. The main constraints of the new solution are the very high peak efficiency, the long hold-up time and the maximum outer dimension. The PSU is comprised of a front-end ACDC bridgeless totem-pole PFC and a back-end DCDC half-bridge LLC. Due to the extended hold-up time, the PSU requires large intermediate energy storage and an extended gain range for the LLC. Due to the outer dimension limits, a planar transformer with reduced height and volume is preferred. Finally, the very high efficiency target requires a careful design based on the accurate modeling of the overall losses of the converter. The analysis is demonstrated experimentally with a 3 kW PSU achieving 97.47 % of efficiency at 230 VAC.

M. Escudero, M. -A. Kutschak, D. Meneses, N. Rodriguez and D. P. Morales, "High Efficiency, Narrow Output Range and Extended Hold-Up Time Power Supply with Planar and Integrated Magnetics for Server Applications," PCIM Europe digital days 2021; International Exhibition and Conference for Power Electronics, Intelligent Motion, Renewable Energy and Energy Management, 2021, pp. 1-8.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER 2. STATE OF THE ART	8

SECTION I. CONVERTERS

CHAPTER 3. PSFB 1400 W FOR SERVER APPLICATIONS	26
CHAPTER 4. BIDIRECTIONAL 3300 W PSFB	39
CHAPTER 5. HALF BRIDGE LLC 3300 W	55
CHAPTER 6. SERVER AND DATACENTER 3000 W 50 V PSU	76

SECTION II. PUBLICATIONS

CHAPTER 7. FIRST PUBLICATION. MODULATION SCHEME FOR THE BIDIRECTIONAL OPERATION OF THE PHASE SHIFT FULL BRIDGE POWER CONVERTER
CHAPTER 8. SECOND PUBLICATION. SYNCHRONOUS RECTIFIERS DRAIN VOLTAGE OVERSHOOT REDUCTION IN PSFB CONVERTERS
CHAPTER 9. THIRD PUBLICATION. A PRACTICAL APPROACH TO THE DESIGN OF A HIGH EFFICIENT PSFB DC-DC CONVERTER FOR SERVER APPLICATIONS
CHAPTER 10. FOURTH PUBLICATION. NON-LINEAR CAPACITANCE OF SI SJ MOSFETS IN RESONANT ZERO VOLTAGE SWITCHING APPLICATIONS
CHAPTER 11. FIFTH PUBLICATION. HIGH EFFICIENCY, NARROW OUTPUT RANGE AND EXTENDED HOLD-UP TIME POWER SUPPLY WITH PLANAR AND INTEGRATED MAGNETICS FOR SERVER APPLICATIONS
SECTION III. PATENTS
CHAPTER 12. FREQUENCY MODULATION OF PSFB FOR INPUT VOLTAGE RANGE EXTENSION
CHAPTER 13. MODULATION SCHEME FOR THE RESET OF CIRCULATING CURRENT IN PSFB
CHAPTER 14. SWITCHED CAPACITOR DRIVING SCHEME FOR POWER SEMICONDUCTORS
CHAPTER 15. MODULATION SCHEME FOR THE COLD START-UP OF THE ISOLATED BOOST CONVERTER
CHAPTER 16. MODULATION SCHEME FOR THE GAIN RANGE EXTENSION AND BIDIRECTIONAL OPERATION OF LLC CONVERTERS216
SECTION IV. CONCLUSION

CHAPTER 17. RESULTS AND CONCLUSIONS	:3
-------------------------------------	----

LIST OF SYMBOLS

AC	Alternate Current
ACDC	Alternate Current to Direct Current
CCM	Continuous Conduction Mode
CLLC	Capacitor Inductor Inductor Capacitor
CrCM	Critical Conduction Mode
DAB	Dual Active Bridge
DC	Direct Current
DCDC	Direct Current to Direct Current
DCM	Discontinuous Conduction Mode
DPS	Double Phase Shift
EES	Electrical Energy Storage
EPS	Extended Phase Shift
EMI	Electromagnetic Interference
FHA	First Harmonic Approximation
FoM	Figure of Merit
Fres	Resonant Frequency
Fsw	Switching Frequency
GUI	Graphical User Interface
HB	Half Bridge
HEMT	High Electron Mobility Transistor
HS	High Side
HV	High Voltage
IGBT	Isolated Gate Bipolar Transistor
LCC	Inductor Capacitor Capacitor
LLC	Inductor Inductor Capacitor
LS	Low Side
LV	Low Voltage
MOSFET	Metal Oxide Semiconductor Field Effect Transistor
OCP	Over Current Protection
OVP	Over Voltage Protection
U . I	
PFC	Power Factor Correction
PFC PRC	Power Factor Correction Parallel Resonant Converter
PFC PRC PSFB	Power Factor Correction Parallel Resonant Converter Phase Shift Full Bridge
PFC PRC PSFB PWM	Power Factor Correction Parallel Resonant Converter Phase Shift Full Bridge Pulse Width Modulated
PFC PRC PSFB PWM Ooss	Power Factor Correction Parallel Resonant Converter Phase Shift Full Bridge Pulse Width Modulated Charge stored in the output capacitance
PFC PRC PSFB PWM Qoss Orr	Power Factor Correction Parallel Resonant Converter Phase Shift Full Bridge Pulse Width Modulated Charge stored in the output capacitance Reverse recovery charges
PFC PRC PSFB PWM Qoss Qrr RCD	Power Factor Correction Parallel Resonant Converter Phase Shift Full Bridge Pulse Width Modulated Charge stored in the output capacitance Reverse recovery charges Resistor Capacitor Diode
PFC PRC PSFB PWM Qoss Qrr RCD Rds.on	Power Factor Correction Parallel Resonant Converter Phase Shift Full Bridge Pulse Width Modulated Charge stored in the output capacitance Reverse recovery charges Resistor Capacitor Diode On state Drain to Source Resistance
PFC PRC PSFB PWM Qoss Qrr RCD Rds,on Si	Power Factor Correction Parallel Resonant Converter Phase Shift Full Bridge Pulse Width Modulated Charge stored in the output capacitance Reverse recovery charges Resistor Capacitor Diode On state Drain to Source Resistance Silicon
PFC PRC PSFB PWM Qoss Qrr RCD Rds,on Si SiC	Power Factor Correction Parallel Resonant Converter Phase Shift Full Bridge Pulse Width Modulated Charge stored in the output capacitance Reverse recovery charges Resistor Capacitor Diode On state Drain to Source Resistance Silicon Silicon Carbide
PFC PRC PSFB PWM Qoss Qrr RCD Rds,on Si SiC SJ	Power Factor Correction Parallel Resonant Converter Phase Shift Full Bridge Pulse Width Modulated Charge stored in the output capacitance Reverse recovery charges Resistor Capacitor Diode On state Drain to Source Resistance Silicon Silicon Carbide Super Junction
PFC PRC PSFB PWM Qoss Qrr RCD Rds,on Si SiC SJ SMD	Power Factor Correction Parallel Resonant Converter Phase Shift Full Bridge Pulse Width Modulated Charge stored in the output capacitance Reverse recovery charges Resistor Capacitor Diode On state Drain to Source Resistance Silicon Silicon Carbide Super Junction Surface Mount Devices
PFC PRC PSFB PWM Qoss Qrr RCD Rds,on Si SiC SJ SMD SMPS	Power Factor Correction Parallel Resonant Converter Phase Shift Full Bridge Pulse Width Modulated Charge stored in the output capacitance Reverse recovery charges Resistor Capacitor Diode On state Drain to Source Resistance Silicon Silicon Carbide Super Junction Surface Mount Devices Switched Mode Power Supply
PFC PRC PSFB PWM Qoss Qrr RCD Rds,on Si SiC SJ SMD SMPS SPS	Power Factor Correction Parallel Resonant Converter Phase Shift Full Bridge Pulse Width Modulated Charge stored in the output capacitance Reverse recovery charges Resistor Capacitor Diode On state Drain to Source Resistance Silicon Silicon Carbide Super Junction Surface Mount Devices Switched Mode Power Supply Single Phase Shift
PFC PRC PSFB PWM Qoss Qrr RCD Rds,on Si SiC SJ SMD SMPS SPS SR	Power Factor Correction Parallel Resonant Converter Phase Shift Full Bridge Pulse Width Modulated Charge stored in the output capacitance Reverse recovery charges Resistor Capacitor Diode On state Drain to Source Resistance Silicon Silicon Carbide Super Junction Surface Mount Devices Switched Mode Power Supply Single Phase Shift Synchronous Rectifier
PFC PRC PSFB PWM Qoss Qrr RCD Rds,on Si SiC SJ SMD SMPS SPS SR SRC	Power Factor Correction Parallel Resonant Converter Phase Shift Full Bridge Pulse Width Modulated Charge stored in the output capacitance Reverse recovery charges Resistor Capacitor Diode On state Drain to Source Resistance Silicon Silicon Carbide Super Junction Surface Mount Devices Switched Mode Power Supply Single Phase Shift Synchronous Rectifier Series Resonant Converter
PFC PRC PSFB PWM Qoss Qrr RCD Rds,on Si SiC SJ SMD SMPS SPS SR SRC THD	Power Factor Correction Parallel Resonant Converter Phase Shift Full Bridge Pulse Width Modulated Charge stored in the output capacitance Reverse recovery charges Resistor Capacitor Diode On state Drain to Source Resistance Silicon Silicon Carbide Super Junction Surface Mount Devices Switched Mode Power Supply Single Phase Shift Synchronous Rectifier Series Resonant Converter Total Harmonic Distortion
PFC PRC PSFB PWM Qoss Qrr RCD Rds,on Si SiC SJ SMD SMPS SPS SR SRC THD Tj	Power Factor Correction Parallel Resonant Converter Phase Shift Full Bridge Pulse Width Modulated Charge stored in the output capacitance Reverse recovery charges Resistor Capacitor Diode On state Drain to Source Resistance Silicon Silicon Carbide Super Junction Surface Mount Devices Switched Mode Power Supply Single Phase Shift Synchronous Rectifier Series Resonant Converter Total Harmonic Distortion Junction Temperature
PFC PRC PSFB PWM Qoss Qrr RCD Rds,on Si SiC SJ SMD SMPS SPS SR SRC THD Tj TPS	Power Factor Correction Parallel Resonant Converter Phase Shift Full Bridge Pulse Width Modulated Charge stored in the output capacitance Reverse recovery charges Resistor Capacitor Diode On state Drain to Source Resistance Silicon Silicon Carbide Super Junction Surface Mount Devices Switched Mode Power Supply Single Phase Shift Synchronous Rectifier Series Resonant Converter Total Harmonic Distortion Junction Temperature Triple Phase Shift
PFC PRC PSFB PWM Qoss Qrr RCD Rds,on Si SiC SJ SMD SMPS SPS SR SRC THD Tj TPS UART	Power Factor Correction Parallel Resonant Converter Phase Shift Full Bridge Pulse Width Modulated Charge stored in the output capacitance Reverse recovery charges Resistor Capacitor Diode On state Drain to Source Resistance Silicon Silicon Carbide Super Junction Surface Mount Devices Switched Mode Power Supply Single Phase Shift Synchronous Rectifier Series Resonant Converter Total Harmonic Distortion Junction Temperature Triple Phase Shift Universal Asynchronous Receiver Transmitter
PFC PRC PSFB PWM Qoss Qrr RCD Rds,on Si SiC SJ SMD SMPS SPS SR SRC THD Tj TPS UART UPS	Power Factor Correction Parallel Resonant Converter Phase Shift Full Bridge Pulse Width Modulated Charge stored in the output capacitance Reverse recovery charges Resistor Capacitor Diode On state Drain to Source Resistance Silicon Silicon Carbide Super Junction Surface Mount Devices Switched Mode Power Supply Single Phase Shift Synchronous Rectifier Series Resonant Converter Total Harmonic Distortion Junction Temperature Triple Phase Shift Universal Asynchronous Receiver Transmitter Uninterruptible Power Supply
PFC PRC PSFB PWM Qoss Qrr RCD Rds,on Si SiC SJ SMD SMPS SPS SR SRC THD Tj TPS UART UPS USB	Power Factor Correction Parallel Resonant Converter Phase Shift Full Bridge Pulse Width Modulated Charge stored in the output capacitance Reverse recovery charges Resistor Capacitor Diode On state Drain to Source Resistance Silicon Silicon Carbide Super Junction Surface Mount Devices Switched Mode Power Supply Single Phase Shift Synchronous Rectifier Series Resonant Converter Total Harmonic Distortion Junction Temperature Triple Phase Shift Universal Asynchronous Receiver Transmitter Uninterruptible Power Supply Universal Serial Bus
PFC PRC PSFB PWM Qoss Qrr RCD Rds,on Si SiC SJ SMD SMPS SPS SR SRC THD Tj TPS UART UPS USB UVP	Power Factor Correction Parallel Resonant Converter Phase Shift Full Bridge Pulse Width Modulated Charge stored in the output capacitance Reverse recovery charges Resistor Capacitor Diode On state Drain to Source Resistance Silicon Silicon Carbide Super Junction Surface Mount Devices Switched Mode Power Supply Single Phase Shift Synchronous Rectifier Series Resonant Converter Total Harmonic Distortion Junction Temperature Triple Phase Shift Universal Asynchronous Receiver Transmitter Uninterruptible Power Supply Universal Serial Bus Under Voltage Protection
PFC PRC PSFB PWM Qoss Qrr RCD Rds,on Si SiC SJ SMD SMPS SPS SR SRC THD Tj TPS UART UPS USB UVP UVLO	Power Factor Correction Parallel Resonant Converter Phase Shift Full Bridge Pulse Width Modulated Charge stored in the output capacitance Reverse recovery charges Resistor Capacitor Diode On state Drain to Source Resistance Silicon Silicon Carbide Super Junction Surface Mount Devices Switched Mode Power Supply Single Phase Shift Synchronous Rectifier Series Resonant Converter Total Harmonic Distortion Junction Temperature Triple Phase Shift Universal Asynchronous Receiver Transmitter Uninterruptible Power Supply Universal Serial Bus Under Voltage Protection Under Voltage Lockout
PFC PRC PSFB PWM Qoss Qrr RCD Rds,on Si SiC SJ SMD SMPS SPS SR SRC THD Tj TPS UART UPS UART UPS USB UVP UVLO WBG	Power Factor Correction Parallel Resonant Converter Phase Shift Full Bridge Pulse Width Modulated Charge stored in the output capacitance Reverse recovery charges Resistor Capacitor Diode On state Drain to Source Resistance Silicon Silicon Carbide Super Junction Surface Mount Devices Switched Mode Power Supply Single Phase Shift Synchronous Rectifier Series Resonant Converter Total Harmonic Distortion Junction Temperature Triple Phase Shift Universal Asynchronous Receiver Transmitter Uninterruptible Power Supply Universal Serial Bus Under Voltage Protection Under Voltage Lockout Wide Band Gap
PFC PRC PSFB PWM Qoss Qrr RCD Rds,on Si SiC SJ SMD SMPS SPS SR SRC THD Tj TPS UART UPS UART UPS USB UVP UVLO WBG ZCS	Power Factor Correction Parallel Resonant Converter Phase Shift Full Bridge Pulse Width Modulated Charge stored in the output capacitance Reverse recovery charges Resistor Capacitor Diode On state Drain to Source Resistance Silicon Silicon Carbide Super Junction Surface Mount Devices Switched Mode Power Supply Single Phase Shift Synchronous Rectifier Series Resonant Converter Total Harmonic Distortion Junction Temperature Triple Phase Shift Universal Asynchronous Receiver Transmitter Uninterruptible Power Supply Universal Serial Bus Under Voltage Protection Under Voltage Lockout Wide Band Gap Zero Current Switching
PFC PRC PSFB PWM Qoss Qrr RCD Rds,on Si SiC SJ SMD SMPS SPS SR SRC THD Tj TPS UART UPS USB UVP UVLO WBG ZCS ZVS	Power Factor Correction Parallel Resonant Converter Phase Shift Full Bridge Pulse Width Modulated Charge stored in the output capacitance Reverse recovery charges Resistor Capacitor Diode On state Drain to Source Resistance Silicon Silicon Carbide Super Junction Surface Mount Devices Switched Mode Power Supply Single Phase Shift Synchronous Rectifier Series Resonant Converter Total Harmonic Distortion Junction Temperature Triple Phase Shift Universal Asynchronous Receiver Transmitter Uninterruptible Power Supply Universal Serial Bus Under Voltage Protection Under Voltage Lockout Wide Band Gap Zero Current Switching Zero Voltage Switching

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

1. BACKGROUND

Electric energy is commonly distributed through a high voltage Alternating Current (AC) grid, which diminishes the conduction losses caused by the long transmission lines from the energy sources to the local area step down transformers. The step down transformers convert the high voltage AC into medium voltage AC. The specifications of the medium voltage AC depends on the region, ranging from single phase with nominal 110 V_{AC} up to 240 V_{AC} , or three phase with nominal 110 V_{AC} up to 480 V_{AC} (line to line), at 50 Hz or 60 Hz. These values are subjected to certain tolerances and may transitorily deviate from its nominal values. Moreover, surge events caused by other equipment, lighting discharge or temporarily loss of the power should be considered in the design of the downstream power conversion stages.

Some electric loads can be supplied directly from the medium voltage V_{AC} , such is the case of light bulbs or some motors. Other loads require Direct Current (DC) at lower voltages. The power supplies or power converters are required in those applications to convert between the AC of the distribution grid and the DC at the different voltage and current levels required by the loads. Moreover, they can provide additional features like isolation, voltage regulation, current regulation, power factor correction, short-circuit protection... required for reliability and safety of the user, the equipment itself and other surrounding systems, and the distribution network.

Traditional linear power supplies have been extensively replaced by the more efficient and smaller Switched Mode Power Supplies (SMPS). Pioneer Magnetics started building SMPS in 1958. And General Electric published an early design for a switching power supply in 1959. Through the 1960s the aerospace industry provided the main driving force behind the development of SMPS. As the cost came down SMPS were designed into public commercial products.

Figure 1 shows a simplified structure of a common power distribution in a computing center. Other applications may include different conversion steps and at different voltage levels. In every step part of the energy is lost and dissipated in the form of unwanted heat. The efficiency of a conversion step is the result of dividing the usable output power by the input power in the converter. The total efficiency of the system is the result of multiplying the individual efficiencies of the stages, and will always be necessarily lower than the minimum of the individual efficiencies in the conversion chain.



Figure 1. Example of the power distribution architecture in a common computing center.

The growing power consumption has become a cause for environmental concern, resulting in initiatives and regulations to make power supplies more efficient. The government's Energy Star [1] and the industry-led 80 Plus certifications [2] pushed manufacturers to produce less wasteful power supplies. On the other hand, the efficiency of the converters has a direct impact on the cost of maintenance of the systems, due to the cost of the supplementay supplied electrical power and the additionally required cooling facilities.

There are two possible approaches or solutions towards the decrease of the overall conversion losses:

- Increasing the efficiency of the individual conversion stages, thanks to the improvements in semiconductor technologies, in magnetics, the introduction of new converter topologies or control techniques [3]. But also including changes in the architecture of the power distribution, e.g. increasing the bus voltage in server applications from 12 V_{DC} to 50 V_{DC} (Figure 1 and Figure 2), which reduces the conduction losses for the increasingly high currents at a rack level [4].
- Reducing the number of conversion stages, e.g. in Figure 2 the intermediate steps between the Uninterruptible Power Supply (UPS) battery and the DCDC stage of the Power Supply Unit (PSU) has been eliminated replacing the local V_{AC} distribution by a 400 V V_{DC}. Although this example may bring efficiency benefits, it is still not a common solution due to the safety and reliability concerns. Other architectures simply relocate the

UPS stage further downstream, at the PSU level, or include a battery backup connected to the Low Voltage (LV) DC bus within the rack (12 V V_{DC} or most commonly 50 V V_{DC}).





The PSU in Figure 1 can be connected to the AC distribution network and provides a tightly regulated DC output. Power supplies connected to the AC distribution network are commonly known as off-line power supplies. In low power applications, under 75W, there are no requirements in terms of power factor and Total Harmonic Distortion (THD) for off-line power supplies. In those applications are common single stage converters. However, in medium and high power applications a power supply generally comprises at least two stages: a first stage providing Power Factor Correction (PFC) and THD and a second stage providing isolation and a tightly regulated voltage or current output (Figure 3).



1.1. SWITCHED MODE POWER SUPPLIES (SMPS)

SMPS makes use of semiconductor switches commutating at a relatively high frequency and reactive circuit elements (inductors and capacitors) to perform the power conversion. The semiconductor switches alternate between their on state, where their voltage drop is minimal, and their off state, where they don't conduct current. During the transition from on to off (Figure 4 and Figure 6) and from off to on (Figure 5 and Figure 5), the semiconductor switch enters its linear mode where voltage and current overlap and cause additional losses [5]-[8].



Figure 4. Power MOSFE1 hard-switched turn-off transition and Zero Voltage Switched (ZVS) turn-on transition.



— Vgs,1 -- Vgs,2

--- Vds,1-

- Ids,1 -- Ids,2-

× 1e-5



Figure 6. Example trajectory of the voltage and current in a power MOSFET during a hard-switched turn-off transition.



Figure 5. Example trajectory of the voltage and current in a power MOSFET during a hard-switched turn-on transition

In order to further reduce losses in SMPS it is possible to make use of reactive circuit elements (inductors and capacitors) together with the parasitic resonant elements of the semiconductor switch itself to achieve lossless transitions between the on and off states [9]. This operation paradigm includes what are commonly known as resonant and quasi-resonant converters. There are two main alternatives for achieving lossless transitions, switching at a Zero Voltage (ZVS) or at a Zero Current (ZCS), being the most convenient ZVS turn-on and ZCS turn-off (Figure 6).

Nevertheless, it has been reported recently that even when there is no overlap of current and voltages in a power switching device during the turn-on and turn-off transitions there could be still losses related to a hysteresis in the charge and discharge of the parasitic output capacitance. The phenomena can be interpreted as a transitory increase of an equivalent resistance in series with the output capacitance of the device during its charge and discharge. The phenomena is mostly present in Super-Junction (SJ) MOSFETs and GaN High Electron Mobility Transistors (HEMTs). However, the root cause of the loss is different among the technologies and difficult to predict. Many recent works in the literature have proposed techniques for the accurate measurement and estimation of the related soft-switching hysteretic loss [10]-[11].



Figure 6. Example trajectory of the voltage and current in a power MOSFET during a ZVS turn-on or a ZCS turn-off transition.

1.2. POWER SEMICONDUCTOR SWITCHES

The switching power supply has been known to electrical engineers since the 1930s, but the technique was of limited use in the vacuum-tube era. It took about 30 years for semiconductor devices to become robust enough to handle direct switching of mains voltages at useful power levels. In low and medium power applications the most common power semiconductor switches nowadays are Silicon (Si) MOSFETs and IGBTs. The main advantages

of these two technologies are their high performance and low cost. IGBTs are better tailored for relatively low switching frequencies because of their comparatively high switching losses. Moreover, the IGBT is a bipolar type structure and cannot conduct bidirectional current, requiring of an additional anti-parallel diode in many converter topologies.

The Si power MOSFETs technology had reached near the theoretical limits of the material itself near the end of the 1990s. Other alternative semiconductor materials have been under study due to their promising intrinsic properties which may allow to manufacture devices with a Figure of Merit (FoM) several orders of magnitude better than Si devices. In [12]-[14] Baliga has shown that the specific on-state resistance of the power MOSFET ($R_{sp,standard}$) increases with the square of the breakdown voltage (V_B), and is inversely proportional to the cube of the critical field. The specific on-state resistance can be expressed as (1) where μ_n , ε_S , and E_C are the electron mobility, the permittivity of a semiconductor material, and the critical electrical field, respectively. However, Si devices continue to be attractive today due to its cost, availability of the raw material and maturity of the technology. Figure 7 represents the theoretical specific on-state resistance for Si, 4H-SiC and GaN calculated with (1).

$$R_{sp,standard} = \frac{4V_B^2}{\mu_n \epsilon_S E_C^3} (\Omega \cdot cm^2)$$
(1)

At the end of the 1990s a new concept of construction for the Si MOSFETs, the SJ MOSFET, pushed the boundaries of Si beyond its theoretical limits. In this new construction the doping levels in the channel can be increased (effectively lower $R_{ds,on}$) without compromising the blocking voltage capability with the principle of charge compensation. This technology is still developing today, although already near its limits. An early theoretical study of the SJ concept, widely adopted today, was introduced by Fujihira [15] with the specific on-state resistance given by (2) where d is the cell pitch of a SJ device. However, the cell pitch is not only a technology limitation, other parasitic effects not considered in this simplified model limit the achievable minimum $R_{ds,on}$ [13]. Figure 8 represents the theoretical specific on-state resistance for Si SJ and 4H-SiC SJ calculated with (2), including contemporary examples of commercially available devices.

$$R_{sp,SJ} = \frac{4V_B}{\mu_n \epsilon_S E_C^2} d(\Omega \cdot cm^2)$$
⁽²⁾

Many power device FoMs have been reported in the literature characterizing different aspects such as conduction loss, switching loss, and thermal and semiconductor materials [16]. The Baliga's FoM (R_{sp,standard}) [17] is well suited for low-frequency systems. The most widespread high-frequency FoM considers the specific on-resistance and the input capacitance (by Baliga [12]) and the specific on-resistance and the output capacitance (proposed by Kim [18]). The high-frequency FoM is better suited to assess the balance between conduction and switching losses of the different semiconductor technologies in modern power converters.



Figure 7. Theoretical specific on-state resistance limit for different Figure semiconductor materials. Figure MOS



Figure 8. Theoretical specific on-state resistance limit for SJ MOSFETs of different semiconductor materials, including two examples of commercially available Si SJ MOSFETs.

2. OBJECTIVES

The most commonly used resonant and quasi-resonant converter topologies have been introduced in the early years of the SMPS development. Some of their working principles have taken years to be fully understood, and still today new publications can be frequently found describing new inventions, discoveries or aspects previously unnoticed. On the other hand, the characteristics of the most modern device technologies heavily influences the optimum design methodology for these converters, the performances that can be achieved, and new possible configurations of the circuits. Commonly known converter topologies should be continuously revisited and their capabilities re-evaluated on behalf of those advances. Moreover, upcoming new application requirements like bidirectionality may make traditional topologies, with the appropriate control schemes, advantageous against currently widespread alternatives.

The core of this thesis is the study of resonant and quasi-resonant converters with the aim of increasing their efficiency, reliability and functionality taking advantage of the new developments in semiconductor technologies, novel magnetics construction and novel control techniques. The fundamental research objectives of this thesis are:

- The development of very high-efficiency DCDC converters for server and telecommunication applications, including the design optimization of resonant and quasi-resonant converters.
- The development of bidirectional DCDC converters for Electrical Energy Storage (EES) applications, including the bidirectional operation of traditionally considered non-bidirectional converters.

The following section outlines the overall thesis structure, as well as present a list of the significant contributions and a list of publications made during the course of the project.

3. STRUCTURE OF THE THESIS

It must be pointed out that this is a thesis by compendium of publications, which comprises published papers resulting from the research done during the doctoral period.

This thesis is organized as follows:

- Chapter 1 (this chapter) introduces the research context of this thesis, and the fundamental research questions that this work addresses. It also provides an outline of the thesis structure.
- Chapter 2 presents a review of the current state of the art in the area of resonant and quasi-resonant, isolated, uni-directional and bidirectional DCDC converters, in terms of their topology, modulation schemes and design.
- Section I comprises Chapter 3 to Chapter 6, and provides a description of the DCDC converter systems that
 have been simulated, designed and built to explore and verify the concepts presented in this thesis. Chapter 3
 introduces a 1400 W PSFB for server applications. Chapter 4 introduces a bidirectional 3300 W PSFB for
 telecom or EES applications. Chapter 5 presents a 3300 W half-bridge LLC for telecom applications. Chapter
 6 presents a 3000 W half-bridge LLC integrated in a complete two-stage off-line PSU for server applications.
- Section II comprises Chapter 7 to Chapter 11, and provides the five published papers presented to constitute the thesis by compendium of publications.
- Section III comprises Chapter 12 to chapter 16, and encompasses the research outcomes that are not part of the compendium or have not yet been published. Chapter 12 introduces a frequency modulation scheme for the input voltage range extension in PSFB converters. Chapter 13 introduces a modulation scheme for the resetting of the circulating currents in PSFB. Chapter 14 introduces a switched capacitor circuit for the driving of power semiconductors. Chapter 15 presents a modulation scheme for the cold start-up of the isolated boost converter (bidirectional PSFB). Chapter 16 presents a modulation scheme for the gain range extension and bidirectional operation of LLC converters.
- Finally, **Section IV**, comprising Chapter 17, collects the final conclusions drawn from the obtained results, as well as guidance and possible lines of work for future research.

4. IDENTIFICATION OF ORIGINAL CONTRIBUTIONS

This thesis presents several key contributions to the field of power electronic converters, which are listed in this section.

The first contribution is presented in Chapter 7. In this published paper a novel modulation scheme is proposed for the bidirectional operation of the PSFB DCDC converter reducing the secondary side rectifiers overshoot without requiring additional circuitry or lossy snubbering techniques. The novel modulation scheme is experimentally demonstrated in a 3.3 kW PSFB DCDC converter with nominal 380 V input and nominal 54.5 V output. Moreover, the proposed modulation scheme in this first contribution is pending patent, which application has also been published [19].

M. Escudero, D. Meneses, N. Rodriguez and D. P. Morales, "Modulation Scheme for the Bidirectional Operation of the Phase-Shift Full-Bridge Power Converter," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 35, no. 2, pp. 1377-1391, Feb. 2020.

The second contribution is presented in Chapter 8. In this published paper a novel modulation scheme is proposed for the reduction of the overshoot in the secondary side rectifiers in PSFB DCDC converters operating in DCM. Furthermore, other secondary side rectifiers overshoot causes are analyzed and solutions proposed for each of the scenarios. The novel modulation scheme and the design principles are experimentally demonstrated in a 3.3 kW PSFB DCDC converter with nominal 380 V input and nominal 54.5 V output. Moreover, the proposed modulation scheme in the second contribution has been registered and granted a patent, which has also been published [20].

M. Escudero, M. Kutschak, D. Meneses, D. P. Morales and N. Rodriguez, "Synchronous Rectifiers Drain Voltage Overshoot Reduction in PSFB Converters," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 35, no. 7, pp. 7419-7433, July 2020.

The third contribution is presented in Chapter 9. In this published paper a detailed set of design criteria for PSFB DCDC converters is proposed. The design optimization procedure is experimentally demonstrated with the design of a new 1.4 kW PSFB DCDC converter further exceeding the efficiency and power density of a previous 1.4 kW PSFB DCDC converter with similar specifications, input voltage (400 V) and output voltage (12 V).

Escudero, M.; Kutschak, M.-A.; Meneses, D.; Rodriguez, N.; Morales, D.P. A Practical Approach to the Design of a Highly Efficient PSFB DC-DC Converter for Server Applications. *Energies* 2019, *12*, 3723.

The fourth contribution is presented in Chapter 10. In this published paper, the impact in the performance and the design of resonant ZVS converters of the non-linear distribution of charge in the output capacitance of semiconductor devices is analyzed. A Si SJ device is compared to a SiC device of equivalent $C_{oss(tr)}$, and to a GaN device of equivalent $C_{oss(er)}$, in single device topologies and half-bridge based topologies, in full ZVS and in partial or full hard-switching. A prototype of 3300 W resonant LLC DCDC converter, with nominal 400 V input to 52 V output, was designed and built to demonstrate the validity of the analysis.

M. Escudero, M. Kutschak, N. Fontana, N. Rodriguez and D. P. Morales, "Non-Linear Capacitance of Si SJ MOSFETs in Resonant Zero Voltage Switching Applications," in *IEEE Access*, vol. 8, pp. 116117-116131, 2020.

The fifth contribution is presented in Chapter 11. In this published paper the design of a new complete power supply for server applications is discussed. The main constraints of the new solution are the very high peak efficiency, the long hold-up time and the maximum outer dimension. The PSU is comprised of a front-end ACDC bridgeless totem-pole PFC and a back-end DCDC half-bridge LLC. Due to the extended hold-up time, the PSU requires large intermediate energy storage and an extended gain range for the LLC. Due to the outer dimension limits, a planar transformer with reduced height and volume is preferred. Finally, the very high efficiency target requires a careful design based on the accurate modeling of the overall losses of the converter. The analysis is demonstrated experimentally with a 3 kW PSU achieving 97.47 % of efficiency at 230 VAC.

M. Escudero, M. -A. Kutschak, D. Meneses, N. Rodriguez and D. P. Morales, "High Efficiency, Narrow Output Range and Extended Hold-Up Time Power Supply with Planar and Integrated Magnetics for Server Applications," *PCIM Europe digital days 2021; International Exhibition and Conference for Power Electronics, Intelligent Motion, Renewable Energy and Energy Management*, 2021, pp. 1-8.

REFERENCES

- [1] Climate Savers Computing Initiative (CSCI). Available online: http://www.climatesaverscomputing.org (accessed on 28 August 2019).
- [2] 80Plus Program. Available online: http://www.plugloadsolutions.com (accessed on 28 August 2019).
- [3] K. Shirriff, "The quiet remaking of computer power supplies: A half century ago, better transistors and switching regulators revolutionized the design of computer power supplies," in *IEEE Spectrum*, vol. 56, no. 8, pp. 36-41, Aug. 2019
- [4] Open Compute Project (OCP) Foundation, https://www.opencompute.org, viewed 13 June 2020
- [5] X. Wang, Z. Zhao, K. Li, Y. Zhu and K. Chen, "Analytical Methodology for Loss Calculation of SiC MOSFETs," in *IEEE Journal of Emerging and Selected Topics in Power Electronics*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 71-83, March 2019
- [6] E. Locorotondo, L. Pugi, F. Corti, L. Becchi and F. Grasso, "Analytical Model of Power MOSFET Switching Losses due to Parasitic Components," 2019 IEEE 5th International forum on Research and Technology for Society and Industry (RTSI), Florence, Italy, 2019, pp. 331-336
- [7] I. Castro *et al.*, "Analytical Switching Loss Model for Superjunction MOSFET With Capacitive Nonlinearities and Displacement Currents for DC–DC Power Converters," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 2485-2495, March 2016
- [8] Y. Xiong, S. Sun, H. Jia, P. Shea and Z. John Shen, "New Physical Insights on Power MOSFET Switching Losses," in *IEEE Transac*tions on Power Electronics, vol. 24, no. 2, pp. 525-531, Feb. 2009
- [9] M. Kasper, R. M. Burkart, G. Deboy and J. W. Kolar, "ZVS of Power MOSFETs Revisited," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 31, no. 12, pp. 8063-8067, Dec. 2016
- [10] J. Roig and F. Bauwens, "Origin of Anomalous Coss Hysteresis in Resonant Converters With Superjunction FETs," in *IEEE Transac*tions on Electron Devices, vol. 62, no. 9, pp. 3092-3094, Sept. 2015
- [11] J. Roig et al., "High-accuracy modelling of ZVS energy loss in advanced power transistors," 2018 IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC), San Antonio, TX, 2018, pp. 263-269
- [12] B. J. Baliga, "Power semiconductor device figure of merit for high-frequency applications", *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 10, no. 10, pp. 455-457, Oct. 1989.
- [13] H. Kang and F. Udrea, "True Material Limit of Power Devices—Applied to 2-D Superjunction MOSFET," in *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 65, no. 4, pp. 1432-1439, April 2018.
- [14] B. J. Baliga, Fundamentals of Power Semiconductor Devices, Springer, 2010.
- [15] T. Fujihira, "Theory of semiconductor superjunction devices", Jpn. J. Appl. Phys., vol. 36, no. 10, pp. 6254-6262, Oct. 1997.
- [16] H. Wang, F. Wang and J. Zhang, "Power Semiconductor Device Figure of Merit for High-Power-Density Converter Design Applications," in *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 55, no. 1, pp. 466-470, Jan. 2008
- [17] B. J. Baliga, "Semiconductors for high-voltage vertical channel FETs", J. Appl. Phys., vol. 53, no. 3, pp. 1759-1764, Mar. 1982.

- [18] K. Il-Jung, S. Matsumoto, T. Sakai and T. Yachi, "New power device figure of merit for high frequency applications", *Proc. 7th Int. Symp. Power Semicond. Devices ICs*, pp. 309-314, 1995-May-2325.
- [19] M. Escudero, M. Kutschak, D. Meneses, inventors; Infineon Technologies AG, assignee. Method and Apparatus for Bidirectional Operation of Phase Shift Full Bridge. United States patent application 15/672657. August 9, 2017
- [20] M. Escudero, M. Kutschak, inventors; Infineon Technologies AG, assignee. Power Converter with Low Drain Voltage Overshoot in Discontinuous Conduction Mode. United States patent 10778083. September 15, 2020

CHAPTER 2. STATE OF THE ART

1. INTRODUCTION

The back-end isolated DCDC converter in off-line power supplies, introduced in Chapter 1, generally comprises a High Voltage (HV) primary side inverter feeding the primary side of the main transformer, a secondary side LV rectification stage connected to the secondary side of the main transformer and a smoothing filter at the output of the rectification stage providing low ripple DC voltage.

Isolation is a safety requirement in off-line power supplies. The safety isolation between the HV input and the LV output ensures that the user will not be exposed to dangerous currents or voltages touching any unprotected conductive part of the converter or the equipment in general. The most common technique for achieving safety isolation between the input and the output of the converter is through transformers, which transfer power through the magnetic field. Moreover, the transformer provides an efficient way of stepping up or down the voltages in relatively large ratios. Although other alternative methods for the transmission of power through the isolation barrier uses capacitors, they are mainly used in very low power applications.

The primary side HV inverter comprises one switch or several of them stacked in pairs conforming a building block so-called half-bridge. Single device converters are common in low power applications (up to 100 W), half-bridge converters are commonly used in medium power (up to 1kW) whereas full-bridge converters can reach efficiently much higher powers (6-7 kW).

The secondary side rectification stage comprises passive diodes or active semiconductor switches, commonly known as synchronous rectifiers (SRs) because they emulate ideal diodes. The secondary side rectification stage can adopt several configurations depending on the converter's output voltage and current (Figure 1): center tapped is well suited for LV and high-current outputs, full bridge is the most effective for HV and low-current outputs, current doubler is the most convenient for very high output currents, whereas voltage doubler is a good alternative for high output voltages [1]-[2]. However, the configuration of the rectification stage does not influence significantly the working principles of the converters.



Figure 1. Various possible rectifier configurations. (a) Full-bridge rectifier. (b) Bridge voltage doubler. (c) Half-wave rectifier. (d) Centertapped rectifier. (e) Trapezoid voltage-doubler.

The output filter comprises a set of capacitors and, in most cases, one or more inductors. The main objective of the output filter is reducing de voltage and current ripple at the output of the converter. However, in some converter topologies it is taken advantage of for achieving ZVS in the primary side devices or clamping the secondary side rectifiers drain voltage overshoot. There is as well, generally, an input filter to the converter, which provides most of the energy during the hold-up time, while simultaneously serving as the output filter of the front-end PFC stage of the complete PSU.

Figure 2 makes a summary of one possible classification of isolated two-port DCDC converters based on the number of devices and the configuration of their output and input filters. Notice that the classification is not necessarily exhaustive nor complete, but includes the most commonly used converters objective of this thesis.



Figure 2. A possible classification of DCDC converters with galvanic isolation. Adapted from [3].

1.1. RESONANT CONVERTERS

The commonly known as resonant converters take advantage of the natural resonance between inductors and capacitors to achieve ZVS, ZCS or a combination of both. The resonant circuit or resonant tank can be comprised of two or more elements in series or in parallel (Figure 3 and Figure 4) [4]. Resonant converters large signal gain depends on the configuration of the resonant tank and can be adjusted varying the switching frequency of the primary switches. The exact analysis of resonant converters leads to complex models that cannot be easily used in the converter design procedures. In [5], R. Steigerwald has described a simplified method applicable to any resonant topology, based on the assumption that input to output power transfer is essentially due to the fundamental harmonic components of currents and voltages [6].



Figure 4. Basic two and three element resonant topologies. (a) Series Resonant Converter (SRC). (b) Parallel Resonant Converter (PRC). (c) LLC. (d) LCC. Adapted from [4].

The LLC is a resonant converter in which the resonant tank is comprised of a series inductor, a series capacitor and another inductor in parallel to the load, therefore its name, LLC (Figure 5). This converter has been extensively studied in the literature [7]-[16]. Although its design and control is complex, thanks to its merits and the widespread availability of commercial off-the-self controllers, this topology has become very popular. LLC converters can be very efficient and relatively cheap due to their low component count. Moreover, the two inductors part of the resonant tank can be realized as a part of the main transformer: the series inductor realized by the leakage and the parallel inductor realized by the magnetizing inductance.



Figure 5. LLC converter simplified circuit.

One of the most attractive features of the LLC is that it can operate as a step-up or as a step-down converter. The normalized unity gain is achieved switching at the frequency of the resonance between the series inductor and the series capacitor (e.g. 75 kHz in Figure 6). In this operation point the gain of the converter is nearly independent of the load. Moreover, the maximum efficiency of the converter is usually achieved near this operation point. Therefore, an LLC can be designed to operate at its optimum point in nominal conditions and still be capable of maintaining regulation during hold-up time.



90 100% 90% 80 80% 70% 60% 50% 70 40% 30% 20% 60 10% 0% Vo (V) 50 40 30 20 10 0 20 Frequency (kHz) 170 220

Figure 6. Large signal gain of a half-bridge LLC converter. The converter's input voltage is 400 V and the transformer turn ratio is 15:4. Therefore, its nominal unity gain corresponds to the 53.3 V output. The series in the graph are a function of the percentaje of the nominal load of the converter.

Figure 7. Large signal gain of an LCLC converter. The series in the graph are a function of the percentaje of the nominal load of the converter.

One of the main disadvantages of the LLC converter is that at light loads the gain curve in relation to the switching frequency can become flat or even non-monotonic due to the circuit parasitics [8]. There are several solutions analyzed in the literature to this problem [9]. The most common approach is the operation of the converter in the so-called burst mode. Alternatively, different configurations of the resonant tank can provide better controllability of the converter's gain at the expense of the additional circuit complexity and slightly lower efficiencies (Figure 7).

The LLC as a bidirectional converter, when operated in the reverse direction, becomes a Series Resonant Converter (SRC) (Figure 4 (a)). The SRC is a step-down converter with a maximum normalized unity gain (Figure 8) [10]. This limits the applicability of the LLC in bidirectional applications [3]. In [11] an intermediate non-isolated boost converter is introduced between the front-end ACDC and the back-end SRC to achieve the required gain in the reverse operation mode. In [12] a hybrid between the LLC and the DAB modulation is proposed to increase the gain of the SRC in the reverse mode of operation. A more common solution is the realization of a symmetric resonant tank adding an additional capacitor and an additional series inductor on both sides of the transformer, the resulting converter is therefore known as CLLC or, frequently in the literature, as bidirectional LLC [13] (Figure 9). The CLLC has the gain characteristics of an LLC while operating in both forward and reverse modes. The main drawbacks of the CLLC are the increased design and control complexity [14]-[15] and, in low voltage and high current applications, a capacitor in series in a high current path (additional losses and volume). In [16]

the two series inductors are integrated within the main transformer to achieve a higher power density and arguably a lower cost.



Figure 8. Large signal gain of a SRC. The converter's input voltage is 50.5 V and the transformer turn ratio is 4:15. Therefore, its nominal unity gain corresponds to the 385 V output. The series in the graph are a function of the percentaje of the nominal load of the converter.



Figure 9. CLLC or bidirectional LLC converter simplified circuit.

1.2. QUASI-RESONANT CONVERTERS

Quasi-resonant converters normally operate at a fixed frequency. The large signal gain of the quasi-resonant converters can be adjusted controlling the duty: the percentage of the period during which a power transfer occurs given by the ratio of the time a set of switches are in their on-state and their off-state. Similarly to the resonant converters, quasi-resonant converters also take advantage of inductors and capacitors to achieve ZVS or ZCS.

The Dual Active Bridge (DAB) is a quasi-resonant converter which commonly comprises a full bridge in the primary side and a full bridge in the secondary side, although other configurations are possible (Figure 10). The DAB can use the energy in a series inductor to charge and discharge the parasitic capacitances of the semiconductor switches and achieve ZVS in both the primary and secondary side switches. Like the LLC, DAB can operate as a step-up or as a step-down converter. However, its main attractive is that, unlike the LLC, DAB it is a fully symmetric converter and can operate as a step-up and step-down also in its reverse mode of operation. Moreover, the steady state gain and the direction of the power flow depends on the shift between the primary and the secondary side bridges. Therefore, the operation of DAB as a bidirectional converter is seamless and straightforward.



Figure 10. DAB converter simplified circuit.

However, the ZVS range of DAB is limited. Moreover, it is not very well suited for wide range converters built with Si MOSFETs. When the converter operates away from the nominal conditions the primary side devices or the secondary side devices can become hard-switched or even hard-commutated. Although it is possible to extend the ZVS range of the converter increasing the magnetizing inductance and with a careful design, the resulting circulating currents increases the overall losses and the performance of the converter becomes poor. Therefore, the DAB is mostly attractive when combined with devices which can operate reliably in hard-commutation and with a reasonable switching loss (mostly Wide Band Gap (WBG) devices).

The PSFB is a quasi-resonant buck derived isolated converter. The circuit configuration of the PSFB is very similar to the DAB. However, the PSFB includes at least one more inductor at the output [17] (Figure 11). Thanks to the output inductor, the *rms* currents in the secondary side of the converter and the output voltage ripple are lower than in the other two converters (LLC and DAB). Moreover, the output inductor provides energy for the ZVS transitions of one of the primary side legs in nearly all the load range (the ZVS range of the other primary side leg is comparatively limited). However, because of the output inductor, the drain voltage of the secondary side rectifiers is not clamped by the output capacitance of the converter. Therefore, the blocking voltage requirements for the secondary side rectifiers are higher in PSFB than in DAB or LLC. Moreover, the PSFB circulates current in the primary side during the freewheeling phase which does not contribute to the power transfer but unnecessarily increases the conduction losses.



Figure 11. PSFB converter simplified circuit.

Like the LLC, the PSFB is not a symmetric converter. In its reverse mode of operation it is commonly known in the literature as current-fed isolated boost converter. In the reverse operation the secondary side switches can suffer of high drain voltage overshoots which may require auxiliary clamping, snubbering or alternative control schemes to avoid the stress conditions.

Therefore, the PSFB is well suited for high efficiency LV output applications with Si MOSFETs. Moreover, it is better suited for wide range operation with Si MOSFETs than the DAB converter. However, traditionally it is not an attractive alternative for bidirectional applications because of the well known problems of the current-fed isolated boost converters.

2. SCOPE OF THE THESIS

2.1. LLC CONVERTER

The LLC has become the most popular topology for high efficiency DCDC converters in commercial applications. The LLC converter can achieve very high efficiencies with a simple circuit and very low component count. Figure 12 represents the efficiency of a half-bridge LLC with full-bridge rectification. Moreover, the LLC can be designed to achieve its maximum efficiency at its nominal operation point while fulfilling the requirements for wide range input or wide range output. However, it is challenging to optimize the design of conventional LLC converter in wide gain range applications. A wide range of switching frequencies leads to a large transformer core, high core loss, and low power density. Furthermore, a high peak gain requires a small magnetizing inductance, which results in increased circulating currents and degraded efficiency [18].

Wide range input is required for example during hold-up time. In high reliability applications the converter should continue working up to 20 ms while the AC input is missing. During this time the voltage at the input filter of the DCDC converter drops at a ratio given by the amount of capacitance and the rated output power of the converter. The reader should note that a big amount of input capacitance is usually undesired due to its cost and high volume.





Wide range output is required for example in battery charging applications. The DCDC converter has to operate giving a constant current or constant power at the lower voltages when the battery is discharged. On the other hand, the DCDC converter has to operate at a constant voltage when the battery is fully or nearly-fully charged. The careful consideration of the operation profile of the converter is very important for the design of highly-efficient DCDC converters. One of the main design constraints of the LLC converter is the maximum gain achievable at the maximum load of the converter. Moreover, operating in the range of high-load and high-gain increases the peak flux in the magnetics (Figure 13) and the voltage and current ripple in the resonant capacitor (Figure 14). However, the battery charger does not require to provide its maximum current at its maximum output voltage. Therefore, a converter designed to provide the maximum load at the maximum gain would be over-dimensioned for its purpose in such example.





Figure 13. Estimation of peak flux in the main transformer $(T_{r,Bpk})$ and in the external resonant inductor $(L_{r,Bpk})$ in an LLC converter at 100 % of its power and different output voltages.

Figure 14. Estimation of maximum amplitude $(C_{r,Vmax})$ and *rms* $(C_{r,Vmax})$ of the voltage ripple in the resonant capacitors of an LLC converter at 100% of its power and different output voltages.

The maximum efficiency of the converter is achieved near the resonance between the series inductor and the series capacitor (normalized unity gain of the converter) (Figure 15). Operating in this area the primary circulating currents (transformer magnetizing current) and the related conduction losses are relatively small. Moreover, the switching frequency and the related switching and core losses are also relatively low. Moving away from this operation point increases the conduction and core losses or alternatively increases the switching losses and degrades the overall performance of the converter.



30 25 20 15 10 Current (A) IO₂ 5 0 -5 -10 -15 0.0E+00 2.0E-06 4.0E-06 6.0E-06 8.0E-06 1.0E-05 1.2E-05 Time (s)

Figure 15. Efficiency of a wide output range LLC converter at different output voltages.

Figure 16. Current passing through the primary side devices in the LLC at full power (400 V input and 51.5 V output).

100



90 IQ6 80 - 107 70 60 Current (A) 50 40 30 20 10 0 6.0E-06 Time (s) 0.0E+00 2.0E-06 4.0E-06 1.0E-05 1.2E-05 8.0E-06

Figure 17. Current passing through the primary side of the transformer ($I_{\rm ir}$) and the magnetizing component ($I_{\rm im}$) in the LLC converter at full power (400 V input and 51.5 V output).



The characteristic sinusoidal shape of the currents in resonant converters can be well appreciated in Figure 17, Figure 16 and Figure 18. Observe that the *rms* of the sinusoidal waveforms is comparatively higher than the *rms* of equivalent (of same average value) trapezoidal waveforms in quasi-resonant or PWM converters. However, thanks to their sinusoidal shape the turn-off currents of the primary and secondary side devices can be relatively low in comparison to other PWM converters, which potentially decreases the switching losses.

Other advantage of the LLC converter is that it can use the energy in the series inductor and the energy in the magnetizing inductance of the main transformer for the discharge of the parasitic capacitance of the semiconductor switches and achieve ZVS. Therefore, the ZVS range can be easily extended in this topology. Moreover, because a relatively small magnetizing inductance is required for achieving the required gain in wide range converters, ZVS range is usually achievable for virtually any possible $R_{ds,on}$ in the primary side HV switches. Therefore, the increased output capacitance of Si MOSFETs in comparison to SiC MOSFETs does not have a big impact on the design criteria in such scenario. Moreover, the non-linear capacitance of Si SJ MOSFETs provides more tolerance for the adjustment of the optimum dead times (Figure 19, Figure 20, Figure 21 and Figure 22). Furthermore, the voltage drop of the SiC MOSFETs intrinsic body diode (around 3 V) is several times higher than for Si SJ MOSFETs (around 1 V), which makes it less sensitive to inaccuracies in the dead time adjustment.







Figure 21. Simulated hard-switched turn-off transitions in a halfbridge 3.3 kW LLC at different loads with CoolSiC 31 m Ω .



Figure 20. Simulated optimum dead time for achieving ZVS in a half-bridge 3.3 kW LLC at different loads with CoolMOS CFD7 31 m Ω .



Figure 22. Simulated optimum dead time for achieving ZVS in a half-bridge 3.3 kW LLC at different loads with CoolSiC 31 m Ω .

2.2. DAB CONVERTER

The DAB is a fully symmetric converter in which the large signal gain is controlled by the overlap or phase shift between the primary side and the secondary side duty and the direction of the power flow is controlled by the sign of the phase shift between the primary and the secondary side duty [23]-[24]. In its most simple modulation scheme the primary and the secondary side devices are controlled by a fixed frequency 50 % duty signal. Other more advanced modulation schemes are possible in which the duty of the primary, the secondary or both sides can vary. Moreover, in [25]-[26] a modulation scheme with variable frequency is proposed which helps extending the achievable ZVS range of the converter. The proposed classification in [27]-[28] of possible modulation schemes includes:

- Primary and secondary side 50 % duty, control of phase shift between primary and secondary, so-called Single-Phase-Shift (SPS).
- Primary side variable duty, secondary side 50 % duty, control of phase shift between primary and secondary, so-called Extended-Phase-Shift (EPS).
- Primary and secondary side variable duty, control of phase shift between primary and secondary, which includes the so-called Double-Phase-Shift (DPS) and Triple-Phase-Shift (TPS) modulation schemes.

Whereas the most advanced modulation schemes bring the advantage of an extended ZVS range, and lower *rms* currents through the converter in part of the operation range, the control complexity greatly increases. Moreover, the simple 50 % duty modulation allows the implementation of a DAB converter with a half-bridge in the primary and center tapped rectification in the secondary, which greatly reduces the circuit complexity of the circuit and has a total component count at the level of LLC converters (Figure 23). Furthermore, the efficiency levels that can be achieved in this configuration are potentially near the level of an LLC with similar specifications (Figure 24).



Figure 23. DAB converter realized with a half-bridge in the primary side and center tapped configuration in the secondary side.



Figure 24. Calculated efficiency for a half-bridge 3.3 kW DAB with 400 V input and 51.5 V output.

The DAB converter is not well suited for wide range applications with Si SJ MOSFETs. The ZVS operation range is limited at light loads [22], [24], [29]. Moreover, the primary side or the secondary side can become hard-commutated depending on the load, the input and the output voltages. However, the issue can be alleviated increasing the primary side magnetizing currents, at the expense of the additional circulating currents and the related conduction losses (Figure 25). This approach can be effective in narrow range output converters, but would require excessively low magnetizing inductance in wide input and wide output converters where the converter is bucking (Figure 26) or boosting (Figure 27) by a relatively big ratio.



Figure 25. DAB primary side currents and primary side voltages operating near normalized unity gain with 400 V input to 51.5 V output and at 10 % of the rated load. The main transformer turns ratio is 15 to 4.



Figure 26. DAB primary side currents and primary side voltages while bucking with 400 V input to 47.5 V output and at 10 % of the rated load. The main transformer turns ratio is 15 to 4.



Figure 27. DAB primary side currents and primary side voltages while boosting with 400 V input to 55 V output and at 10 % of the rated load. The main transformer turns ratio is 15 to 4.

Si MOSFETs do not operate reliably nor efficiently in continuous hard-commutation. On the one hand the di/dt and dv/dt over the device and over its intrinsic body diode could cause failure of the device through several mechanisms extensively reported in the literature [19]-[21]. On the other hand, the switching losses increase greatly due to the additional reverse recovery charge Q_{rr} which adds on top of the already big output charge Q_{oss} of the device. However, Wide Band Gap (WBG) power devices have very low or no Q_{rr} and can operate reliably and

much more efficiently in continuous hard-commutation. Therefore, WBG is the common choice for the implementation of DAB converters. In spite of that, the efficiency still drops substantially when the converter losses ZVS, which can be observed in Figure 28 for the 40 % of the rated load at the higher output voltages.



Figure 28. Calculated efficiency of a wide output range DAB converter at different output voltages.

The energy available for achieving ZVS in DAB comes solely from the energy stored in the series inductor. Therefore, the series inductor should be dimensioned in accordance to the required ZVS range. However, like in the PSFB, excessively big series inductor limits the effective available duty cycle and the maximum output power of the converter (Figure 29). It can be observed in Figure 30 how the voltage-time integral of the series inductor increases for the lower output voltages at a fixed output power (increasing output current). In [23] a design method is proposed where it is found that the series inductance should be designed to reach a maximum 30 % of the duty at the maximum load. Moreover, in [23] and [30] it is suggested varying the switching frequency depending on the output voltage to expand the ZVS region.





Figure 29. Current passing through the primary side of the transformer in a DAB converter at full power (400 V input and 51.5 V output).



A major drawback of the DAB is the recirculating of currents from the output back to the input side of the converter. Unlike other DCDC topologies, the secondary side devices operate as active switches, not only as rectifiers or synchronous rectifiers, allowing the current to flow against the antiparallel body diode during the polarity inversion of the main transformer (Figure 31, Figure 32 and Figure 33). Therefore, apart from the related additional conduction losses, the output current ripple and output voltage ripple of this converter requires of further filtering in comparison to the LLC or the PSFB.



100 80 60 IQ3 40 **-** IQ4 20 Current (A) 0 -20 -40 -60 -80 -100 0.0E+00 2.0E-06 4.0E-06 6.0E-06 8.0E-06 1.0E-05 Time (s)

Figure 31. Current passing through the primary side devices in a DAB converter at full power (400 V input and 51.5 V output).

Figure 32. Current passing through the secondary side rectifiers in a DAB converter at full power (400 V input and 51.5 V output).



Figure 33. Current at the output of the rectification stage in a DAB converter at full power (400 V input and 51.5 V output).

Unlike in the LLC, the energy in the magnetizing inductance is not available for the quasi-resonant transitions. Therefore, the ZVS range is limited in comparison to the resonant converter (Figure 34 and Figure 35), which also makes WBG devices better suited for this topology (Figure 36 and Figure 37) thanks to their relatively smaller output capacitance.



Figure 34. Simulated hard-switched turn-off transitions in a half-bridge 3.3 kW DAB at different loads with CoolMOS CFD7 31 m Ω .



Figure 35. Simulated optimum dead time for achieving ZVS in a half-bridge 3.3 kW DAB at different loads with CoolMOS CFD7 31 m Ω .



Figure 36. Simulated hard-switched turn-off transitions in a half-bridge 3.3 kW DAB at different loads with CoolSiC 31 m Ω .



Figure 37. Simulated optimum dead time for achieving ZVS in a half-bridge 3.3 kW DAB at different loads with CoolSiC 31 m Ω .

2.3. PSFB CONVERTER

The PSFB converter is a fixed frequency PWM converter. The large signal gain of the converter is controlled by the phase shift between the two primary side legs. Each of the primary side legs or half-bridges are controlled by a fixed 50 % duty cycle PWM. Although other alternative modulation scheme exists which also vary the duty [31]-[32], they generally cause the loss of ZVS and are not commonly used. In [33] the switching frequency of the converter is modulated along the load, tracking the best steady state efficiency. However, the switching frequency does not control the large signal gain of the converter like in a resonant converter.

The PSFB is well acknowledged by its robustness, reliability [34]-[36] and relatively high efficiencies (Figure 38). The inductor at the output of the converter reduces de output current and the output voltage ripple. Moreover, limits the currents through the converter in the event of short-circuit and provides energy for the quasi-resonant transition of one of the primary side bridge legs.

However, the output inductor is also one of the main drawbacks of the topology for two main reasons. Firstly, it decouples the secondary side rectifiers from the output filter capacitors, which increases the blocking voltage requirements of the rectifiers in comparison to other topologies like DAB or LLC (Figure 39) [37]-[38]. Secondly,

it makes the converter asymmetric for its bidirectional operation, and therefore rarely considered as an alternative for bidirectional applications.



Figure 38. Calculated and measured efficiencies for a 3.3 kW PSFB with 380 V input and 54.5 V output.

Figure 39. Secondary side overshoot and reflected voltage in a 3.3 kW PSFB with 380 V input and 54.5 V output.

In the PSFB the available energy for the quasi-resonant ZVS transitions of the two primary side bridge legs is different. The leg which transitions right after the end of the power transfer, so-called lagging, uses the energy in the series inductor and the output inductor and can easily achieve ZVS in all the load range of the converter (Figure 40 and Figure 43). The leg which transitions right before the next power transfer, so-called leading, only uses the energy in the series inductor and has a very much reduced ZVS range (Figure 41 and Figure 44). In [39]-[41] auxiliary circuitry is proposed to increase the ZVS range independently of the load in ZVS PSFB converters. However, the auxiliary circuitry requires of additional components and cause additional conduction and core losses in all the load range.



400 +10%350 - 20% 30% 300 40% 250 50% 200 60% 70% SP 150 80% 90% 100 100% 50 2.5E-07 3.5E-07 0.0E+00 5.0E-08 1.0E-07 1.5E-07 2.0E-07 Time (s) 3.0E-07 4.0E-07

Figure 40. Simulated hard-switched turn-off transitions in the lagging leg of a 3.3 kW PSFB at different loads with two CoolMOS CFD7 75 m Ω devices in parallel.

Figure 41. Simulated hard-switched turn-off transitions in the leading leg of a 3.3 kW PSFB at different loads with two CoolMOS CFD7 75 m Ω devices in parallel.



Figure 42. Simulated optimum dead time for achieving ZVS in a 3.3 kW PSFB at different loads with two CoolMOS CFD7 75 m Ω devices in parallel.

The leading and the lagging legs transition times also differ due to the different amount of energies available and the different time constant of the components involved in the resonance of the resulting equivalent LC circuits (Figure 42 and Figure 45). Therefore, the dead times in the PSFB converter can have relatively complicated adjustment and independent among each of the legs [42]-[45]. Moreover, the values of the inductances and capacitances in the circuit are subjected to tolerances which makes it difficult to achieve the optimum dead times in mass produced converters. In this aspect, Si SJ MOSFETs can be advantageous in comparison to WBG devices due to their non-linear capacitance and the relatively low voltage drop of their intrinsic body diode. The non-linear capacitance extends the margin for a near optimum dead time in comparison to the more linear capacitance of WBG devices (Figure 40 and Figure 43).

Due to the limited ZVS range in PSFB converters it is expected that WBG devices will achieve higher efficiency thanks to their better FoM. In [46] the peak efficiency of the converter is increased from 97 % with Si MOSFETs up to 98.3 % with SiC MOSFETs. However, the potential improvement would depend on how well optimized was the original design for the particular characteristics of the Si MOSFETs or the SiC MOSFETs and has to be evaluated in every specific case.



400 - - - 10% 350 20% 30% 300 40% 250 50% 60% 200 2 70% -50 25 80% 100 90% - 100% 50 0.0E+00 2.0E-08 4.0E-08 1.0E-07 1.2E-07 1.4E-07 1.6E-07 6.0E-08 8.0E-08 Time (s)

Figure 43. Simulated hard-switched turn-off transitions in the lagging leg of a 3.3 kW PSFB at different loads with two CoolSiC 75 m Ω devices in parallel.

Figure 44. Simulated hard-switched turn-off transitions in the leading leg of a 3.3 kW PSFB at different loads with two CoolSiC 75 m Ω devices in parallel.



Figure 45. Simulated optimum dead time for achieving ZVS in a 3.3 kW PSFB at different loads with two CoolSiC 75 m Ω devices in parallel.

Unlike in the LLC or in the DAB, in the PSFB is preferred to realize the series inductor as a component external to the leakage of the main transformer. This allows the reduction of the secondary side rectifiers overshoot and the increase on the available energy for the ZVS transition of the leading leg [17]. Nevertheless, like in the LLC or in the DAB, in the PSFB the magnetics can also be integrated, partially cancelling the flux in the core and overall increasing the power density and cost of the converter [48].



Figure 46. Current passing through the primary side of the transformer in a 3.3 kW PSFB converter at full power (380 V input and 54.5 V output).



Figure 47. Calculated efficiency of a wide output range PSFB converter at different output voltages.



Another drawback of the PSFB converter is caused by the circulating currents in the primary side during the freewheeling phase (Figure 46). During the freewheeling, the transformer is virtually shorted by the secondary side rectifiers and there is no effective power transfer from the primary to the secondary. On the other hand, the converter has to be designed constrained by the required maximum gain, which is generally needed at the minimum input voltage, maximum output voltage and maximum output power. Therefore, the minimum circulating currents and the maximum efficiencies of the converter occur at the higher large signal gains (Figure 47 and Figure 48). Contrary to the LLC or DAB, the PSFB converter is not designed to operate at its maximum efficiency in nominal conditions, but during hold-up time or at its maximum output voltage.

Although the current passing through each of the primary side bridge devices is not symmetric, the *rms* values are nearly equal between them. However, the lagging leg has longer conduction time in the third quadrant, which might be a concern while using devices like IGBTs which require of a parallel diode [47].

Thanks to the output inductor, the *rms* currents through the secondary side of the converter are comparatively lower than in LLC or DAB (Figure 50 and Figure 51). Moreover, the current ripple and the voltage ripple is intrinsically lower in this topology. However, the turn-off currents of the primary and the secondary side devices are comparatively larger than in the LLC which causes additional switching losses [37]. The secondary side rectifiers additional switching losses are aggravated by the higher blocking voltage requirements which generally implies a worse FoM (with higher parasitic capacitances and reverse recovery charges for an equivalent R_{ds,on}).

The PSFB operated as a bidirectional converter operates as a voltage-fed converter in the forward operation and as a current-fed boost converter in the reverse flow operation [51]. The term bidirectional PSFB is often mistaken by a DAB due to the second being commonly constituted of two bridges and controlled by the phase shift between the primary and the secondary bridge. The bidirectional PSFB converter is also frequently found in the literature by the name of isolated current-fed boost converter [52]-[53]. However, it is commonly acknowledged that the bidirectional PSFB converter has several issues: high voltage overshoot in the current-fed side devices and incapability of starting with a discharged storage capacitor in the voltage-fed side [54]-[58].

We find some examples in the literature of very high efficiency PSFB DCDC converters reaching near 99 % of efficiency in a stand-alone 5 kW DCDC converter [49]-[50], or within a full 2.2 kW PSU for server applications complying with the Titanium efficiency specifications [42].



Figure 49. Current passing through the primary side devices in a PSFB converter at full power (380 V input and 54.5 V output).



70 60 50 40 40 30 20 10 0.E+00 2.E-06 4.E-06 Time (s) 6.E-06 8.E-06 1.E-05

Figure 50. Current passing through the secondary side rectifiers in a PSFB converter at full power (380 V input and 54.5 V output).



2.4. OTHER CONVERTERS

Finally it is worth to mention some benchmark examples of the highest efficiency achievable in isolated DCDC conversion stages with innovative concepts like a three phase LLC with magnetics integration [59]-[61] and a PSU comprised of three conversion stages [62]-[63].

The three phase LLC includes an integrated transformer [64] and phase shift among the three half-bridges. Thanks to the integration and the phase shift is possible to achieve partial flux cancellation in the core of the transformer reducing the core losses. Moreover, the interleaving of the three phases decreases the output current and output voltage ripple, which are two of the main disadvantages of the LLC. However, due to the complexity of the circuit and the magnetics construction, this topology is not very spread and best suited for very high power and very high efficiency. Furthermore, due to the tolerances in the values of the resonant tank elements and the accuracy of the control timings the current does not share equally between the three phases. In [65] a closed-loop phase shift control is proposed for balancing the current among phases.

A three stage PSU generally comprises a resonant or quasi-resonant converter that operates at its best efficiency point, providing isolation and the conversion ratio given by the transformer. This mode of operation is frequently known as solid-state transformer in the literature and also common in other applications requiring isolation [66]. A third stage non-isolated provides the tightly regulated output [3]. In theory both DCDC stages can achieve very high efficiency with a very good overall performance of the complete PSU. However, in spite of the increased circuit complexity it is hard to achieve the same level of efficiency in a two-step conversion than in a well design single-step resonant converter [62]. Moreover, the concept has been registered and protected by patents which limits its commercial application.

3. CONCLUSIONS

For the currently available power switching devices the resonant and quasi-resonant converters are the most attractive options for achieving high efficiency, high power density or a combination of both at a reasonable cost. The key advantage of the resonant and quasi-resonant converters is the reduction of the switching losses. The switching losses can be reduced achieving ZVS for the turn-on transition and ZCS for the turn-off transition.

Among the isolated, resonant and quasi-resonant DCDC converter topologies, the most common ones in medium and high-power, and high-voltage applications are the LLC, the PSFB and the DAB [3] due to their simplicity and high efficiencies. Among those topologies each one has its own advantages and disadvantages, which makes each of them best suited for different applications, power and voltage ranges. That can be observed by the fact that all of the alternatives are still used today commercially, and all the alternatives continue being subject of research and study. A strong motivation for research comes from the fact that the development of new semiconductor technologies, novel magnetic constructions or control techniques can overcome past limitations or enable higher levels of performance beyond the previous theoretical boundaries.

In isolated converters the transformer is key in achieving high efficiency and high power density. The main transformer has two main contributions to the losses: core loss and conduction loss. The core loss is proportional to the switching frequency and the flux density. The conduction loss in the transformer becomes increasingly complicated to estimate as the switching frequency increases (skin, proximity and fringing effects). The same principles apply to other magnetics in the converter like the series resonant choke or the output filter inductor. This is the reason why so many studies focus in improving the magnetics: reducing the flux density [64], or improving their construction to alleviate the effects of the high frequency in the conductors [67]-[68].

This thesis work will be focus in the study of the LLC and the PSFB. Both of this topologies are very promising and well suited for any of the available semiconductor technologies in the market, specifically for Si SJ MOSFETs, which are currently the most mature devices and the most competitive in cost now and in the foreseeable future. Moreover, the objective of this work is the optimization, improved reliability and functionality of the LLC and the PSFB maintaining as much as possible the simplicity of the standard circuit configuration.

Therefore, in this thesis two converters with similar specifications and similar magnetic construction has been designed and built to study the achievable performance of the two main topologies objective of this work: LLC and PSFB. It has been found that, although PSFB can achieve higher efficiencies than is commonly expected thanks to the new devices and control techniques, the LLC is still potentially superior and capable of still higher efficiencies with less components and less cost. However, in bidirectional applications the large signal gain range of the PSFB makes it arguably superior to the LLC.

REFERENCES

- P. Alou, J. A. Oliver, O. Garcia, R. Prieto and J. A. Cobos, "Comparison of current doubler rectifier and center tapped rectifier for low voltage applications," *Twenty-First Annual IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition, 2006. APEC '06.*, Dallas, TX, 2006, pp. 7 pp.-
- [2] S. Zeljkovic, T. Reiter and D. Gerling, "Analysis of rectifier topologies for automotive HV to LV phase shift ZVT DC/DC converter," 2012 15th International Power Electronics and Motion Control Conference (EPE/PEMC), Novi Sad, 2012, pp. DS1b.4-1-DS1b.4-7
- [3] F. Krismer, J. Biela and J. W. Kolar, "A comparative evaluation of isolated bi-directional DC/DC converters with wide input and output voltage range," Fourtieth IAS Annual Meeting. Conference Record of the 2005 Industry Applications Conference, 2005., Kowloon, Hong Kong, 2005, pp. 599-606 Vol. 1
- [4] Yang, B., "Topology Investigation for Front End DC/DC Power Conversion for Distributed Power System," Dissertation, Virginia Tech, Blacksburg, VA, 2003.
- [5] R. L. Steigerwald, "A comparison of half-bridge resonant converter topologies," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 174-182, April 1988
- [6] S. De Simone, C. Adragna, C. Spini and G. Gattavari, "Design-oriented steady-state analysis of LLC resonant converters based on FHA," *International Symposium on Power Electronics, Electrical Drives, Automation and Motion, 2006. SPEEDAM 2006.*, Taormina, 2006, pp. 200-207
- [7] Bo Yang, F. C. Lee, A. J. Zhang and Guisong Huang, "LLC resonant converter for front end DC/DC conversion," APEC. Seventeenth Annual IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (Cat. No.02CH37335), Dallas, TX, USA, 2002, pp. 1108-1112 vol.2
- [8] J. Kim, C. Kim, J. Kim and G. Moon, "Analysis for LLC resonant converter considering parasitic components at very light load condition," 8th International Conference on Power Electronics - ECCE Asia, Jeju, 2011, pp. 1863-1868
- [9] L. Shi, B. Liu and S. Duan, "Burst-Mode and Phase-Shift Hybrid Control Method of LLC Converters for Wide Output Range Applications," in *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, vol. 67, no. 2, pp. 1013-1023, Feb. 2020
- [10] Sihun Yang, Seiya Abe, Toshiyuki Zaitsu, Junichi Yamamoto, Masahito Shoyama, Tamotsu Ninomiya, "Consideration of Operating Characteristics for Bi-directional LLC Resonant Converter," in *International Journal of Renewable Energy Research-IJRER*, vol. 2, no. 4, 2012.
- H. Li et al., "A 6.6kW SiC bidirectional on-board charger," 2018 IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC), San Antonio, TX, 2018, pp. 1171-1178
- [12] A. Hillers, D. Christen and J. Biela, "Design of a Highly efficient bidirectional isolated LLC resonant converter," 2012 15th International Power Electronics and Motion Control Conference (EPE/PEMC), Novi Sad, 2012, pp. DS2b.13-1-DS2b.13-8
- [13] J. Jung, H. Kim, J. Kim, M. Ryu and J. Baek, "High efficiency bidirectional LLC resonant converter for 380V DC power distribution system using digital control scheme," 2012 Twenty-Seventh Annual IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC), Orlando, FL, 2012, pp. 532-538
- [14] Liu, Y.; Du, G.; Wang, X.; Lei, Y. Analysis and Design of High-Efficiency Bidirectional GaN-Based CLLC Resonant Converter. Energies 2019, 12, 3859
- [15] J. Jung, H. Kim, M. Ryu and J. Baek, "Design Methodology of Bidirectional CLLC Resonant Converter for High-Frequency Isolation of DC Distribution Systems," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 28, no. 4, pp. 1741-1755, April 2013
- [16] G. Liu, D. Li, J. Q. Zhang, B. Hu and M. L. Jia, "Bidirectional CLLC resonant DC-DC converter with integrated magnetic for OBCM application," 2015 IEEE International Conference on Industrial Technology (ICIT), Seville, 2015, pp. 946-951
- [17] Xinbo Ruan and Fuxin Liu, "An improved ZVS PWM full-bridge converter with clamping diodes," 2004 IEEE 35th Annual Power Electronics Specialists Conference (IEEE Cat. No.04CH37551), Aachen, Germany, 2004, pp. 1476-1481 Vol.2
- [18] Q. Cao, Z. Li and H. Wang, "Wide Voltage Gain Range LLC DC/DC Topologies: State-of-the-Art," 2018 International Power Electronics Conference (IPEC-Niigata 2018 - ECCE Asia), Niigata, 2018, pp. 100-107
- [19] W. Choi and S. Young, "Effectiveness of fast recovery MOSFETs to reliability of switching power supplies," SPEEDAM 2010, Pisa, 2010, pp. 1113-1118
- [20] X. Tong et al., "Influence of forward current freewheeling time on di/dt robustness of SJ-MOSFET body diode," 2017 IEEE 24th International Symposium on the Physical and Failure Analysis of Integrated Circuits (IPFA), Chengdu, 2017, pp. 1-4
- [21] T. Lopez, R. Elferich and N. Koper, "Reverse Recovery in High Density Trench MOSFETs with Regard to the Body-Effect," 2006 IEEE International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and IC's, Naples, 2006, pp. 1-4
- [22] S. S. Shah, V. M. Iyer and S. Bhattacharya, "Exact Solution of ZVS Boundaries and AC-Port Currents in Dual Active Bridge Type DC–DC Converters," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 34, no. 6, pp. 5043-5047, June 2019
- [23] M. Ryu, D. Jung, J. Baek and H. Kim, "An optimized design of bi-directional dual active bridge converter for low voltage battery
- charger," 2014 16th International Power Electronics and Motion Control Conference and Exposition, Antalya, 2014, pp. 177-183 [24] H. Tao, A. Kotsopoulos, J. L. Duarte and M. A. M. Hendrix, "Transformer-Coupled Multiport ZVS Bidirectional DC–DC Converter
- With Wide Input Range," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 23, no. 2, pp. 771-781, March 2008 [25] Chen Zhao, Xinke Wu, Guoxing Zhang and Zhaoming Qian, "Variable frequency PWM controlled soft switched FB-PESI Dc/Dc con-
- verter," 2009 IEEE 6th International Power Electronics and Motion Control Conference, Wuhan, 2009, pp. 1378-1383 [26] F. Jauch and J. Biela, "Combined Phase-Shift and Frequency Modulation of a Dual-Active-Bridge AC–DC Converter With PFC,"

in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 31, no. 12, pp. 8387-8397, Dec. 2016 [27] B. Zhao, O. Song, W. Liu and Y. Sun, "Overview of Dual-Active-Bridge Isolated Bidirectional DC–DC Converter for High

[27] B. Zhao, Q. Song, W. Liu and Y. Sun, "Overview of Dual-Active-Bridge Isolated Bidirectional DC–DC Converter for High-Frequency-Link Power-Conversion System," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 29, no. 8, pp. 4091-4106, Aug. 2014

- [28] A. K. Jain and R. Ayyanar, "Pwm control of dual active bridge: Comprehensive analysis and experimental verification," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 26, no. 4, pp. 1215-1227, April 2011
- [29] A. R. Rodríguez Alonso, J. Sebastian, D. G. Lamar, M. M. Hernando and A. Vazquez, "An overall study of a Dual Active Bridge for bidirectional DC/DC conversion," 2010 IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition, Atlanta, GA, 2010, pp. 1129-1135
- [30] F. Jauch and J. Biela, "Generalized modeling and optimization of a bidirectional dual active bridge DC-DC converter including frequency variation," 2014 International Power Electronics Conference (IPEC-Hiroshima 2014 - ECCE ASIA), Hiroshima, 2014, pp. 1788-1795
- [31] Y. Jeong, J. Kim, C. Lim, D. Kim, J. Baek and G. Moon, "A strategic control scheme of phase-shift full bridge converter for improving light-load efficiency in server power system," 2015 9th International Conference on Power Electronics and ECCE Asia (ICPE-ECCE Asia), Seoul, 2015, pp. 488-494
- [32] K. I. Hwu, Y. T. Yau and T. Chen, "Improvement in Efficiency of the Phase-shift Current-doubler-rectification ZVS Full-bridge DC-DC Converter," APEC 07 - Twenty-Second Annual IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition, Anaheim, CA, USA, 2007, pp. 991-997
- [33] Zhao, L.; Li, H.; Liu, Y.; Li, Z. High Efficiency Variable-Frequency Full-Bridge Converter with a Load Adaptive Control Method Based on the Loss Model. *Energies* 2015, 8, 2647-2673.
- [34] A. Fiel and T. Wu, "MOSFET failure modes in the zero-voltage-switched full-bridge switching mode power supply applications," APEC 2001. Sixteenth Annual IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (Cat. No.01CH37181), Anaheim, CA, USA, 2001, pp. 1247-1252 vol.2
- [35] H. Aigner, K. Dierberger and D. Grafham, "Improving the full-bridge phase-shift ZVT converter for failure-free operation under extreme conditions in welding and similar applications," *Conference Record of 1998 IEEE Industry Applications Conference. Thirty-Third IAS Annual Meeting (Cat. No.98CH36242)*, St. Louis, MO, USA, 1998, pp. 1341-1348 vol.2
- [36] G. Deboy, J. Hancock, M. Purschel, U. Wahl and A. Willmeroth, "Compensation devices solve failure mode of the phase shift ZVS bridge during light-load operation," APEC. Seventeenth Annual IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (Cat. No.02CH37335), Dallas, TX, USA, 2002, pp. 988-993 vol.2
- [37] R. Siemieniec, C. Mößlacher, O. Blank, M. Rösch, M. Frank and M. Hutzler, "A new power MOSFET generation designed for synchronous rectification," *Proceedings of the 2011 14th European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications*, Birmingham, 2011, pp. 1-10.
- [38] K. Park, C. Kim, G. Moon and M. Youn, "Voltage Oscillation Reduction Technique for Phase-Shift Full-Bridge Converter," in *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, vol. 54, no. 5, pp. 2779-2790, Oct. 2007
- [39] P. K. Jain, Wen Kang, H. Soin and Youhao Xi, "Analysis and design considerations of a load and line independent zero voltage switching full bridge DC/DC converter topology," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 17, no. 5, pp. 649-657, Sept. 2002
- [40] X. Yang, Y. Li, Z. Gao, L. Xi and J. Wen, "Analysis and Design of Full-Bridge Converter with a Simple Passive Auxiliary Circuit Achieving Adaptive Peak Current for ZVS and Low Circulating Current," in *IEEE Journal of Emerging and Selected Topics in Power Electronics*, unpublished
- [41] R. Kathiresan, T. Parthiban, P. Das and M. Pahlevaninezhad, "Analysis of a ZVS DC-DC full-bridge converter with natural hold-up time," 2015 IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition (ECCE), Montreal, QC, 2015, pp. 1521-1527
- [42] C. Kim, "Optimal Dead-Time Control Scheme for Extended ZVS Range and Burst-Mode Operation of Phase-Shift Full-Bridge (PSFB) Converter at Very Light Load," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 34, no. 11, pp. 10823-10832, Nov. 2019
- [43] L. Zhao, H. Li, Y. Hou and Y. Yu, "Operation analysis of a phase-shifted full-bridge converter during the dead-time interval," in IET Power Electronics, vol. 9, no. 9, pp. 1777-1783, 27 7 2016
- [44] A. Shahabi and A. N. Lemmon, "Modeling of ZVS Transitions for Efficiency Optimization of the Phase-Shifted Full-Bridge Topology," in *IEEE Journal of Emerging and Selected Topics in Power Electronics*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 529-544, March 2020
- [45] J. Teng and B. Liu, "Three-stage Dead-time Adjustment Scheme for Conversion Efficiency Enhancement of Phase-Shift Full-Bridge Converters at Light Loads," in *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, unpublished
- [46] Qin Haihong, Xu Kefeng, Nie Xin, Zhu Ziyue, Zhong Zhiyuan and Fu Dafeng, "Characteristics of SiC MOSFET and its application in a phase-shift full-bridge converter," 2016 IEEE 8th International Power Electronics and Motion Control Conference (IPEMC-ECCE Asia), Hefei, 2016, pp. 1639-1643
- [47] Z. Emami, M. Nikpendar, N. Shafiei and S. R. Motahari, "Leading and lagging legs power loss analysis in ZVS Phase-Shift Full Bridge converter," 2011 2nd Power Electronics, Drive Systems and Technologies Conference, Tehran, 2011, pp. 632-637
- [48] K. Cho, Y. Kim, I. Cho and G. Moon, "A novel transformer winding for phase shift full bridge converter," INTELEC 2009 31st International Telecommunications Energy Conference, Incheon, 2009, pp. 1-5
- [49] U. Badstuebner, J. Biela and J. W. Kolar, "An optimized, 99% efficient, 5 kW, phase-shift PWM DC-DC converter for data centers and telecom applications," *The 2010 International Power Electronics Conference - ECCE ASIA* -, Sapporo, 2010, pp. 626-634
- [50] U. Badstuebner, J. Biela and J. W. Kolar, "Design of an 99%-efficient, 5kW, phase-shift PWM DC-DC converter for telecom applications," 2010 Twenty-Fifth Annual IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC), Palm Springs, CA, 2010, pp. 773-780
- [51] L. Zhu, "A Novel Soft-Commutating Isolated Boost Full-Bridge ZVS-PWM DC–DC Converter for Bidirectional High Power Applications," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 422-429, March 2006
- [52] P. Xuewei and A. K. Rathore, "Novel bidirectional snubberless soft-switching naturally clamped zero current commutated current-fed dual active bridge (CFDAB) converter for fuel cell vehicles," 2013 IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition, Denver, CO, 2013, pp. 1894-1901
- [53] Kunrong Wang, F. C. Lee and J. Lai, "Operation principles of bi-directional full-bridge DC/DC converter with unified soft-switching scheme and soft-starting capability," APEC 2000. Fifteenth Annual IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (Cat. No.00CH37058), New Orleans, LA, USA, 2000, pp. 111-118 vol.1
- [54] X. Yu and P. Yeaman, "A new high efficiency isolated bi-directional DC-DC converter for DC-bus and battery-bank interface," 2014 IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition - APEC 2014, Fort Worth, TX, 2014, pp. 879-883
- [55] K. Lindberg-Poulsen, Z. Ouyang, G. Sen and M. A. E. Andersen, "A new method for start-up of isolated boost converters using magnetic- and winding-integration," 2012 Twenty-Seventh Annual IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC), Orlando, FL, 2012, pp. 340-345
- [56] Y. Che, Y. Ma, S. Ge, and D. Zhu, "Digital Control of Secondary Active Clamp Phase-Shifted Full-Bridge Converters," Journal of Power Electronics, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 421–431, May 2014.
- [57] S. Bal, D. B. Yelaverthi, A. K. Rathore and D. Srinivasan, "Improved Modulation Strategy Using Dual Phase Shift Modulation for Active Commutated Current-Fed Dual Active Bridge," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 33, no. 9, pp. 7359-7375, Sept. 2018

- [58] Lizhi Zhu, Kunrong Wang, F. C. Lee and Jih-Sheng Lai, "New start-up schemes for isolated full-bridge boost converters," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 18, no. 4, pp. 946-951, July 2003
- [59] M. Noah et al., "A novel three-phase LLC resonant converter with integrated magnetics for lower turn-off losses and higher power density," 2017 IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC), Tampa, FL, 2017, pp. 322-329
- [60] E. Orietti, P. Mattavelli, G. Spiazzi, C. Adragna and G. Gattavari, "Analysis of multi-phase LLC resonant converters," 2009 Brazilian Power Electronics Conference, Bonito-Mato Grosso do Sul, 2009, pp. 464-471
- [61] Heqian Yang, Changsheng Pei, Yongtao Liang, inventor; Huawei Technologies Co., Ltd., assignee. MAGNETIC INTEGRATED DEVICE AND POWER CONVERSION CIRCUIT. US 2016/0254756 A1. September 1, 2016.
- [62] U. Schwalbe, M. Scherf, T. Reimann and G. Deboy, "Advantages of 3-stage-DC/DC-converters for Server Switch Mode Power Supply (SMPS) applications," 2007 European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications, Aalborg, 2007, pp. 1-10
- [63] H. Wetzel, N. Frohleke, J. Bocker and P. Ide, "High efficient 3kW three-stage power supply," Twenty-First Annual IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition, 2006. APEC '06., Dallas, TX, 2006, pp. 7 pp.-
- [64] W. Martinez et al., "Three-phase LLC resonant converter with integrated magnetics," 2016 IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition (ECCE), Milwaukee, WI, 2016, pp. 1-8
- [65] E. Orietti, P. Mattavelli, G. Spiazzi, C. Adragna and G. Gattavari, "Current sharing in three-phase LLC interleaved resonant converter," 2009 IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition, San Jose, CA, 2009, pp. 1145-1152
- [66] H.-J. Choi and J.-H. Jung, "Practical Design of Dual Active Bridge Converter as Isolated Bi-directional Power Interface for Solid State Transformer Applications," Journal of Electrical Engineering and Technology, vol. 11, no. 5, pp. 1265–1273, Sep. 2016.
- [67] D. Huang, S. Ji and F. C. Lee, "LLC Resonant Converter With Matrix Transformer," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 29, no. 8, pp. 4339-4347, Aug. 2014
- [68] Liu, Y.-C.; Chen, C.; Chen, K.-D.; Syu, Y.-L.; Tsai, M.-C. High-Frequency LLC Resonant Converter with GaN Devices and Integrated Magnetics. *Energies* 2019, 12, 1781.
SECTION I. CONVERTERS

CHAPTER 3. PSFB 1400 W FOR SERVER APPLICATIONS

1. INTRODUCTION

The trend in server power supplies in recent years has been towards increased power density with optimized cost. Achieving this higher power density, high efficiency is a key parameter since heat dissipation must be minimized. Towards this goal, fully resonant topologies like LLC are often considered to be the best approach in this power range and voltage class [1]. However, the 1400 W PSFB DCDC converter introduced in this chapter is an example of how the improvement in semiconductor technologies and control algorithms allow a simple and well known topology block like the PSFB to reach the high efficiency levels traditionally considered out of reach for this topology.

This chapter presents the specifications, performance and experimental results of a 1400 W PSFB DCDC converter, including its innovative magnetic construction and an innovative cooling concept for SMD devices (Figure 1). Table 1 gives a summary of the main specifications of the converter under several steady-state and dynamic conditions. The converter's nominal output is 12 V, commonly used in server applications. The stage is operated at a nominal input voltage of 400V, whereas it can maintain regulation down to 360 V at full power (and at the 12 V nominal output voltage), providing enough room for hold-up time whenever the design is part of a full ACDC converter.



Figure 1. Prototype of the 1400 W PSFB DCDC converter.

Tuole II Sullin	and test conditions		
Test	Conditions	Specification	
Efficiency	400 V input, 12 V output	$\eta_{pk} \! > = \! 97$ % at 700 W (50 % load)	
Output voltage		12 V	
Steady-state Vout ripple	400 V input, 12 V output	$ \Delta V_{out} $ less than 200 $mV_{pk\text{-}pk}$	
Undervoltage lockout	375 V on – 350 V off	Analog hysteresis window comparator	
Load transient	5 A \leftrightarrow 60 A, 1 A/µs		
	60 A ↔ 117 A, 1 A/µs	$ \Delta \mathbf{v}_{out} $ less than 600 m \mathbf{v}_{pk}	
OCP	118 – 119 A	Shut down and resume	
	120 A	Shut down and latch	
	Output terminals in short-circuit	Detection within switching period.	
		Shut down and latch	

Table 1. Summary of specifications and test conditions for the 1400 W PSFB SMD

This design consists of a PSFB with synchronous rectification (SR) in center tapped configuration (Figure 2). The control is implemented in an XMC4200 Infineon microcontroller, which includes voltage regulation functionality with peak current mode control, burst mode operation, output over current protection (OCP), over voltage protection (OVP), under voltage protection (UVP), under voltage lockout (UVLO), soft-start, synchronous rectifiers control, adaptive timings (bridge dead times and synchronous rectifiers turn-on and turn-off delays) and serial communication interface. Further detail about the digital control implementation and further functionalities of the PSFB in the XMCTM 4000 family can be found in [2]-[3].



Figure 2. Simplified circuit schematic of the 1400 W PSFB converter.

2. SYSTEM DESCRIPTION

Figure 3 shows the placement of the different components in the 1400 W PSFB prototype. The outer dimensions of the prototype, enclosed in the case, are 133 mm x 64.5 mm x 44 mm which results in a power density in the range of 3.70 W/cm³ (60.78 W/in³).



Figure 3. Placement of the different components in the 1400 W PSFB. Current sense (C. SENSE), resonant inductor (LR), synchronous rectifiers (SR), and clamping diodes (C. DIODES).



Figure 4. Estimated efficiency of the 1400 W PSFB at different switching frequencies (the fan consumption has been excluded) for the load points of interest. Estimated at 400 V input and 12 V output.

The design was optimized for frequencies in the range of 90 kHz to 110 kHz, as can be seen in the estimated efficiency versus frequency curves for the 40 %, 50 % and 60 % load points in Figure 4. The switching frequency of the converter's prototype is 100 kHz.

The estimated overall distribution of losses of the converter along the load proves the main transformer and the other magnetics as the main sources of loss (Figure 5). The power switches, both the HV primary side full-bridge and the LV synchronous rectifiers exhibit very low and well balanced switching, driving and conduction losses.



Figure 5. Overall losses breakdown of 1400 W PSFB along the load range. Estimated at nominal conditions: 400 V input and 12 V output.

2.1. PRIMARY SIDE HV DEVICES

The primary side HV switches in the prototype are IPL60R140CFD7 from Infineon. IPL60R140CFD7 stands for 140 m Ω 600 V CoolMOSTM CFD7 in ThinPAK package. CoolMOSTM CFD7 is a SJ MOSFET with a so-called intrinsic fast body-diode, which commonly refers to a device with relatively reduced Q_{rr}. This device has been selected for this design because of its low loss contribution along all load range and its good balance of conduction to switching losses at the 50% load point, becoming the right device and R_{ds,on} when optimizing for high peak efficiency at that point (Figure 6).



Figure 6. IPL60R140CFD7 loss distribution (percentage of MOSFET contribution) along load in the 1400 W PSFB prototype. Estimated at nominal conditions: 400 V input and 12 V output.



Figure 7. Proposed driving configuration for IPL60R140CFD7 (half-bridge schematic).

The proposed driving circuitry includes a single external resistor (54.9 Ω) in parallel to a medium power Schottky diode (Figure 7). The external turn-on resistor (54.9 Ω) plus the embedded MOSFET gate resistance (R_{g,int}) has no impact on the turn-on losses in ZVS and keeps under control dv/dt and di/dt in the event of a hardswitched turn-on (e.g. during soft-start or no-load operation). The parallel Schottky diode provides a fast and nearly lossless turning-off of the device.

2.1.1. PRIMARY SIDE DEVICES R_{DS,ON}

At the time of this work, the available portfolio of CoolMOSTM CFD7 in SMD ThinPAK packages ranges from 225 m Ω to 60 m Ω (Table 2). The R_{ds,on} stated in Table 2 are the maximum R_{ds,on} expected within the production tolerances for the listed devices (at the testing conditions, e.g. 25 °C and 10 V V_{gs}). The maximum R_{ds,on} is the value commonly used during the design of the converter to account for the worst case scenario, specially when it comes to the thermal stability of the converter at the maximum operating temperatures. However, statistically most of the devices actual R_{ds,on} is 10 to 20 m Ω lower.

Table 2. CoolMOS [™] CFD7 in ThinPAK R _{DS,on} portfol:					
$R_{DS,on} [\Omega]$	ThinPAK 8x8				
225	IPL60R225CFD7				
185	IPL60R185CFD7				
160	IPL60R160CFD7				
140	IPL60R140CFD7				
115	IPL60R115CFD7				
95	IPL60R095CFD7				
75	IPL60R075CFD7				
60	IPL60R060CFD7				

For this design IPL60R140CFD7 was chosen as the best performance compromise between 100 %, 50 % and 10 % load points. However, other $R_{ds,on}$ could be used for a different distribution of losses whenever there is interest in increasing performance at a different working point of the converter. Figure 8 and Figure 9 represents the comparison of the estimated performance between three different available $R_{ds,on}$ in the CoolMOSTM CFD7 portfolio: IPL60R140CFD7 (device currently in the design), IPL60R160CFD7 (one step higher $R_{ds,on}$) and IPL60R115CFD7 (on step lower $R_{ds,on}$).





Figure 8. Estimated efficiency of the 1400 W PSFB prototype with different CoolMOSTM CFD7 $R_{DS,on}$ in ThinPAK. Estimated at nominal conditions: 400 V input and 12 V output.

Figure 9. Differential estimated efficiency of the 1400 W PSFB prototype with different CoolMOSTM CFD7 $R_{DS,on}$ in ThinPAK. Estimated at nominal conditions: 400 V input and 12 V output.

Figure 10 represents the estimation of losses at three main working points and how they balance for the three different $R_{ds,on}$ values. Although the difference in losses at 50 % and 10 % is small in comparison to the difference in losses at 100 % the impact in efficiency is still noticeable, as seen in Figure 9. The steep change on differential efficiency comparison between 20 % and 10 % is due to the loss of full ZVS at 10 % and the different Q_{oss} values for each $R_{ds,on}$.



Figure 10. Estimated distribution of the HV switches losses in the 1400 W PSFB prototype with different CoolMOSTM CFD7 R_{DS,on}. Estimated at nominal conditions: 400 V input and 12 V output.

2.2. TRANSFORMER

The main transformer has a planar-like construction in a PQ35/28 core made of DMR95 material, which is manufactured by DMEGC. The primary winding has been realized with triple insulated Litz wire made of 7 strands of 0.3 mm diameter each, and manufactured by Furukawa. The secondary winding is made of parallel tinned copper plates of 0.6 mm thickness. Thanks to the core geometry and the winding technique with multiple primary-secondary interlaved sections, the transformer achieves a good coupling (a low leakage inductance, in the order of 500 nH), but still having relatively low intra and inter-winding capacitances (in comparison to a full planar realization). This enables low drain voltage overshoot on the secondary side devices and their optimum voltage class selection [4].

Altough the Litz wire achieves relatively less window utilization than solid round or flat conductors, when properly designed, it minimizes proximity losses (at the switching frequency and at the higher order harmonics, taking into account the spectrum of trapezoidal waveforms characteristics of the PSFB). Meanwhile, the multiple interleaving sections helps to minimize the proximity losses in the secondary side copper plates. A detailed description of the construction can be seen in Figure 11. The main transformer structure actually comprises a transformer with two primary windings in parallel integrated or stacked with the external resonant inductance (Figure 11 and Figure 12). The spacer in between the parallel windings (element 3 in Figure 11) increases the distance to the central gap and helps diminishing losses caused by the fringing fields, especially harmful for the secondary flat copper conductors.



Figure 12. Main transformer and external resonant inductance. Mechanical drawing and simplified schematic.

The transformer has a turn ratio of 21 primary turns to 1 secondary turn, which operates near 63 % effective duty at nominal conditions (400 V input, 12 V output) or 3.15 µs at 100 kHz frequency of switching. Therefore, the calculated maximum flux peak (steady state) is about 0.17 T, well below the saturation flux density of the chosen core material: DMR95 from DMEGC. Figure 13 shows the estimated loss distribution of the full stacked magnetic structure. Notice the transformer core loss is nearly constant along the load (apart from the material temperature dependence) due to the nature of the converter, where the effective duty cycle or the voltage times time integral is nearly fixed for a given voltage conversion ratio (excluded non-idealities of the converter, e.g. ohmic drop).



Figure 13. Estimated distribution of losses of stacked magnetic structure: transformer and resonant inductance (L_r). Estimated at nominal conditions: 400 V input and 12 V output.

2.3. COOLING SOLUTION

The proposed cooling solution in this design comprises a set of four copper plates for the HV bridge devices and two copper plates for the synchronous rectification LV devices. The construction of the transformer, where the secondary side winding is built out of copper plates, constitutes as well part of the secondary side LV devices heat-sink (Figure 14).



Figure 14. Heat sinks for the HV bridge devices and the LV secondary devices in a partially assembled 1400 W PSFB converter board.

A single fan extracts air from the unit which flows uninterrupted along the HV bridge heatsinks thanks to their construction. That keeps air pressure low and maximizes air flow capability of the fan. The fan speed is modulated along the load for the best overall efficiency (see Figure 15) as little cooling effort is required at light and medium loads. Moreover, the magnetic core losses reach their minimum at medium temperatures (80 °C), therefore keeping the core hot can actually improve the overall efficiency of the converter.



Figure 15. Fan air flow along the converter load (assuming fan is working with low pressure).

Figure 16. Measured temperatures on 1400 W PSFB converter at 25° C room temperature and within its enclosure.

Based on the estimation of losses for the HV bridge devices (four times IPL60R075CFD7), which at full load is approximately 10.55 W (considering both switching and conduction losses, but not driving, as most of the driving losses are dissipated in the external R_g and the driver), some 2.64 W per device; and the measured temperature (see Figure 16) of approximately 75 °C on the surface of the device packages, we can estimate the thermal impedance of the proposed cooling solution to be in the range of 10 °C/W from junction to air for the HV bridge devices (with the conservative assumption of 50 °C airflow, as the air is heated up by the transformer and the SRs

before reaching the HV bridge heatsinks). This demonstrates that the proposed cooling solution is effective, but of simple manufacture and assembly, and therefore of low cost. This cost saving would enable the use of even lower $R_{ds,on}$ for still a better performance.

3. EXPERIMENTAL

This section demonstrates the performance and experimental results of the 1400 W PSFB DCDC converter prototype. Figure 17 shows the measured efficiency of the converter with and without the fan being supplied by the on-board auxiliary supply, which achieves a peak of 96.71 % and 96.92 % respectively.

For testing of the 1400 W PSFB prototype the suggested setup includes:

- HV supply capable of 400 V and at least 1500 W (when testing up to full load).
- LV electronic load (0 V 12 V), in constant current mode, capable of at least 1400 W (when testing up to full load)

The nominal input voltage of the converter is 400 V. The converter starts to operate at 375 V, turning-off with a hysteresis window when the input voltage falls below 350 V. The suggested testing setup and the valid input and output ranges are summarized in Figure 18.



Figure 18. Recommended validation setup.

3.1. DYNAMIC AND STEADY-STATE WAVEFORMS

3.1.1. HALF BRIDGE DRIVER BOOTSTRAP CHARGE SEQUENCE

Driving the HV half bridge device configuration requires the supply of the high side driving stage, generally done with bootstrapping capacitors and a decoupling HV diode from the low side driving supply. However, bootstrapping capacitors are initially discharged and can also self-discharge while the converter is in idle state (e.g. during burst operation mode). The controller should provide a starting sequence that enables the bootstrapping capacitors to be charged up before applying pulses to the high side devices. This could be done in one of several possible ways. Here we apply charging pulses on the low side devices before starting (Figure 19) or before resuming the switching (after a configurable idle time has been detected) (Figure 20).





Figure 19. Soft start including a sequence for the charge of the bootstrap capacitors.

Figure 20. Burst operation including a sequence for the charge of the bootstrapping capacitors.

3.1.2. HV FULL BRIDGE

The low Q_{oss} of IPL60R140CFD7 results in full ZVS of the lagging leg (switches Q_3 and Q_4) down to 15 % load and partial ZVS of the leading leg (switches Q_1 and Q_2) in light load conditions (Figure 21) with full ZVS at 35 % load and above. With partial ZVS only a small part of the Q_{oss} is resistively charged and small part of the E_{oss} is lost, in consequence the switching losses of CFD7 are low at any load conditions and the overall loss contribution along all the load range of the converter is also relatively low (Figure 5 and Figure 6). An additional benefit of the low Q_{oss} and having near ZVS transition at no-load is the lower dv/dt values and lower or no drain voltage overshoot of the HV MOSFETs thanks to the smooth quasi-resonant transitions (and consequently better EMI too).



Figure 21. ZVS turn-on of lagging leg (Q_4 switch) and partially hardswitched turn-on of leading leg (Q_2 switch) at 15 % load.

Figure 22. HV bridge drain voltage overshoot at full load. Note: measured with a differential probe Tektronix THDP0200.

Vgs,Q4

The highest drain voltage overshoot in the HV MOSFETs happens at full load (Figure 22), due to relatively high current in the hard-switched turn-off transition; in these transitions the parasitic inductances of the MOSFET package and in the layout induce voltage overshoots due to the high di/dt. However, thanks to the low inductances of the SMD packages and the careful layout of the commutation loop, the overshoot is well under the rated maximum blocking voltage in any operating conditions of the converter (under 480 V, or rated 80 % of 600 V, which is the breakdown voltage of the device at $T_j = 25$ °C).

3.1.3. SYNCHRONOUS RECTIFIERS

The rectifying stage has a center tapped configuration with eight devices $1.6 \text{ m}\Omega 60 \text{ V}$ OptiMOSTM 5 in Super SO-8 package in parallel. With eight packages the dissipated power can be better spread bringing higher cooling capability and performance (lower R_{ds,on} increase due to temperature). The center tapped rectifying configuration enables low losses for high output current converters (117 A) but increases the required blocking capability up to two times the reflected transformer secondary voltage (38 V in nominal conditions for this design) plus the additional commutation overshoot. Nevertheless, thanks to the transformer construction (see 2.2), its low leakage, and the optimized output capacitance of OptiMOSTM 5 it is possible to use 60 V voltage class devices with more than enough margin for the maximum drain voltage overshoot (e.g. 41.5 V in Figure 23 for an allowed maximum of 48 V, the rated 80 % of 60 V).



Figure 23. Standard synchronous rectification driving mode. 80 A load

The controller provides adaptive turning-on and turning-off delays of the synchronous rectifiers along the load for a minimum body diode conduction time in order to reduce conduction losses and reduce the generation of reverse recovery charges (Q_{rr}) (in consequence better efficiency and lower drain voltage overshoot).

3.1.4. DYNAMIC RESPONSE

The controller provides hardware implemented peak current control mode with software implemented digital compensation designed for a bandwidth of 18 kHz with a phase margin of 48 degrees and gain margin of 12 dB, well within standard stability criteria requirements. The dynamic response to load jumps (Figure 24) correlates well to the expected response of the designed compensation network, with an overshoot and undershoot within 2.5 % of the nominal output voltage for a 50 % load jump.



Figure 24. Load jump, half to full load (60 A - 117 A) and full to half load (117 A - 60 A). Load jump configured at 1 A/µs and 10 ms period.

3.1.5. SOFT START-UP

The controller implements a soft start-up sequence to ensure the converter powers up with minimal stress over any of the components. In the starting up sequence the output voltage is ramped up in close loop operation. The controller increments the output voltage reference within a timed sequence (Figure 25).

				V _{AB}			12		
		iL,			1	1			
_	Vo	ut	/	Vds,	Q ₆				
CT 2.0A/div CT 7.0V/div CT 2.0V/div CT 100.0V/div	1 1 1 1 1 8v 1	IMD 9 _W :120M 9 _W :1.0G 9 _W :20.0M IMD 9 _W :200M		15.996m 16.196m 199.5µs 5.013kH			-	None Normal	2.0ms/div 500M5/s 2.0ms/pt Dispert Single Seq 1 acqs RL-10.0M Cons October 17, 2018 15:24:51
	Value	Mean	Min 40.77	Max 40.77	St Dev	Count	Info		

Figure 25. Output voltage soft start up.

3.1.6. BURST MODE OPERATION

For further reduction of power losses under light load conditions ($\leq 3 \%$ load) the controller implements burst operation mode. The implemented burst mode ensures that under any condition the HV MOSFETs operate under full or at least partial ZVS (Figure 26), which reduces the power loss and maintains the smooth quasi resonant transitions of the drain voltage (little or no overshoots and better EMI).



Figure 26. Burst operation mode. Output voltage (green), transformer primary current (blue), bridge voltage (pink), synchronous rectifier drain voltage (red).

3.2. THERMAL MAP

The converter is designed to run enclosed in a case so the fan can provide enough air flow by the channeling effect. However, the thermal captures in Figure 27 and Figure 28 have been taken with the converter running without enclosure for illustrative purposes (the temperature values with the converter enclosed would be lower, see section 2.3).



Figure 27. Thermal capture at 15 A load with open case and external auxiliary fans. Bottom view. The hot area correspond to the transformer, which lays on the opposite side of the board.



Figure 28. Thermal capture at 117 A load with open case and external auxiliary fans. Bottom view. The hot area corresponds to the synchronous rectifiers and the PCB copper where the output inductor is attached. The temperature of the output inductor spreads to the PCB copper.

4. USER INTERFACE

The controller includes serial communication interface (UART) and a proprietary protocol allowing the parametrization of the HV and the LV MOSFETs timings, output voltage setting, enabling and disabling of some of the protections and monitoring of the status of the converter. The user interface for Windows OS is an example of the capabilities of the included communication library within the controller. The user interface was specially developed to communicate with the controller through XMCTM Link (includes a UART to USB converter) [5] but other serial communication interfaces would be possible.

The communication protocol, the user interface as well and the entire firmware for the control of this and the other DCDC conveters in this work where entirely developed by the author.

Finally, there are two available versions of the GUI:

• Simplified user interface intended for monitoring of the converter during runtime (Figure 29).

• Advanced user interface (Figure 30) with runtime parametrization capabilities of dead times, voltage and current thresholds, enabling and disabling of protections and monitoring of status.



Figure 30. 1400 W PSFB advanced user interface.

5. SCHEMATICS

The converter's hardware is comprised of a main board and two separate daughter cards: a controller card and an auxiliary on-board supply card. Figure 29, Figure 30 and Figure 31 represent the schematics of the main board, the control card and the auxiliary on-board supply respectively.



Figure 29. 1400 W PSFB SMD main board with IPL60R140CFD7 and BSC016N06NS5.



Figure 30. 1400 W PSFB SMD controller card with XMC4200-F64K256AB.



Figure 31. Auxiliary 6W power supply. Adapted from [6].

6. CONCLUSIONS

This chapter has introduced a complete system solution for a 1400 W DCDC converter from 400 V to 12 V achieving 97 % peak efficiency. The achieved power density is in the range of 3.70 W/cm³ (60.78 W/in³), which is enabled by the use of SMD packages, the innovative stacked magnetic construction and the innovative cooling solution.

This DCDC converter proves the feasibility of PSFB topology as a high efficiency topology at the level of fully resonant topologies when combined with the latest SJ MOSFETs devices. This DCDC converter proves as well that digital control, powered by XMCTM Infineon microcontrollers, is not only capable of controlling PSFB topology but also to overcome its drawbacks and enable the usage of the latest SJ MOSFET devices and the lowest possible voltage class devices, both in the HV and in the LV side, to achieve the best possible performance.

REFERENCES

- M.Kutschak, D. Meneses Herrera, "1600 W Titanium server power supply with 600 V CoolMOSTM G7 in DDPAK and digital control by XMCTM", AN_1712_PL52_1802, Infineon Technologies, May 2018
- [2] F. Di Domenico, B. Schmoelzer, M. Escudero Rodriguez, S. Raghunath, "800 W ZVS phase shift full bridge evaluation board. Using 600 V CoolMOS[™] CFD7 and digital control by XMC4200", AN_201709_PL52_027, Infineon Technologies, November 2017
- [3] F. Di Domenico, B. Schmoelzer, M. Escudero Rodriguez, S. Raghunath, "1400 W ZVS phase shift full bridge evaluation board. Using 600 V CoolMOS[™] CFD7 and digital control by XMC4200", AN_201711_PL52_003, Infineon Technologies, November 2017
- M. Escudero, M. Kutschak, D. Meneses, D. P. Morales and N. Rodriguez, "Synchronous Rectifiers Drain Voltage Overshoot Reduction in PSFB Converters," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 35, no. 7, pp. 7419-7433, July 2020
 M. M. C. M. Kutschak, D. Meneses, D. P. Morales and N. Rodriguez, "Synchronous Rectifiers Drain Voltage Overshoot Reduction in PSFB Converters," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 35, no. 7, pp. 7419-7433, July 2020
- [5] XMCTM Link Functional Isolated Debug Probe, https://www.infineon.com/cms/de/product/evaluation-boards/kit_xmc_link_segger_v1, visited on 14 June 2020
- [6] Jared Huntington, "6 W bias supply. Using the new 800 V CoolMOSTM P7, ICE5QSAG QR flyback controller, and snubberless flyback for improved auxiliary power-supply efficiency and form factor". AN_201709_PL52_030, Infineon Technologies, November 2017

CHAPTER 4. BIDIRECTIONAL 3300 W PSFB

1. INTRODUCTION

The prototype of 3300 W PSFB in this chapter is an example of how the improvement in semiconductor technology and control algorithms allow a simple and well known topology block like the PSFB to reach the high efficiency levels traditionally considered out of reach for this topology. Furthermore, for the construction of a bidirectional DCDC stage, an LLC or a Dual Active Bridge topology would be the most common approach [1]. It is demonstrated in this chapter that, thanks to the flexibility of digital control, the traditional PSFB topology block can be used as a bidirectional DCDC converter without changes on what would be otherwise a standard PSFB design (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Simplified schematic of the 3300 W PSFB prototype.

This 3300 W PSFB DCDC converter design consists of a PSFB with synchronous rectification (SR) in full bridge configuration (Figure 1). The converter's nominal output is 54.5 V (common for telecom applications) or that of a 48 V battery charger with a working range between 60V to 40V. The stage is operated at a nominal input voltage of 400V, whereas it can regulate down to 360V at full load (at 54.5 V nominal output voltage), providing room for hold-up time whenever the design is part of a full ACDC converter. A summary of the most significant specifications can be found in Table 1.

Test	Conditions	Specification		
Input voltage	350 V - 415 V	400 V nominal		
Efficiency test	380V input, 54.5V output	$\eta_{pk} >= 98 \%$ at 1500 W (50 % load)		
Output voltage	60V-40V	54.5 V nominal		
Steady-state Vout ripple	380V input, 54.5V output	$ \Delta V_{out} $ less than 200 $mV_{pk\text{-}pk}$		
Durant and		370 V on – 350 V off		
Brown-out		415V off - 390 V on		
Load transient	5 A \leftrightarrow 31 A, 0.5 A/µs			
	31 A ↔ 61 A, 0.5 A/µs	$ \Delta \mathbf{v}_{out} $ less than 450 m \mathbf{v}_{pk}		
	5 min at 77A-83 A			
OCP	1 ms at 83-85 A	Shut down and resume after 5 min		
	20 µs at 85 A	Shut down and latch		
	Output terminals in short-circuit	Detection within switching cycle.		
		Shut down and latch		

Table 1. Summary of spec	cifications and test conditions	for the 3300 W bidirectional PSFB
--------------------------	---------------------------------	-----------------------------------

The control is implemented in an XMC4200 microcontroller from Infineon, including voltage regulation functionality with peak current mode control, burst mode operation, output over current protection (OCP), over voltage protection (OVP), soft-start, synchronous rectifiers control, adaptive timings (HV bridge dead times and synchronous rectifiers turn-on and turn-off delays) and serial communication interface. Further details about the digital control implementation and further functionalities of PSFB in the XMC[™] 4000 family can be found in [2]-[3].

The 3300 W PSFB bidirectional DCDC converter introduced in this chapter (Figure 2) achieves 98% efficiency in buck mode and 97% in boost mode. The following sections describe the converter prototype, the innovative cooling concept for SMD devices and the novel integrated magnetic structure. Finally the experimental results are discussed.



Figure 2. 3300 W bidirectional PSFB prototype.

2. SYSTEM DESCRIPTION

The 3300 W bidirectional PSFB can operate as an isolated buck or as an isolated boost converter, i.e. with the power flowing from the HV rail to the isolated LV rail or vice-versa. The measured efficiency of the converter is plotted in Figure 3.



Figure 3. Measured efficiency of bidirectional 3300 W PSFB (fan consumption included).

Figure 4 shows the placement of the different components in the 3300 W bidirectional PSFB. The outer dimensions of the board, enclosed in the case, are 208 mm x 83 mm x 44 mm. Therefore, thanks to the high performance of the semiconductor devices, the innovative cooling concept for a full SMD solution and the stacked magnetic construction the converter achieves a power density in the range of 4.34 W/cm^3 (71.19 W/in³).



Figure 4. Placement of the different sections in the 3300 W bidirectional PSFB. High voltage (HV), synchronous rectifiers (SR), current sense (C.SENSE), clamping diodes (C. DIODES), resonant inductance (LR), transformer (TRAFO) and capacitors (CAPS).

The power density surpasses that of the prototype in Chapter 3, which was 3.70 W/cm³ (60.78 W/in³). However, both converters are not directly comparable due to their different specifications. At higher output voltages higher efficiencies can be achieved (54.5 V instead of 12 V). The higher efficiency, together with the higher power of the converter (3300 W instead of 1400 W) enables a higher power density, although not necessarily a smaller volume (this converter is overall twice as big).

The design was optimized for frequencies in the range of 110 kHz - 90 kHz, as can be observed in the plot of the estimated efficiency versus frequency curves for the 40 %, 50 % and 60 % load points in Figure 5. The switching frequency of the converter's prototype is 100 kHz



Figure 5. Estimated efficiency of 3300 W bidirectional PSFB in buck mode at different switching frequencies (the fan consumption is included) for the load points of interest.

2.1. OVERALL LOSSES DISTRIBUTION

The estimated overall distribution of losses of the converter along load proves the transformer and other magnetics as the main sources of loss (Figure 6). The main semiconductors, both 600V CoolMOSTM CFD7 and 150 V OptiMOSTM 5 exhibit a good balance of switching to conduction loss.



Figure 6. Overall losses breakdown of 3300 W bidirectional PSFB in buck mode along load.

2.2. PRIMARY SIDE HV DEVICES

IPL60R075CFD7 stands for 75 m Ω 600 V CoolMOSTM CFD7 in ThinPaK package, which is a SJ MOSFET with fast body-diode device from Infineon. IPL60R075CFD7 brings a low loss contribution along all load range and exhibits a good balance of conduction to switching losses at the 50% load point, becoming the right device and R_{ds,on} class when optimizing for high peak efficiency at that point (Figure 7).

For a better distribution of power losses and improved cooling performance of the SMD devices, every position of the HV bridge is composed of two devices in parallel (Figure 8). This configuration brings the benefit of effectively having half the nominal $R_{ds,on}$ plus the additional benefit of the devices running at a lower temperature (consequently with lower $R_{ds,on}$ increase due to temperature).

The driving circuitry includes a single external resistor for each pair of devices, thanks to IPL60R075CFD7 already including an embedded gate resistor $R_{g,int}$ (5.9 Ω) big enough for a safe parallel operation in this application.



Figure 7. IPL60R075CFD7 estimated loss distribution (percentage of the MOSFET contributions) along load in the 3300 W bidirectional PSFB operating in buck mode.



Figure 8. Driving configuration of paralleled IPL60R075CFD7 (half bridge schematic).

2.1.1. PRIMARY SIDE DEVICES R_{DS,ON}

At the time of this work, CoolMOSTM CFD7 portfolio in SMD ThinPAK packages (Table 2) ranges from 225 m Ω (maximum R_{ds,on}) to 60 m Ω (maximum R_{ds,on}). For this design it was chosen IPL60R075CFD7 as the best compromise between the 100%, 50% and 10% load points performances. However, other R_{ds,on} could be used for a different distribution of losses whenever there is interest in increasing performance at other working points of the converter.

Table 2. CoolMOS TM CFD7 in ThinPAK R _{DS,on} portfo				
$\mathbf{R}_{\mathrm{DS,on}}[\Omega]$	Device naming			
225	IPL60R225CFD7			
185	IPL60R185CFD7			
160	IPL60R160CFD7			
140	IPL60R140CFD7			
115	IPL60R115CFD7			
95	IPL60R095CFD7			
75	IPL60R075CFD7			
60	IPL60R060CFD7			

Figure 9 and Figure 10 represent the estimated performance of three different $R_{ds,on}$ available in the portfolio: IPL60R075CFD7 (device currently on the design), IPL60R095CFD7 (one step higher $R_{ds,on}$) and IPL60R060CFD7 (on step lower $R_{ds,on}$).





Figure 9. Estimated efficiency of 3300 W bidirectional PSFB in buck mode with different CoolMOSTM CFD7 $R_{DS,on}$ in ThinPAK.

Figure 10. Differential estimated efficiency of 3300 W bidirectional PSFB in buck mode with different CoolMOSTM CFD7 $R_{DS,on}$ in Thin-PAK.

Figure 11 represent the estimated losses at the three main working points of interest and how they balance for the different $R_{ds,on}$. Although the difference in losses at 50 % and 10 % is small in comparison to the difference in losses at 100 % the impact in efficiency is still noticeable as seen in Figure 10.



Figure 11. Estimated distribution of losses of 3300 W bidirectional PSFB in buck mode with different CoolMOSTM CFD7 R_{DS,on} in Thin-PAK.

2.3. TRANSFORMER

The transformer has a planar like construction in a PQI35/23 core made of DMR95 material, which is manufactured by DMGC. The primary winding has been realized with triple insulated Litz wire of 7 strands of 0.3 mm diameter each, produced by Furukawa. The secondary winding is made of parallel tinned copper plates of 0.6 mm thickness. Thanks to the winding technique and the geometry of the core, the transformer achieves a good coupling (with low leakage, in the order of 500 nH), but still with relatively low intra and inter-winding capacitances (in comparison to a full planar realization). Moreover, the Litz wire and the interleaving of the primary and the secondary windings minimizes the proximity losses (at the main switching frequency and at the higher order harmonics, taking into account the spectrum of the PSFB trapezoidal waveforms).

Figure 12 shows a two-dimensional Finite Element simulation of the current distribution in the transformer windings. It can be observed the increment in the current density near the gaps due to the fringing fields, therefore the convenience of keeping the gaps as small as possible or alternatively increasing the distance of the conductors to the gap (that was the approach for the transformer in Chapter 3). The simulation has been realized in FEMM 4.2, a suite of programs for solving low frequency electromagnetic problems on two-dimensional planar and axisymmetric domains [4].



Figure 12. Main transformer current density distribution. Finite element simulation (FEMM 4.2).

The main transformer has a turn ratio of 21 primary to 4 secondary turns. Therefore, the effective duty at nominal conditions (400 V input to 54.5 V output) is 71.7 % or 3.59 μ s at the switching frequency of 100 kHz. Therefore, the maximum flux peak (in steady state) is about 0.19 T, well below the saturation flux density of the chosen core material: DMR95 from DMEGC.

The main transformer actually comprises two parallel transformers integrated in the same structure. Due to the integration the flux is cancelled in part of the core with the subsequent reduction of the core losses in that part of the volume (Figure 13). Thanks to the paralleling of the two transformers it is possible to realize an equivalent smaller magnetizing inductance (the equivalent of two magnetizing inductances in parallel) with two smaller gaps, instead of a bigger single one, and therefore less losses caused by the fringing fields near it.



Figure 13. Main transformer flux density distribution. Finite element simulation (FEMM 4.2).

Figure 14 shows an estimated loss distribution of the full stacked magnetic structure. Notice the transformer core loss is nearly constant along the load (apart from the material temperature dependence) due to the nature of the converter, where the effective duty or the voltage times time integral is nearly fixed for a specific voltage conversion ratio.



Figure 14. Estimated distribution of losses of stacked magnetic structure: transformer and resonant inductance.

2.4. COOLING SOLUTION

The proposed cooling solution for the full SMD design comprises a set of four copper plates for the HV bridge devices and two copper plates for the synchronous rectification LV devices. The construction of the transformer, where the secondary side winding is built out of copper plates, constitutes as well part of the secondary side LV devices heat sink (Figure 15).



Figure 15. Heat sinks for HV bridge devices and LV secondary devices in a partially assembled PSFB 3300 W converter board.

A single fan extracts air from the unit, which flows uninterrupted along the HV bridge heatsinks thanks to their construction. That keeps the air pressure low and maximizes the air flow capabilities of the fan. The fan speed is modulated along the load for the best overall efficiency (see Figure 16), because little cooling effort is required at light loads. Moreover, the core losses for the DMR95 material diminish with temperature, reaching its minimum at around 80 °C, therefore the overall efficiency of the converter can improve at light and medium loads when the core is warm.



Figure 16. Estimated air flow along the converter load range (assuming fan is working with low pressure).

Figure 17. Measured temperatures in the PSFB 3300 W converter at 25°C room temperature and with open case.

Based on the estimation of losses for the HV bridge devices (eight IPL60R075CFD7), which at full load is approximately 16.4 W (considering both switching and conduction losses, but not driving, as most of the driving losses are dissipated on the external gate resistor R_g and in the gate driver), some 2.05 W per device, and the measured temperature of approximately 35 °C on the surface of the device packages (see Figure 17), we can estimate the thermal impedance of the proposed cooling solution in the range of 5.5 °C/W from junction to air for the HV bridge devices. Therefore, the proposed cooling solution demonstrates to be effective, of simple manufacture and assembly and consequently of low cost.

2.5. CONSTANT POWER LIMITATION

The controller includes a constant power limitation curve (Figure 18), that decreases the output voltage when the output current goes above the nominal 61 A, to maintain the maximum 3300 W output power constant. Up to 73 A and 45 V output the converter can operate steadily. If the current increases further, up to 83 A and down to 40 V output, the converter would operate up to 5 minutes before shutting down as a thermal protection. The converter will resume to a normal state after an additional 5 minutes idle time. At a hard limit of 85 A output, the converter will shut down and latch (considered as a short circuit).



3. EXPERIMENTAL

This section demonstrate the performance and experimental results of the 3300 W bidirectional PSFB under several steady-state and dynamic conditions.

3.1. BUCK MODE TESTING SETUP

For validation of the buck mode the suggested setup includes:

- HV supply capable of 400 V and at least 3400 W (when testing up to full load).
- LV electronic load (0 V 60 V), in constant current mode, capable of at least 3300 W (when testing up to full load)

The nominal input voltage of the converter is 400 V. The converter starts to operate at 375 V, and shuts down with a hysteresis window when the input voltage rises above 415 V or falls below 350 V. The suggested testing setup and the input voltage range is summarized in Figure 19.



Figure 19. Buck mode recommended validation setup.

3.2. BOOST MODE TESTING SETUP

For validation of the boost mode the suggested setup includes:

- HV supply capable of 330 V 380 V and at least 1 A (for the pre-charging of the bulk capacitor).
- HV electronic load (0 V 400 V), in constant current mode, capable of at least 2400 W (when testing up to full load)
- LV supply capable of 0 V 58 V and at least 2500 W (when testing up to full load)

A HV diode might be placed between the HV supply and the HV load as indicated in Figure 20 to decouple the HV supply once the 3300 W PSFB converter starts-up. The converter requires both the HV and the LV side voltages to be within the ranges indicated in Figure 20 for starting-up, while the sequence of the applied voltages is irrelevant.



Figure 20. Boost mode recommended validation setup.

The buck and boost validation setups could be combined within a single setup with an additional diode decoupling the LV supply. However, when doing so, all the current in any of the directions of flow would be passing through one of the decoupling diodes, which may require of additional suited cooling for those external auxiliary devices.

3.3. BUCK MODE EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS

3.3.1. PRIMARY SIDE HV FULL BRIDGE

The relatively low Q_{oss} of IPL60R075CFD7 results in full ZVS of the lagging leg (switches Q_3 and Q_4) down to no load and partial ZVS of the leading leg (switches Q_1 and Q_2) in light load conditions (Figure 21) with full ZVS at 20 % load and above. With partial ZVS only a small part of the Q_{oss} is resistively charged and only a small part of E_{oss} is lost, in consequence the switching losses of the primary side switches are low at any load conditions and the overall loss contribution along all the load range of the converter is also relatively low (Figure 9 and Figure 10).

An additional benefit of the low Q_{oss} and having near ZVS transitions at no load is the relatively low dv/dt during the switching transitions and a low or no drain voltage overshoot of the HV MOSFETs thanks to the smooth quasi-resonant transitions (and consequently a better EMI).



Figure 21. ZVS turn-on of lagging leg (D switch) and partially hard Figure 22. Full load drain voltage overshoot of the HV bridge. switched turn-on of leading leg (B switch).

The highest drain voltage overshoot in the HV MOSFETs happens at full load (Figure 22), due to the relatively high current during the hard-switched turn-off transition. In these transitions the parasitic inductances of the MOSFET package and of the layout causes voltage overshoot induced by the high di/dt. However, thanks to the low inductances of the SMD packages and the careful layout of the commutation loop, the overshoot is well under the maximum rated voltage (430 V in Figure 22 for an allowed maximum of 480 V, i.e. rated 80 % of 600 V, which is the nominal blocking voltage of the HV devices at $T_i = 25$ °C).

3.3.2. SYNCHRONOUS RECTIFIERS

The rectifying stage has a full bridge configuration with sixteen 9.3 m Ω 150 V OptiMOSTM 5 devices in Super SO-8 packages. With sixteen packages the dissipated power can be better spread bringing higher cooling capability and performance (lower R_{ds,on} increase due to temperature). The full bridge configuration allows the usage of the 150 V voltage class with more than enough margin for the maximum drain voltage overshoot (90.88 V in Figure 23 for an allowed maximum of 120 V, i.e. rated 80 % of 150 V).

The controller adapts the turning-on and turning-off delays of the synchronous rectifiers along the load for a minimum body diode conduction time in order to reduce conduction losses and reduce generation of reverse recovery charges Q_{rr} (consequently better efficiency and lower drain voltage overshoot).



Figure 23. Standard synchronous rectification driving mode.

3.3.3. DYNAMIC RESPONSE

The controller implements hardware peak current control mode with fixed point discrete compensator implemented by software and designed for a bandwidth of 3.51 kHz, with a phase margin of 53.9 degrees and a gain margin of 15 dB, well within the standard stability criteria requirements. The dynamic response to load jumps (Figure 24) correlates well with the expected response of the designed compensation network, with an overshoot and undershoot within 1% of the nominal output voltage for a 50 % load jump.



Figure 24. Load jump, half to light load and light to half load.

3.3.4. SOFT START-UP

The controller implements a soft start sequence to ensure the converter powers up with minimal stress over any of the components. During the starting-up sequence the output voltage is ramped up in close loop operation. The controller increments the output voltage reference within a timed sequence (Figure 25).



3.3.5. BURST MODE

For further reduction of power losses under light load conditions (≤ 8 % load) the controller implements the socalled burst mode. During burst mode the converter works intermitently with a trail of switching pulses followed by an idle time. The burst mode ensures that under any condition the HV MOSFETs operate in full ZVS or at least partial ZVS (Figure 26). The burst operation reduces the power loss and maintains the smooth quasi resonant transitions of the drain voltage (little or no overshoots and better EMI). However, the output voltage ripple is usually increased in this mode of operation.



Figure 26. Burst mode sequence. Output voltage (blue), transformer primary current (green), bridge voltage (pink).

3.3.6. THERMAL MAP

The converter is designed to run enclosed in a metal chassis for the fan to provide enough air flow thanks to the channeling effect. However, the thermal captures in Figure 27 and Figure 28 have been taken with the converter running without enclosure for illustrative purposes (the temperatures with the converter enclosed in its chassis would be lower).



76.4°C

Figure 27. Thermal capture at 61 A of load with open case and external fan. Front view. The hot area corresponds to the main transformer.

Figure 28. Thermal capture at 61 A of load with open case and external fan. Bottom view. The hot area corresponds to the main transformer and the synchronous rectifiers.

3.4. BOOST MODE EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS

In boost mode the 3300 W bidirectional PSFB behaves as a current-fed isolated boost converter. The output filter choke (L_o) becomes the boost inductor and the LV MOSFETs behave as the boost switches: short circuiting L_o between the LV supply and ground to store energy or letting the stored energy flow to the high voltage rail through the isolation transformer. In Figure 29, enclosed between the vertical markers is the effective boost duty cycle.



Figure 29. Boost mode duty cycle. Transformer primary current (blue), LV MOSFET drain voltage (red), LV MOSFET gate voltage (red), bridge voltage (pink). Please note that this capture was taken at scaled down input and output voltages.

The HV bridge effectively behaves in this mode as the boost diode. The HV bridge is actively driven to provide synchronous rectification and reduce drain voltage overshoot in the LV MOSFETs when working in this mode. The applied modulation scheme for the operation of a PSFB as a bidirectional converter is explained in more detail in the published article included in Chapter 7 [5]. Moreover the novel modulation scheme for the operation of PSFB as a bidirectional converter has been registered and a patent is pending.

3.4.1. PRIMARY SIDE HV FULL BRIDGE

The 3300 W bidirectional PSFB ensures full ZVS or at least partial ZVS of the HV MOSFETs at any working condition of the converter. At light or no load the converter ensures partial ZVS applying forced CCM in the LV MOSFETs side and recirculating enough energy for the quasi-resonant transitions of the HV bridge (Figure 30).



Figure 30. Partial ZVS of bridge MOSFETs at no load. Resonant inductance current (blue), LV MOSFET drain voltage (red), LV MOSFET gate voltage (green), bridge voltage (pink).

3.4.2. LV BRIDGE

In boost mode the LV MOSFETs are hard switched turned-on (Figure 31). This is the major difference between the losses distribution operating in buck or boost mode (total Q_{oss} of LV MOSFETs is relatively high) and the major reason for the difference in performance between modes (Figure 3).

The drain voltage overshoot of LV MOSFETs, like in buck mode, is well below the 80 % rated maximum (i.e. 120 V), e.g. around 92 V in Figure 30.



Figure 31. Hard switched turn-on of LV MOSFETs.

3.4.3. SOFT START-UP

In the boost mode the converter requires that the HV rail is pre-charged to a minimum voltage before being able to start up (see Figure 20). In a non-isolated boost converter a bypassing diode pre-charges the HV rail. However in an isolated boost converter it would require of rather more complex auxiliary circuitry [6]-[8].

The soft start sequence ensures full or partial ZVS of the HV MOSFETs from the very first pulses, with low or no drain voltage overshoot and smooth transitions (Figure 32 and Figure 33). The highest drain voltage overshoot occurs at full load, like in buck mode, due to the high currents during the hard switched turning-off transition (di/dt induced overshoot by parasitic inductances).

					O Start up sequence ZOOM	
R: ≃	ump up time 200 ms 1	_	V _{AB}	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Maximum} \\ \text{overshoot} \\ \simeq 412 \text{ V} \end{array}$		Maximum overshoot ≃ 368 V
voltage ≃ 340 V			Vds,Q8	Maximum _ overshoot ≃ 87V	First pulse Vgs,Q8	Maximur overshoo ≃ 83V
50.04/div 1MC 50.04/div 1MC 60.01/div 1MC 100.01/div 1MC	P Byst2004 T1 T2.384.A Wy200M T2 T2.384.A Wy200M T2 T2.2.384.A P Bys20M T2 T2.2.384.A Maan Min Max 23.1786 E23.2 E23.2 890637 16.59 56.59 8.699237 18.46 18.46	St Dev Count	Note / 3.24V Note Nermal	B. Dowald 90 DMD/w 20 Dowald Previous Single Seet Ø ocqu RL 25 DM Cons May 03, 2018 21111 34	Value Value <th< td=""><td>Normal 20.5maid/+100MS/s 10.5maid/s Disposed Single Seq 1 acqs RL28.8M Cens April 15, 2018 21:36 me me me</td></th<>	Normal 20.5maid/+100MS/s 10.5maid/s Disposed Single Seq 1 acqs RL28.8M Cens April 15, 2018 21:36 me me me

Figure 32. Soft start sequence of the isolated boost converter.

Figure 33. Soft start sequence, first pulses ensuring near ZVS for bridge transitions. Note: this capture was taken at scaled down input and output voltages.

3.4.4. BURST MODE

In boost mode the converter remains switching and recirculating enough energy for partial ZVS of the HV MOSFETs at light or no load. Burst would be only visible if the output voltage rises above the nominal regulation level (e.g. during load jumps) (Figure 34).



3.5. THERMAL MAP

The losses distribution has similar values in boost and in buck mode operation of the converter, with the main differences being the hard switched turning-on of the LV MOSFETs and the average current conducted through the clamping diodes (Figure 35).

At no load, unlike the control applied in buck mode, the converter does not stop switching but recirculates energy to achieve near ZVS transitions of the HV bridge. In Figure 35 can be appreciated a temperature raise on the HV bridge due to the partial hard switching (the speed of the fan is at the minimum in this condition contributing to the temperature increase), but still reaches only 33 °C (at 25 °C ambient temperature).

At full load (Figure 36) the main difference with the previous buck mode temperature capture is the temperature on the clamping diodes and the LV MOSFETs (hard-switched turned-on in this mode).



Figure 35. Thermal capture at no load. In boost mode converter does not stop switching, recirculate current enough for partial bridge ZVS. Front view.



Figure 36. Thermal capture at full load. Front view.

4. USER INTERFACE

The controller includes serial communication interface (UART) and a proprietary protocol allowing the parametrization of the HV and the LV MOSFETs timings, output voltage setting, enabling and disabling of some protections and monitoring of the status of the converter. The user interface for Windows OS is an example of the capabilities of the included communication library within the controller. The user interface was specially developed to communicate with the controller through XMCTM Link (includes a UART to USB converter) [5] but other serial communication interfaces would be possible.

There are two available versions of the GUI:

- Advanced user interface (Figure 37) with run time parametrization capabilities of dead times, voltage and current thresholds, enabling and disabling of some protections and monitoring of status.
- Simplified user interface intended for monitoring of converter during runtime (Figure 38).







Figure 38. 3300 W bidirectional PSFB simplified user interface.

5. SCHEMATICS

The converter has been designed to be built comprised of a main board and two separate daughter cards: a controller card and an auxiliary on-board supply card. Figure 39, Figure 40 include the schematics of the main board and the control card. The auxiliary on-board supply in this converter is the same which was used in the converter in chapter 3, therefore its schematic has not been duplicated here.



Figure 39. 3300 W bidirectional PSFB controller card with IPL60R075CFD7 and BSC093N15NS5.

6. CONCLUSIONS

This chapter has introduced a complete system solution for a 3300 W bidirectional DCDC converter achieving 98 % efficiency in forward or buck mode and 97 % in reverse or boost mode. The achieved power density is in the range of 4.34 W/cm³ (71.19 W/in³), which is enabled by the use of SMD packages, the innovative stacked magnetic construction and the innovative cooling solution.

This DCDC converter proves the feasibility of PSFB topology as a high efficiency topology at the level of fully resonant topologies when combined with the latest SJ MOSFET technologies. This DCDC converter proves as well that the PSFB topology can be used as a bidirectional DCDC stage without changes in the standard design or construction of a traditional and well known topology through innovations in control techniques powered by digital control.

The novel modulation scheme for the operation of a PSFB as a bidirectional converter is explained in more detail in the published article included in Chapter 7 [5]. Moreover the novel modulation scheme for the operation of PSFB as a bidirectional converter has been registered and is currently patent pending.



Figure 40. 3300 W bidirectional PSFB controller card with XMC4200-F64K256AB

REFERENCES

- F. Krismer, J. Biela, J. W. Kolar, "A Comparative Evaluation of Isolated Bi-directional DC/DC Converters with Wide Input and Out-[1] put Voltage Range", in Industry Applications Conference, 2005. Fourtieth IAS Annual Meeting. Conference Record of the 2005
- [2] F. Di Domenico, B. Schmoelzer, M. Escudero Rodriguez, S. Raghunath, "800 W ZVS phase shift full bridge evaluation board. Using
- 600 V CoolMOS[™] CFD7 and digital control by XMC4200", AN_201709_PL52_027, Infineon Technologies, November 2017 F. Di Domenico, B. Schmoelzer, M. Escudero Rodriguez, S. Raghunath, "1400 W ZVS phase shift full bridge evaluation board. Using [3] 600 V CoolMOSTM CFD7 and digital control by XMC4200", AN_201711_PL52_003, Infineon Technologies, November 2017
- [4] Finite Element Method Magnetics: Homepage, http://www.femm.info/wiki/HomePage, visited on 14 June 2020
- M. Escudero, D. Meneses, N. Rodriguez and D. P. Morales, "Modulation Scheme for the Bidirectional Operation of the Phase-Shift [5] Full-Bridge Power Converter," in IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, vol. 35, no. 2, pp. 1377-1391, Feb. 2020
- [6] Lizhi Zhu, Kunrong Wang, F. C. Lee and Jih-Sheng Lai, "New start-up schemes for isolated full-bridge boost converters," in IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, vol. 18, no. 4, pp. 946-951, July 2003.
- K. Lindberg-Poulsen, Z. Ouyang, G. Sen and M. A. E. Andersen, "A new method for start-up of isolated boost converters using mag-[7] netic- and winding-integration," 2012 Twenty-Seventh Annual IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC), Orlando, FL, 2012, pp. 340-345.
- [8] Kunrong Wang, F. C. Lee and J. Lai, "Operation principles of bi-directional full-bridge DC/DC converter with unified soft-switching scheme and soft-starting capability," APEC 2000. Fifteenth Annual IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (Cat. No.00CH37058), New Orleans, LA, USA, 2000, pp. 111-118 vol.1
- [9] XMCTM Link Functional Isolated Debug Probe, https://www.infineon.com/cms/de/product/evaluation-boards/kit_xmc_link_segger_v1, visited on 14 June 2020
- [10] Jared Huntington, "6 W bias supply. Using the new 800 V CoolMOSTM P7, ICE5QSAG QR flyback controller, and snubberless flyback for improved auxiliary power-supply efficiency and form factor". AN_201709_PL52_030.

CHAPTER 5. HALF BRIDGE LLC 3300 W

1. INTRODUCTION

In spite of its relatively complex design and control, the LLC topology has become increasingly common in medium and high power applications due to its high efficiency and the reduced component count of the circuit. The primary side of the converter comprises a half-bridge (HB), for low and medium power applications, or a full bridge, for higher power. The resonant tank comprises a series inductor, which can be implemented by the leakage of the transformer, a series capacitor and a parallel inductor, which can be realized by the magnetizing inductance of the transformer. The secondary side rectification stage can adopt several configurations: full bridge, voltage doubler or center tapped; however it does not influence the working principles of the converter significantly.

The LLC resonant converter has several advantages in comparison to the PSFB, due to the fact that there isn't an inductor at the output of the rectification stage:

- The voltage of the rectifiers is clamped by the output capacitance of the converter, which allows the selection of devices with a lower breakdown voltage, with the consequent improvement in their FoM.
- The secondary side rectifiers switching losses can be much lower than in a PSFB. In under resonant operation the *di/dt* is limited by the series resonance, which decreases the reverse recovery related losses. Moreover, the charge and discharge of their output capacitance can be nearly lossless because is inductively limited and clamped by the output capacitance. However, when the converter operates above resonance, like in PSFB, the secondary side rectifiers are hard-commutated from the primary, although limited by the series resonant inductor, which increases reverse recovery losses.
- After the end of a power transfer the secondary side of the transformer is unclamped, unlike in the PSFB where the freewheeling of the output inductor virtually short-circuits the secondary side of the transformer. Due to this, it is possible to use the energy in the magnetizing inductance of the transformer to achieve ZVS in the primary side switches.

However, because there is no inductor at the output of the rectification stage, the secondary side *rms* currents are comparatively higher than in a PSFB, and often require of an additional filtering stage to reduce the voltage ripple at the output of the converter.

Other noticeable advantage of LLC converters is their buck and boost capability (large signal gain). Thanks to that, this topology can be designed for its optimum performance at the nominal operating conditions and still be capable of regulation during hold-up time. Hold-up time is an important requirement for applications like server and telecom where the converter should provide full power up to 20 ms after the AC supply is missing.

This chapter introduces a complete system solution for a 3300 W HB LLC DCDC converter from 400 V to 51.5 V achieving 98.1 % peak of efficiency (Figure 1). The converter has been designed following the common requirements for telecom applications: wide range input (hold-up time) and wide range output (battery charging). This chapter describes the design and experimental results of the 3300 W LLC DCDC converter, including the novel integrated magnetic structure and the novel cooling concept, as well as the design specification requirements and the main test results.



Figure 1. Prototype of 3300W LLC HB DCDC converter.

Figure 2 represents the simplified schematic of the implemented half-bridge LLC 3.3 kW DCDC converter prototype for telecom applications. The design consists of an LLC half-bridge with SRs in full bridge configuration, split capacitor and clamping diodes in the primary side. A summary of the most significant specifications

can be found in Table 1. The converter's nominal output voltage is telecom level (51.5 V) with wide range capability, also tailored for 48 V battery charger systems working within the 59.5 V to 43.5 V range. The converter is operated at a nominal input voltage of 400 V, whereas it can regulate down to 350 V at full load (at the nominal 51.5 V output voltage) providing room for hold-up time whenever the design is part of a full ACDC converter.



Figure 2. Simplified circuit schematic of the 3300 W HB LLC.

Table 1. Summary of specifications and test conditions for the 3300 W LLC HB					
Test	Conditions	Specification			
Input voltage Vin	350 V – 415 V	400 V nominal			
Output voltage Vref	59.5 V - 43.5 V	51.5 V nominal			
Output power	3300 W	At nominal conditions			
Efficiency test	400 V input, 51.5 V output	ηpk > 98 % at 1650 W (50 % of load)			
Steady-state Vout ripple	400 V input, 51.5 V output	ΔVout less than 200 mVpk-pk			
Dynamic response	$Vref \pm 1 V$	5 A – 35 A, 35 A – 65 A			
Input UVLO	375 V on to 350 V off	Analog hysteresis window comparator			
Output UVLO, OVLO	$Vref \pm 3 V$	Shut-down and latch			
Load transient	5 A \leftrightarrow 35 A, 1 A/µs				
	35 A ↔ 65 A, 1 A/µs	$ \Delta v out $ less than 1 v pk			
OCP	68 to 75 A	Shut-down and resume			
	> 75 A	Shut-down and latch			
	Output terminals in short-circuit	Detection within switching period			
		Shut-down and latch			

The control of the LLC 3.3 kW prototype is implemented with an XMC4200 microcontroller from Infineon, which includes voltage regulation functionality, burst mode operation, output Over Current Protection (OCP), Over Voltage Protection (OVP), Under Voltage Protection (UVP), Under Voltage Lockout (UVLO), soft start, SR control, adaptive dead times (bridge and SRs) and serial communication interface. Further details about the digital control implementation and additional functionalities of the LLC control with the XMCTM 4000 family can be found in [1].

2. SYSTEM DESCRIPTION

The large signal voltage gain of the LLC converter is fundamentally controlled by the switching frequency (F_{sw}). It is especially noteworthy that at the normalized unity gain the converter operates at nearly fixed frequency (series resonance), independently of the load. The normalized gain excludes the transformer ratio, e.g. for a turn ratio of 15:4 the unity gain corresponds to 400 V input and approximately 53.3 V output.

Other alternative PWM and PWM/frequency hybrid control schemes are possible [9]. The PWM control schemes are useful especially at light load and in the buck operation mode where the required frequency tends to increase and where the gain can also become non-monotonic due to the converter parasitics [3]. However, some of the PWM schemes are only possible in full bridge LLC converters, and moreover can cause loss of ZVS in the HV switches.

2.1. RESONANT TANK DESIGN

The design of the converter and the resonant tank is based on the widespread First Harmonic Approximation (FHA) for resonant converters [4]. The FHA is extensively covered in the literature and would not be further explained here. However, it is known that the FHA losses accuracy at switching frequencies away from the series resonance F_{res} . The required gain of the converter at the corner cases ($V_{in,min}$, $V_{o,min}$, $V_{o,max}$) would have to be further investigated in circuit simulations and verified experimentally in the final hardware.

The quality factor Q of the resonant tank should be small enough to achieve the maximum output power at the minimum input voltage $V_{in,min}$ and the maximum output voltage $V_{o,max}$ (maximum required gain). The given maximum required boosting gain fixes the minimum resonant capacitance C_r for a chosen resonant frequency F_{res} , with F_{res} being a free design parameter that the designer can use to tune the maximum efficiency of the converter.

For each F_{res} the corresponding C_r can be calculated with equation (1) where R_{ac} stands for the reflected load resistance.

$$\begin{cases} Q = \frac{\sqrt{\frac{L_r}{C_r}}}{R_{ac}} & \xrightarrow{\text{yields}} C_r = \frac{1}{2\pi F_{resR_{ac}Q}} \\ F_{res} = \frac{1}{2\pi \sqrt{L_rC_r}} & \end{cases}$$
(1)

In the 3300 W LLC prototype the maximum efficiencies can be achieved with a F_{res} around the 70 kHz (Figure 3). This should not be confused with the maximum efficiency of the converter happening with the converter operating at switching frequencies near the resonance. The transformer construction, the selection of the semiconductor technologies and their $R_{ds,on}$ influences the maximum achievable efficiency and at which F_{res} it can be achieved. The final selection of F_{res} and other design parameters would require of further iterations of the design procedure.

Therefore, in this design the resonant frequency was fixed to 70 kHz which results in a minimum $C_r \approx 465$ nF. In practice C_r and the other resonant tank values are approximated because not all exact values can be realized in the real hardware with discrete components and due to the tolerances in their values. Once fixed C_r the corresponding value of L_r for the selected F_{res} can be calculated with (2). In this design the resulting value is $L_r \approx 10.5 \ \mu\text{H}$.

$$L_{\rm r} = \frac{1}{C_{\rm r} (2\pi F_{\rm res})^2} \tag{2}$$

(3)



Figure 3. Estimated maximum efficiency of the 3300 W LLC design for different resonant frequencies (for a fixed Q and L_r to L_m ratio). Efficiency estimated at nominal operating conditions (near resonance): 400 V input and 51.5 V output.

The ratio of the total primary inductance to the resonant inductance m(3) is a tradeoff between the efficiency at nominal conditions and the converter gain range:

- A big ratio *m* reduces the primary side circulating currents and, in consequence, the conduction losses. However, it also reduces the available energy for ZVS in the primary side half-bridge (Figure 4 (a) and Figure 5 (a)). Furthermore, it makes difficult to maintain the regulation at reduced loads and low output voltages (minimum gain) without greatly increasing the switching frequency.
- A small ratio *m* increases the primary side circulating currents (Figure 4 (b) and Figure 5 (b)). However, it also increases the available energy for ZVS in the primary side half-bridge, which ultimately enables a lower R_{ds,on} and overall higher efficiency along all the load range. Furthermore, the gain range of the converter is extended and the switching frequency span reduced.

For wide input and/or wide output converters like the 3300 W LLC prototype, it is required a small ratio *m*. Although achieving the full regulation range would still require of special considerations, especially at light load and maximum input $V_{in,max}$ or minimum output voltage $V_{o,min}$ (minimum required gain). One of the most wide-spread solutions for the extension of the gain range in buck operation is the burst mode control scheme [3].



Figure 4. Primary side current waveforms at 10 % of load, 400 V input and 51.5 V output. A smaller magnetizing inductance ($_m = 7$) increases the available energy for the HV MOSFETs transitions which ultimately extends the ZVS range.



Figure 5. Primary side current waveforms at 100 % of load, 400 V input and 51.5 V output. A smaller magnetizing inductance ($_m = 7$) increases the *rms* currents through the primary side of the converter. However, this can be compensated by a smaller $R_{DS,on}$ thanks to the extra available energy at light load.

2.1.1. CONVERTER GAIN IN NOMINAL OPERATION

The gain curves of the 3300 W LLC half-bridge converter at the nominal output voltage (51.5 V) and different loads are plotted in Figure 6. It can be observed that the frequency span along the load depends heavily on the operating point of the converter. Near resonance the frequency is almost constant along the load. However, deep under resonance (Figure 9), and especially far above resonance (Figure 11), the required frequency span for the converter's gain increases dramatically.

An LLC converter is usually designed for its peak efficiency at the nominal conditions, which corresponds ideally to its most common mode of operation. This is especially useful for converters with a fixed output voltage and hold-up time requirements. For this design the specifications are 400 V input and 51.5 V output with the peak efficiency at the 50 % of load.



Figure 6. Estimated gain of the converter while operating at fixed 51.5 V output. Near resonance the switching frequency variation along the load range is small.

The peak efficiency of the converter (at the point of load of interest) does not necessarily happens exactly at the series resonance in every LLC converter design. Above the resonance the switching frequency increases and the switching losses become dominant. On the other hand, under resonance the core losses and the *rms* currents

and their related losses increase. In consequence the overall efficiency of the converter tends to decrease moving away of the nominal conversion ratio, but the exact location of the maximum depends on the losses balance of the design.

In this converter the peak efficiency (50 % of load) is achieved at 400 V input and 51.5 V output, as can be observed in (Figure 7 and Figure 8). This operation point is slightly above resonance, where the sum of frequency related losses and the conduction related losses are at their minimum. A different $R_{ds,on}$ selection, for example, can change the balance of losses and shift the operating conditions for the peak efficiency.

Finally, the switching frequency span of the converter ranges from 45 kHz up to 250 kHz. The mimimun switching frequency is limited to avoid operation in so-called capacitive mode (Figure 6), whereas the maximum frequency is mostly limited to avoid thermal runaway in the gate drivers and an excessive increase of the switching losses.



Figure 7. Estimated efficiency of the 3300 W LLC HB at different output voltages and fixed nominal input 400 V. The maximum efficiency is achieved around the resonance operation. Above resonance the switching losses become dominant. Under resonance the conduction losses dominate.



Figure 8. Estimated efficiency of the 3300 W LLC HB at different input voltages and fixed nominal output 51.5 V. In a full power supply the converter operates most of the time with the nominal input voltage. Only during hold-up time condictions the input voltage drops below nominal.

2.1.2. CONVERTER GAIN IN BOOST OPERATION

For output voltages above the nominal (higher than 52 V) the converter operates in the boost region, or the socalled under resonance (Figure 9). The boost region is also entered with low input voltages, for example during hold-up time.



Thermally limited 65 Resonant 60 tank limited Io (A) 55 50 45 59.5 43.5 45.5 47.5 49.5 51.5 Vo (V) 53.5 55.5 57.5

Figure 9. Estimated gain of the converter while operating at fixed 59.5 V output voltage. The converter cannot deliver the full peak power at the maximum output voltage while operating at 400 V input: the gain of the converter is limited in this region.

Figure 10. Adaptive over current protection limit. The gain of the converter is limited by the clamping diodes in the "resonant tank limited" area of the graph.

While under resonance and operating with heavy loads the converter risks entering the capacitive mode where the ZVS of the primary side MOSFETs is lost and they could also become hard-commutated. Nevertheless, the undesired condition can be prevented in several manners: limiting the minimum switching frequency (45 kHz in this design); limiting the maximum output current at the higher output voltages; or using clamping diodes in the primary side which avoids that the primary side current increases out of control.

Although the clamping diodes are a common solution for the capacitive mode protection, they can also limit the maximum output current at the higher output voltages (Figure 10). When the resonant capacitors voltage swings up to the HV rails, the clamping diodes conduct which ultimately limits the maximum possible gain of the converter.

2.1.3. CONVERTER GAIN IN BUCK OPERATION

For output voltages under the nominal (lower than 51 V) the converter operates in the buck region, or the socalled above resonance (Figure 11). In this region and at light loads the gain of the converter becomes almost flat. Moreover, in practice, the large signal gain can become non-monotonic and rise again for increasing switching frequencies due to circuit parasitics and other phenomena not considered in the FHA [2].

There are several state of the art solutions for the extension of the minimum gain range in LLC. The solution adopted in this design is burst mode operation. The burst mode threshold is given by the maximum switching frequency which varies in the control of this converter depending on the different output voltages Figure 12. The adaptive threshold is required because of the dissimilar switching frequency ranges at the different output voltages (Figure 6, Figure 9 and Figure 11).





Figure 11. Estimated gain of the converter while operating at fixed 43.5 V output voltage. The frequency span is very wide. Although special control techniques can be used to reduce the gain and maintain the regulation at light loads.

Figure 12. Adaptive burst threshold. The switching frequency increases and the range extends at the lower output voltages (buck operation, above resonance).

2.2. OVERALL LOSSES DISTRIBUTION

Figure 13 shows the placement of the different components on the 3300 W half-bridge LLC DCDC converter. The outer dimensions of the board, designed without enclosure, are 205 mm x 100 mm x 40 mm, which results in a power density in the range of 4 W/cm³ (66 W/in^3).

The PSFB converter in Chapter 4 achieves a comparatively higher power density (4.34 W/cm³ or 71.19 W/in³). The main difference among the two is due to the cooling technique. The converter in Chapter 4 is enclosed in a chasis, which provides better air flow and allows the additional reduction in volume.



Figure 13. Placement of the different sections in the 3300 W half-bridge LLC. Current Sense (CS), resonant inductor (LR), synchronous rectifiers (SR), clamping diodes (C. DIODES), resonant capacitor (CR).

The estimated overall distribution of losses of the converter along the load proves the main transformer and the resonant inductance as the main sources of loss (Figure 14). The power switches, both the HV primary side halfbridge and the LV synchronous rectifiers exhibit very low and well balanced switching, driving and conduction losses.


Figure 14. Overall losses breakdown of the 3300 W half-bridge LLC along the load range of the converter. Estimated at nominal conditions: 400 V input and 51.5 V output.

2.2.1. PRIMARY SIDE HV DEVICES

The primary side HV switches in the prototype are the IPW60R018CFD7 from Infineon. IPW60R018CFD7 devices are 18 m Ω , 600 V, CoolMOSTM CFD7 with fast body-diode in TO-247 package. This device has been selected in this design because of its low loss contribution along all the load range and because the good balance of conduction, driving and switching losses at the 50 % of the load, becoming the right device and R_{ds,on} class when optimizing for the highest peak efficiency at that point (Figure 15).



Figure 15. IPW60R018CFD7 loss distribution along load in the 3300 W LLC prototype. Absolute MOSFETs loss and its relative proportion to the total of losses in percentage. Estimated at nominal conditions: 400 V input and 51.5 V output.

The proposed driving circuitry includes an external turn-on resistor (10 Ω) in series to a medium-power Schottky diode, and an external turn-off resistor (2.5 Ω) also in series to a Schottky diode (Figure 16). The external turn-on resistor (10 Ω) plus the embedded MOSFET gate resistance (R_{g,int}) has little or no impact in the turn-on losses in ZVS but keeps dv/dt and di/dt under control in the event of possible hard-switched turn-on transitions (e.g. during soft-start or no-load operation). The external turn-off resistor helps dampening the voltage ringing in the gate driving loop of the MOSFET at high current turn-off transitions. Moreover, the external turn-off resistor does not have an impact on the switching losses thanks to the early channel shutdown mechanisms where the dv/dtis limited by the external capacitance and the resonant current (4) [5].

,

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dv}{dt_1} = \frac{\left(V_{\text{plateau}-V_{\text{driver}}}\right)}{C_{\text{gd}}R_{\text{g,off}}} = \frac{V_{\text{plateau}}}{C_{\text{gd}}R_{\text{g,off}}} , \frac{dv}{dt} \le \frac{dv}{dt_1} \\ \frac{dv}{dt_2} = \frac{I_{\text{off}}}{2C_{\text{oss,tr}}} , \frac{dv}{dt} \le \frac{dv}{dt_2} \end{cases}$$
(4)

Replacing the parameters in the equation (4) with the data from IPW60R018CFD7, the values of the proposed driving circuit and the maximum expected turn-off current in the application (I_{off}) we obtain the results in (5). In these conditions the turn-off speed would be limited by the driving path and would not be entirely lossless.

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{dv}}{\mathrm{dt}_1} = \frac{5.25 \,\mathrm{V}}{75 \,\mathrm{pF} \,2.5 \,\Omega} \approx 28 \,\frac{\mathrm{V}}{ns} \\ \frac{\mathrm{dv}}{\mathrm{dt}_2} = \frac{30 \,\mathrm{A}}{722 \,\mathrm{pF}} \approx 41.5 \,\frac{\mathrm{V}}{ns} \end{cases}$$
(5)



Figure 16. Proposed driving circuit for the 3300 W half-bridge LLC including the additional external capacitance for linearization and range extension of the early channel shutdown.

However, it is a standard practice to add external ceramic capacitors to linearize the SJ MOSFET switching behavior and further extend the early channel shutdown range (Figure 16). In the proposed circuit it has been added extra 330 pF in parallel that have to be considered in the previous analysis, and resulting in (6). In this scenario the turn-off transition becomes limited by the resonant charge of the equivalent capacitance of the central node of the half-bridge, and can be considered entirely lossless.

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dv}{dt_1} = \frac{5.25 V}{75 \, pF \, 2.5 \, \Omega} \approx 28 \, \frac{V}{ns} \\ \frac{dv}{dt_2} = \frac{30 \, A}{(722+330) \, pF} \approx 28.5 \, \frac{V}{ns} \end{cases}$$
(6)

The supply of the High Side (HS) driver has been realized by an auxiliary supply built around a single channel driver (Figure 17). The proposed biasing circuit self oscillates generating a fixed frequency square wave which is feed to a functionally isolated transformer and rectified afterwards in two separate secondary windings. Each of the secondary windings supplies one of the channels of a safety isolated half bridge driver: one channel for the high side MOSFET and other channel for the low side MOSFET.

The supply voltage of the HB driver is given by the auxiliary transformer turns ratio (stepping up 13:16) and the input voltage of the auxiliary supply circuit. The input of the auxiliary supply can be selected between the internally available 12 V (resulting approximately 14.5 V maximum driving voltage, considering the rectification diodes voltage drop) or supplied externally from 10 V up to 18 V.



Figure 17. Proposed isolated supply for the driving of the HV half-bridge devices. The supply can be set to 12 V from the internal supply or within a 10 V up to 18 V from an additional external supply.

2.2.2. PRIMARY SIDE DEVICES RDS,ON

At the time of this work, the 600 V CoolMOSTM CFD7 available portfolio in TO-247 package (Table 2) ranges from 170 m Ω (maximum) to the 18 m Ω (minimum).

For this design IPW60R018CFD7 was chosen because it has the best performance balance between the 100 %, 50 % and 10 % load points. However, other $R_{ds,on}$ could be used to achieve a different distribution of losses whenever there is interest in increasing performance at a different working point of the converter.

In Figure 18 and Figure 19 we present an example comparison of the estimated performance for three different $R_{ds,on}$ available in the 600 V CoolMOSTM CFD7 portfolio: IPW60R018CFD7 (device currently in the design), IPW60R070CFD7 and IPW60R055CFD7 (in between the two other $R_{ds,on}$).

KDS,on [22]	10-247
18	IPW60R018CFD7
31	IPW60R031CFD7
40	IPW60R040CFD7
55	IPW60R055CFD7
70	IPW60R070CFD7
90	IPW60R090CFD7
105	IPW60R105CFD7
125	IPW60R125CFD7
145	IPW60R145CFD7
170	IPW60R170CFD7







Figure 18. Estimated efficiency of the 3300 W HB LLC with different 600 V CoolMOSTM CFD7 $R_{DS,on}$ in TO-247. Estimated at nominal conditions: 400 V input and 51.5 V output.

Figure 19. Differential estimated efficiency of the 3300 W HB LLC with different 600 V CoolMOSTM CFD7 $R_{DS,on}$ in TO-247. Estimated at nominal conditions: 400 V input and 51.5 V output.

Figure 20 represents the estimation of losses at the three main working points and how they balance for the three different $R_{ds,on}$ values previously chosen for the comparison. Although the difference in losses at 50 % and 10 % is small in comparison to the difference in losses at 100 % of load, the impact in efficiency is still noticeable, as can be observed in Figure 19. The steep change on the differential efficiency comparison between 20 % and 10 % is due to the partial loss of full ZVS at 10 % and the proportionally higher Q_{oss} values for the smaller $R_{ds,on}$.



Figure 20. Estimated distribution of losses of the 3300 W HB LLC with different 600 V CoolMOSTM CFD7 $R_{DS,on}$ in TO-247. Estimated at nominal conditions: 400 V input and 51.5 V output.

2.2.3. TRANSFORMER

The main transformer has a conversion ratio of 15 primary turns to 4 secondary turns with a semi-planar construction. The cores geometry is PQ35/28 made of ferrite material DMR95 manufactured by DMEGC. The primary winding has been realized with triple-insulated Litz wire made of 175 strands of 0.1 mm diameter each, from Pack Litz Wire. The secondary winding is made of parallel tinned copper plates of 0.5 mm thickness.

The resonant inductance is stacked on top of the transformer, and also realized with half of a PQ35/28 core and six turns of Litz wire (of the same type than the primary side winding of the transformer).

The main transformer structure actually comprises two parallel transformers integrated with the external resonant inductance, which enables the realization of the required low L_m with several small gaps instead of a single large one.

Figure 21 shows an estimated loss distribution of the full stacked magnetic structure at nominal conditions. Notice that the transformer core loss is nearly constant along the load (apart from the material temperature dependence) due to the small switching frequency variation when the converter operates near resonance.

The maximum flux peak depends on the load and the operating point of the converter. It was estimated well below saturation flux density of the chosen core material (DMR95 from DMEGC) under any of the normal working conditions of the converter. An advantage of the integrated magnetic construction is the partial cancellation of flux within the parallel transformers and between the external resonant inductance and the main transformer block (Figure 22).

The winding technique and geometry of the core achieves good coupling (low leakage inductance, in the order of 500 nH), but still with relatively low intra-winding and inter-winding capacitances (in comparison to a full planar realization). Moreover, the interleaving of the primary and secondary windings minimizes proximity losses. A detailed description of the construction can be seen in Figure 23.





Figure 21. Estimated distribution of losses of stacked magnetic structure: transformer and resonant inductance (Lr). Estimated at nominal conditions: 400 V input and 51.5 V output.

Figure 22. Estimated distribution of flux at full load and nominal operating conditions: 400 V input and 51.5 V output.



Figure 23. Main transformer and external resonant inductance. Mechanical drawing and simplified schematic.

2.3. COOLING SOLUTION

The proposed cooling solution in this design comprises an off-the-shelf aluminum heatsink for the HV half bridge devices and a set of two custom copper plates for the SR LV devices (Figure 24). The construction of the transformer, where secondary side winding is made out of copper plates, also constitutes part of the secondary side heat sink for the LV devices.



Figure 24. Heatsinks for HV half bridge bridge devices and LV secondary devices in a partially assembled 3300 W HB LLC converter board.

A single fan blows air into the integrated magnetics and the secondary side heatsinks. The same fan extracts air from the back of the primary side heatsink. Nevertheless, the primary side heatsink does not require much airflow because it has been purposely over-dimensioned to allow testing relatively high-ohmic devices in this board.

The fan speed is modulated along the load for best overall system efficiency (see Figure 25). Because of the high efficiency of the converter, little cooling effort is required at light and medium loads.



Figure 25. Fan airflow control along the converter's load range (estimated from fan datasheet and assuming fan is working with low pressure).

Figure 26. Measured temperatures on the 3300 W HB LLC converter at 25° C room temperature and without enclosure.

The experimental temperatures in the main components of the converter are plotted in Figure 26. Prior to the measurement of the temperatures the converter achieved thermal stability running 30 minutes at 100 % of load. Thereafter, in the same manner than for the efficiency measurements, the temperatures were registered while decrementing the load. The temperatures in Figure 26 demonstrate the effectiveness of the proposed cooling solution, besides their simple manufacture and assembly, and low cost. The cost saving enables a lower $R_{ds,on}$ for an improved performance.

3. EXPERIMENTAL

This section demonstrates the performance and experimental results of the 3300 W LLC prototype. Figure 27 shows the measured efficiency of the converter with and without the fan supplied by the included on-board auxiliary supply. Observe that the peak efficiency is comparable, although just slitghtly higher than that of the PSFB in Chapter 4.



Figure 27. Measured efficiency of the 3300 W LLC HB at 400 V input and 51.5 V output.

3.1. TESTING SETUP

For the testing of the 3300 W LLC prototype, the suggested setup includes:

- HV supply capable of 400 V and at least 3500 W (when testing up to full load)
- LV electronic load (0 to 60 V), in constant current mode, capable of at least 3300 W (when testing up to full load)

The nominal input voltage of the converter is 400 V. The converter starts to operate above 375 V, turning back off when the input voltage falls below 350 V (hysteresis window). The valid input and output ranges of the converter are summarized in Figure 28.



3.2. PRIMARY SIDE ZVS

The primary side HV devices achieve full ZVS above 30 % of load at nominal conditions: 400 V input and 51.5 V output (Figure 29). Moreover, the primary side half-bridge still achieves nearly full ZVS down to no load (Figure 30). In partial ZVS only a small part of the Q_{oss} is resistively charged and only a small part of the E_{oss} is lost. Thanks to this the switching loss contribution of the primary side half-bridge devices is negligible or relatively low in all working conditions of the converter (Figure 14 and Figure 15).

A benefit of the SJ MOSFETs output capacitance profile is the reduced impact of long dead times .The effective increase of output capacitance near the end of the transition delays the start of the body diode conduction while has a negligible impact on the switching losses (nearly no Q_{oss} and E_{oss} left at that point). Unlike other semiconductor devices, a conservative and robust, excessively long dead time is forgiving in SJ MOSFETs converters (Figure 31).





Figure 29. Converter waveforms in the threshold of full ZVS. Operating at 20 A of load, 400 V input and 51.5 V output.

Figure 30. Converter waveforms at light load and minimum output voltages: maximum switching frequencies, lowest energy for ZVS transitions. Operating at 15 A of load, 400 V input and 43.5 V output.



Figure 31. Converter waveforms at full load and nominal operating conditions: 65 A of load, 400V input and 51.5 V output.

The highest drain voltage overshoot in the HV MOSFETs happens at full load start-up due to relatively highcurrent turn-off transition (see soft start-up section). In these transitions the di/dt on the parasitic inductances of the MOSFET package and the layout induces the voltage overshoot. Nevertheless, in the prototype the overshoot is maintained well under the rated maximum voltage limit in any of the operating conditions of the converter. A commonly rated limit would be 480 V (i.e. 80 % rating of 600 V at $T_j = 25^{\circ}$ C).

3.3. SYNCHRONOUS RECTIFIERS

The rectifying stage has a full-bridge configuration with twenty four 3.7 m Ω , 80 V, OptiMOSTM 5 in Super SO-8 package. With the high number of packages the dissipated power can be better spread, which brings higher cooling capability and performance (lower R_{ds,on} increase due to temperature).

The full bridge rectifying configuration enables low losses for medium output voltage and medium output current converters. Thanks to the transformer construction with its low leakage, the optimized layout with minimal loop inductances, the OptiMOSTM 5 optimized output capacitance and low Q_{rr} ; it is possible to use 80 V voltageclass devices with more than enough margin for the maximum drain voltage overshoot. The commonly 80 % rated limit for the 80 V devices would be 64 V maximum overshoot.

The controller includes adaptive turning-on and turning-off delays for the SRs along the load for a minimum body diode conduction time. The adaptive delays reduce conduction losses and the generation of reverse recovery charges (Q_{rr}) which translates into better efficiency and lower drain voltage overshoot.

In LLC converters, especially in wide output designs, the synchronous rectifiers have three main modes of operation [6]-[7]:

- At resonance (Figure 32) the gate signals of the SRs and the primary side HB are synchronous and have equal or similar duration.
- Above resonance (Figure 33) the SRs are delayed in relation to the primary side half bridge gate signals, although the pulse duration is still equal or similar to the half of the primary side period. The delay between the primary and secondary corresponds to the commutation time of the secondary side current, which also corresponds to the commutation time of the primary side current through L_r.
- Under resonance (Figure 34) the activations of the SRs is synchronous to the primary side half bridge. However the pulse duration of the SR is shorter than half of the primary side period, and in accordance to the natural frequency of the resonant tank.

On top of those three main modes of operation, at light loads, due to the charge of the output capacitance of the SRs, their conduction time further reduces.



Figure 32. Gate driving pulses of the synchronous rectifiers near resonance. The SR turn-on is aligned to the primary side HB. The SR turn-off is also aligned to the primary side HB.



Figure 33. Gate driving pulses of the synchronous rectifiers above resonance. The SR turn-on is delayed in relation to the primary side HB. The turn-off is also delayed in relation to the primary side half-bridge by the same amount of time.



Figure 34. Gate driving pulses of the synchronous rectifiers under resonance. The SR turn-on is aligned to the primary side HB. However, the SR turn-off happens earlier than the corresponding primary side HB pulse.

3.4. DYNAMIC RESPONSE. LOAD JUMPS

The controller includes a software implemented digital compensator designed for a bandwidth of 2 kHz with a phase margin of 45 degrees and a gain margin of 12 dB, well within the standard stability criteria requirements. The dynamic response to load jumps (Figure 35, Figure 36 and Figure 37) correlates well with the expected response of the designed compensator, with an overshoot and undershoot within 2.5 % of the nominal output voltage for a 50 % of load jump.

The small signal gain and phase of an LLC converter depends strongly on the load and operation point. One possible approach is to design the compensation network for the worst case and accept a poor performance in other conditions.

In this design an adaptive PID (proportional integral derivative) compensator was implemented with variable proportional and derivative constants along the output voltage range. This enables a more consistent response of the converter (Figure 35, Figure 36 and Figure 37).



Figure 35. Load jump 5 A to 35 A at 59.5 V output. The converter gain increases and the phase marging decreases operating under resonance.

Figure 36. Load jump 5 A to 35 A at 51.5 V output.



Figure 37. Load jump 5 A to 35 A at $4\overline{7.5}$ V output. The converter gain decreases and the phase marging increases operating above resonance. At the lower output voltages the converter operates in burst mode at light loads.

3.5. SOFT START-UP

The controller implements a soft-start sequence to ensure the converter powers up with minimal stress (voltage and current) on any of the components. During the start-up sequence the output voltage is ramped up in closed-loop operation. The controller increments the output voltage reference within a timed sequence (Figure 38, Figure 39).



Figure 38. Start-up sequence at 40 A load, 400 V input and 51.5 V output. The maximum voltage overshoot-undershoot in drain and gate of the HV MOSFETs occurs during the start-up, where the HB operates with the highest turn-off currents.

Figure 39. Start-up sequence at 40 A load, 400 V input and 55.5 V output. The maximum voltage overshoot-undershoot in drain and gate of the HV MOSFETs occurs during the start-up, where the HB operates with the highest turn-off currents.



Figure 40. Starting up sequence. The pulse sequence at the start ensures ZVS of the HB devices while maintaining the peak to peak current within reasonable values.

The starting pulses follow a predefined timing sequence to ensure ZVS and avoid hard-commutation on the primary side half bridge (Figure 40). The maximum stress occurs on the drain and gate voltages of the primary side devices due to the high turn-off current transitions. Nevertheless, the maximum peak voltages can be controlled increasing the turn-off resistor in the driving path. Larger value of turning-off resistor reduces de ringing, although extreme values may increase significantly the switching losses.

3.6. RESONANT TANK

The current through the primary side of the converter is nearly perfectly sinusoidal at the resonant frequency, around 70 kHz (Figure 41).

The resonant capacitor voltage at full load and during the first pulses of the start-up sequence is plotted in Figure 42 and Figure 43 respectively. The maximum gain of the converter would be limited by the clamping diodes if the peak to peak voltage excursion of the resonant capacitors reaches the upper or lower limits of the supply rails.

ΔV.C



Figure 41. Resonance frequency. Characteristic sinusoidal current through L_r at the series resonant frequency of the resonant tank.



Vgs,Q2



Figure 43. Cr voltage during start-up at nominal input 400 V and nominal output 51.5 V.

3.7. BROWN-IN AND BROWN-OUT

The converter starts up above 375 V input and shuts down under 350 V (Figure 44), giving room enough for the operation during hold-up time when the LLC converter is part of a full ACDC power supply. The amount of required bulk capacitance during hold-up time can be calculated with the equation (7).

$$C_{bulk} \frac{\left(V_{in,nom} - V_{in,min}\right)^2}{2} = \frac{P_{o,max}}{\eta_{DCDC}} T_{hold}$$
(7)

At the lower input voltages the converter operates deep under resonance (Figure 45).

Vds,Q2

V.C





Figure 44. Brown out. The converter turns-off when the input voltage falls under approx. 350 V.

Figure 45. Brown out. The converter operates deep under resonance when the input voltage decays (boost operation). Similar scenario would occur during the hold-up time operation.

3.8. OVER CURRENT PROTECTION

Several redundant protections mechanisms have been implemented on the fully digital control solution with XMCTM microcontrollers from Infineon. The multiple protections are meant to ensure reliable operation of the converter.



 ILr
 Vds,Q2

 U
 V,Cr

 V,Cr
 V,Cr

 Vgs,Q2
 V,Cr

 Vgs,Q2
 V,Cr

 Vgs,Q2
 Vgs,Q2

 Vgs,Q2
 Vgs,Q2<

Figure 46. Over current protection at the start-up. Several redundant protection mechanisms protect the converter from overload at the start-up: cycle by cycle peack current limit, maximum load current, voltage rise time timeout.

Figure 47. Over current protection, slow mechanism.

Specifically for the overload or over current protection of the converter these are the main mechanisms (including also solutions in the hardware):

- Clamping diodes on the primary side of the converter. Limits the maximum current and voltage ripple on the resonant tank capacitors. Moreover, limits the primary and secondary side maximum peak currents.
- Cycle by cycle peak current limit. An integrated analog comparator within the XMC[™] limits the maximum primary side peak current to 40 A (Figure 46).
- Maximum average output current. The average output current of the converter is measured through a resistive shunt. The maximum average load current is limited to 68 A with a programmable time delay (Figure 47). The maximum average current limit is reduced at higher output voltages to avoid the clamping diodes conduction in steady state (Figure 10).
- Output under voltage lockout. In the event of short-circuit or strong overloads, the output voltage of the converter drops out of control. The converter detects the abnormal working conditions when the voltage goes out of a ±3 V window around the output voltage reference setting.

3.9. BURST MODE OPERATION

For further reduction of power losses in light-load working conditions the controller implements burst mode operation. The threshold of burst is adaptive for the different output voltages (Figure 12). The implemented algorithm limits the maximum switching frequency of the converter and enters burst mode when the output voltage goes above a programmable threshold over the reference value ($V_{o,ref} + 750 \text{ mV}$) (Figure 48).



Figure 48. Burst mode. Start-up and stop at light load conditions: 4 A load, 400 V input and 43.5 V output.

Burst mode ensures that in every condition the HV MOSFETs operate under full or partial ZVS (Figure 49 and Figure 50) which reduces the power loss and maintains the smooth quasi resonant transitions of the drain and gate voltages (resulting in little or no overshoots and better EMI).



Figure 49. Burst mode. The resume of the switching happens in ZVS, without overshoot or current stress.



Figure 50. Burst mode. Full burst sequence. The resume of the switching happens in ZVS, without overshoot or current stress.

3.10. THERMAL MAP

The temperatures of the main components of the converter were already discussed in the previous sections. The following figures show the thermal distribution of the converter, from a bottom view (Figure 51) and from a top view (Figure 52), operating at full load and nominal conditions: 400 V input and 51.5 V output.

The hottest spot of the converter is the integrated magnetic structure. The distribution of components in the converter concentrates the losses of the secondary side MOSFETs, the transformer and the resonant inductance in a small area. Moreover, the open frame construction decreases the effectivity of the forced cooling solution.



Figure 51. Thermal capture at 65 A load with open case and 25 °C ambient temperature. Bottom view.



Figure 52. Thermal capture at 65 A load with open case and 25 $^\circ C$ ambient temperature. Top view.

4. USER INTERFACE

The controller includes serial communication interface (UART) and a proprietary protocol allowing the parametrization of the HV MOSFETs dead times, output voltage settings, protections activation/deactivation and monitoring of status. The user interface for Windows OS (Figure 53) is an example of the capabilities of the communication library included within the controller firmware. The user interface was specially developed for this work to communicate with the controller through the XMCTM Link (converts UART to USB), although other serial communication interfaces are also possible.

Finally, there are two available distinct main views of the GUI:

- Advanced user interface with parametrization capabilities of dead-times, output voltage, protections and working modes (Figure 53). The parameters can be adjusted during run-time of the converter.
- Simplified user interface intended only for monitoring the converter during run-time (Figure 54).



Figure 53. 3300 W LLC HB advanced user interface.



Figure 54. 3300 W LLC HB simplified user interface.

5. SCHEMATICS

The converter hardware is comprised of a main board and three separate daughter cards: a controller card, a driving card and an auxiliary on-board supply card [8]. Figure 55, Figure 56, Figure 57 represent the schematics of the main board, the driving card, and the control card. The auxiliary on-board supply in this converter is the same that was used in the converter in chapter 3, therefore it has not been duplicated here.



Figure 56. 3300 W HB LLC driver card with 2EDS8265H.



Figure 57. 3300 W HB LLC controller card with XMC4200-F64K256AB.

6. CONCLUSIONS

This chapter introduces a complete system solution for a 3300 W LLC DCDC converter from 400 V to 51.5 V achieving 98.1 % peak of efficiency. The achieved power density is in the range of 4 W/cm³ (66 W/in³) which is enabled by the use of SMD packages, the innovative stacked magnetic construction and the innovative cooling solution.

The optimized layout and an optimized driving circuitry achieves benchmark performance with minimum stress on the devices, enabled also by the innovative cooling concepts presented in this board. This DCDC converter proves the feasibility of the half-bridge LLC as a high-efficiency topology for a 3300 W converter, at the level of full-bridge LLC or dual stage LLC.

This DCDC converter also proves that digital control, powered by XMC[™] Infineon microcontrollers, is not only capable of controlling the LLC topology but the most effective way to overcome its difficulties and pitfalls. Moreover, the included protections mechanisms and control schemes further boost the reliability and performance of the converter achieving the best possible efficiency.

REFERENCES

- M. Kutschak, D. Meneses Herrera, "1600 W Titanium server power supply with 600 V CoolMOSTM G7 in DDPAK and digital control by XMCTM", AN_1712_PL52_1802, Infineon Technologies, May 2018
- [2] L. Shi, B. Liu and S. Duan, "Burst-Mode and Phase-Shift Hybrid Control Method of LLC Converters for Wide Output Range Applications," in *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, vol. 67, no. 2, pp. 1013-1023, Feb. 2020
- [3] Owen Song, "LLC Output Characteristics Analysis under Light Load and Solutions to Maintain Output Voltage within Specification", Infineon Technologies
- [4] Anders Lind, "LLC Converter Design Note", Infineon Technologies, March 2013
- [5] M. Escudero, M. Kutschak, N. Fontana, N. Rodriguez and D. P. Morales, "Non-Linear Capacitance of Si SJ MOSFETs in Resonant Zero Voltage Switching Applications," in *IEEE Access*, vol. 8, pp. 116117-116131, 2020
- [6] R. Yu, G. K. Y. Ho, B. M. H. Pong, B. W. Ling and J. Lam, "Computer-Aided Design and Optimization of High-Efficiency LLC Series Resonant Converter," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 27, no. 7, pp. 3243-3256, July 2012
- [7] J. F. Lazar and R. Martinelli, "Steady-state analysis of the LLC series resonant converter", Proc. IEEE Appl. Power Electron. Conf. Expo., vol. 2, pp. 728-735, 2001
- [8] Jared Huntington, "6 W bias supply. Using the new 800 V CoolMOS[™] P7, ICE5QSAG QR flyback controller, and snubberless flyback for improved auxiliary power-supply efficiency and form factor", AN_201709_PL52_030, Infineon Technologies, November 2017

CHAPTER 6. SERVER AND DATACENTER 3 kW 50 V PSU

1. INTRODUCTION

Due to the increasing power demand in server and data center applications the requirements of power density and efficiency for the Power Supply Units raise continuously. This is due to the operational cost of the infrastructure: on the one hand the cost of the electricity and on the other hand the cost of the space and maintenance of the installations. Moreover, the high reliability demand in the server and data center applications has a severe impact in the hold-up requirements, which can be as large as 20 ms delivering full power.

These tendencies in power density, efficiency and reliability requirements can be observed in the newly released OCP rectifier V3 specifications for server and datacenter PSU [1]-[2]. The main changes in relation to the previous PSU specifications (Open Rack V1 and V2) are the higher requirements in terms of efficiency (97.5 % peak) and power density (1.96 W/cm³ or 32.15 W/inch³), together with the large hold-up time (20 ms at full power). Moreover, the maximum outer dimensions of the PSU are 520 mm x 73.5 mm x 40 mm. However, the output voltage has been increased to 50 V_{DC} , although still in a narrow range, which should help with achieving the challenging target specifications.

This chapter introduces a 3 kW power supply unit (PSU) targeting the newly released OCP rectifier V3 specifications for servers and data centers. The PSU comprises a front-end ACDC bridgeless totem pole converter followed by a back-end DCDC isolated half-bridge LLC converter. The front-end totem pole converter provides power factor correction (PFC) and total harmonic distortion (THD). The LLC converter provides safety isolation and a tightly regulated output voltage. Figure 1 shows a photograph of the PSU outside of its chassis.

The measured peak efficiency of the complete PSU at 230 V_{AC} is 97.5 %, not including the internal fan, and 97.4 %, including the internal fan. The overall outer dimensions of the PSU are 73.5 mm x 520 mm x 40 mm, which yields a power density in the range of 32 W/inch³ (1.95 W/cm³).



Figure 1. Photo of the EVAL_3KW_50V_PSU - outside of its chassis.

Table 1 and Figure 2 are a summary of the main specifications and requirements of the OCP V3 rectifier. A more detailed and complete specification can be found in [2].

Requirements	Conditions	Specification	
Input voltage V _{in}	180 V_{AC} to 275 V_{AC}	230 V _{AC} nominal	
Output voltage V _{ref}	50 V _{DC}	50 V _{DC} nominal	
Output power	180 V_{AC} to 275 V_{AC}	3000 W	
Efficiency peak	230 V_{AC} input, 50 V_{DC} output	$\eta_{pk} = 97.5$ % above 18 A (30 % of load)	
Steady-state Vout ripple	230 V_{AC} input, 50 V_{DC} output	$ \Delta V_{out} $ less than 200 mV _{pk-pk}	
Power factor and THD	180 V _{AC} to 275 V _{AC}	EN/IEC 61000-3-2 and EN 60555-2	
Input UVLO	175 V_{AC} on to 170 V_{AC} off	Digital hysteresis window comparator	
Output UVLO, OVLO	$V_{ref} \pm 3 V$	Shut-down and latch	
Load transient	$5 \text{ A} \leftrightarrow 30 \text{ A}, 1 \text{ A/}\mu\text{s}$	$ \Delta V_{out} $ less than 1 V_{pk}	
	30 A ↔ 60 A, 1 A/µs		
Over current protection	63 to 70 A	Shut-down and resume	
	More than 70 A	Shut-down and latch	
	Output terminals in short-circuit	Detection within switching period	
		Shut-down and latch	
ORing		Hot insertion/removal	
Front-to-back air cooling		Intenally controlled variable-speed fan	
Hold-up time		0 V for 20 ms	

Table 1. Summary of the requirements and specifications for the OCP rectifier V3 PSU [2]

It is worth highlighting the very high efficiency requirements, where the peak efficiency should exceed 97.5 %, at some point between 40 % and 100 % of the rated load. Moreover, the efficiency shall be above 96.5 %, from 40 % to 100 % of the load, and above 94 %, between 10 % to 30 % of the load. Therefore, a typical efficiency curve of a compliant PSU will look somewhat similar to the plotted curves in Figure 2.



Figure 2. OCP rectifier V3 efficiency requirements at $230 V_{AC}$ and estimated efficiency curve of a compliant PSU.

The rest of this chapter describes the converter hardware, a summary of the experimental results and several design recommendations for the complete solution, also including the construction of an innovative planar magnetic construction.

2. SYSTEM DESCRIPTION

The PSU comprises two stages: a front-end bridgeless totem pole ACDC converter, which provides PFC and THD, followed by a half-bridge LLC DCDC converter that provides safety isolation and a tightly regulated output.

Figure 3 shows a very simplified diagram of the PSU, including the main power semiconductor switches, and the controllers and drivers of the two main conversion stages. While the PFC controller is located at one of the input V_{AC} rails, the LLC controller is referenced to the ground of the insulated output of the complete PSU. It is worth mentioning that the totem pole PFC and the LLC controllers are communicated via UART through the safety isolation barrier thanks to a digital isolator.



Figure 3. Simplified schematic of the prototype PSU. Front-end totem pole PFC followed by a half-bridge LLC resonant converter.

The control of the totem pole ACDC converter is implemented with a XMC1404 Infineon microcontroller, which includes PFC, THD, voltage regulation, input overcurrent protection (OCP), overvoltage protection (OVP), undervoltage protection (UVP), undervoltage lockout (UVLO), soft-start, SR control, adaptive dead-times (boosting half-bridge) and serial communication interface. Further details about the digital control implementation and additional functionalities of the totem pole control with the XMC1400 family can be found in [3].

The control of the half-bridge LLC is implemented with a XMC4200 Infineon microcontroller, which includes voltage regulation functionality, burst-mode operation, output OCP, OVP, UVP, UVLO, soft-start, SR control, adaptive dead-times (bridge and SRs) and serial communication interface. Further details about the digital control implementation and additional functionalities of the LLC control with the XMC4000 family can be found in [4].

In the following the two conforming blocks of the complete power supply would be studied and evaluated separately. Thereafter, the union of the two blocks would be validated experimentally.

2.1. BRIDGELESS TOTEM POLE PFC

The estimated efficiency of the totem pole PFC, part of the complete PSU, is plotted in Figure 4. It is worth noticing the very high peak efficiency, near 99 % at 50 % of the rated load.

The estimated overall distribution of losses of the the totem pole PFC converter at 230 V_{AC} and 50 % of the rated load is summarized in Figure 5. It can be observed that the main contributors to the losses are the half-bridge boosting switches (IMZA65R048M1H). In a totem pole PFC the boosting switches operate mostly in hard-commutation, explaining the relatively high switching loss. However, thanks to the small parasitic capacitances of the CoolSiCTM devices and the high switching speed achievable with the 4-pin packages, the converter can still achieve very high performance. On the other hand, the low temperature dependence of the CoolSiCTM R_{ds,on} reduces the conduction loss at mid and full load, and at the lowest input voltages (where the conduction loss dominates) [5].





Figure 4. Estimated efficiency of the totem pole front-end ACDC converter.

2.1.1. TOTEM POLE PFC MAGNETICS

The other main contributors to the losses to consider in the design of the totem pole ACDC converter are the main inductor and the EMI filter. The main inductor of this design is made of two stacked toroidal cores from Chang Sung: one CH330060GT and one CH330060GT14. The winding is made of 62 turns of AWG 15 insulated solid copper wire, with a total inductance of 539 μ H at no load, and of approximately 271 μ H at full load and 230 V_{AC}. Figure 6 shows a simplified diagram of the recommended construction technique for the main boost inductor, in order to minimize unwanted parasitic capacitances.

at 230 V_{AC} and 50 % of the load.



Figure 6. Simplfied recommended building instructions for the main boost inductor.

2.2. HALF-BRIDGE LLC

The estimated efficiency of the redesigned half-bridge LLC converter part of the complete PSU is plotted in Figure 7. It is worth mentioning the very high peak efficiency, near 98.5 % at 50 % of the rated load. Note that the overall efficiency of the complete PSU is the result of multiplying the separate efficiencies of the conforming blocks, and is necessarily lower than any of them separately. However, some of the loss contributions are shared between the two blocks (e.g., auxiliary bias) and therefore, the resulting overall efficiency is still expected to fall withing the target specifications.





The estimated overall distribution of losses of the LLC DCDC converter at 410 V_{DC} and 50 % of the rated load is summarized in Figure 8. It can be observed that the main contributors to losses are the main transformer, followed by the SRs and the primary-side half-bridge MOSFETs. Moreover, it is worth highlighting that the switching and driving losses comprise a large portion of the total losses, and therefore the optimal series resonant frequency of this converter was found to be a relatively low 93 kHz. On the other hand, the analysis shows that even at this low switching frequency the wide-bandgap (WBG) alternatives provide improved efficiency, especially noticeable at mid and light loads.



Figure 8. Estimated overall distribution of loss of the back-end LLC DCDC converter at 50 % load.

2.2.1. HALF-BRIDGE LLC MAGNETICS

The resonant tank of the half-bridge LLC series-parallel resonant converter comprises two equivalent inductors and one equivalent capacitor (hence its name). However, one of the advantages of this topology is that it is possible to realize the series resonant inductor (L_r) by the leakage of the main transformer, and the parallel resonant inductor (L_m) by the magnetizing inductance of the main transformer. Nevertheless, that integration approach constrains the design and compromises the performance of the converter. Therefore, in the PSU object of this work the series inductor (L_r) and the parallel inductor (L_m) are realized as discrete components, although L_m is integrated within the same structure of the main transformer.



Figure 9. Simplified construction of the series resonant inductor of the LLC DCDC converter.

Figure 9 shows a simplified view of the construction of the series inductor (L_r). L_r is built with a PC95 PQ35/13 DG core and a PQI35 core from TDK. The distributed gap helps reduce the losses caused by the stray magnetic

fields in the winding itself and the surrounding conductors (in the main board and the chassis). Moreover, a spacer maintains the windings away from three of the gaps.

The winding is made of six turns of Litz wire with 245 strands of 0.1 mm diameter.

Figure 10 shows a simplified view of the construction of the parallel inductor (L_m) and the main transformer. The parallel inductor is built with a PC95 PQ35/28 core from TDK, while the main transformer is built with two PC95 PQI35/23 cores from TDK. The L_m is stacked on top of the main transformer and wound in the same direction as the primary-side winding. As a result of this, the flux in part of the volume is effectively cancelled and the total core loss is partly reduced. On the other hand, the magnetizing inductance of the main transformer can be made arbitrarily high, which contributes to the reduction of proximity loss and other loss caused by stray magnetic fields.

The winding of the L_m is made of 16 turns of Litz wire with 512 strands of 0.05 mm diameter. The main transformer windings are made of planar copper conductors built-in independent PCBs for the primary and for the secondary. The proposed construction is highly flexible and modular. The proposed interleaving realized in the PSU is demonstrated in Figure 10 and Figure 11. It is worth mentioning that the transformer turn ratio is 16 to 4. Each of the primary-side winding PCBs (in blue in Figure 11) comprises eight turns while each of the secondary-side winding PCBs (in green in Figure 11) comprises four turns.



Figure 10. Simplified construction of the integrated transformer plus the parallel resonant inductor of the LLC DCDC converter.

Figure 11. Photo of the assembled integrated structure of the transformer plus the parallel resonant inductor.

Due to the height limitation of the PSU (40 mm) the main board needs to be cut out to accommodate the height of the integrated L_m plus the main transformer structure (approximately 38 mm).

3. EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS

This section is a summary of the main experimental results of each of the conforming blocks separately (totem pole PFC and half-bridge LLC), and of the complete PSU.

3.1. TOTEM POLE PFC

In the bridgeless totem pole ACDC converter the boosting half-bridge operates mostly in hard-commutation. Therefore, the switching loss depends on the switching speed of the devices, i.e. the longer the overlap of voltage and current, the higher the loss. For this purpose, the 4-pin TO-247 package with Kelvin source connection helps by removing the negative feedback caused by the power source during the switching transients and making the device switch faster. On the other hand, the switching speed of the devices shall be controlled to avoid excessive drain voltage overshoot and gate ringing, which can be achieved with a properly dimensioned external gate resistor.

Figure 12 is an example of the drain voltage overshoot and gate ringing in the boosting half-bridge of the totem pole PFC. Both the drain voltage and the gate voltage have been measured referenced to the Kelvin source connection. It can be observed that the maximum drain overshoot is 487 V, well within the rated limits of the devices.



Figure 12. PFC drain voltage overshoot and gate ringing at full load.

3.1.1. BOOST DIODE OPERATION

The devices in the boosting half-bridge of the totem pole ACDC converter operate alternately as the boost converter diode and the boost converter switch. The modes alternate at twice the V_{AC} frequency.

The switching transients are clearly different while the device operates as a diode or as a switch. During operation as a diode, the device is zero voltage switched (ZVS) both at turn-on and turn-off. After the opposite boost switch turns off, the inductor current freewheels to the intrinsic body diode of the boost diode device. After an idle time (dead-time) the device switches on in ZVS (Figure 13) and the current passes through the channel of the device (instead of its instrinsic body diode).

After the boost diode device switches off in ZVS, the current continues to freewheel through its intrinsic body diode. After the corresponding idle time (dead-time) the opposite boost switch hard-switches on and hard-commutates the boost diode, which can be identified by instant where the V_{DS} rises in Figure 14.



Figure 13. ZVS switch-on of the boost diode.

Figure 14. ZVS switch-off of the boost diode followed by its hardcommutation caused by the hard-switching on of the opposite boost switch.

3.1.2. BOOST SWITCH OPERATION

Unlike the diode operation, the boost switch operation is hard-switched during most of the V_{AC} cycle and along most of the load range. Only when the current ripple through the inductor is at least twice as large as the average current can both the diode and the switch operate in ZVS.

Figure 15 shows a hard-switched turn-off transition of the boost switch. During the hard-switched turn-off transition the dv/dt and the V_{DS} overshoot can be controlled with an external gate resistor.

Figure 16 shows a hard-switched turn-on transition of the boost switch (hard-commutation of the opposite boost diode). The device is not only hard-switching turn-on but also hard-commutating the opposite diode, hence the need to use low Q_{rr} devices in the boosting half-bridge of the totem pole ACDC converter.

Like during the hard-switched turn-off transition, the dv/dt and the gate ringing can be controlled with an external gate resistor.





Figure 15. Hard-switched turn-off of the boost switch.



3.1.3. SRS POLARITY DETECTIONS

Totem pole rectification can be implemented with diodes or with SRs. The SRs are only switching at twice the V_{AC} frequency, and they are normally zero current switched (ZCS). Therefore, the SRs can be implemented with very low-ohmic devices for best performance of the converter.

The SRs are normally switched around the V_{AC} crossing, with a certain idle window near the zero crossing (Figure 17). Moreover, this window is preferably narrow for best THD.

The implemented control can recognize an incorrect polarity detection of the SRs, turn them off and restart the next V_{AC} semi-cycle normally. In Figure 18 it can be observed how the V_{AC} oscillation, after the V_{AC} is lost, causes the wrong polarity to be detected by the control. Nevertheless, it is noticeable that the control has recognized the wrong polarity and turns off the switches safely.



Figure 17. Detailed view of the V_{AC} zero crossing in the PFC totem pole.

Figure 18. Filtering of V_{AC} polarity during V_{AC} loss.

3.1.4. SOFT-START

During soft-start the totem pole ACDC converter has to charge-up the bulk capacitance to the steady-state voltage (410 V_{DC}). At 380 V_{DC} the back-end DCDC converter starts up and the totem pole ACDC converter must then provide the load power plus the remaining bulk voltage charge-up.

Figure 19 shows the soft-start sequence of the totem pole PFC at 10 A load. The start-up of the back-end DCDC converter is visible in the current of the PFC, near the end of the ramp-up of the voltage, with an increase due to the charge of the output capacitance of the DCDC converter itself.

Figure 20 shows the start-up of the totem pole PFC at the minimum rated input voltage (180 V_{AC}) and at 55 A load. The start-up of the DCDC converter can also be observed by the increase in the sinusoidal current near the end of the ramping-up of the bulk voltage, which afterward goes into steady-state at near full power.





Figure 19. Soft-start sequence of the totem pole PFC at 180 V_{AC} and 10 A load.

Figure 20. Soft-start sequence of the totem pole PFC at 180 V_{AC} and 55 A load.

3.2. HALF-BRIDGE LLC

The half-bridge LLC can achieve ZVS turn-on in the primary-side half-bridge along all the load range. On the other hand, the turn-off is hard-switched. However, if the dv/dt is not limited by the device during the resonant transition, the turn-off transition becomes lossless [6]. Figure 21 shows the ZVS turn-on and the lossless turn-off of the half-bridge LLC at 10 % of the rated load – the lack of Miller plateau can be observed during the turn-on transition and also during the turn-off transition.

The half-bridge LLC converter operates slightly above the series resonance in nominal conditions. Therefore, it operates in buck mode, near the normalized unity gain, where the converter achieves its highest efficiency. Figure 22 shows the primary-side reflected load current on top of the parallel inductor current. Because the main transformer magnetizing inductor is very large (approximately 1 mH) the magnetizing inductance contribution to the primary-side current can be safely ignored.



Figure 21. Full ZVS at 10 % of the rated load.

Figure 22. Steady-state operation at 50 % of the rated load and at 410 V input voltage.

The secondary-side SRs in the LLC converter are ZVS switched on and ZVS switched off. The gate driving voltage of the SRs can be observed in Figure 23. It should be noted that the SRs' gate driving voltage is 8.5 V to minimize the gate driving losses without much effect on their effective $R_{ds,on}$.



Figure 23. SRs gate driving at 40 A load and 410 V input voltage.

3.2.1. ZVS SWITCHING

Figure 24 and Figure 25 offer a more detailed view of the ZVS turn-on and the lossless hard-switched turn-off transitions of the primary-side half-bridge. Note the very low overshoot of the SRs' drain voltage, i.e. 52.64 V in Figure 25, well below the maximum rated voltage of the selected devices (80 V device class).





Figure 24. Detail view of the ZVS turn-on of the primary-side halfbridge.

Figure 25. Detail view of the lossless hard-switched turn-off of the primary-side half-bridge.

3.2.2. SOFT-START

The start-up sequence is normally one of the most stressful operation modes for the semiconductor devices in the half-bridge LLC converter. During the start-up sequence the converter has to charge up the output capacitance of the converter, which causes high peak currents during the hard-swiched turn-off transition. Therefore, the highest drain voltage overshoots and ringing in the gate appear during this operation mode, which can be reduced by controlling the switching speed of the devices with external gate resistors.

The monotonic rising output voltage of the converter can be observed in Figure 26.

The control of the LLC converter should ensure no hard-commutation occurs in the primary-side devices during the start-up sequence. Because the discharged output capacitors behave virtually as a short-circuit, the first pulses during the start-up sequence are at a much higher frequency (Figure 27).



Figure 26. Soft-start sequence at 40 A load.

Figure 27. Detail view of the first pulses of the soft-start sequence.

Because of the split-capacitor configuration of the half-bridge LLC converter, the mid-point of the primaryside half-bridge is charged up to half of the bulk voltage prior to the very first pulse. Thanks to this, the very first hard-switched turn-on pulse is only hard-switching half of the input voltage. This explains the very low overshoot seen in the first hard-switched on transition (Figure 28).



Figure 28. Detail view of the first pulses of the soft-start sequence.

3.2.3. OUTPUT VOLTAGE RIPPLE

At the output of the designed LLC converter there is an additional inductor that forms a CLC filter, which helps reduce the output voltage ripple of the converter, as well as the common-mode noise injected into the output. The high-frequency ripple is within 230 mV peak-to-peak in steady-state and at full load (Figure 29).

During the dynamic load jumps the peak-to-peak voltage variation is approximately 1.4 V for a 50 % load jump, which falls within less than ± 2 % of the nominal output voltage (50 V_{DC}). Moreover, the settling time is in the order of 2.5 ms (Figure 30) and with a good margin of phase, in accordance with the observable step response.





Figure 29. Output voltage ripple at full load.

Figure 30. Dynamic load jump 10 A load to 40 A load, 1 A/ $\mu s,$ 100 Hz.

3.2.4. RESONANT CAPACITOR VOLTAGE

It is well known that while the clamping diodes provide overcurrent and overload protection to the LLC converter, they also limit the maximum voltage excursion possible in the split resonant capacitors. Furthermore, as the input voltage decreases, e.g., during hold-up time, the clamping voltage decreases as well. Therefore, it should be taken into account, during the design, that the maximum available gain of the converter will be limited by the clamping diodes during the hold-up time and the resonant capacitors should be dimensioned accordingly.

Alternatively, the clamping diodes can be removed from the circuit, although other overload and overcurrent mechanisms should be then considered. Figure 31 shows the peak-to-peak voltage excursion of the resonant capacitor being clamped when the input voltage falls down to $300 V_{DC}$.



Figure 31. Clamping diodes limit the maximum V_{Cr} voltage amplitude, and therefore the gain of the converter.

3.3. POWER SUPPLY UNIT

This section provides a summary of experimental results of the complete power supply. Figure 32 and Figure 33 show the soft-start and brown-out sequences of the LLC integrated into the complete power supply. Unlike in Figure 26, the superimposed ripple in the bulk voltage due to the PFC operation can be seen.



Figure 32. Soft-start sequence of the LLC converter at 10 A load while integrated into the complete PSU.

Figure 33. Brown-out sequence of the LLC converter at 10 A load while integrated into the complete PSU.

3.3.1. HOLD-UP TIME

The OCP V3 specifications require up to 20 ms hold-up time at full power, although the output voltage of the PSU is allowed to drop down to 48 V_{DC} . It is worth mentioning that the Rack & Power specifications include a battery unit at the rack level, which continues to provide power to the system at 48 V_{DC} if the V_{AC} , and therefore the PSU output voltage, is missing.

Figure 34 shows a capture of the response totem pole PFC and the output voltage of the PSU during a 20 ms hold-up time at full power. Meanwhile Figure 35 shows a capture of the response of the totem pole and the PSU during a 20 ms hold-up time at full power repeteadly.



Figure 35. 20 ms hold-up time at 60 A load and 230 VAC. Ten times sequence at 200 ms intervals.

3.3.2. TEMPERATURE

The temperature of the converter has been measured outside and inside of its chassis. The temperature image in Figure 36, captured with the PSU outside of its chassis, enables identification of the main hot-spots within the converter, which happen also to be the main sources of losses, discussed earlier in this document. More specifically, we can identify in the lower-left corner the main transformer and the secondary-side SRs, and in the upperright corner the boosting half-bridge of the totem pole PFC.

The temperature of the identified hot-spots was also measured at the minimum input voltage (180 V_{AC}) and with the PSU enclosed in the chassis and the internal fan supplied by the internal auxiliary bias. The measured temperatures, registered after running the converter for 30 minutes at full load, have been plotted in Figure 37.



50 0 10 Figure 36. Measured temperature of the complete power supply prototype at full load, 230 V_{AC} and outside of its chassis.



Figure 37. Measured temperature of the complete power supply prototype at full load, 180 VAC and inside of its chassis.

3.3.3. EFFICIENCY

The efficiency of the complete power supply has been measured after running the converter for 30 minutes at full load. While the peak efficiency of the PSU not including the internal fan reaches 97.5 %, it falls down to 97.47 % when the consumption of the internal fan is also included (as required by OCP V3). Therefore, the overall efficiency of the PSU is slightly under the target specifications at the 230 V input voltage.

On the other hand, at full load the efficiency is also slightly under the requirements (Figure 38). However, at lighter loads the measurements exceed the limits by some margin.



Figure 38. Measured efficiency of the complete power supply prototype at 230 V_{AC} .

3.3.4. POWER FACTOR AND THD

The power factor and THD have been measured at several input voltages within the input voltage range specifications. In accordance with these measurements the PSU complies with both the PF (Figure 39) and the THD (Figure 40) requirements of the OCP V3 specifications.

20 18



230V 16 Harmonic Distortion (%) 208V 14 12 10 8 б 4 Total . 2 0 0 10 ²⁰% Load 30 40 50

Figure 39. Measured PF of the complete power supply prototype at several input voltages. The specification limits are shown in red.

Figure 40. Measured THD of the complete power supply at several input voltages. The specification limits are shown in red.

3.3.5. EMI

Finally, the conducted electromagnetic interference (EMI) of the converter has been measured operating at 2.5 kW of load with a passive resistive load. Figure 41 and Figure 42 show the results of the average, the peak and the quasi-peak measurements. While the peak measurement touches the quasi-peak limit at some frequencies (blue curve in Figure 41), when measuring the quasi-peak (blue waveform in Figure 42), a very wide margin of more than 10 dB can be observed. Moreover, a wide margin of more than 10 dB can also be observed for the average measurement (green curve in Figure 41 and Figure 42).

270V





Figure 41. Measured EMI spectrum of the complete power supply prototype at 230 $V_{\rm AC}$ and 2.5 kW. Peak is shown in blue and average in green.

Figure 42. Measured EMI spectrum of the complete power supply prototype at 230 V_{AC} and 2.5 kW. Quasi-peak is shown in blue and average in green.

4. DESIGN TIPS

This section gives a summary of several features worth mentioning with regard to the hardware design of the PSU attaining the power semiconductors.

4.1. DRIVING 4-PIN COOLSICTM

For the best performance of the boosting half-bridge of the totem pole ACDC converter the use of devices in 4-pin packages with Kelvin source connection is recommended. The Kelvin source connection diminishes the negative feedback in the driving loop caused by the power source path, reducing the switching losses in hard-switched or hard-commutated topologies.

For the driving of the CoolSiC[™] MOSFETs the recommended driver is the 1EDB9275F, which is a singlechannel driver with a 14.4 V UVLO, specially designed for CoolSiC[™] (Figure 43).



Figure 43. Recommended driving circuitry for the boosting half-bridge in the totem pole PFC.

4.2. DRIVING 3-PIN COOLMOS™

The SRs in the totem pole ACDC converter are ZCS and at only twice the frequency of the grid (100 Hz to 120 Hz). Therefore, the switching speed is not critical. Moreover, a high-ohmic turn-on helps reduce common-mode noise caused by the transition of the SRs.

The recommended driving circuitry (Figure 44) includes two single-channel drivers (1EDB8275F), especially designed for driving CoolMOSTM, with a UVLO of 7 V.



Figure 44. Recommended driving circuitry for the SRs in the totem pole PFC.

The primary-side devices in the half-bridge LLC are ZVS turn-on and hard-switched turn-off at relatively low currents (therefore mostly lossless). Because of this, 4-pin devices with Kelvin source connection are not strictly needed. Therefore, in the PSU the primary-side MOSFETs are designed in 3-pin TO-247 packages.

The recommended driving circuitry (Figure 45) also includes two single-channel drivers, 1EDB8275F, designed for CoolMOSTM. It is worth mentioning that the safety isolation in the LLC half-bridge driving is not required in this case because a digital isolator has been used to transfer the signal from the secondary side, where the LLC controller is located.



Figure 45. Recommended driving circuitry for the primary-side devices in the half-bridge LLC.

4.3. DRIVING THE ORING OPTIMOSTM

The ORing MOSFETs are located in the positive rail of the output of the PSU. Therefore, the driving of the ORing devices shall be referenced to the 50 V_{DC} output. To generate the required auxiliary voltage the proposed circuit in Figure 46 is used.

The principle of operation of the circuit is of a capacitive charge pump. The capacitor C120 is referenced to one of the secondary-side SRs' half-bridge mid-point, which during the operation of the converter alternates between ground and the output voltage of the PSU at the switching frequency of the converter (square wave). Therefore, thanks to the decoupling diodes D9 and D5, the capacitor C120 is alternately charged from the auxiliary 12 V_{DC} , and discharged to the capacitor C119. Finally, the capacitor C119 supplys the ORing driver with 12 V_{DC} above the output PSU rail.



Figure 46. Proposed driving circuit for the ORing of the PSU.

4.4. DRIVING THE SR OPTIMOSTM

The rectification of the half-bridge LLC DCDC converters has a full-bridge configuration with a total of 24 devices, six devices per position. Although the SRs are switched on and off in ZVS, and there are no switching losses caused by slow switching, is is still recommended to have four separate drivers. On one hand, the driving losses can be better spread between the four packages. On the other hand, the additional driver strength helps ensure accurate and fast switch-on and -off and proper clamping of the Miller feedback during the transitions.

The driving circuit for the SRs (Figure 47) includes four 2EDF7275F dual-channel, functional isolated MOSFET gate drivers, with up to 650 V_{DC} isolation channel-to-channel.



Figure 47. Proposed driving circuitry for the SRs of the LLC DCDC converter.

4.5. GENERATING THE MULTIPLE AUXILIARY DRIVING VOLTAGES

The complete PSU requires several distinct supply voltage rails:

- $3.3 V_{DC}$ for the supply of the LLC DCDC control circuitry (XMC4200)
- 5 V_{DC} for the supply of the totem pole ACDC control circuitry (XMC1404)
- 8.5 V_{DC} for the driving of the LLC DCDC converter SRs (OptiMOS[™])
- 12 V_{DC} for the driving of the primary-side half-bridge of the LLC DCDC converter and the driving of the totem pole ACDC converter SRs (CoolMOSTM), and the supply of the internal fan
- 18 V_{DC} for the driving of the boosting half-bridge in the totem pole ACDC converter (CoolSiCTM)

The onboard auxiliary flyback provides several of these supply rails. However, it is not practical to realize a flyback transformer with that many distinct windings. Therefore, the auxiliary circuitry proposed in Figure 48 provides several of the above listed voltages from one of the flyback 12 V_{DC} outputs.

The core of the circuit in Figure 48 is a 1EDB8275F single-channel driver, which generates a fixed-frequency square wave at its output (approximately 350 kHz). The square wave is fed to two different smaller converters. On the one hand, a charge pump (C101 and D28) raises the 12 V_{DC} at the input up to 24 V_{DC} (at C99), which is then regulated down to 18 V_{DC} by an LDO (C98 and IC8). On the other hand, a three-winding transformer with voltage-doubler rectification generates two separate isolated supply rails for the totem pole PFC control card and the high-side driver of the half-bridge LLC.



Figure 48. Proposed auxiliary supply circuit implemented with the single-channel driver 1EDB8275F.

5. SCHEMATICS

The converter hardware is comprised of a main board and a controller card. Figure 49 and Figure 50 represent the schematics of the main board, and the control card. Unlike in the other converters in this thesis, the auxiliary on-board supply has been integrated into the main board PCB.



Figure 49. 3000 W 50 V PSU main board with IPW60R024CFD7 and IMZ65R048M1H.



Figure 50. 3000 W 50 V PSU controller card with XMC4200-F64K256AB and XMC1404-LQFP-64.

6. CONCLUSIONS

Due to the increasing power demand in server and data center applications the requirements of power density and efficiency for the PSU raise continuously. This is due to the operational cost of the infrastructure: on the one hand the cost of the electricity and on the other hand the cost of the space and maintenance of the installations. Moreover, the high reliability demand in the server and data center applications has a severe impact in the hold-up requirements, which can be as large as 20 ms delivering full power. These tendencies in power density, efficiency and reliability requirements can be observed in the newly released OCP rectifier V3 specifications for server and datacenter PSU. The main changes in relation to the previous PSU specifications are the higher requirements in terms of efficiency and power density, together with the large hold-up time (20 ms at full power). However, the output voltage has been increased to 50 V_{DC} , although still in a narrow range, which should help with achieving the challenging target specifications.

This chapter introduces a 3 kW power supply unit (PSU) targeting the newly released OCP rectifier V3 specifications for servers and data centers. The PSU comprises a front-end ACDC bridgeless totem pole converter followed by a back-end DCDC isolated half-bridge LLC converter. The front-end totem pole converter provides power factor correction (PFC) and total harmonic distortion (THD). The LLC converter provides safety isolation and a tightly regulated output voltage. Figure 1 shows a photograph of the PSU outside of its chassis.

The measured peak efficiency of the complete PSU at 230 V_{AC} is 97.5 %, not including the internal fan, and 97.4 %, including the internal fan. The overall outer dimensions of the PSU are 73.5 mm x 520 mm x 40 mm, which yields a power density in the range of 32 W/inch³ (1.95 W/cm³).

REFERENCES

- [1] Open Compute Project, viewed 9 May 2021, https://www.opencompute.org/
- [2] Open Rack/SpecsAndDesigns, viewed 9 May 2021, <u>https://www.opencompute.org/wiki/Open_Rack/SpecsAndDesigns</u>
 [3] M. Kutschak, D. Meneses Herrera, "3300 W CCM bidirectional totem pole with 650 V CoolSiCTM and XMCTM",
- AN_1911_PL52_1912_141352, Infineon Technologies, January 2020
- M. Kutschak, M. Escudero, "3300 W 52 V LLC with 600 V CoolMOS™ CFD7 and XMC™", AN_1906_PL52_1906_094110, Infineon Technologies, January 2020
- [5] R. Siemieniec, R. Mente, W. Jantscher, D. Kammerlander, U. Wenzel and T. Aichinger, "650 V SiC Trench MOSFET for high-efficiency power supplies", 2019 21st European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications (EPE '19 ECCE Europe), Genova, Italy, 2019, pp. 1–16
- [6] M. Escudero, M. Kutschak, N. Fontana, N. Rodriguez and D. P. Morales, "Non-Linear Capacitance of Si SJ MOSFETs in Resonant Zero Voltage Switching Applications", in *IEEE Access*, vol. 8, 2020, pp. 116117–116131

SECTION II. PUBLICATIONS

CHAPTER 7. FIRST PUBLICATION

Modulation scheme for the bidirectional operation of the Phase Shift Full Bridge Power Converter

Manuel Escudero, David Meneses, Noel Rodriguez, and Diego Pedro Morales¹

- IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, Vol. 35, Issue 2, Feb. 2020; doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2019.2923804
- Impact factor: 7.224
- JRC rank: (Q1)

Manuscript received April 2, 2019; accepted June 11, 2019. Date of publication June 18, 2019; date of current version November 12, 2019. This work was supported by Infineon Technologies Austria AG, Austria. Recommended for publication by Associate Editor D. Costinett. (Corresponding author: Manuel Escudero.) M. Escudero and D. Meneses are with the Infineon Technologies Austria AG, Villach, Austria (e-mail: Manuel.EscuderoRodriguez@infineon.com; David.MenesesHerrera@infineon.com). N. Rodriguez and D. P. Morales are with the Department of Electronics and Computer Technology, University of Granada, Granada, Spain (e-mail: noel@ugr.es; diegopm@ugr.es).

Abstract—This paper proposes a novel modulation technique for the bidirectional operation of the Phase Shift Full Bridge (PSFB) DC/DC power converter. The forward or buck operation of this topology is well known and widely used in medium to high power DC to DC converters. In contrast, backward or boost operation is less typical since it exhibits large drain voltage overshoot in devices located at the secondary or current-fed side; a known problem in isolated boost converters. For that reason other topologies of symmetric configuration are preferred in bidirectional applications. In this work, we propose a modulation technique overcoming the drain voltage overshoot of the isolated boost converter, without additional components other than the ones in a standard PSFB and still achieving full or nearly full ZVS in the primary or voltage-fed side devices along all the load range. The proposed modulation has been tested in a bidirectional 3.3 kW PSFB achieving a 98 % of peak efficiency in buck mode (380 V input, 54.5 V output), and a 97.5 % in boost mode (51 V input, 400 V output). This demonstrates that the PSFB converter may become a relatively simple and efficient topology for bidirectional DC to DC converter applications.

Index Terms—Bidirectional converter, current-fed, isolated boost converter, modulation technique, Phase Shift Full Bridge, soft switching.

I. INTRODUCTION

Bidirectional converters are commonly used in uninterrupted power supplies (UPS) and battery energy storage systems where charging and discharging functionalities are desired to be integrated to reduce volume and cost. UPS converters are usually AC/DC converters composed of two stages: an AC/DC first stage, providing power factor correction (PFC), and a tightly regulated DC/DC second stage providing isolation and battery management [1]. Other applications like on board chargers are in general designed with bidirectional capability only on the DC/DC stage: they charge the battery from an AC/DC source and transfer energy from the battery to the motor, other car systems or back to the grid (provided an external inverter) [2]-[3]. Further examples of bidirectional converter applications are found in battery manufacturing processes where batteries are charged and partially discharged for testing: a bidirectional DC/DC converter can reuse the discharging energy to charge up other batteries, saving energy and costs [4].

The commonly used bidirectional DC/DC topologies are symmetric in their design and operation in forward (in this paper referred as the charge of a battery, or buck mode operation) and reverse mode (here referred as discharge of a battery, or boost mode operation). This might seem logic or more straightforward for the designer as the converter operates basically on the same manner when working in forward and reverse directions. However, this is achieved at the expense of added complexity, design compromises and normally a negative impact on efficiency, lower than uni-directional converters. That is the case of Dual Active Bridge (DAB) (Fig. 1), LLC or

¹© 2019 IEEE. Reprinted, with permission, from Manuel Escudero Rodriguez, David Meneses Herrera, Noel Rodriguez and Diego Pedro Morales, IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, June 19, 2019.
CLLC (Fig. 2) resonant converters [5]-[8].

The Phase Shift Full Bridge (PSFB) is an isolated DC/DC buck-derived converter topology that comprises a primary side full bridge at the input (Q_1 , Q_2 , Q_3 and Q_4 in Fig. 3), an isolation transformer, a rectification stage (Q_5 , Q_6 , Q_7 and Q_8) and an output LC filter (L_0 and C_0). The rectification stage may have different configurations: center tapped, current doubler or full bridge; each of them having its advantages in different applications: low voltage, high current or high voltage outputs respectively [9]; however these alternatives have no major impact on the working principles of the converter.

One of the major advantages of PSFB over the other topologies is the comparatively lower *rms* currents through the converter components thanks to the output filter inductance. Table I summarizes the *rms* currents calculated numerically from the simulated waveforms of three designs with same input voltage range, output voltage range and maximum output power specifications, and working in the same conditions (same input voltage, output voltage and output current). On the other hand, the secondary side devices are hard commutated and exhibit higher switching losses than in fully resonant converters (LLC) [10]. Additionally, the output inductance constitutes an additional source of losses which makes the design of a high efficiency PSFB a challenging task. A thorough comparative analysis is, however, out of the scope of this paper.

TABLE I				
RMS CURREN	TS IN THE MAIN	COMPONENTS		
Parameter	PSFB	CLLC	DAB	
Primary MOSFETs I	4.12 A	4.51 A	4.57 A	
Primary MOSFETs II	4.02 A	4.51 A	4.57 A	
Transformer primary	5.73 A	6.43 A	6.67 A	
Transformer secondary	30.07 A	34.90 A	35.02 A	
Secondary MOSFETs	21.46 A	24.93 A	24.76 A	
Resonant inductor	5.73 A	6.43 A	6.67 A	
Output inductor	30.61 A	N/A	N/A	



Fig. 1 Simplified schematic of a conventional DAB DC/DC converter configuration.



Fig. 3 Simplified schematic of a conventional Phase Shift Full Bridge DC/DC converter configuration with full bridge rectification and primary side clamping diodes.







Fig. 4 Conventional Phase Shift Full Bridge working as isolated boost converter.

Although the PSFB converter is not a symmetric bidirectional converter, it can work in reverse direction, transferring power from the secondary side to the primary side (as referred in this document), and operating as a current-fed isolated boost converter. The output filter inductance (L_o) becomes then the boost inductor in this operation mode. The energy is stored in L_o when the secondary or current-fed side devices effectively short it between ground and the energy supply, a battery in the intended application, as shown in Fig. 4. The energy is transferred when one of the diagonals in the current-fed side turns-off, so the current is forced through the transformer and reflected into the primary side. The primary or voltage-fed side of the converter acts as the rectification stage when working in boost mode. The voltage-fed devices could be used as pure diode rectifiers, taking advantage of the intrinsic body diode of the devices, or by mounting parallel diodes whenever the devices do not have intrinsic body diodes or their characteristics make them not appropriated for diode operation (case of Wide Band-Gap devices) [11]-[12]. Despite PSFB is a known alternative for bidirectional converters, it is often excluded from comparative evaluations [13] due to the intrinsic problems of isolated boost converters. If the primary side operates as diode-like rectifiers, performance of the converter is poor due to three main reasons:

- High conduction losses with passive rectification, even though the primary side operates with high voltage and low current levels for the intended application.
- High switching losses due to reverse recovery (Qrr) and output capacitance (Qoss) charge loss, even though PSFB converters usually mount devices with low or virtually no Qrr (Schottky, SiC diodes or "fast body diode" MOSFETs) [14].
- High secondary side drain voltage overshoots that increases electromagnetic interference (EMI) and compromises the reliability of the converter forcing to use devices of a high voltage class, which relates in a worse figure of merit (FOM) and the consequent increase on the converter losses [15]. The overshoot is induced by the mismatch between the current of the boost inductor and other inductances in the converter at the start of a power transfer.

A possible solution to the secondary side voltage overshoot consist in using secondary side snubbers as suggested in [16], at the expense of increased complexity and cost and still having a negative impact on performance (low efficiency). A modulation scheme for bidirectional operation of PSFB that overcomes current-fed voltage overshoot has already been reported in [17], achieving Zero Current Switching (ZCS) in the primary side HV bridge; however, it fails to achieve Zero Voltage Switching (ZVS) which is much more convenient than ZCS for modern HV silicon based devices (Super Junction MOSFETs) [18]. Another alternative modulation scheme is proposed in [19] but it can only achieve ZVS of the HV primary side devices in a limited load range. In the modulation scheme analyzed in [20] the power transfer requires of two control variables, and the body diode conduction of the secondary side devices is unnecessarily extended, with the consequent expected increase in conduction losses; furthermore, it does not address the effects of the clamping diodes D_9 and D_{10} .

The proposal in this work solves the above mention issues in isolated boost converters by introducing a novel modulation scheme for bidirectional operation of PSFB, which overcomes the secondary side induced overshoot on a standard converter configuration (Fig. 4) without affecting the forward operation performance, nor including design tradeoffs, additional circuit complexity or additional cost. The proposed modulation achieves full or nearly full ZVS in the voltage-fed side devices (HV bridge) along all load range. It requires, however Q_1 - Q_4 to be active devices that can be controlled independently.

The rest of this paper is organized as follows. In Section II a detailed analysis of the origins of the secondary side drain overshoot is conducted. In section III a new control scheme for the bidirectional operation of PSFB is analyzed in detail. The study is confirmed by experimental results presented in Section IV; and finally, Section V presents a summary of conclusions out of this work.

II. BOOST MODE DRAIN VOLTAGE OVERSHOOT

In the boost operation, when a power transfer starts, the primary side becomes effectively connected in series to the boost inductor L_0 . A simplified equivalent circuit of this situation is presented in Fig. 5 with $i_{L0''}$ being the primary side reflected current of L_0 , i_{Lr} the current flowing through primary side resonant inductance and $i_{Llkg''}$ reflected current through the leakage of the transformer. If $i_{L0''}$ is greater than zero (which would be the case when operating in boost mode), and i_{Lr} and $i_{Llkg''}$ are lower than $i_{L0''}$, it will necessarily induce a voltage in V_{CA} and V_E high enough to force the current through L_r and L_{lkg} to increase until all currents match.

Due to the action of the clamping diodes and to the assumption of L_r being significantly larger than $L_{lkg''}$, even in the worst case overshoot, the voltage V_C will clamp to one of the supply rails effectively decoupling L_r from the other inductances. Therefore, for simplicity but without loss of generality, we will omit L_r in the subsequent analysis.

The induced overshoot by L_{lkg} and other parasitic inductances of the circuit cannot be clamped by diodes, as there is no possibility of accessing the node between transformer and its leakage in real applications. A possible solution would be removing the inductances causing the overshoot; however, realizing a transformer with zero or nearly zero leakage is impractical.

On the other hand, if the overshoot provoked by L_r is snubbed by the clamping diodes (which one drives the current depends on the secondary side switches configuration) most of of current pass through D_9 or D_{10} , as they become the lowest impedance path (Fig. 6(a)); leading to an increase in conduction losses and underutilization of Q_1 and Q_2 .

The induced voltage overshoot is directly related to the inductance values (L_o , L_{lkg}), their initial stored energy (current) and the output capacitance of the secondary side devices (C_5 , C_6 , C_7 , C_8). The time constant of the resonance can be calculated as (1). Assuming zero current at the initial state through L_o and L_{lkg} , the voltage at V_E can be calculated as (2), and assuming L_o much bigger than L_{lkg} we can rewrite the previous relation as (3) where the peak overshoot depends mostly on V_{in} , and with a maximum amplitude of two times its value. In an actual

case, the energy of the resonance will be partially dampened by the parasitic resistances of the circuit; which we will omit in this analysis to obtain the maximum, worst case, possible overshoot.

$$\omega = \frac{\sqrt{L_{lkg} + L_o}}{\sqrt{(C_5 + C_8)L_{lkg}L_o}} = \frac{\sqrt{L_{lkg} + L_o}}{\sqrt{(C_6 + C_7)L_{lkg}L_o}}$$
(1)



Fig. 5 Equivalent configuration of the Phase Shift Full Bridge during a power transfer as an isolated boost converter.



Fig. 6 Simulated waveforms of a conventional Phase Shift Full Bridge working as isolated boost converter with passive rectification. (a) Current through the clamping diodes and primary side devices. Clamping diodes drive most of the primary side current. (b) Current-fed devices drain voltage overshoot induced by iLo(0) > 0.

$$V_E(t)|_{\substack{iLo(0)=0\\iLr(0)=0}} = V_X(t) = \frac{\frac{(L_0 V_{in} + \frac{L_{lkg} V_o}{n})}{(L_{lkg} + L_o)}}{(L_{lkg} + L_o)} (1 - \cos(t\omega))$$
(2)

$$L_{lkg} \ll L_o \xrightarrow{\text{yields}} V_E(t)|_{\substack{iLo(0)=0\\iLr(0)=0}} \approx V_{in}(1 - \cos(t\omega)) = V_Y(t)$$
(3)

In the case where the initial current through L_0 is larger than zero, the additional stored energy induces always a larger overshoot than the expressed in (3) (Fig. 6(b)). In this case V_E can be estimated by (4) or otherwise approximated by (5), with the overshoot amplitude proportional to the initial current i_{Lo} and the square root of L_{lkg} .

$$V_{E}(t)|_{\substack{iLo(0)>0\\iLr(0)=0}} = V_{X}(t) + \frac{\frac{iL_{o}(0)\sqrt{L_{o}L_{lkg}^{3}} + \sqrt{L_{lkg}L_{0}^{3}}}{\sqrt{(C_{5}+C_{8})(L_{lkg}+L_{0})}}}{(L_{lkg}+L_{0})}\sin(t\omega)$$
(4)

$$L_{lkg} \ll L_o \xrightarrow{\text{yields}} V_E(t)|_{\substack{iLo(0)>0\\iLr(0)=0}} \approx V_X(t) + iL_o(0) \sqrt{\frac{L_{lkg}}{(C_5 + C_8)}} \sin(t\omega)$$
(5)

However, in the case where the initial current through L_{lkg} is larger than zero, the overshoot induced by the initial current through L_o can be effectively cancelled by matching $i_{Llkg}(0)$ with $i_{Lo}(0)$, as expressed in (6) and (7). The reader can observe that, because of the oscillation components are in phase, the initial current through L_{lkg} cannot, theoretically, cancel the overshoot in (2)-(3).

$$V_{E}(t)|_{\substack{iLo(0)>0\\iLr(0)>0}} = V_{X}(t) + \frac{\frac{(iL_{o}(0) - iL_{lkg}(0))\sqrt{\sqrt{L_{o}L_{lkg}^{3}} + \sqrt{L_{lkg}L_{o}^{3}}}{\sqrt{(C_{5}+C_{8})(L_{lkg}+L_{o})}}\sin(t\omega)}{(L_{lkg}+L_{o})}$$
(6)

$$L_{lkg} \ll L_o \xrightarrow{\text{yields}} V_E(t)|_{\substack{iLo(0)>0\\iLr(0)>0}} \approx V_Y(t) + (iL_o(0) - iL_{lkg}(0)) \sqrt{\frac{L_{lkg}}{(C_5 + C_8)}} \sin(t\omega)$$
(7)

A. PRECHARGE OF PRIMARY INDUCTANCES

The core idea of the proposed solution is a modulation scheme that increases the current through L_r and L_{lkg} in the primary side of the converter up to the level of the reflected secondary side L_o current before a power transfer. In this manner, the coupling of currents at the start of a power transfer occurs effectively with no additionally induced voltage stress, as expressed in (8); furthermore, it reduces the conduction losses of D₉, D₁₀ and enables soft switching of the primary side HV devices.

$$iL_o(0) \le iL_{lkg}(0) \xrightarrow{\text{yields}} V_E(t) \approx V_{in}(1 - \cos(t\omega))$$
(8)

The current through L_r , L_{lkg} increases when one of the diagonals in the primary side bridge is active (Q₁ and Q₄, or Q₂ and Q₃) while the transformer is effectively shorted by the secondary side devices (which is the case during the charge of the boost inductor L_o , so-called boost duty), hereafter referred as precharge in this paper. The time required for precharging L_r , L_{lkg} current up to the required value can be estimated by (9) and the calculation can be easily implemented in a controller measuring i_{Lo} current and the voltage V_o (Fig. 7). In the prototype developed in this work, the control of the precharging time is done on a cycle by cycle scheme based on the measurements of L_o current and output voltage from the previous switching period. Since the time constant of L_o and C_o are large in relation to the switching period, we can safely assume the current and the voltage not varying between switching cycles for the estimation of the required precharging time.

It follows that the maximum available precharging time is limited to the boost duty time, which constrains the minimum output to input voltage ratio required to operate the converter, as expressed by the relations (9)-(12), where T corresponds to half of the switching period.

$$T_{precharge} = \frac{(L_r + L_{lkg''}) \cdot iL_{lkg}(0)}{nV_o} \ge \frac{2(L_r + L_{lkg''}) iL_o(0)}{nV_o}$$
(9)

$$duty_{boost} = \frac{(V_o - V_{in})}{V_o} \cdot T$$
(10)

$$T_{precharge} \le duty_{boost} \xrightarrow{yields} iL_o(0) \le \frac{n(V_o - V_{in''})}{2(L_r + L_{lkg''})} \cdot T$$
(11)

$$iL_o(0) \ge 0 \xrightarrow{\text{yields}} V_o \ge V_{in}$$
(12)

From the previous equations we can derive the maximum current and power that the converter can deliver while maintaining the proposed modulation scheme, which can be estimated by (13). Nevertheless, the theoretical limits fall beyond the thermal capabilities of most practical designs (Fig. 8).

$$\Delta i L_o \ll i L_{o_max} \xrightarrow{yields} i L_{o_max} \approx \frac{n(V_o - V_{in})}{2(L_r + L_{lkg})} \cdot T$$
(13)

Fig. 9 demonstrates experimentally the previous analysis comparing the secondary side voltage overshoot while operating the converter in boost mode: with the proposed equalization of currents prior to a power transfer, so-called precharge (Fig. 9(a)); with a traditional boost operation of the converter (Fig. 9(b)); and operating the converter while V_o is lower than the input voltage $V_{in''}$ where, as we have already analyzed, the proposed precharge is not possible (Fig. 9(c)).



Fig. 7 Simplified control blocks for the proposed boost mode operation of PSFB.



Fig. 8 Dependency between design parameters and theoretical maximum output power for the proposed boost operation of PSFB for a design with the following nominal parameter values: $L_{lkg} = 1 \ \mu H$, $L_r = 11 \ \mu H$, $L_o = 9 \ \mu H$, $V_{in} = 380 \ V$, $V_o = 54.5 \ V$ and $T = 5 \ \mu s$.



Fig. 9 Current-fed secondary side devices drain voltage overshoot cancellation. (a) With the proposed precharge of Llkg and Lr currents. (b) Without precharge of Llkg and Lr currents. (c) The proposed solution requires V_o to be equal or greater than V_{in} .

III. OPERATING PRINCIPLE

A. STANDARD (FORWARD/BUCK) OPERATION

In the standard or most commonly used modulation scheme for the PSFB converter, the primary side bridge is controlled by two complementary pulse-width modulated (PWM) signals with fixed frequency and fixed duty cycle. The duty of the PWM signals is nearly 50 %, excluding dead times to avoid cross conduction of the stacked

devices (bridge legs Q_1 - Q_2 and Q_3 - Q_4). A phase delay between the two PWM signals defines the voltage-time window or effective duty cycle of the main transformer (T_r). The voltage applied to the transformer is then a symmetric three level square wave which is subsequently rectified and filtered in the secondary side of the converter.

Fig. 10 shows the main driving signals and waveforms of a standard modulation scheme for PSFB in T_r -lead configuration (L_r connected between transformer and the leading leg Q_1 - Q_2) [21] with clamping diodes exemplified as in Fig. 1.

In Fig. 10 the converter is operating at a load point where the output filter is in continuous conduction mode (CCM) and the secondary side rectifiers are working as active switches. Freewheeling time [t_3 - t_5] is relatively long as it is the case for practical designs where the converter has to be able to regulate on a wide input range during hold-up time conditions. Currents through L_r (i_{Lr}) and through the transformer T_r (i_{Tr}) differ due to the action of the clamping diodes D₉, D₁₀ that shub the resonance between L_r and the secondary side rectifiers output capacitance at the start and at the end of a power transfer ([t_1] and [t_3]).

B. PROPOSED REVERSE/BOOST OPERATION

Fig. 11 shows the main driving signals and waveforms of the proposed modulation scheme for the reverse operation of a standard PSFB. The reader may notice the similitudes between Fig. 10 and Fig. 11 waveforms, where the same direction of flow was considered for i_{Lo} .

In the following paragraphs we analyze the operation principles for the proposed reverse operation of the PSFB. Before the analysis some assumptions are made: 1) all diodes and switches are ideal; 2) all switches are MOSFETs with intrinsic anti-parallel body diode 3) all capacitors and inductors are ideal 4) $C_1=C_2=C_3=C_4$, $C_5=C_6=C_7=C_8$ 5) $L_m = \infty$.

1) Mode 1[t₂, t₃] [Fig. 12(a)]

During the interval $[t_2, t_5] L_0$ is shorted to ground by the secondary side switches (Q₅-Q₈), and the primary side of the converter is effectively decoupled from the secondary, as the transformer is also shorted. The current through the output inductor increases at a rate given by (14)-(15).

$$iL_o(t) = iL_o(t_2) + \frac{V_{in}}{L_o}t, \quad t_2 < t < t_5$$
 (14)

$$iL_o(t_2) = \frac{\Delta iL_o}{2} = I_{Lo} - \frac{V_{in}}{L_o} dut y_{boost}$$
(15)



The primary side switches Q_2 and Q_3 are on and conducting with the voltage at the output of the converter applied between points B and A ($V_{AB} \approx -V_o$). Since the transformer is virtually shorted, all the primary voltage is applied to L_r and L_{lkg} , whereas the transformer magnetizing current remains nearly constant (16). The current through L_r and L_{lkg} reverses polarity and subsequently increases near or above the value of the reflected secondary current, at a rate given by (17). At that point, the controller turns-off Q_3 finishing the so-called precharging stage, which is one of the key differences between the proposed modulation and the conventional boost operation of a PSFB.

$$iL_m(t) \approx iL_m(t_2), \quad t_2 < t < t_3$$
 (16)

$$iL_r(t) = iL_{lkg''}(t) = iL_r(t_2) + \frac{V_o}{(L_r + L_{lkg''})}t, \quad t_2 < t < t_3$$
(17)

2) Mode 2[t3, t4] [Fig. 12(b)-Fig. 12(c)]

At [t₃], Q_3 turns-off and the current through L_r , and L_{lkg} starts to charge the output capacitance of Q_3 and discharge the output capacitance of Q_4 (Fig. 12(b)). For simplicity, the effect of the transition on the currents through the inductors would be omitted; in the intended application the output capacitances of the HV devices are small in comparison to the other elements involved in the resonance.

The current through the transformer and its leakage (i_{Tr}) drops since part of its energy is used for charging the clamping diodes capacitance, as expressed by (18). Also due to the clamping diodes, the current through L_r remains nearly constant during $[t_3, t_5]$ (19)-(20), dismissing the effect of the forward voltage drop of the diode and the ohmic losses along the recirculation path. The difference between i_{Lr} and i_{Tr} passes through D_{10} until $[t_5]$.

$$iT_r(t) = iL_r(t_3) - \frac{\sqrt{v_o(q_{oss_{D10}} + q_{oss_{D9}})}}{L_{lkq''}}, \ t_4 < t < t_5$$
(18)

$$iL_r(t) \approx iL_r(t_3), \quad t_3 < t < t_5$$
 (19)

$$iL_r(t_3) \ge \frac{iL_o(t_5)}{n} = \frac{I_{Lo}}{n} + \frac{V_{in}}{nL_o} dut y_{boost}$$

$$\tag{20}$$

After the output capacitance of Q_3 is fully charged and the output capacitance of Q_4 is fully discharged (whenever there was enough energy in L_{lgk} , L_r and L_m prior to $[t_3]$) the intrinsic body diode of Q_4 will become forward biased and will start conducting (Fig. 12(c)). At $[t_4] Q_4$ turns-on in partial or full ZVS (depending on the balance of energies).

3) Mode 3[t4, t5] [Fig. 12(d)]

The primary side current freewheels through Q_2 and Q_4 , with the transformer still effectively shorted by the secondary side switches; i_{Lr} and i_{Tr} remain constant, dismissing conduction losses. However, the current through L_0 keeps increasing as it remains shorted between V_{in} and secondary ground.

4) Mode 4[t5, t6] [Fig. 12(e)-Fig. 12(f)]

At $[t_5]$ ends the boost inductor charging stage, so-called boost duty. Q_5 and Q_8 turn-off and only one of the secondary side branches remains active (Fig. 12(e)), and the primary no longer decoupled from the secondary side.

The secondary side transformer voltage V_{ED} starts to rise while Q_5 and Q_8 output capacitances are charged up through L_r and L_{lkg} . Due to the clamping diodes, after the charge of Q_5 and Q_8 , i_{Lr} remains nearly constant until [t₇], see (21), while i_{Tr} rises up to the secondary side reflected current (22). In this mode, the difference between i_{Lr} and i_{Tr} passes through D_9 . It follows that the clamping diodes conduct two times per power transfer (or four times per period) when using T_r -lead configuration, both in reverse and in forward operation [21].

$$iL_r(t) = iL_r(t_5) - \frac{\sqrt{V_o(Q_{oss_{Q5}} + Q_{oss_{Q8}})}}{n^2(L_r + L_{lkg'})}, \ t_6 < t < t_7$$
(21)

$$iT_r(t) = iL_{lkg''}(t) = \frac{iL_o(t)}{n}, \ t_5 < t < t_8$$
(22)

On the primary side, Q_2 turns-off at [t₅]. The output capacitance of Q_1 will be discharged and the output capacitance of Q_2 charged by stored energy in L_r , L_m , L_{lkg} , and L_o , until the intrinsic body diode of Q_2 becomes forward biased and conducts (Fig. 12(f)) (whenever there was enough energy stored in the inductances prior to [t₅]). Full ZVS during this transition is easier to attain than during the transitions of Q_3 - Q_4 as the energy in L_o also contributes to the energy balance. At [t₆] Q_1 turns-on in partial or full ZVS and a power transfer stage starts.

5) Mode 5[t6, t8] [Fig. 12(g)]

In this mode the power transfer from the secondary to the primary continues. The current through L_r remains nearly constant, aside from conduction losses, while iT_r drops following the reflected L_o current (23). D₉ continues conducting the difference between the currents i_{Tr} and i_{Lr}.

$$iL_o(t) = iL_o(t_5) - \frac{(Vo - nV_{in})}{L_o n}t, \quad t_5 < t < t_8$$
(23)

At $[t_7] i_{Tr}$ decreases down to i_{Lr} and D_9 stops conducting (24). From the inspection of the voltage waveform of V_F after $[t_7]$ it can be seen that V_C and V_F are no longer clamped: the output capacitance of Q_5 and Q_8 resonates with L_r , L_{lkg} and other stray inductances during $[t_7, t_8]$.

$$iT_r(t) = iL_r(t), t_7 < t < t_8$$
 (24)

6) Mode 6[t8, t9] [Fig. 12(h)]

At $[t_8]$ finishes the power transfer and starts a new precharging sequence (25), and a new boost duty time. Q₅ and Q₈ are hard switched turned-on forcing L₀ and the secondary side of the transformer to be shorted to the secondary ground; this secondary side switching loss contribution does not exist in buck operation where the LV devices are soft switched. Nevertheless, the primary side HV devices can operate under full or nearly full ZVS along all load range.

$$iL_r(t) = iL_{lkg''}(t) = iL_r(t_8) - \frac{V_0}{(L_r + L_{lkg''})}t, \quad t_8 < t < t_9$$
(25)

The sequence repeats in a similar manner alternating the polarity of the currents and voltages applied to the transformer. The reader may notice that with the proposed modulation scheme the primary side leg transitioning after a power transfer in buck mode (so-called leading leg) becomes the leg transitioning before a power transfer in boost mode (so-called lagging leg). This is an important difference, as it is not rare to design PSFB converters with different devices in Q_1 , Q_2 , Q_3 , and Q_4 to account for the different available energies in the leading and lagging leg transitions. The recommendation here, for bidirectional operation, is to have the same type of devices within the primary side bridge.



C. SOFT SWITCHING RANGE

The main characteristic of the PSFB is the harnessing of the energy in the primary and secondary inductances to reach ZVS of the primary side devices. An efficiency optimized PSFB design would ideally work in full or nearly full ZVS along all load range of the converter, which is especially critic at light and medium loads, where the switching losses might be dominant [10],[22]. Fig. 13 and Fig. 14 demonstrate that the prototype achieves soft switching in those particular scenarios: even if the output capacitance of the devices is not fully discharged when the device turns-on, the remaining losses are not significative for modern HV superjunction MOSFETs [23].

The conditions required to reach ZVS are summarized in (26)-(28) with C_{leading} equal to the sum of capacitances C_3 and C_4 and C_{lagging} equal to the sum C_1 and C_2 . The lumped capacitance of the transformer C_{tr} constitutes an important contribution to the leading leg transition; however, it does not have an influence on the lagging leg.

$$\frac{V_o^2}{2}(C_{leading} + C_{tr}) \le \frac{iL_r^2}{2}L_r + \frac{iL_{lkg}^2}{2}L_{lkg} + \frac{iL_o^2}{2}L_o + \frac{iL_m^2}{2}L_m$$
(26)

with
$$iL_r \approx \frac{iL_o}{n}$$
 and $L_{o''} = L_o n^2 \gg L_r$ and $iL_m \ll iL_r \xrightarrow{\text{yields}} \frac{V_o^2}{2} (C_{\text{leading}} + C_{\text{tr}}) \leq \frac{iL_o^2}{2} (L_o + \frac{L_r}{n^2})$ (27)

$$\frac{V_o^2}{2}C_{lagging} \le \left(\frac{iL_r^2}{2}L_r + \frac{iL_{lkg}^2}{2}L_{lkg}\right) \approx \frac{iL_o^2}{2n^2}L_r \tag{28}$$

Among other alternatives, the most commonly accepted way of increasing ZVS range while operating in buck mode, when possible, is the usage of an external resonant inductance (L_r), conveniently dimensioned to reach the maximum power of the converter at the minimum specified input voltage [10],[22]. The secondary side overshoot induced during the commutation by the additional inductance can be effectively reduced by the usage of primary side clamping diodes, as is suggested in [21].

With the proposed modulation scheme it is possible to extend the lagging leg ZVS range while operating in boost mode: the precharge time can be extended above the minimum required for the overshoot reduction, thus increasing the energy available during the transition, as expressed by (29)-(30); conduction losses, on the other hand, would increase. Fig. 15 illustrates the amount of charge that could be provided by the inductances during the primary side transitions while operating in boost mode and applying the proposed ZVS range extension for the lagging leg.



Fig. 13 Detail of primary side ZVS transitions of lagging and leading legs at 10% of load in buck mode



Fig. 14 Detail of ZVS transition of lagging and leading legs. Secondary side LV device drain voltage overshoot is also visible (98.32 V peak). Light load conditions. (a) Detail of ZVS transition of lagging and leading legs. (b) Detail of secondary side hard switched transition turn-on.

The prototype designed mounts two 75 m Ω devices in parallel for each of the primary side full bridge placeholders (Q₁-Q₄), eight of them in total, whereas four of them should be considered for the energy balance calculations during the half bridge transitions.

with
$$iL_r > \frac{iL_o}{n} \xrightarrow{\text{yields}} \frac{V_o^2}{2} C_{lagging} \le \left(\frac{iL_r^2}{2}L_r + \frac{iL_{lkg}^2}{2}L_{lkg}\right) \approx \frac{iL_r^2}{2}L_r$$
(29)

$$iL_{r} = \begin{cases} \frac{V_{o}}{\sqrt{L_{r}}} C_{lagging}, & \frac{iL_{o}^{2}}{2n^{2}} L_{r} < \frac{V_{o}^{2}}{2} C_{lagging} \\ & \frac{iL_{o}}{n}, & \frac{iL_{o}^{2}}{2n^{2}} L_{r} \ge \frac{V_{o}^{2}}{2} C_{lagging} \end{cases}$$
(30)



Fig. 15 Available energy during the transitions for charging and discharging the output capacitance of the HV MOSFETs at nominal Vo of 400 V for the prototype operating in boost mode with the proposed ZVS range extension. A MOSFET half bridge with a total Qoss of 154 nC achieves full ZVS where the curves fall above the horizontal dotted line.

D. TRANSITION BETWEEN OPERATING MODES

In the proposed bidirectional modulation for PSFB the transition from forward to reverse and from reverse to forward operating modes is possible without interruption of power flow or control signals. This has been already reported in the literature in [24] as an unexpected bidirectional operation of standard PSFB with the output filter working in forced CCM and the converter connected in parallel to other units.

Here we analyze how the control signals change between operation modes, and give suggestions for one of the possible transition sequences, from forward to reverse operation without stopping the converter; starting from the standard modulation of PSFB in Fig. 10 (Fig. 16(a)) and ending up in the proposed modulation scheme in Fig. 11:

- Q₆&Q₇ and Q₅&Q₈ turn-on point shifts left in time towards the falling edge of V_F and overlap it (becoming a hard switched transition). The overlap will induce a fast increase of the primary side current only limited by L_r and L_{lkg} (here so-called precharge time) (Fig. 16(b)).
- Q₅&Q₈ and Q₆&Q₇ turn-off point shifts left in time aligning to the turning-off point of Q₁ and Q₂. Unlike in the forward operation mode there is no delay between the falling edge of Q₂ and rising edge of V_F (power transfer) (Fig. 16(c)).
- Q₃ and Q₄ turn-off point shifts to the right in time, overlapping Q₅&Q₈ and Q₆&Q₇ until they reach the required precharging time, which is adjusted hereafter by the delay between Q₃, Q₄ falling edge, and Q₅&Q₈ and Q₆&Q₇ rising edge (Fig. 16(c) and (d)).
- In boost mode steady state Q₆&Q₇ and Q₅&Q₈ overlap time becomes the manipulated variable of control, the so-called boost duty time (Fig. 16(d)).

Note that in the proposed boost operation mode it is required that, before turning-off all devices in the secondary side (shut down procedure), the converter changes back to forward operation mode (Fig. 17). While working in boost mode, the current iL_0 flows against the intrinsic body diodes of the devices. If they are all turned-off while the current is still flowing, the energy stored in L_0 is transferred to their output capacitances with the consequent drain voltage overshoot (Fig. 18). Since the output capacitance of the devices is relatively small (C_5 , C_6 , C_7 , C_8) in relation to L_0 the voltage easily rises up to the breakdown limit and, at that point the remaining energy would be dissipated within the switches (with the consequent stress and risk of damage when there are no other countermeasures).



Fig. 16 Simulated waveforms of the transition between buck and boost operating modes. (a) Buck mode steady state operation. (b) Overlap of Q_3 , Q_4 falling edge and $Q_5 \& Q_8$, $Q_6 \& Q_7$ rising edge, the so-called precharge time. (c) Increase of overlap between $Q_5 \& Q_8$ and $Q_6 \& Q_7$, the so-called boost_{duty}. (d) Boost mode steady state operation.



Fig. 17 Detail view of signals during the transition between boost and buck modes in the shut-down sequence.



Fig. 18 Large secondary side drain voltage overshoot occurs when the devices turn-off while iL_o is still flowing towards their intrinsic body diodes. (a) A protection mechanism triggers improper shut down sequence during soft start with $V_o = 300$ V. (b) Drain overshoot occurs in both rectification branches.

IV. EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS

A bidirectional 3300 W DC/DC PSFB converter was designed and built to test the proposed modulation scheme under the context of this work with the specifications in Table I for buck mode operation, and the specifications in Table II for boost mode operation. The control has been implemented and tested on a XMCTM 4200 ARM® Cortex®-M4 microcontroller from Infineon Technologies AG. Table III and Table IV summarize the main converter components. Fig. 19 shows an actual snapshot of the converter within its case.

A. EFFICIENCY

Table VI shows a summary of the overall estimation of losses for the converter operating in forward mode at the main points of interest for the intended application: 20 %, 50 % and 100 % load. The distribution was estimated out of the measured efficiency of the real converter, thermographic captures, finite element (FEA), circuit and numeric simulations.

Based on the results, the transformer appears to be the main contributor to losses at 50 % loads and above. This supports the hypothesis that the performance of the converter for this power and voltages depends mostly on the design of the magnetics.

When the converter operates in the reverse operation mode (boost) the overall efficiency of the system is relatively lower due to the additional losses contributions: clamping diodes conduction, and secondary side devices hard switched transitions. All of the other contributions to losses are expected to remain approximately the same due to the nearly symmetric current and voltage waveforms in the different operating modes.

TABLE II			
KEY PARAMETERS OF PRO	DTOTYPE (BUCK MODE)		
Parameter	Value		
Nominal input voltage	400 V		
Input voltage range	360 V - 410 V		
Nominal output voltage	54.5 V		
Output voltage range	43 V - 60 V		
Maximum output power	3300 W		
Maximum output current	85 A		
Switching frequency	100 kHz		
Height of the converter	1 U		
Transformer turns ratio (Np : Ns)	21:4		
Magnetizing inductance (Lm)	750 µH		
Resonant inductance (Lr)	11 µH		
Output choke inductance (Lo)	9.8 µH		

KEY PARAMETERS OF PROTOTYPE (BOOST MODE)			
Parameter	Value		
Nominal input voltage	51 V		
Input voltage range	43 V - 57 V		
Nominal output voltage	400 V		
Maximum output power	3300 W		
Maximum output current	8.25 A		
Switching frequency	100 kHz		

TABLE III	
KEY PARAMETERS OF PROTOTYPE (BOOST MC	DE

TABLE IV					
SI MOSFETS AND DIODES					
IPL60R075CFD7 BSC093N15NS5 IDP08E65D1					
V _{ds,max} 600 V 150 V 650 V					
R _{DS,on,max}	75 mΩ @ 25 °C	9.3 mΩ @ 25 °C	N/A		
C _{oss(er)}	96 pF	604 pF	N/A		

.

TABLE V	
---------	--

MAGNETIC CORE SELECTION				
Core Material Manufacturer				
Transformer	PQI 35/28	DMR95	DMEGC	
Lr	PQI 35/28	DMR95	DMEGC	
Lo	Toroid	HP 60 µ	CHANG SUNG	

TABLE VI 3300 W FORWARD PSFR LOSSES BREAKDOWN

5500 W FORWARD I SI D EOSSES BREARDOWN				
Loss contribution	100% power	50% power	20% power	
Auxiliary circuitry	1.02 W	1.02 W	1.02 W	
Fan	4.91 W	0.64 W	0.64 W	
Transformer	29.43 W	10.71 W	5.34 W	
Lr	2.51 W	0.76 W	0.18 W	
Lo	5.22 W	1.77 W	0.85 W	
Primary bridge	16.89 W	5.28 W	2.69 W	
Secondary bridge	19.24 W	9.61 W	6.95 W	
Clamping diodes	2.11 W	2.47 W	2.65 W	
Capacitors	0.38 W	0.35 W	0.34 W	
PCB conduction	7.60 W	1.91 W	0.32 W	

The efficiency of the 3300 W PSFB prototype was measured at nominal conditions in buck (380 V input and 54.5 V output) and boost (51 V input and 400 V output) operating modes (Fig. 20). As expected, the efficiency in reverse operation is lower than in the forward operation: in boost mode the secondary side devices are hard switched and the clamping diodes conduction losses also increase.

The prototype was designed to operate with forced air cooling and enclosed in a case. Due to thermal limitations of the design and the lower efficiency in the reverse mode of operation, the maximum steady state power that the converter could deliver in boost mode was rated to 3200 W during the efficiency measurements.



Fig. 20 Overall efficiency of the 3300 W PSFB converter prototype operating in forward and in reverse modes. Auxiliary bias and fan consumption were included in the measurements.

B. STEADY STATE WAVEFORMS

The reader may compare the experimental steady state waveforms in Fig. 21 and Fig. 22 with the diagrams in Fig. 10 and Fig. 11 respectively for their better understanding. Fig. 21 captures the forward operation at full load (3300 W), nominal 380 V input and 54.5 V output, approximately 61 A average output current. Some details of interest in Fig. 21 are:

- The primary side bridge operates in full ZVS. The gate voltage of the bridge is not captured here, but V_{AB} (green curve) shows the characteristic smooth transitions without noticeable overshoot indicative of soft switching.
- The secondary side drain voltage (blue curve) overshoot (around 95 V) is well under the breakdown limit of the devices mounted (150 V).
- The secondary side devices are soft switched. The gate voltage (purple curve) rises after the drain voltage has fallen and falls before the drain voltage rises again. They are however hard commutated by the transformer reflected voltage.
- The difference between the transformer current (black curve) and the resonance inductance current (red curve) passes through the clamping diodes D₉, D₁₀ (area enclosed by red and black curves).

oft | Verical | Digital | HoriziAcq | Trig | Display | Cursons | Measure | Mask | Math | MyScope | Analyze | Ulifies | Help | 💌 | Trick | International | Trick | 🖛 🗶



Fig. 21 Full load, steady state forward operation of the 3300W PSFB converter prototype.



Fig. 22 Capture of the signals during steady state reverse operation of the 3300 W PSFB prototype converter at full load.

Fig. 22 captures the boost mode operation at full load (3300 W), 54.5 V input and 400 V output, leading to approximately 8.25 A average output current. Some details of interest are shown in Fig. 22:

- The primary side bridge operates in ZVS. V_{AB} (pink curve) exhibits higher drain overshoot (432 V) than Fig. 22, but still well under the breakdown limit of the mounted devices (600 V). This is due to the higher turn-off current peak in this operating condition (notice the change in scale of the current waveforms between Fig. 21, 5 A per division, and Fig. 22, 10 A per division).
- The secondary side drain voltage overshoot (red curve) is larger than in forward mode (101 V) but still well under the limit for the selected devices.
- The secondary side devices are hard switched turned-on: there is no delay between the gate signals (green curve) and the drain voltage at the turn-on point, and a closer look at the transition shows the indicative Miller plateau in the gate voltage.
- i_{Lr} is precharged just at the value of the reflected current at the start of the power transfer. Transformer current drops below i_{Lr} during the freewheeling time due to the clamping diodes output charge. The analysis and the experiments have demonstrated that there is a tradeoff between the secondary side voltage overshoot and the primary side circulating current losses given by the so-called precharge.
- In comparison to the forward operation mode, the clamping diodes conduct more current: the area enclosed between i_{Tr} (black curve) and i_{Lr} (blue curve).

C. SOFT START

It was concluded from the analysis in section II that the proposed modulation scheme requires V_{in} to be equal or larger than V_o (in reverse operation mode the converter can only boost, just like in forward operation mode the converter can only buck). Additionally, by the nature of boost converters, if V_o is lower than V_{in} the current through the boost inductor (L_o) rises without control (phenomenon commonly known as in-rush current); normally addressed in non-isolated boost converters through parallel negative temperature coefficient (NTC) thermistors and in-rush diodes that charge up the bulk capacitor prior to the converter starts working. However, in isolated boost converters it requires of a more elaborated solution.

Those limitations make the so-called cold start of the converter not possible with the proposed modulation scheme. Some alternatives have been already proposed in the literature: when the bidirectional PSFB is part of a full AC/DC multi-stage converter, it would be possible to integrate the charging up of the bulk capacitance from the AC/DC stage whenever the AC grid voltage is present, like for example in photovoltaic applications; some

other alternatives require additional auxiliary circuitry [16], [25]-[26]. Nevertheless, those matters are out of the scope of this work. Our approach, for testing the prototype, was the charging up of the bulk capacitance prior to the start-up (Fig. 23) through a low power auxiliary supply decoupled from the load and the bidirectional converter by a HV diode.



Fig. 23 Soft start of converter operating in boost mode. An external auxiliary converter charges up C_o prior to the starting sequence. (a) Zoom out of the sequence followed by steady state operation. (b) Detail of soft start sequence first pulses.

V. CONCLUSION

In this paper a modulation scheme for the operation of the PSFB as a bidirectional DC/DC converter has been proposed to overcome well-known problems on isolated boost converters: high drain voltage overshoot on the secondary or current-fed side devices, and the lack of ZVS capability on the primary or voltage-fed side devices. Furthermore, these issues are addressed without penalties in complexity, cost or performance: the design optimization procedure (selection of the output inductor, leakage or magnetizing inductance among other parameters) is not constrained by the proposed bidirectional operation of the converter.

The main issues and the solutions given by the proposed control techniques have been analyzed in detail. The proposed modulation allows boost operation with minimized drain voltage overshoot equalizing the currents through the boost inductor and other inductances of the converter (L_r , L_{lkg} and stray) prior to a power transfer. Moreover, it enables the usage of primary side clamping diodes, with their advantages in forward or buck operation.

With the proposed modulation the primary side devices achieve full or nearly full ZVS along all load range of the converter in both forward and reverse operation. In addition, a method for extending ZVS range of the lagging leg while operating in boost mode with the proposed modulation has been introduced: precharging the inductances above the minimum required for reducing the overshoot.

In the proposed boost mode operation the secondary side devices are turned-on in hard switching conditions, whereas they are soft switched in buck operation mode. The conduction loss of the primary side clamping diodes is also relatively higher in the boost mode. Those additional contributions to losses, which are the main drawbacks of the modulation presented in this paper, decrease the overall system efficiency of the converter when working in reverse or boost mode in comparison to the forward or buck mode.

A high efficiency prototype of bidirectional 3300 W PSFB was designed and built to demonstrate the feasibility of the proposed solution. The experimental results confirm the analysis introduced in this paper. The prototype achieves a peak efficiency of 98.05 % in the buck mode and 97.5 % in the boost mode at nominal conditions and 50 % load points. Overall, this work demonstrates that the PSFB is a competitive alternative when building highly efficient and cost-competitive bidirectional DC/DC converters.

REFERENCES

- [1] M. Ryu, D. Jung, J. Baek and H. Kim, "An optimized design of bi-directional dual active bridge converter for low voltage battery charger," 2014 16th International Power Electronics and Motion Control Conference and Exposition, Antalya, 2014, pp. 177-183.
- [2] Keun-Wan Koo, Dong-Hee Kim, Dong-Gyun Woo and Byoung-Kuk Lee, "Topology comparison for 6.6kW On board charger: Performance, efficiency, and selection guideline," 2012 IEEE Vehicle Power and Propulsion Conference, Seoul, 2012, pp. 1520-1524.
- [3] Huafeng Xiao, Donghua Chen and Shaojun Xie, "A ZVS bi-directional DC-DC converter for vehicular electronics," 2005 IEEE Vehicle Power and Propulsion Conference, Chicago, IL, 2005, pp. 7 pp.-.
- [4] X. Yu and P. Yeaman, "A new high efficiency isolated bi-directional DC-DC converter for DC-bus and battery-bank interface," 2014 IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition - APEC 2014, Fort Worth, TX, 2014, pp. 879-883.

- [5] H. Li et al., "A 6.6kW SiC bidirectional on-board charger," 2018 IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC), San Antonio, TX, 2018, pp. 1171-1178.
- [6] H. Tao, A. Kotsopoulos, J. L. Duarte and M. A. M. Hendrix, "Transformer-Coupled Multiport ZVS Bidirectional DC–DC Converter With Wide Input Range," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 23, no. 2, pp. 771-781, March 2008.
- [7] A. K. Jain and R. Ayyanar, "Pwm control of dual active bridge: Comprehensive analysis and experimental verification," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 26, no. 4, pp. 1215-1227, April 2011.
- [8] A. Hillers, D. Christen and J. Biela, "Design of a Highly efficient bidirectional isolated LLC resonant converter," 2012 15th International Power Electronics and Motion Control Conference (EPE/PEMC), Novi Sad, 2012, pp. DS2b.13-1-DS2b.13-8.
- [9] Xinbo Ruan, Soft-Switching PWM Full-Bridge Converters. Nanjing University of Aeronautics and Astronautics, China: Wiley, 2014, pp. 1-66, 121-147, 181-198.
- [10] Zhao, L.; Li, H.; Liu, Y.; Li, Z. High Efficiency Variable-Frequency Full-Bridge Converter with a Load Adaptive Control Method Based on the Loss Model. *Energies* 2015, 8, 2647-2673.
- [11] R. Reiner et al., "Integrated reverse-diodes for GaN-HEMT structures," 2015 IEEE 27th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices & IC's (ISPSD), Hong Kong, 2015, pp. 45-48.
- [12] X. Hou, D. Boroyevich and R. Burgos, "Characterization on latest-generation SiC MOSFET's body diode," 2016 IEEE 4th Workshop on Wide Bandgap Power Devices and Applications (WiPDA), Fayetteville, AR, 2016, pp. 247-252.
- [13] F. Krismer, J. Biela and J. W. Kolar, "A comparative evaluation of isolated bi-directional DC/DC converters with wide input and output voltage range," *Fourtieth IAS Annual Meeting. Conference Record of the 2005 Industry Applications Conference, 2005.*, Kowloon, Hong Kong, 2005, pp. 599-606 Vol. 1.
- [14] L. Saro, K. Dierberger and R. Redl, "High-voltage MOSFET behavior in soft-switching converters: analysis and reliability improvements," *INTELEC - Twentieth International Telecommunications Energy Conference (Cat. No.98CH36263)*, San Francisco, CA, USA, 1998, pp. 30-40.
- [15] H. Wang, F. Wang and J. Zhang, "Power Semiconductor Device Figure of Merit for High-Power-Density Converter Design Applications," in *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 55, no. 1, pp. 466-470, Jan. 2008.
- [16] Lizhi Zhu, Kunrong Wang, F. C. Lee and Jih-Sheng Lai, "New start-up schemes for isolated full-bridge boost converters," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 18, no. 4, pp. 946-951, July 2003.
- [17] P. Xuewei and A. K. Rathore, "Novel bidirectional snubberless soft-switching naturally clamped zero current commutated current-fed dual active bridge (CFDAB) converter for fuel cell vehicles," 2013 IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition, Denver, CO, 2013, pp. 1894-1901.
- [18] J. Wang, H. S. Chung and R. T. Li, "Characterization and Experimental Assessment of the Effects of Parasitic Elements on the MOSFET Switching Performance," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 573-590, Jan. 2013.
- [19] L. Zhu, "A novel soft-commutating isolated boost full-bridge ZVS-PWM DC-DC converter for bidirectional high power applications," 2004 IEEE 35th Annual Power Electronics Specialists Conference (IEEE Cat. No.04CH37551), Aachen, Germany, 2004, pp. 2141-2146 Vol.3.
- [20] S. Bal, D. B. Yelaverthi, A. K. Rathore and D. Srinivasan, "Improved Modulation Strategy Using Dual Phase Shift Modulation for Active Commutated Current-Fed Dual Active Bridge," in IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, vol. 33, no. 9, pp. 7359-7375, Sept. 2018.
- [21] Xinbo Ruan and Fuxin Liu, "An Improved ZVS PWM Full-bridge Converter with Clamping Diodes," 2004 35th Annual IEEE Power Electronics Specialists Conference (IEEE Cat. No 04CH37551), Aachen, Germany 2004, pp. 1476-1481 Vol. 2.
- [22] U. Badstuebner, J. Biela and J. W. Kolar, "An optimized, 99% efficient, 5 kW, phase-shift PWM DC-DC converter for data centers and telecom applications," *The 2010 International Power Electronics Conference - ECCE ASIA -*, Sapporo, 2010, pp. 626-634.
- [23] M. Kasper, R. M. Burkart, G. Deboy and J. W. Kolar, "ZVS of Power MOSFETs Revisited," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 31, no. 12, pp. 8063-8067, Dec. 2016.
- [24] Y. Jeong, S. Cho, D. Kim, G. Moon and C. Kim, "Unexpected bi-directional operation of Phase-Shift Full-Bridge Converter in parallel operation system," 2013 IEEE ECCE Asia Downunder, Melbourne, VIC, 2013, pp. 999-1004.
- [25] K. Lindberg-Poulsen, Z. Ouyang, G. Sen and M. A. E. Andersen, "A new method for start-up of isolated boost converters using magneticand winding-integration," 2012 Twenty-Seventh Annual IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC), Orlando, FL, 2012, pp. 340-345.
- [26] Kunrong Wang, F. C. Lee and J. Lai, "Operation principles of bi-directional full-bridge DC/DC converter with unified soft-switching scheme and soft-starting capability," APEC 2000. Fifteenth Annual IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (Cat. No.00CH37058), New Orleans, LA, USA, 2000, pp. 111-118 vol.1.

CHAPTER 8. SECOND PUBLICATION

Synchronous rectifiers drain voltage overshoot reduction in PSFB converters

Manuel Escudero, Matteo-Alessandro Kutschak, David Meneses, Diego Pedro Morales, and Noel Rodriguez²

- IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, Vol. 35, Issue 7, July 2020; doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2019.2953797
- Impact factor: 7.224
- JRC rank: (Q1)

Manuscript received June 29, 2019; accepted November 11, 2019. Date of publication November 13, 2019; date of current version March 13, 2020. Recommended for publication by Associate Editor M. A. E. Andersen. (Corresponding author: Manuel Escudero.) M. Escudero, M.-A. Kutschak, and D. Meneses are with the Infineon Technologies Austria AG, Villach 9500, Austria (e-mail: Manuel.EscuderoRodriguez@infineon.com; Matteo-Alessandro.Kutschak@infineon.com; David.MenesesHerrera@infineon.com). D. P. Morales and N. Rodriguez are with the Department of Electronics and Computer Technology, University of Granada, Granada 18071, Spain (e-mail: diegopm@ugr.es).

Abstract— The requirements for the blocking voltage of the rectification devices on the secondary side of Phase Shift Full Bridge DCDC converter topology are, by nature, higher than for other quasi-resonant or fully resonant topologies (DAB, LLC). This is especially aggravated in wide range operation converters and further increased by the rectifiers' drain voltage overshoot. Unlike other resonant topologies, the inductor at the output of the PSFB effectively decouples the capacitor bank from the rectification stage, which otherwise acts as a strong lossless snubber. Higher blocking voltage requirements for the rectification devices worsen their Figure of Merit, increasing their related losses and decreasing the overall efficiency of the converter. In this paper the main causes of the rectifiers drain voltage overshoots in PSFB are analyzed. Design guidelines for the mitigation of the different causes are introduced, as well as a novel modulation scheme for the overshoot reduction while the output filter operates in DCM, without penalties in performance, complexity or cost. A prototype of PSFB DCDC converter of 3300 W, with 400 V input to 54.5 V output nominal voltages, was designed and built to test the proposed solutions achieving a peak efficiency of 98.12 % at 50 % of load.

Index Terms- Phase Shift Full Bridge, modulation technique, synchronous rectifier, drain voltage overshoot.

I. INTRODUCTION

The Phase Shift Full Bridge (PSFB) is a buck derived isolated converter topology commonly used in medium to high power (one to several kW) DCDC converter applications as a single stage or as the output stage of a full ACDC converter. PSFB is commonly used with the input at high voltage (350 V to 450 V) and the output at low voltage (12 V to 60 V) and relatively high current for server, telecom and battery charging applications [1]. High output voltage designs are not common since the high-voltage (HV) requirements of the rectification devices on the secondary side make other alternatives more attractive [2]-[3].

Like other resonant or quasi-resonant topologies PSFB can achieve zero voltage switching (ZVS) on the primary side devices, nearly suppressing switching losses, which are especially high for HV devices in hard-switched converters [4]. ZVS enables higher efficiency, lower cost, higher power density or a combination of those.

Like other isolated topologies, the blocking voltage of the secondary side devices depends on the rectification stage configuration: it is two times the transformer reflected secondary voltage for center tapped and current doubler, or one time the transformer reflected secondary voltage for full bridge [5].

Unlike other resonant topologies, the output filter stage of the PSFB converter is composed, at least, of an inductor L_0 and a bank of capacitors C_0 . The inductor at the output effectively decouples the secondary side rectification devices from the output capacitance bank (Fig. 1). Therefore, the drain voltage of the secondary side devices is not as effectively clamped as in other converters such as LLC or DAB [6]-[8].

Moreover, the secondary reflected voltage of the transformer does not depend on the output voltage (V_o) and it is always necessarily higher than it. In the PSFB converter the output of the rectification stage is a square wave of duty cycle D_{eff} , with the amplitude of the transformer reflected voltage and the average value V_o . The reflected

² © 2019 IEEE. Reprinted, with permission, from Manuel Escudero Rodriguez, Matteo-Alessandro Kutschak, David Meneses Herrera, Noel Rodriguez and Diego Pedro Morales, IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, March 13, 2020.

voltage is proportional to the transformer turns ratio and the input voltage, as expressed in (1) where V_E and V_D represents the amplitude of the output voltage of the rectification stage, and N_P and N_S respectively the primary and secondary turns of the main transformer.

$$V_{o} = \frac{N_{S}}{N_{P}} V_{in} D_{eff} = V_{in} \frac{D_{eff}}{n} = V_{D} D_{eff} = V_{E} D_{eff}$$
(1)

 D_{eff} is necessarily less than or equal to one and, in practical converters, commonly much smaller, as the transformer turns ratio *n* is constrained by the input and output voltage range requirements: the converter should be capable of regulation at the minimum specified input voltage $V_{in,min}$ and maximum specified output voltage $V_{o,max}$.

Wide input voltage is required, for example, during hold-up time conditions [7], [9]-[11]. The power supply needs to maintain its output voltage during a time period of 20 ms (T_{hold}) after the input AC line is lost. Hold-up operation is required in applications with demanding requirements on power supply continuity and reliability, such as sever power supply and telecommunication systems. This results in a minimum input voltage V_{in,min} at the end of T_{hold} .

The wide regulation requirement makes PSFB converter not to be operated with its maximum duty in nominal state. Additionally, because of the time it takes to the current through the transformer to reverse polarity, part of the ideally available duty is lost (D_{loss}), which further constraints the maximum possible transformer turn ratio, the external resonant inductance and the leakage of the transformer, which should be conveniently dimensioned to reach the maximum power of the converter at the minimum specified input voltage (2)-(6). During the remaining duty, the so-called freewheeling (D_{frw}), the primary current recirculates without transferring energy to the output of the converter.

$$D_{loss} = 2F_{sw} \frac{(L_r + L_{lkg})}{V_{in}} \Delta i L_{r,1}$$
⁽²⁾

$$\Delta i L_{r,1} \approx \frac{2i L_{o,avg}}{n}$$
 , L_o in CCM (3)

$$D_{\text{loss,max}} = 4F_{\text{sw}} \frac{(L_{\text{r}} + L_{\text{lkg}})}{V_{\text{in,min}}} \frac{iL_{\text{o,avg,max}}}{n}$$
(4)

$$D_{eff} + D_{frw} + D_{loss} = 1$$
(5)

$$D_{frw} \ge 0 \xrightarrow{\text{yields}} V_{\text{in,min}} \ge \left(nV_{\text{o,max}} + \frac{4F_{\text{sw}}(L_r + L_{\text{lkg}})iL_{\text{o,avg,max}}}{n} \right)$$
(6)

Any additional overshoot above the nominal blocking voltage (V_D and V_E) would require to further increase the maximum limits of the blocking voltage capabilities of the rectification devices (Fig. 2); or alternatively to use clamping or snubbering mechanisms that bring additional power losses, complexity and cost [12]-[13]. Furthermore, it is a common practice, in the design of switched mode power supplies (SMPS), to limit the maximum stress on the components (voltage, current, temperature) to a rated percentage of their safe maximum limits under any normal working conditions of the converter [14]. The rating percentage depends on the application, lifetime and reliability requirements, but 80 % is a common choice. For semiconductor devices the commonly rated parameters are the maximum drain voltage and the working temperature.

Because there is only a limited variety of voltage classes available in the market, increasing the blocking voltage may force the designer to go for a rather high voltage class where the available device technology has a worse figure of merit and could be further constrained to a limited $R_{ds,on}$ portfolio. A summary of the characteristics of two devices with similar $R_{ds,on}$ in Table I shows the influence of the blocking voltage in their characteristic charges and forward voltage drop, which ultimately affects the switching and conduction losses.

In PSFB converters several mechanisms induce or could induce the above mentioned secondary side rectifiers drain voltage overshoot [5], mostly not properly explored in the literature. In the following sections we analyze the most common causes, and provide design guidelines and control solutions for the reduction or suppression of the parasitic overshoots enabling high efficiency PSFB designs with the minimum possible secondary side voltage class devices. The rectification stage may have different configurations: center tapped, current doubler or full bridge; each of them having its advantages in different applications: low voltage, high current or high voltage outputs respectively [15]; however these alternatives have no major impact on the working principles of the converter and the solutions proposed here.

	TABLE I Si LV MOSFETS			
BSC093N15NS5 BSC098N10NS5				
V _{DS,max}	150 V	100 V		
R _{DS,on,max}	9.3 mΩ @ 25 °C	9.8 mΩ @ 25 °C		
Qoss	91 nC	30 nC		
Q_{g}	33 nC	22 nC		
Q _{rr}	58 nC	73 nC		
$V_{\rm f}$	0.88 V	0.9 V		

Logic 0 0

0

Current (A)

-6



Fig. 1. Conventional phase shift full bridge DC/DC converter configuration with full bridge rectification and primary side clamping diodes.



DT

DT

Tloss

iL_o/n

∕λiL

iLlkg

Fig. 2. Secondary side drain voltage overshoot increases the blocking voltage requirements for the rectification devices.

The rest of this document is organized as follows: in Section II a detailed analysis of the overshoot causes is conducted and previous literature is reviewed; in Section III a comprehensive analysis of the proposed overshoot reduction techniques are presented including a novel discontinuous conduction mode (DCM) control scheme; the study is confirmed by experimental results presented in Section IV; and finally, Section V presents a summary of conclusions out of this work.

II. OVERSHOOT MECHANISMS ANALYSIS

A. COMMUTATION OVERSHOOT

The secondary side rectification devices are naturally commutated by the transformer reflected voltage, which is an effect of the primary side devices alternating the polarity of the voltage applied to the primary of the transformer. Thanks to that, the synchronous rectifiers (SRs) can be turned both on and off under ZVS conditions. They are, however, hard commutated and because certain body diode conduction is unavoidable in most practical cases, they require reverse recovery charge (Q_{rr}) for the diodes with the consequent additional related losses [16]-[17].

The energy required to charge the output capacitance (Q_{oss}) and Q_{rr} of the rectification devices during their commutation comes from the primary side through the transformer. Meanwhile, in the process of charge, all inductances appearing on the charging path (L_r , L_{lkg} , L_{stry}) (Fig. 3) store energy, which can be estimated by (7). That stored energy will subsequently cause a resonance together with the secondary side rectifier's output capacitance (C_{oss}) at the frequency given by (8) [5]. The energy of that resonance would cause a maximum peak voltage that can be calculated by (9)-(10). Subsequently the resonance energy will be partially lost in the resistive path as the resonance dampens or within other snubber, or clamping mechanisms [12].

$$\begin{array}{l}
 Q_{\text{oss,5}} = Q_{\text{oss,6}} = Q_{\text{oss,7}} = Q_{\text{oss,8}} = Q_{\text{oss}}, \\
 Q_{\text{rr,5}} = Q_{\text{rr,6}} = Q_{\text{rr,7}} = Q_{\text{rr,8}} = Q_{\text{rr}}
\end{array} \xrightarrow{\text{yields}} \left(\underbrace{\frac{iL_{\text{r,com}}^2}{2} L_r + \frac{iL_{\text{lkg,com}}^2}{2} L_{\text{lkg}}}_2 \right) = \frac{V_{\text{in}}}{n} (Q_{\text{rr}} + Q_{\text{oss}}), t_1 = \frac{\pi}{2\omega_1} \quad (7)$$

$$C_5 = C_6 = C_7 = C_8 = C_{SR} \xrightarrow{\text{yields}} \omega_1 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2C_{SR}(L_{lkg} + L_r)}}$$
(8)

$$V_{\rm F}(t) = V_{\rm E}(t) = V_{\rm D}(t) = V_{\rm F,pk}(1 - \cos(t\omega_1))$$
(9)

$$V_{F,pk} = \left(\frac{iL_{F,com}^2}{2Q_{oss}}L_r + \frac{iL_{lkg,com}^2}{2Q_{oss}}L_{lkg}\right) + \frac{V_{in}}{n} , t_2 = \frac{\pi}{\omega_1}$$
(10)

High frequency and high amplitude resonances can jeopardize driver and power switch integrity, and often cause electromagnetic interference (EMI) issues because of their high dv/dt and di/dt nature. The common mode

(CM) noise of SMPS, which propagates in phase through both the power lines and returns from the ground, is mainly associated with high dv/dt nodes in the circuit and the parasitic capacitance between these nodes and ground. The CM noise characteristic of the converter is therefore determined by the voltage spectrum characteristics of the voltage pulsating nodes in the circuit [18]. The ringing is known to cause broadband EMI problems, the frequency of which is centered at the ringing frequency [19]-[20].

In [21] the analysis of the commutation resonance includes L_r , the parasitic capacitance and leakage of the transformer, the parasitic capacitance of the rectifier, and the capacitor of a snubber in a fifth-order model. This implies that the voltage ringing across the rectifiers should be a waveform including more than one frequency component. However, aside from the limited effectivity and applicability of the proposed method, the fact that only a small amount of the resonance could be cancelled probes the minor contribution of the other frequency components.

The traditional RC dampening snubber is not frequently used because of its large losses. Alternatively, an RCD snubber circuit limits the peak voltage of the resonance and its dampening with acceptable losses [22]-[23]. However, the design of the RCD network is not straightforward and requires a tradeoff between effectivity and power losses (11).



Fig. 3. Simplified equivalent circuit of the converter during the commutation of Q₆ and Q₇.

$$E_{RCD} \propto \left(V_{F,pk} - \frac{V_{in}}{n} \right) Q_{oss}$$
(11)

A comparison of considered "lossless" snubber circuits is presented in [12] and [24]. These circuits recover part of the clamped oscillation energy and consist entirely of a combination of passive components: diodes and capacitors. However, they are difficult to optimize for wide range converters: the resulting peak voltage overshoot depends on the effective duty of the converter. The best result is obtained with a combination of a diode and extra windings on the secondary side of the transformer, which complicates the manufacture of the magnetics and the layout of the board. The same working principle is applied with less complexity in [25] where the clamping diodes are placed on the primary side winding of the transformer.

An active clamp circuit on the secondary side consisting of an additional switch and a capacitor was proposed in [26]-[27]. While the solution seems promising, it has the added complexity of controlling an extra active switch in the converter. Furthermore, the related additional losses cannot be neglected: conduction and switching losses of the switch, and charge-discharge loss of the snubber capacitor. Another alternative snubber configuration is proposed in [28] where the additional switch is placed in the main path of the current at the output. However, the placement is not practical for converters with low voltage and high current outputs.

In [29]-[30] a regenerative Flyback converter replaces the resistor in an RCD snubber circuit thus recovering part of the energy. Additionally, this Flyback provides isolation and enables soft-start capability of the proposed bidirectional converter in [29]. The active regenerative snubber concept can be extended to other isolated or non-isolated topologies. In [31] a non-isolated buck converter feeds the clamped oscillation energy to the output of the converter. However, the conclusion in [30] is that the extra complexity does not justify the efficiency improvement considering that the traditional RCD snubber demonstrates to be far more effective reducing the voltage overshoot.

B. DCM OVERSHOOT

Under certain load conditions the average output current of the converter becomes lower or equal than half of the current ripple through L_0 , which can be calculated with (12), where F_{sw} represents the switching frequency of the converter. In this scenario there are three main alternatives for the operation of the converter [17]:

- The output filter works naturally in DCM. This is the case of converters with passive rectification devices, like diodes, or not enabled active devices taking advantage of their intrinsic body diode.
- The output filter works in DCM but the SRs are enabled and driven in a similar manner to ideal diodes. This mode increases the efficiency of the converter, at least along certain load range where the additional driving losses are compensated by the reduction in forward voltage drop (Fig. 4).

• The output filter is forced to work in continuous conduction mode (CCM) when the active rectification devices are driven maintaining the same standard CCM modulation scheme along all load range.

$$\Delta I_{\text{Lo,CCM}} = V_{\text{o}} \frac{(1 - D_{\text{eff}})}{2F_{\text{sw}}L_{\text{o}}}$$
(12)

A potential problem arises when the converter operates in any of the above mentioned DCM modes and L_o resonates back together with the output capacitance of the rectification devices. The maximum induced peak voltage of this resonance can be as high as twice the output voltage of the converter.

At the start of the resonance both the energy in L_o and the output capacitance of the rectifiers is zero (13). When the output capacitance of the rectifiers has been charged up to V_o , equal energy has been stored in L_o and the capacitors (14)-(15). Subsequently all the energy in L_o flows into the output capacitance of the devices (16).

$$E(t_0) = E_{Lo}(t_0) + E_{Csr,total}(t_0) = 0$$
(13)

$$\omega_2 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{4C_{oss}L_o}}$$
, $t_1 = \frac{\pi}{2\omega_2}$, $t_2 = \frac{\pi}{\omega_2}$ (14)

$$E(t_1) = E_{Lo}(t_1) + E_{Csr,total}(t_1) = \frac{1}{2}L_0I_{Lo}^2 + \frac{1}{2}2Q_{oss}V_0$$
(15)

$$E(t_2) = E_{Lo(t_2)} + E_{Csr,total}(t_2) = 0 + 2Q_{oss}V_o$$
(16)

In a full bridge rectification stage configuration the peak voltage of the above mentioned DCM overshoot is blocked by two stacked devices and it is likely to be distributed near equally between them (considering all devices have near equal output capacitance) (17). For the center tapped or current doubler configurations the devices are anyhow dimensioned to block at least two times the transformer reflected voltage [5]. It follows that, in any of those scenarios the induced DCM resonance peak voltage is well under the blocking voltage limits for the secondary side devices already considered in normal working conditions.

$$\begin{cases} V_{\rm F}(t) = 2V_{\rm o} \left(1 - \cos(t\omega_2)\right) \\ V_{\rm E}(t) = V_{\rm D}(t) = V_{\rm o} \left(1 - \cos(t\omega_2)\right) \end{cases}, V_{\rm CB} = 0 \tag{17}$$

However, in the special case where the commutation of the rectification devices occurs in the middle of a DCM resonance, the voltage already stored in their C_{oss} effectively stacks on top of the transformer secondary reflected voltage, now likely exceeding the nominal blocking voltage limits (18). Additionally, the previously described commutation overshoot will also appear in a cumulative manner to this mechanism.



Fig. 4. Comparison of losses between the alternative operation modes of the SRs at light load. The estimated values account for the driving, switching and conduction losses of the SRs of the converter prototype in section IV.

$$\begin{cases} V_{\rm E}(t) = V_{\rm o} \left(1 - \cos(t\omega_2)\right) + \frac{V_{\rm in}}{n} \\ V_{\rm D}(t) = V_{\rm o} \left(1 - \cos(t\omega_2)\right) \end{cases}, V_{\rm CB} = V_{\rm in}$$
(18)

C. FORCED CCM OVERSHOOT

If the converter works in forced CCM but the active rectifiers happens to turn-off while the current through L_o is flowing back against their intrinsic body diodes, the current path becomes blocked and the energy stored in L_o instead charges up the output capacitance of the devices (Fig. 5). Like in the previously described DCM overshoot scenario, the mechanism of these phenomena is a resonance between L_o and the output capacitance of the SRs. However, since in forced CCM the current through L_o becomes more negative than during DCM operation, there would be more energy stored at the start of the resonance (19). The induced drain voltage overshoot easily becomes large enough to reach the drain voltage breakdown limit of the rectification devices (20)-(21).

$$E_{Lo}(t_0) = \frac{1}{2} L_0 I_{Lo}^2(t_0) \gg 0 \quad , \quad E_{Csr,total}(t_0) = 0$$
⁽¹⁹⁾

$$E(t_2) = E_{Lo}(t_2) + E_{Csr,total}(t_2) = 0 + E_{Lo}(t_0)$$
(20)

$$\begin{cases} V_{F}(t) = \frac{L_{o} l_{Lo}^{2}(t_{0})}{4Q_{oss}} \left(1 - \cos(t\omega_{2})\right) + \frac{V_{in}}{n} , V_{CB} = V_{in} \\ V_{F}(t) = \frac{L_{o} l_{Lo}^{2}(t_{0})}{4Q_{oss}} \left(1 - \cos(t\omega_{2})\right) , V_{CB} = 0 \end{cases}$$

$$(21)$$

To avoid this problem it is required that the SRs always turn-off while the current through L_0 is positive (flowing towards the output of the converter), zero or nearly zero. The controller has to ensure that the transition from CCM to DCM operation happens before the output inductor current changes polarity or to ensure a proper turn-off sequence when the converter operates in forced CCM.



Fig. 5. Forced CCM. Induced drain voltage overshoot when the SRs are turned-off while iL_o is lower than zero.

III. OVERSHOOT REDUCTION TECHNIQUES

A. COMMUTATION OVERSHOOT REDUCTION

The use of an external resonant inductance (L_r) in the primary side of PSFB, while increasing the component count, helps achieving ZVS in light to medium load conditions and thus increases the overall efficiency of the converter. Although it is possible to increase the leakage of the transformer for the same purpose, using an external resonant inductance on the primary side of the converter and placing clamping diodes between the transformer and L_r helps to reduce the secondary side rectifiers overshoot as well as reducing their switching/commutation related losses [25], [32]. The solution, previously reported in the literature, is analyzed in detail in this section.

It has been mathematically demonstrated in [33]-[34] that charging a capacitor inevitably causes energy losses. When charged through a resistive path the resistor dissipates energy equal to the one eventually stored (22)-(24). The analysis shows that a capacitor can be charged with only a modest energy loss in a series RLC circuit only if the source is disconnected after one half of a resonance cycle. Otherwise the remaining energy is dissipated during the dampening of the resonance and the energy loss becomes also equal to the stored. Their analysis is consistent with the formula for the estimation of switching losses in SRs in [35].

$$E_{\text{sourced}} = E_{\text{stored}} + E_{\text{loss}} = (2Q_{\text{oss}} + 2Q_{\text{rr}})\frac{V_{\text{in}}}{n}$$
(22)

$$E_{\text{loss},1} = (Q_{\text{oss}} + 2Q_{\text{rr}})\frac{v_{\text{in}}}{n} , \quad E_{\text{stored}} = Q_{\text{oss}}\frac{v_{\text{in}}}{n}$$
(23)

$$P_{sw} = 2F_{sw}(Q_{oss} + 2Q_{rr})V_F$$
(24)

During the charge of Q_{rr} and Q_{oss} in the secondary side rectification devices an equal energy is stored in the inductances along the charging path (L_r , L_{lkg} , L_{stray}). It follows that the bigger L_r is in relation to the other inductances (L_{lkg} and L_{stray}) the more energy it stores comparatively. Due to the action of the primary side clamping diodes, the energy in L_r is actually recirculated on the primary side of the converter and does not contribute to the secondary side commutation resonance.



Additionally, an increase in the overall inductance along the charging path decreases the transformer and secondary side devices di/dt during the commutation, which is known to reduce Q_{rr} related losses in diodes [35]-[36].

Both of these mechanisms contribute to the reduction of Q_{oss} and Q_{rr} related losses in the SRs (25)-(26) as well as to the reduction of the commutation drain voltage overshoot, which can be estimated by (27)-(28), where $iL_{r,com}$ and $iL_{lkg,com}$ represents the current passing through the inductances at their peak during the first cycle of the resonance. The conduction loss of the clamping diodes E_{clmp} can be estimated from their average current, which is analyzed in the next section.

$$E(t_1) = \left(\frac{iL_{r,com}^2}{2}L_r + \frac{iL_{lkg,com}^2}{2}L_{lkg}\right) = (Q_{oss} + Q_{rr})\frac{V_{in}}{n} , t_1 = \frac{\pi}{2\omega_1}$$
(25)

$$E_{loss,2} = \frac{V_{in}}{n} \left(Q_{oss} \frac{L_{lkg}}{L_r} + Q_{rr} \left(1 + \frac{L_{lkg}}{L_r} \right) \right) + E_{clmp}$$
(26)

$$\omega_3 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2C_{\text{oss,srL}_{lkg}}}}$$
(27)

$$W_{\rm F}(t) = \frac{iL_{\rm lkg,com}^2 L_{\rm lkg}}{2Q_{\rm oss}} (1 - \cos(t\omega_3))$$
(28)

Fig. 6 and Fig. 7 compare the waveforms and the drain voltage spectrum of the secondary side rectifiers for two converters with the same total value of inductances in the commutation path (L_r plus L_{lkg}). Both converters are operating in the same conditions, however, the converter in Fig. 7 uses clamping diodes in the primary side and has maximized its ratio of L_r to L_{lkg} .





B. DCM OVERSHOOT SUPPRESSION

The output filter of the converter could be dimensioned in a way to ensure CCM or DCM in the boundary to CCM operation in all working conditions. This is however impractical in high efficiency converters, as it is difficult to design an efficient high value of inductance [2]. In this work we propose a solution to the induced DCM overshoot consisting of a novel modulation scheme, which does not constrain the converter design or its performance in any manner.

The key strategy is to use active rectification to overcome the DCM overshoot problem (Fig. 8). Switching on the devices prior or during the buildup time of the transformer secondary reflected voltage allows the output

capacitance of the rectification devices to be discharged out from the DCM resonance energy (Fig. 9). The discharge of the precharged voltage limits the overshoot to that of a normal commutation, as in any other operating condition of the converter.

With the proposed modulation scheme the secondary side devices become hard switched. However, the switched voltage depends on the turn-on instant during the resonance, which maximum amplitude was demonstrated to be V_0 . This makes it difficult to estimate the related losses in a real application. The worst possible scenario can be estimated by (29).





Fig. 8. Secondary side DCM overshoot where commutation occurs at the peak of L_0 and C_{oss} resonance.

Fig. 9. Secondary side DCM overshoot where commutation occurs at the peak of L_o and C_{oss} resonance with the proposed modulation scheme applied.

IV. DCM PROPOSED MODULATION SCHEME

A. DCM MODULATION ANALYSIS

Fig. 10 shows the main driving signals and waveforms of a standard modulation scheme for PSFB in Tr-lead configuration [32] with external resonant inductance and clamping diodes in the primary side, as exemplified in Fig. 1. In Fig. 10, the converter operates at a load point where the output filter is working in CCM and where the secondary side SRs are enabled and driven with a standard CCM modulation. The so-called freewheeling time [t₃, t₅] is relatively long as it is the case for most practical designs with a wide input and/or output voltage range. Currents through L_r (i L_r) and through the transformer T_r (i T_r) differ due to the action of the clamping diodes D₉ and D₁₀ diverting the L_r current after charging the secondary side rectifiers Q_{oss} and Q_{rr} at the start and at the end of a power transfer ([t₁], [t₃], [t₇] and [t₁₀]).

Fig. 11 shows the main driving signals and waveforms of the proposed modulation scheme for the same converter in Fig. 1 while the output filter operates in DCM. In the example of Fig. 11 there is a single resonance period between the SR capacitance and L_0 . In this scenario the stored voltage in C_{oss} is at its minimum value at the start of a new power transfer, which is the best possible case. However, the point within the resonance where the converter commutates varies depending on many factors (converter load, duty cycle, frequency of DCM resonance, etc.) that cannot be easily estimated or ensured by the controller. The novel solution we propose here is independent of the commutation point within the resonance, does not require additional measurements by the controller and can be tuned based on design parameters.

In the following we analyze the operation principle of the proposed novel DCM operation of the PSFB. Before the analysis some assumptions are made: 1) all diodes and switches are ideal; 2) all switches are MOSFETs with intrinsic anti-parallel body diode; 3) all capacitors and inductors are ideal; 4) $C_1=C_2=C_3=C_4$, $C_5=C_6=C_7=C_8$.



1) Mode 1 [t2, t3] [Fig. 12(a)] - Deff

During this stage the power is being transferred from the primary to the secondary. A single secondary side rectification branch conducts while the complementary branch blocks the reflected voltage of the transformer.

The current through the external resonant inductance iL_r rises above the reflected primary side current of the transformer i_{Tr} due to the charge of the rectifier's Q_{oss} and Q_{rr} at the start of the power transfer (30)-(34). Thanks to the primary side clamping diodes, the additional energy stored in L_r is diverted and freewheels through Q_2 and D_{10} (35).

$$iL_r(t) = iL_r(t_2) + iL_{r,comm}, t_2 < t < t_3$$
 (30)

$$iL_{r,comm} = \sqrt{\frac{2V_{in}}{n(L_r + L_{lkg})}(Q_{rr} + Q_{oss})}$$
(31)

$$\begin{cases} iL_{r}(t_{2}) = \frac{iL_{0,avg} - \frac{\Delta iL_{0}}{2}}{n} - \frac{D_{eff}V_{in}}{L_{m}2F_{sw}} , CCM \\ iL_{r}(t_{2}) = iL_{m}(t_{2}) = - \frac{D_{eff}V_{in}}{L_{m}2F_{sw}} , DCM \end{cases}$$
(32)

$$iL_{Tr}(t) = \frac{iL_{0}(t)}{n} + \frac{iL_{r,comm}L_{lkg}}{(L_{r}+L_{lkg})}(1 - \cos(t\omega_{3})) + iL_{m}(t), t_{2} < t < t_{3}$$
(33)

$$\begin{cases} iL_{o}(t) = iL_{o}(t_{2}) + \frac{\left(\frac{V_{in}}{n} - V_{o}\right)}{L_{o}}t , \ CCM \\ iL_{o}(t) = \frac{\left(\frac{V_{in}}{n} - V_{o}\right)}{L_{o}}t , \ DCM \end{cases}$$
(34)

$$iD_{10}(t) = iL_{r}(t) - iL_{Tr}(t), t_{2} < t < t_{3}$$
(35)

2) Mode 2 [t3, t4] [Fig. 12(b)] - Deff

At t_3 the current through the external resonant inductance (iL_r) and through the primary side of transformer (iT_r) becomes equal and D₁₀ stops conducting (36). The voltage at the node C (V_C) is no longer clamped to one of the primary side supply rails, as could be appreciated by the secondary reflected voltage oscillations (V_F). Notice, however, that D₁₀ does not necessarily stop conducting during the interval [t₂, t₄], it depends on the converter duty, peak value of iL_r and the slopes of iL_r and iT_r [25].

$$iL_r(t) = iL_{Tr}(t) = \frac{iL_o(t)}{n} + iL_m(t), \ t_3 < t < t_4$$
(36)

The current through the output inductor (L_o) keeps rising, as so does the reflected primary current through the transformer. The external resonance inductor current iL_r equals that of the transformer and rises as well: L_r and

the reflected output filter impedance effectively form a voltage divider, but since the reflected output impedance is much larger than L_r , as exemplified in (37)-(38), this effect can be normally neglected, especially in step down converters.

$$L_{0\prime\prime} = L_0 n^2 \tag{37}$$

$$N_{P} > N_{S} \xrightarrow{\text{yields}} L_{o''} \gg L_{r} \xrightarrow{\text{yields}} V_{in} = V_{BC} + V_{CA} \approx V_{BC}$$
(38)

3) Mode 3 [t4, t6] [Fig. 12(c), Fig. 12(f)] - Dfreewheel

 Q_3 turns-off at t₄ forcing the current flowing through L_r and L_o to discharge C₄ and to charge C₃. Since V_{AB} decreases towards zero, so does the reflected transformer voltage V_{DE} forcing as well the discharge of Q₆ and Q₇ output capacitances (C₆ and C₇) on the secondary side. The discharging of C₆ and C₇ distributes iL_o between the secondary side rectification branches, not necessarily and, normally, not equally. Because part of iL_o does not pass through the secondary side of the transformer after this redistribution, the primary reflected iT_r decreases proportionally (39)-(40). However, iL_r remains nearly constant due to the action of D₁₀ (41)-(42).

$$iL_{Tr}(t) = iL_{Tr}(t_4) - iL_{lkg,OFF}$$
, $t_4 < t < t_6$ (39)

$$iL_{lkg,OFF} = \sqrt{\frac{V_{in}}{nL_{lkg}}} 2Q_{oss}$$
(40)

$$iL_r(t) \approx iL_r(t_4), t_4 < t < t_6$$
 (41)

$$iD_{10}(t) = iL_r(t) - iL_{Tr}(t), t_2 < t < t_3$$
(42)

At some point during this interval C_4 is fully discharged and C_3 fully charged. The intrinsic body diode of Q_4 becomes then forward biased and carries all iT_r. Notice that the intrinsic body diode of Q_4 does not necessarily conduct before t₅, especially at light load conditions where the available energy for the transition is low, and most likely the case in Fig. 11 scenario where the output filter works in DCM. At t₅ Q_4 turns-on and the channel of the device carries all the current iT_r.

On the secondary side C_6 and C_7 have become equally discharged and the intrinsic body diode of all the rectifier transistors conduct part of the output current, effectively shorting the transformer.

During this stage, the so-called freewheeling, the primary current recirculates through the two lower HV bridge devices (the two upper in the alternate polarity sequence) without actually transferring energy to the output of the converter. The secondary side devices continue sharing the output current (43)-(44), although most of it flows through D_5 and D_8 .

$$iL_{o}(t) = iL_{o}(t_{4}) - \frac{\left(\frac{V_{in}}{n} - V_{o}\right)}{L_{o}}t, \ t_{4} < t < t_{6}$$
(43)

$$iL_{o}(t_{4}) = iL_{o,pk} \tag{44}$$

In Fig. 11 Q_5 and Q_8 turn-off at the start of the freewheeling stage. This simple approach, despite not being optimum in terms of efficiency, does not require the estimation or measurement of iL_o zero crossing and prevents the above mentioned forced CCM overshoot. Some other common alternative modulation schemes include [17]:

- Delaying the turn-off of the SRs after the end of a power transfer by an estimated falling time of L_o current to zero.
- Sensing the current through L_o or through the SRs by the controller that turns-off at zero crossing, perfectly
 mimicking the behavior of an ideal diode.

Near t_6 , iL_0 crosses zero and starts to flow back charging up all the secondary rectifiers output capacitance. Since the devices output capacitances are equal, charge and voltage will be equally distributed among all of them.

4) Mode 4 [t6, t7] [Fig. 12(g), Fig. 12(i)] - Dloss

 Q_2 turns-off at t₆ and the current flowing through L_r plus L_{lkg} charges C₂ and discharges C₁.

The resonance between L_o and the output capacitance of the SRs continues as could be observed in the V_F waveform in Fig. 11. The frequency of the oscillation depends on the value of those two components (45), relatively slow in comparison to the commutation overshoot phenomena. Due to this low frequency, the dampening effects of the circuit impedances are less noticeable.

$$iL_{o}(t) = \sqrt{\frac{4Q_{oss}V_{o}}{L_{o}}} (1 - \cos(t\omega_{2})), \ t_{6} < t < t_{7}$$
(45)

At certain point during this mode C_2 could become fully charged and C_1 fully discharged. If this occurs, the intrinsic body diode of Q_1 starts conducting the current through the external resonant inductor iL_r . Near $t_7 Q_1$ is

turned-on, ideally in ZVS conditions if there was enough energy stored in L_r prior to the transition. i L_r reverses polarity (46)-(48) and, since there is near zero reflected current, right after crossing the magnetizing current, the voltage starts to build up on the primary side of the transformer and, at the same time, on its secondary side.

$$iL_r(t) \approx iL_r(t_4) - \frac{V_{in}}{(L_r + L_{lkg})}t$$
, $t_6 < t < t_7$ (46)

$$iL_{Tr}(t) = iL_r(t)$$
, $t_x < t < t_7$ with $t_6 < t_x$ (47)

$$iD_{10}(t) = 0$$
 , $t_x < t$ (48)

$$T_{\rm rise} = \pi \sqrt{\left(L_{\rm r} + L_{\rm lkg}\right) 2C_{\rm oss}} \tag{49}$$

In Fig. 12(i), before the proposed solution is applied, the secondary side voltage builds up on top of the already precharged capacitances C_5 and C_8 (Fig. 8). However, in Fig. 12(i'), with the proposed modulation scheme, around t₇, while the voltage of transformer builds up, the secondary side rectifying branch about to conduct is turned-on (Fig. 9). In this scenario Q_6 and Q_7 are hard switched and the energy of their output capacitances C_6 and C_7 is dissipated within these two devices. Subsequently V_F equals to the rising reflected voltage of the transformer V_{DE} .

It is crucial for the effectivity of the solution that the switching on point of Q_6 and Q_7 falls within the building up time of the reflected voltage. The time constant of the rising time depends on L_r , leakage of transformer, stray inductances and output capacitance of the secondary side rectifying devices. The rising time can be estimated by (49) where C_{oss} accounts for C_5 and C_8 .





5) Mode 5 [t7, t10] [Fig. 12(j)] - Deff

At some point after t_7 the output capacitances C_5 and C_8 are fully charged up to the nominal blocking voltage, and Q_6 and Q_7 conduct all the secondary side current in a new power transfer stage. Afterwards all the detailed sequence repeats but in the alternate polarity. On the primary side, like in mode 1, the difference between currents through L_r and the transformer flows through one of the clamping diodes: D_9 .

B. INFLUENCE OF TIMING

Fig. 13 shows the effect of turning-on the SRs too early while operating the converter in DCM: before the transformer voltage starts building up. The current through Lo grows negative (flowing against the rectifiers) prior to the start of a power transfer. Once the power transfer starts, the additional stored energy induces an overshoot potentially higher than the original scenario in Fig. 8, as more energy could have been unintentionally stored in L_0 .

A late activation of the SR devices does not help either in the reduction of the maximum peak voltage of the drain overshoot. Fig. 13 also shows the effect of turning-on short after that the transformer secondary reflected voltage has built up while the output filter works in DCM. The low frequency oscillation is clamped, but only after the prior high drain voltage overshoot.

The turn-on instant for the SR ($t_{sr,on}$) can be referenced to the turn-off instant of the primary side lagging leg ($t_{lagg,off}$) (50). The start of the voltage build up (T_{rise}) is delayed by the time it takes i L_r to reverse polarity, which can be calculated by (51)-(54). After this delay $T_{dly,on}$ the SR turn-on instant should happen within the T_{rise} interval for an effective clamping of the DCM overshoot (Fig. 14). The minimum turn-on time $t_{sr,on,min}$ and the maximum turn-on time $t_{sr,on,max}$ for an effective reduction of the overshoot can be derived from the previous equations and calculated by (55)-(56).

$$\left(t_{\text{lagg,off}} + T_{\text{dly,on}}\right) < t_{\text{sr,on}} < \left(t_{\text{lagg,off}} + T_{\text{dly,on}} + T_{\text{rise}}\right)$$
(50)

$$T_{dly,on} = \frac{\left(iL_r(t_{lagg,off}) - iL_m(t_{lagg,off})\right)(L_r + L_{lkg})}{V_{in}}$$
(51)

$$iL_r(t_{\text{lagg,off}}) \approx \frac{iL_{o,pk}}{n} + iL_{m,pk}$$
 (52)

$$iL_m(t_{\text{lagg,off}}) = iL_{m,pk} = \frac{V_{\text{in}}}{L_m} \frac{iL_{0,pk}L_0}{(V_{\text{in}} - V_0)}$$
(53)

$$iL_{o,pk} = \sqrt{\frac{iL_{o,avg}V_o(V_{in} - V_o)}{F_{sw}V_{in}L_o}}$$
(54)

$$t_{sr,on,min} = t_{lagg,off} + \sqrt{\frac{iL_{o,avg}V_o(V_{in} - V_o)}{F_{sw}V_{in}L_o}} \frac{(L_r + L_{lkg})}{V_{in}n}$$
(55)

$$t_{sr,on,max} = t_{lagg,off} + \sqrt{\frac{iL_{o,avg}V_o(V_{in} - V_o)}{F_{sw}V_{in}L_o}} \frac{(L_r + L_{lkg})}{V_{in}n} + \pi \sqrt{(L_r + L_{lkg})2C_{oss}}$$
(56)

Fig. 15 shows a proposal for the implementation of $T_{sr,on}$ in a controller. The voltages and currents through the converter are measurements typically available. Although, depending on the application, they can be considered constant ($V_{in,nominal}$, $V_{o,nominal}$) or estimated out from other of the measurements ($iL_{o,avg} \approx |iT_{r,avg}|n$). The rest of parameters, including converter inductances and turns ratio can be programmed as constants. The impact on the proposed implementation of the tolerances in the values of the converter's inductances and capacitances can be estimated with (55)-(56).



Fig. 13. Secondary side DCM overshoot with the proposed modulation scheme. SR has been turned-on too early for the pulse in the left side. SR has been turned-on too late for the pulse in the right side.

Fig. 14. Secondary side DCM overshoot with the proposed modulation scheme. SR has been turned-on right at the start of the rising time $T_{\rm rise}.$



Fig. 15. Simplified control blocks for a possible implementations of T_{sr.on} calculation in a PSFB controller.

V. EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS

A 3300 W PSFB DC/DC converter (Fig. 16) was designed with the specifications given in Table II and built to test the proposed solutions and guidelines presented in this work. Table III and Table IV summarize the main components of the converter. The control was implemented with XMCTM 4200 ARM® Cortex®-M4 microcontroller from Infineon Technologies AG.



Fig. 16 Prototype of the 3300 W PSFB converter.

The output filter inductor L_o was designed for an optimal overall efficiency of the converter at 50 % load point while fulfilling space constraints, high power density and maintaining the output voltage ripple within specifications. Fig. 17 shows a summary of the estimation of losses for the output inductor within the load range of the

converter. Table V is a summary of the estimation of losses for the main components of the converter. The distribution was estimated out of the measured efficiency of the real converter, thermographic captures, data from components manufacturer, finite element analysis (FEM), and circuit and numeric simulations.

TABLE II			
KEY PARAMETERS OF	FPROTOTYPE		
Parameter	Value	_	
Nominal input voltage	400 V		
Input voltage range	360 V - 410 V		
Nominal output voltage	54.5 V		
Output voltage range	43 V - 60 V		
Maximum output power	3300 W		
Maximum output current	85 A		
Switching frequency	100 kHz		
Height of the converter	1 U (44.4 mm)		
Transformer turns ratio (Np : Ns)	21:4		
Magnetizing inductance (Lm)	750 µH		
Resonant inductance (Lr)	11 µH		
Output choke inductance (Lo)	9.8 µH		

TABLE III

SI MOSFETS AND DIODES						
	IPL60R075CFD7 BSC093N15NS5 IDP08E65D1					
V_{ds}	600 V	150 V	650 V			
R _{DS,on,max}	75 mΩ @ 25 °C	9.3 mΩ @ 25 °C				
C _{oss(er)}	96 pF	604 pF				
$V_{\rm f}$	1 V	0.88 V	1.35 V			
Qn	570 nC	58 nC	200 nC			
Q_{g}	67 nC	33 nC				
Count	8 devices	16 devices	2 devices			

Observe in Fig. 17 that the current ripple through the output inductor changes with the load due to the influence of the DC bias on the permeability of the material. The transition between CCM and DCM occurs at the point where the two lines $\Delta i L_o$ and $i L_o$ cross each other, around a load of 8 A. The DCM threshold is relatively high, about 13 % of the load, because of the small value of the output inductance. Nevertheless, the controller of the prototype was adjusted to change between operating modes at 12 A (18 %) of load to ensure safe operation in all conditions (e.g. load jumps) and avoid risk of forced CCM overshoot. Thereafter DCM overshoot is likely to occur and had to be prevented by the proposed modulation scheme.

TABLE IV					
MAGNETIC CORE SELECTION					
Core Material Manufacturer Turns					
Transformer	PQI 35/28	DMR95	DMEGC	21:4	
L _r	PQI 35/28	DMR95	DMEGC	6	
Lo	Toroid	HP 60 μ	Chang Sung	9	

TABLE V 3300 W PSFB losses breakdown				
Loss contribution	100% power	50% power	20% power	
Auxiliary circuitry	1.02 W	1.02 W	1.02 W	
Fan	4.91 W	0.64 W	0.64 W	
Transformer	30.17 W	10.95 W	5.45 W	
Lr	2.98 W	1.00 W	0.26 W	
Lo	5.47 W	2.01 W	1.08 W	
Primary bridge	19.65 W	5.91 W	2.77 W	
Secondary switching	7.30 W	6.38 W	5.81 W	
Secondary conduction	11.32 W	2.53 W	0.42 W	
Secondary driving	0.84 W	0.84 W	0.84 W	
Clamping diodes	1.89 W	2.32 W	2.52 W	
Capacitors	0.41 W	0.37 W	0.36 W	
PCB conduction	7.60 W	1.92 W	0.32 W	



Fig. 17. Output inductor distribution of losses of the 3300 W PSFB prototype.

A. WAVEFORMS

1) Commutation overshoot

Since L_{lkg} and L_{stray} in the prototype are relatively small inductances, the commutation overshoot has high resonant frequency, low energy and dampens quickly. Fig. 18 shows a capture of the SR drain voltage overshoot at full load. Observe that the peak voltage is well below the rated limit for the 150 V of the secondary side devices in this design (limit would be 120 V at a standard 80 % rating). Devices with a maximum 120 V blocking voltage would be preferred on the secondary side since the improved Q_{oss} and Q_{rr} characteristics for the same $R_{ds,on}$ would further reduce commutation overshoot and losses [16] and would be still within their rated limits (96 V at a 80% rating). However, at the time of this work there were no available devices within that voltage class that could be used.

Besides, a weak snubber could be added to further reduce the peak voltage and/or improve the dampening of the commutation resonance without much of an impact on the losses.

2) DCM overshoot

In Fig. 19, during a load jump, the output filter of the converter goes into DCM during a few switching cycles whereas the controller did not apply the proposed DCM modulation scheme. It is worth to mention the difference between the drain voltage overshoot of the first three pulses compared to the last one: of lower frequency and higher energy, as caused by the resonance between Lo and the output capacitance of the SRs with L_0 much larger than the leakage inductance of the transformer or other stray inductances in the commutation path.

Fig. 20 shows a deeper level of DCM operation of the output filter at very light load condition (no load startup). A full resonance period is followed by the worst possible DCM overshoot scenario where a power transfer starts at the peak of charge of the output capacitances. It can be observed how the precharged energy stacks on top of the transformer reflected voltage.

Fig. 21 shows a similar scenario to those in Fig. 19 and Fig. 20, but this time applying the proposed DCM modulation scheme. DCM resonance is visible before the transformer secondary side reflected voltage builds up, however, the drain voltage overshoot resembles that of Fig. 18 and it is much lower than the one in Fig. 19 and Fig. 20. These results confirm the analysis in section III.



Fig. 18. SR overshoot at full load.





Fig. 20. SR drain voltage DCM overshoot at no load conditions without the proposed modulation scheme.

3) Influence of timing

Fig. 22 shows the effect of turning-on the SRs too early, before the transformer voltage starts building up, while operating the converter in DCM.

Fig. 23 shows the effect of turning-on short after that the transformer secondary reflected voltage has built up, while the output filter works in DCM. The low frequency oscillation is clamped, but only after the prior high drain voltage overshoot.

The results in Fig. 22 and Fig. 23 corroborate the analysis in section IV. B. The estimated T_{rise} for the prototype is approximately 740 ns, which can also be observed in Fig. 22.

Table VI is a summary of the experimental results in this section. Whereas the 150 V class falls within the 80 % rating criteria in all the cases, the 120 V class is only enabled by the proposed novel DCM modulation scheme.





Fig. 21. SR drain voltage DCM overshoot in a load jump with the proposed modulation scheme.

Fig. 22. SR drain voltage DCM overshoot when the devices turn-on too early.



Fig. 23. SR drain voltage DCM overshoot when the device is activated too late.

TABLE VI				
OVERSHOOT COMPARISON SUMMARY				
	Overshoot	% of 150 V	% of 120 V	
CCM	83.42 V	55.61 %	69.52 %	
DCM State of Art	104.4 V	69.6 %	87 %	
DCM Proposed Late	110.6 V	73.73 %	92.16 %	
DCM Proposed Early	104.3 V	69.53 %	89.92 %	
DCM Proposed	90 V	60 %	75 %	

B. EFFICIENCY

The efficiency of the 3300 W PSFB prototype was measured at nominal input and output voltages along all the load range and plotted in Fig. 24. The experimental results are plotted together with simulated efficiencies for the 150 V devices and the 100 V devices of similar $R_{ds,on}$. The improved FoM of the 100 V technology has a noticeable impact along all the load range of the converter.



Fig. 24. Overall efficiency of the 3300 W PSFB converter. Auxiliary bias and fan were included in the measurements. Experimental and simulated results for the 150 V devices. Simulated results for the 100 V devices.

VI. CONCLUSION

One of the main disadvantages of the PSFB topology in comparison to other resonant topologies is the higher blocking voltage required for the SRs. This is especially detrimental in wide range operation converters and further aggravated by the SRs drain voltage overshoot. Unlike other resonant topologies, the inductor at the output of the PSFB effectively decouples the capacitor bank from the rectification stage, which otherwise becomes a strong lossless snubber.

Traditionally the main criterion for the selection of the external resonant inductance has been the available energy for the ZVS of the HV primary side devices and the loss of duty cycle at full load. However, the analysis

in this work demonstrates that, from the point of view of the overall performance of the system, the impact on the secondary side drain voltage overshoot and the reduction of the secondary side switching losses has to be taken into account for the dimensioning of the transformer's turns ratio n and the external inductance L_r .

In this work the main causes for the secondary side rectifiers drain voltage overshoot in PWM converters, specifically in PSFB converters, have been analyzed. Design guidelines and solutions for each of the scenarios, including a novel modulation scheme for the operation of PSFB with the output filter operating in DCM have been proposed. The proposed solution is based on an active rectification scheme switching on the devices prior or during the buildup time of the transformer secondary reflected voltage.

The proposed strategies enable the design of DCDC PSFB converters targeting high efficiency without penalties in reliability, complexity or cost. Lower blocking voltage requirements for the rectification devices improve their Figure of Merit, potentially reducing their related losses and increasing the overall efficiency of the converter.

A high efficiency DCDC PSFB converter prototype of 3300 W was designed and built to demonstrate the feasibility of the proposed solutions. The drain voltage overshoot has been proven to remain well within standard rated limits in all working conditions of the converter. The prototype achieved a peak efficiency of 98.12 % at nominal input and output voltages and 50 % of load. Overall, this work demonstrates that the PSFB can be a competitive alternative when building highly efficient and cost-competitive DC/DC converters.

REFERENCES

- C. Fei, R. Gadelrab, Q. Li and F. C. Lee, "High-Frequency Three-Phase Interleaved LLC Resonant Converter with GaN Devices and Integrated Planar Magnetics," in *IEEE Journal of Emerging and Selected Topics in Power Electronics*, unpublished.
- [2] F. Krismer, J. Biela and J. W. Kolar, "A comparative evaluation of isolated bi-directional DC/DC converters with wide input and output voltage range," *Fourtieth IAS Annual Meeting. Conference Record of the 2005 Industry Applications Conference, 2005.*, Kowloon, Hong Kong, 2005, pp. 599-606 Vol. 1.
- [3] G. Liu, D. Li, Y. Jang and J. Zhang, "Over 300kHz GaN device based resonant bidirectional DCDC converter with integrated magnetics," 2016 IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC), Long Beach, CA, 2016, pp. 595-600.
- [4] I. Castro et al., "Analytical Switching Loss Model for Superjunction MOSFET With Capacitive Nonlinearities and Displacement Currents for DC–DC Power Converters," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 2485-2495, March 2016
- [5] S. Zeljkovic, T. Reiter and D. Gerling, "Analysis of rectifier topologies for automotive HV to LV phase shift ZVT DC/DC converter," 2012 15th International Power Electronics and Motion Control Conference (EPE/PEMC), Novi Sad, 2012, pp. DS1b.4-1-DS1b.4-7.
- [6] Bo Yang, F. C. Lee, A. J. Zhang and Guisong Huang, "LLC resonant converter for front end DC/DC conversion," APEC. Seventeenth Annual IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (Cat. No.02CH37335), Dallas, TX, USA, 2002, pp. 1108-1112 vol.2.
- [7] S. Mao, J. Popovic, R. Ramabhadran and J. A. Ferreira, "Comparative study of half-bridge LCC and LLC resonant DC-DC converters for ultra-wide output power range applications," 2015 17th European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications (EPE'15 ECCE-Europe), Geneva, 2015, pp. 1-10.
- [8] W. Han and L. Corradini, "General Closed-Form ZVS Analysis of Dual-bridge Series Resonant dc-dc Converters," in IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, unpublished.
- [9] I. Cho, K. Cho, J. Kim and G. Moon, "A New Phase-Shifted Full-Bridge Converter With Maximum Duty Operation for Server Power System," in IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, vol. 26, no. 12, pp. 3491-3500, Dec. 2011.
- [10] R. Kathiresan, T. Parthiban, P. Das and M. Pahlevaninezhad, "Analysis of a ZVS DC-DC full-bridge converter with natural hold-up time," 2015 IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition (ECCE), Montreal, QC, 2015, pp. 1521-1527.
- [11] Q. Cao, Z. Li and H. Wang, "Wide Voltage Gain Range LLC DC/DC Topologies: State-of-the-Art," 2018 International Power Electronics Conference (IPEC-Niigata 2018 - ECCE Asia), Niigata, 2018, pp. 100-107.
- [12] U. Badstuebner, J. Biela, B. Faessler, D. Hoesli and J. W. Kolar, "An Optimized 5 kW, 147 W/in3Telecom Phase-Shift DC-DC Converter with Magnetically Integrated Current Doubler," 2009 Twenty-Fourth Annual IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition, Washington, DC, 2009, pp. 21-27.
- [13] S. Zeljkovic, T. Reiter and D. Gerling, "Analysis of rectifier topologies for automotive HV to LV phase shift ZVT DC/DC converter," 2012 15th International Power Electronics and Motion Control Conference (EPE/PEMC), Novi Sad, 2012, pp. DS1b.4-1-DS1b.4-7.
- [14] Z. Deng, "Design of reducing rating for military electronic measuring instruments reliability," Reliability Analysis and Research, vol. 12, pp. 49-51, 2004.
- [15] Xinbo Ruan, Soft-Switching PWM Full-Bridge Converters. Nanjing University of Aeronautics and Astronautics, China: Wiley, 2014, pp. 1-66, 121-147, 181-198.
- [16] R. Siemieniec, C. Mößlacher, O. Blank, M. Rösch, M. Frank and M. Hutzler, "A new power MOSFET generation designed for synchronous rectification," *Proceedings of the 2011 14th European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications*, Birmingham, 2011, pp. 1-10.
- [17] Bing Lu, "Control and Design Challenges for Synchronous Rectifiers," 2018 Texas Instruments Power Supply Design Seminar SEM23000, 2018, pp. 1-21
- [18] L. Xie, X. Ruan and Z. Ye, "Modeling of common-mode noise in phase-shift full-bridge converter," IECON 2016 42nd Annual Conference of the IEEE Industrial Electronics Society, Florence, 2016, pp. 1371-1375.
- [19] K. Kam, D. Pommerenke, A. Bhargava, B. Steinfeld, C. Lam and F. Centola, "Quantification of Self-Damping of Power MOSFET in a Synchronous Buck Converter," in *IEEE Transactions on Electromagnetic Compatibility*, vol. 53, no. 4, pp. 1091-1093, Nov. 2011.
- [20] J. Roig and F. Bauwens, "Overcoming switching limits in silicon power MOSFETs with silicon-based solutions," in IET Power Electronics, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 629-637, 10 4 2018.
- [21] G. R. Zhu, D. H. Zhang, W. Chen and F. Luo, "Modeling and analysis of a rectifier voltage stress mechanism in PSFB converter," 2012 Twenty-Seventh Annual IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC), Orlando, FL, 2012, pp. 857-862.
- [22] Song-Yi Lin and Chern-Lin Chen, "Analysis and design for RCD clamped snubber used in output rectifier of phase-shift full-bridge ZVS converters," in *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, vol. 45, no. 2, pp. 358-359, April 1998.

- [23] C. Jie, L. Diao, B. Ruan, Z. Wu and Z. Liu, "Suppression and Modeling Analysis of Auxiliary Converter Rectifying Voltage Output," 2011 International Conference on Computer Distributed Control and Intelligent Environmental Monitoring, Changsha, 2011, pp. 1840-1843.
- [24] H. Cha, L. Chen, R. Ding, Q. Tang and F. Z. Peng, "An Alternative Energy Recovery Clamp Circuit for Full-Bridge PWM Converters With Wide Ranges of Input Voltage," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 23, no. 6, pp. 2828-2837, Nov. 2008.
- [25] Qianhong Chen et al., "Phase-shifted full-bridge PWM converter with clamping diodes and current transformer," 2008 IEEE Power Electronics Specialists Conference, Rhodes, 2008, pp. 2403-2409.
- [26] Che, Yanbo, Y. Ma, S. Ge and D. Zhu, "Digital Control of Secondary Active Clamp Phase-Shifted Full-Bridge Converters," in Journal of Power Electronics, vol. 14, No. 3, pp. 421-431, May 2014.
- [27] D. Tran, H. Vu and Woojin Choi, "A novel quasi-resonant ZVZCS phase shift full bridge converter with an active clamp in the secondary," 2016 IEEE 8th International Power Electronics and Motion Control Conference (IPEMC-ECCE Asia), Hefei, 2016, pp. 492-495.
- [28] D. Tran, H. Vu, S. Yu and W. Choi, "A Novel Soft-Switching Full-Bridge Converter With a Combination of a Secondary Switch and a Nondissipative Snubber," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 33, no. 2, pp. 1440-1452, Feb. 2018.
- [29] P. S. Shiny and M. Gomathi, "Bidirectional Converter Fed DC-Drive System with fly back snubber," 2013 International Conference on Circuits, Power and Computing Technologies (ICCPCT), Nagercoil, 2013, pp. 584-588.
- [30] A. Jangwanitlert and J. C. Balda, "Phase-shifted PWM full-bridge DC-DC converters for automotive applications: reduction of ringing voltages," *Power Electronics in Transportation (IEEE Cat. No.04TH8756)*, Novi, MI, USA, 2004, pp. 111-115.
- [31] M. Cacciato and A. Consoli, "New regenerative active snubber circuit for ZVS phase shift Full Bridge converter," 2011 Twenty-Sixth Annual IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC), Fort Worth, TX, 2011, pp. 1507-1511.
- [32] Xinbo Ruan and Fuxin Liu, "An Improved ZVS PWM Full-bridge Converter with Clamping Diodes," 2004 35th Annual IEEE Power Electronics Specialists Conference (IEEE Cat. No 04CH37551), Aachen, Germany 2004, pp. 1476-1481 Vol. 2.
- [33] S. Paul, A. M. Schlaffer, and J. A. Nossek, "Optimal charging of capacitors," IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Fundamental Theory and Applications, vol. 47, no. 7, pp. 1009–1016, Jul 2000.
- [34] Y. Perrin, A. Galisultanov, H. Fanet and G. Pillonnet, "Optimal Charging of Nonlinear Capacitors," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 34, no. 6, pp. 5023-5026, June 2019.
- [35] Mößlacher C. et al: Improving Efficiency of Synchronous Rectification by Analysis of the Mosfet Power Loss Mechanism, Proc. PCIM 2009, Nürnberg, Germany
- [36] Hong Mao, J. A. Abu-Qahouq, Weihong Qiu, Yangyang Wen and I. Batarseh, "Lossless snubber circuits for current doubler rectifiers to reduce reverse-recovery losses," *IECON'03. 29th Annual Conference of the IEEE Industrial Electronics Society (IEEE Cat. No.03CH37468)*, Roanoke, VA, USA, 2003, pp. 2639-2644 Vol.3.

CHAPTER 9. THIRD PUBLICATION

A Practical Approach to the Design of a High Efficient PSFB DC-DC Converter for Server Applications

Manuel Escudero, Matteo-Alessandro Kutschak, David Meneses, Noel Rodriguez, and Diego Pedro Morales³

- MDPI Energies, Vol. 12 (19), September 2019; doi: 10.3390/en12193723
- Impact factor: 2.707
- JRC rank: (Q2)

Manuscript received September 10, 2019; accepted September 26, 2019. Date of publication September 29, 2019; date of current version September 29, 2029. (Corresponding author: Manuel Escudero.) M. Escudero, M.-A. Kutschak, and D. Meneses are with the Infineon Technologies Austria AG, Villach 9500, Austria (e-mail: Manuel.EscuderoRodriguez@infineon.com; Matteo-Alessandro.Kutschak@infineon.com; Da-vid.MenesesHerrera@infineon.com). D. P. Morales and N. Rodriguez are with the Department of Electronics and Computer Technology, University of Granada, Granada 18071, Spain (e-mail: diegopm@ugr.es; noel@ugr.es).

Abstract— The Phase Shift Full Bridge (PSFB) is a widely known isolated DCDC converter topology commonly used in medium to high power applications, and one of the best candidates for the front-end DCDC converter in server power supplies. Since the server power supplies consume an enormous amount of power, the most critical issue is to achieve high efficiency. Several organizations promoting electrical energy efficiency, like the 80PLUS, keep introducing higher efficiency certifications with growing requirements extending also to light loads. The design of a high efficiency PSFB converter is a complex problem with many degrees of freedom which requires of a sufficiently accurate modeling of the losses and of efficient design criteria. In this work a losses model of the converter is proposed as well as design guidelines for the efficiency optimization of PSFB converter. The model and the criteria are tested with the redesign of an existing reference PSFB converter of 1400 W for server applications, with wide input voltage range, nominal 400 V input and 12 V output; achieving 95.85 % of efficiency at 50 % of load. A new optimized prototype of PSFB was built with the same specifications, achieving a peak efficiency of 96.68 % at 50 % of load.

Index Terms- Phase Shift Full Bridge, Server, DCDC, Design, High-Efficiency.

I. INTRODUCTION

As the number of devices connected to the internet and the available services increase, the volume of data transferred and processed by server systems is growing exponentially. The amount of data centers is rising consequently. Therefore, the server power systems are under continuous development. Since the server power supplies consume massive amounts of power, the most critical matter is to achieve high efficiency [1]. To promote electrical energy efficiency of server systems several organizations have setup initiatives like Climate-Savers-Computing-Initiative (CSCI) [2] and 80PLUS [3] which certifies individual power supplies corresponding to their performance level. CSCI and 80PLUS keep introducing higher efficiency certifications such as Gold, Platinum, and Titanium with growing requirements extending also to light loads (Table 1). Noticeably, the required efficiency at 50% load condition for each certification is the highest and the most difficult to achieve, based on the redundant configuration of server power system. The redundant structure is widely used in the server power supply applications because of the very high reliability demands characteristics of the application. A redundant structure means parallel power supplies sharing the total load and capable of taking over in case of a fault in one of the supplies [4]-[5]. Moreover, low power consumption of the server system in idle/sleep is becoming increasingly important. This is confirmed by efficiency requirements extending down to 10% load in 80PLUS Titanium [6]. Meanwhile the power rating of the Power Supply Unit (PSU) tends to increase to maximize the performance of



© 2019 by the authors. This manuscript version is made available under the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).
the server system. A smaller volume requirement allows a greater processing power at a lower cost in the building infrastructure [7]. This leads to very high power density server PSU because the server system is required to reduce its mechanical size [6].

A server PSU is primarily composed of two stages: a back-end Power Factor Correction (PFC) ACDC stage powered by universal AC input (90~265 VAC *rms*) followed by a front-end DCDC isolated step-down converter [8]. Among these parts, the front-end DCDC converter stage has the biggest impact on the efficiency of the server power system because of its high conversion ratio of voltages and currents, and the required isolation transformer, which results in large power losses [1]. The output voltage typically ranges between 12 VDC to 48 VDC. In the literature many different topologies have been proposed for this application. The DCDC stage can be a single switch isolated converter like a fly-back for low power applications (under 250 W), and half bridge converter or full bridge converter for higher power applications [8]-[9].

Half bridge LLC resonant converter is a popular isolated DCDC topology. This is mostly due to its high efficiency and simple circuit structure, which helps to achieve high power density. However, the switching frequency (F_{sw}) span of the LLC is very wide, especially when a wide gain range of operation is required [10]-[11]. DCDC converters with wide gain range capability are common in many power conversion applications. Server power supplies have demanding requirements on continuity and reliability which includes hold-up time operation. During hold-up time the AC input of the back-end ACDC converter is lost, while the DCDC should maintain a stable output. During this time the intermediate storage capacitor continues to provide the energy while the DC bus voltage drops considerably. Therefore, the DCDC converter needs to work normally with a wide input voltage range [10].

The other most common alternative for high efficiency and high power density DCDC converters in server PSU is the PSFB with synchronous rectifier (SR) MOSFETs, external resonant inductor and clamping diodes, shown in Figure 1. Its most remarkable characteristic is the wide zero-voltage-switching (ZVS) range from mid to full load [6], nearly suppressing switching losses, which are especially high for HV devices in hard-switched converters [12]. Moreover, the constant switching frequency allows a simple control and EMI design [9], [13]. One of the major advantages of PSFB over other resonant soft-switching topologies is the comparatively lower *rms* currents through the converter thanks to the output filter inductance. However, hold-up time regulation requirements makes PSFB converter not to be operated with its maximum effective duty in nominal conditions and causes a long freewheeling period [14]. The freewheeling period increases circulating currents and conduction losses [1].



Figure 1. PSFB converter with center tapped rectification stage, external resonant inductance and clamping diodes.

80 PLUS Certification	23	0 V Internal R	edundant (Con	nplete PSU)
% of Rated Load	10 %	20 %	50 %	100 %
80 PLUS Bronze	-	81 %	85 %	81 %
80 PLUS Silver	-	85 %	89 %	85 %
80 PLUS Gold	-	88 %	92 %	88 %
80 PLUS Platinum	-	90 %	94 %	91 %
80 PLUS Titanium	90 %	94 %	96 %	91 %

The design of the DCDC converter has many degrees of freedom which complicates the selection of the components values resulting in the best solution. Finding the design solution with the highest power density and/or efficiency and/or cost requires an optimization procedure based on comprehensive analytical models and equations considering the losses in the converter components [9], [15]. With this procedure, the optimal design parameters could be determined. In [13] a design process is presented to reach the point of highest efficiency η_{max} and highest power density ρ_{max} for a 5kW PSFB DCDC converter. The design process is based on an automatic optimization procedure which finds the optimal component values of the converter system. The space of solutions is limited by a curve in the η - ρ -plane, so called Pareto front, which presents the optimal points for varying weights of the efficiency and of the power density [13]. However, the automated process obscures the nature of the design parameters influence on the converter behavior, the design parameter interdependencies and limits the design engineer understanding of the converter.

In this work we present a complete losses model of the PSFB, which should prove useful for practicing engineers in their understanding on the origin of losses in the converter. The provided set of equations is based on a

S

simplified model of the PSFB: all capacitances are linear; it does not include the clamping diodes; and it does not include the secondary side rectifiers' capacitance. Furthermore, possible improvements in the losses calculation will be discussed. Those and other additional considerations have been included by the authors in an extended set of equations, excluded from this document for clarity. The design criteria for a semi-automated design process presented in a following section has been performed on the authors extended version of the model. The losses model is tested and the design criteria is demonstrated with the design of a PSFB DCDC 1.4kW 12 V output converter for server applications. The optimized PSFB design is compared to a reference converter with the same specifications. The rest of this paper is organized as follows. In Section II we propose a comprehensive losses model for the PSFB converter. The model is later used in section III to analyze the influence of several of the design parameters in the converter performance. Section III also includes design guidelines or criteria for a semi-automated design procedure. In IV the losses model and the design criteria have been applied to optimize a 1.4kW PSFB DCDC converter with 12 V output for server applications. Section V presents a summary of result comparing a previous reference design of PSFB with the new optimized prototype. Finally Section VI presents a summary of conclusions out of this work.

II. LOSSES MODEL

A sufficiently detailed and accurate losses analysis model is necessary in order to perform efficiency optimization. The losses model and the design procedure should be a trade-off between accuracy and usability. Excessively precise and accurate estimations may lead to heavy computation requirements and long calculation times which makes the design process, iterative by nature, slow and tedious. Moreover, the complexity of the problem and the difficulty of estimating the real values of parameters in the circuit makes a precise estimation impractical. Ideally, the losses model is later on updated or corrected based on the results of the real hardware, giving more accurate results each design iteration. The power losses analysis is discussed in this section to help understanding where the losses are originated. There are three types of power losses for a switching power converter, as follows [15]: conduction losses; switching losses (including gate-driving power losses), magnetic core losses.

The PSFB converter's operation can be classified into Discontinuous Conduction Mode (DCM), if the output filter inductor current ripple is higher than the average output; and Continuous Conduction Mode (CCM) otherwise. The circuit analysis in CCM is quite different from that in DCM because of the different operation modes [15]. In this work we will consider only the CCM working mode (the proposed losses model does not include DCM operation). The high-efficiency designs operate in CCM in all load range of interest. Moreover, the DCM control of the SRs could be challenging. Therefore, the PSFB converter is normally preferred not operate in DCM [16].

A. CONDUCTION LOSSES

These losses are caused by the currents passing through the parasitic resistances in the circuit, such as the on resistance of the switches $R_{ds,on}$, the transformer and inductor winding resistance. These losses can be calculated with the equivalent resistance and the *rms* current value in the different components of the converter [15].

1) TRANSFORMER CONDUCTION LOSSES

The principles of operation of the PSFB converter have been already widely covered in the literature [17]. Briefly, the PSFB converter has three main working modes, which can be identified in Figure 2:

- Effective duty (D_{eff}). In this mode the primary side bulk voltage (V_{in}) is applied to the resonant inductance L_r and the primary side of the transformer. Power is being transferred from primary to secondary through the transformer (overlap of current and voltage of same sign).
- Duty losses (D_{loss}). Before the next power transfer the current has to reverse polarity on the primary side of the transformer. The current through the resonant inductance (L_r) and leakage of the transformer (L_{lkg}) require of certain time to reach the reflected output current with reverse sign.
- Freewheeling duty (D_{frew}). During the remaining time the current recirculates on the primary side without effective power transfer (there is no overlap of current and voltage on the primary side of transformer) while it freewheels on the secondary side.

Figure 2 shows a simplified representation of the primary side current in a PSFB converter: all capacitances are linear; it does not include the clamping diodes; and it does not include the secondary side rectifiers' capacitance. The enclosed area between iT_r and iL_m corresponds to the reflected secondary current during D_{eff} , while power is being transferred from the primary to the secondary. The enclosed shaded areas correspond to currents recirculating on the primary side without effective power being delivered to the secondary side. From Figure 2 it can be inferred that two parameters have the most impact on the circulating currents: the effective duty (D_{eff}) and the magnetizing current (iL_m).



Figure 2. Primary side current and PWM control signals of a simplified model of PSFB converter.

The current passing through the primary side of the transformer, excluding the effect of the magnetizing inductance, can be calculated with the equations (1)-(4). The secondary side reflected current could be calculated from (1)-(4) multiplying by the turns ratio of transformer *n*.

$$\begin{cases} iT_{r} = \frac{V_{in}}{L_{r} + L_{lkg}} t - IT_{r,lag} , t \in \left[0, D_{loss} \frac{T}{2}\right] \\ iT_{r} = \frac{(V_{in} - V_{o}n)}{L_{r} + L_{lkg} + L_{o}n^{2}} \left(t - D_{loss} \frac{T}{2}\right) + IT_{r,pwr} , t \in \left[D_{loss} \frac{T}{2}, (D_{eff} + D_{loss}) \frac{T}{2}\right] \\ iT_{r} = \frac{-V_{o}n}{L_{r} + L_{lkg} + L_{o}n^{2}} \left(t - (D_{eff} + D_{loss}) \frac{T}{2}\right) + IT_{r,lead} , t \in \left[(D_{eff} + D_{loss}) \frac{T}{2}, \frac{T}{2}\right] \end{cases}$$
(1)

$$\frac{1}{2} \left(t - \left(D_{\text{eff}} + D_{\text{loss}} \right) \frac{1}{2} \right) + \Pi_{\text{r,lead}} , t \in \left[\left(D_{\text{eff}} + D_{\text{loss}} \right) \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2} \right]$$

$$n = \frac{N_{\text{p}}}{2}$$
(2)

$$IT_{r,pwr} = n \left(IL_{o,avg} - \frac{\Delta IL_o}{2} \right)$$
(2)
(3)

$$IT_{r,lead} = n \left(IL_{o,avg} + \frac{\Delta IL_{o}}{2} \right)$$
(4)

The magnetizing current is proportional to the input voltage and inversely proportional to the magnetizing inductance. It can be calculated with (5)-(6):

$$\begin{cases} iL_{m} = -IL_{m,pk}, t \in \left[0, D_{loss} \frac{T}{2}\right] \\ iL_{m} = \frac{V_{in}}{L_{m} + L_{r} + L_{lkg}} \left(t - D_{loss} \frac{T}{2}\right) - IL_{m,pk}, t \in \left[D_{loss} \frac{T}{2}, \left(D_{eff} + D_{loss}\right) \frac{T}{2}\right] \\ iL_{m} = IL_{m,pk}, t \in \left[\left(D_{eff} + D_{loss}\right) \frac{T}{2}, \frac{T}{2}\right] \\ iL_{m,pk} = D_{eff} \frac{V_{in}T}{2\left(L_{m} + L_{r} + L_{lkg}\right)} \approx D_{eff} \frac{V_{in}T}{2L_{m}} \end{cases}$$
(6)

Taking into account the magnetizing current the resulting primary side current can be calculated with (7)-(9):

$$\begin{cases} i_{p} = \frac{V_{in}}{L_{r}+L_{lkg}}t - I_{p,lag} , t \in \left[0, D_{loss}\frac{T}{2}\right] \\ i_{p} = i_{Tr} + i_{m} + I_{p,pwr} , t \in \left[D_{loss}\frac{T}{2}, (D_{eff} + D_{loss})\frac{T}{2}\right] \\ i_{p} = i_{Tr} + i_{m} + I_{p,lead} , t \in \left[(D_{eff} + D_{loss})\frac{T}{2}, \frac{T}{2}\right] \end{cases}$$
(7)

$$I_{p,pwr} = IT_{r,pwr} - IL_{m,pk}$$
(8)

$$I_{p,lead} = IT_{r,lead} + IL_{m,pk}$$
⁽⁹⁾

The *rms* current of the primary side of transformer and secondary side of transformer can be calculated from the previous equations which result in (10)-(12):

$$I_{p,rms}^{2} = \frac{2}{T} \left[\int_{0}^{D_{loss}\frac{T}{2}} i_{p}^{2} dt + \int_{D_{loss}\frac{T}{2}}^{(D_{eff}+D_{loss})\frac{T}{2}} i_{p}^{2} dt + \int_{(D_{eff}+D_{loss})\frac{T}{2}}^{\frac{T}{2}} i_{p}^{2} dt \right]$$
(10)

$$I_{p,rms}{}^{2} = \frac{1}{3} \begin{pmatrix} (I_{p,pwr}{}^{2} + I_{p,lead}{}^{2} + I_{p,pwr}I_{p,lead})D_{eff} + (I_{p,lag}{}^{2} + I_{p,lead}{}^{2} + I_{p,lag}I_{p,lead})D_{frew} + \\ (I_{p,lag}{}^{2} + I_{p,pwr}{}^{2} + I_{p,pwr}I_{p,lag})D_{loss} \end{pmatrix}$$
(11)

$$I_{s,rms}^{2} = \frac{n^{2}}{3} \begin{pmatrix} (IT_{r,pwr}^{2} + IT_{r,lead}^{2} + IT_{r,pwr}IT_{r,lead})D_{eff} + (IT_{r,lag}^{2} + IT_{r,lead}^{2} + IT_{r,lag}IT_{r,lag})D_{frew} + \\ (IT_{r,lag}^{2} + IT_{r,pwr}^{2} + IT_{r,pwr}IT_{r,lag})D_{loss} \end{pmatrix}$$
(12)

The conduction losses of the transformer can be estimated with the *rms* currents and equation (13), where $R_{Tr,p}$ stands for the primary side equivalent resistance of the transformer, $L_{r,ESR}$ the equivalent resistance of the resonant inductance and $R_{Tr,s}$ the equivalent resistance of the secondary side of the transformer. Additionally the contribution to conduction losses of the Printed Circuit Board (PCB) could be added both in the primary and in the secondary of the converter, which have a noticeable impact in high output current converters.

$$P_{cond,Tr} = I_{p,rms}^{2} (R_{Tr,p} + L_{r,ESR}) + I_{s,rms}^{2} R_{Tr,s}$$
(13)

The skin and proximity effects increase the equivalent resistance of the windings and should be included for an accurate estimation of the transformer conduction losses. The magnetic fields generated by the alternating currents through the windings reduces the effective conduction area of the conductor itself (skin) and of other surrounding conductors (proximity). The studies in [18] show that the proximity effect dominates at high frequencies.

In the extended authors' model, the AC resistance R_{AC} of the primary and secondary windings of the transformer was estimated at different frequencies with Finite Element Analysis (FEA) software [19]. The spectrum of the transformer's primary and secondary currents was calculated from the previously analyzed waveforms. The total conduction losses was approximated by the sum of the *rms* current for each of the frequency components multiplied by the R_{AC} at that frequency.

2) PRIMARY SIDE HV MOSFETS

As suggested in [20] the power losses of the leading and lagging legs, which is dependent on MOSFETs current and voltage waveforms, should be analyzed separately. Therefore, the key waveforms for the MOSFETs in both of the primary side full bridge legs are shown in Figure 3 and will be described analytically. The proposed loss model is precise enough and easily computable using datasheet parameters.

The current waveform for the lagging leg $(Q_1, Q_2 \text{ in Figure 1})$ can be calculated with the equations (14):

$$\begin{cases} i_{Q1} = \frac{V_{in}}{L_r + L_{lkg}} t - I_{p,lag} , t \in \left[0, D_{loss} \frac{T}{2}\right] \\ i_{Q1} = \frac{(V_{in} - V_o n)}{L_r + L_{lkg} + L_o n^2} \left(t - D_{loss} \frac{T}{2}\right) + I_{p,pwr} , t \in \left[D_{loss} \frac{T}{2}, (D_{eff} + D_{loss}) \frac{T}{2}\right] \\ i_{Q1} = 0 , t \in \left[(D_{eff} + D_{loss}) \frac{T}{2}, T\right] \end{cases}$$
(14)

The current waveform for the leading leg (Q_3 , Q_4 in Figure 1) with the equations (15):



Figure 3. Primary side HV MOSFETs current and PWM control signals of a simplified model of PSFB converter.

$$\begin{cases} i_{Q3} = \frac{V_{o}n}{L_{r} + L_{lkg} + L_{o}n^{2}} \left(t - (D_{eff} + D_{loss}) \frac{T}{2} \right) - I_{p,lead} , t \in \left[(D_{eff} + D_{loss}) \frac{T}{2}, \frac{T}{2} \right] \\ i_{Q3} = \frac{V_{in}}{L_{r} + L_{lkg}} (t - \frac{T}{2}) - I_{p,lag} , t \in \left[\frac{T}{2}, \frac{T}{2} (1 + D_{loss}) \right] \\ i_{Q3} = \frac{(V_{in} - V_{o}n)}{L_{r} + L_{lkg} + L_{o}n^{2}} \left(t - (1 + D_{loss}) \frac{T}{2} \right) + I_{p,pwr} , t \in \left[\frac{T}{2} (1 + D_{loss}), \frac{T}{2} (1 + D_{loss} + D_{eff}) \right] \end{cases}$$
(15)

The *rms* currents of the both legs result to be equal in this simplified model, calculated from the previous formulas and resulting in the equation (16):

$$I_{Q1-4,rms}{}^{2} = \frac{1}{6} \begin{pmatrix} (I_{p,pwr}{}^{2} + I_{p,lead}{}^{2} + I_{p,pwr}I_{p,lead}) D_{eff} + (I_{p,lag}{}^{2} + I_{p,lead}{}^{2} + I_{p,lag}I_{p,lead}) D_{frew} + \\ (I_{p,lag}{}^{2} + I_{p,pwr}{}^{2} + I_{p,pwr}I_{p,lag}) D_{loss} \end{pmatrix} = I_{Q3,rms}{}^{2}$$
(16)

The conduction losses of the HV switches can be estimated from their *rms* currents with the equation (17), where $R_{ds,on}$ stands for the equivalent resistance of the MOSFETs. Note that the $R_{ds,on}$ of MOSFETs increases with temperature and it is also influenced by the gate driving voltage. Most of the conduction losses, like in MOSFETs, increase with temperature. This should be taken into account in the computation of the equivalent resistance of the components.

$$P_{\text{cond,HV}} = 4I_{Q1-4,\text{rms}}^2 R_{\text{DS(on),p}}$$
(17)

In the authors' extended model, the equivalent resistance of MOSFETs is estimated at the operating junction temperature T_J from their temperature coefficient, available in the manufacturer's datasheet. Because of the conduction losses are consequently updated, the temperature is recalculated until the solution of the equations converge. The process is also performed for other of the converter components: transformer windings, transformer core, secondary side rectifiers, PCB and output inductor winding. The iterative calculation can be easily automated in a computer, e.g. in a calculation sheet.

The estimations of components temperature require of additional values for the thermal impedances, for example from junction to air for the HV and the LV MOSFETs. This was estimated with thermal simulation tools and thermal captures of the real hardware.

Additionally, the conduction losses of the HV MOSFETs body diode could be estimated accounting for the turn-on delay of the switches, so-called dead times. Not included here for simplicity, since for a reasonably well adjusted control of the dead times the body diode contribution is minor in Silicon devices. Moreover, because of the strong non-linearity of the output capacitance in modern super-junction MOSFETs, the equivalent C_{oss} in the depletion region is big, which enables relatively high tolerance for the turn-on delay prior to the body diode conducts.

3) SECONDARY SIDE RECTIFIER LV MOSFETS

The Schottky Barrier Diode (SBD) or Fast Recovery Diode (FRD) are commonly used as secondary side rectification devices in PSFB DCDC converters because of its low cost and the simplified control of the converter. However, the forward voltage drop of diodes cause relative high conduction losses. By replacing diode with an active switching element, so called synchronous rectifier (SR), the losses can be notably reduced [21].

The rectification stage may have different configurations: center tapped, current doubler or full bridge [17]. Although these alternatives have no major impact on the working principles of the converter they do have a significant impact on the current and voltage stress over the rectification devices and their related conduction and switching losses. The blocking voltage of the secondary side devices is two times the transformer reflected secondary voltage for center tapped and current doubler, or one time the transformer reflected secondary voltage for full bridge. However the effective R_{ds,on} is twice as big for full bridge rectification [22]. Therefore current doubler and center tapped rectifiers are the most appropriate for low voltage and high current applications. In [23] both configurations are analyzed and compared. The center tapped rectifier presents only one output inductor, which operates at double the switching frequency of the semiconductors, becoming an interesting alternative at low and medium current applications.



Figure 4. Secondary side LV MOSFETs current and PWM control signals of a simplified model of PSFB converter.

The current of the SRs (Q_5 , Q_6 in Figure 1) is plotted in Figure 4 and can be calculated with the equations (18)-(21):

$$i_{Q5} = \frac{IL_{o,pwr}}{D_{loss}\frac{T}{2}}t , t \in \left[0, D_{loss}\frac{T}{2}\right]$$

$$i_{Q5} = \frac{\left(\frac{V_{in}}{n} - V_{o}\right)}{\frac{L_{r} + L_{lkg}}{n^{2}} + L_{o}} \left(t - D_{loss}\frac{T}{2}\right) + IL_{o,pwr} , t \in \left[D_{loss}\frac{T}{2}, \left(D_{eff} + D_{loss}\right)\frac{T}{2}\right]$$
(18)

$$\frac{1}{L_{o}n^{2}} \left(t - \left(D_{eff} + D_{loss} \right) \frac{1}{2} \right) + IL_{o,lead} , t \in \left[\left(D_{eff} + D_{loss} \right) \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2} \right]$$

$$IL_{o,pwr} = n \left(IL_{o,avg} - \frac{\Delta IL_{o}}{2} \right)$$

$$u_{o,pwr} = n \left(IL_{o,avg} - \frac{\Delta IL_{o}}{2} \right)$$
(19)
$$T \left(\frac{V_{in}}{V_{o}} V_{o} \right) D_{eff}$$

$$\Delta IL_{0} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\left(\frac{1}{n} - V_{0}\right)^{D} eff}{\frac{L_{r} + L_{l} kg}{n^{2}} + L_{0}}$$
(20)

$$IL_{o,lead} = n \left(IL_{o,avg} + \frac{\Delta IL_o}{2} \right)$$
(21)

The *rms* currents of the both legs are equal in this ideal case and can be calculated from the previous formulas as expressed by (22):

$$I_{Q5-6,rms}{}^{2} = \frac{1}{6} \begin{pmatrix} IL_{o,pwr}{}^{2}D_{loss} + (IL_{o,pwr}{}^{2} + IL_{o,lead}{}^{2} + IL_{o,pwr}IL_{o,lead})D_{eff} + \\ (IL_{o,pwr}{}^{2} + IL_{o,lag}{}^{2} + IL_{o,pwr}IL_{o,lag})D_{frew} \end{pmatrix} = I_{Q6,rms}{}^{2}$$
(22)

Out of the *rms* currents the conduction losses of the secondary side rectifiers can be estimated with (23) where $R_{ds,on,SR}$ stands for the equivalent resistance of the secondary side switches:

$$P_{\text{cond,SR}} = 2I_{\text{Q5-6,rms}}^2 R_{\text{DS(on),SR}}$$
(23)

Additionally the conduction losses of the body diode of the secondary side rectifiers could be estimated accounting for the unavoidable turn-on and turn-off delays of the switches. Not included here for simplicity, since for a good adjusted control of the SRs the body diode contribution is minor in Silicon devices.

4) INPUT AND OUTPUT FILTER

The output filter includes the output choke L_o and the output capacitance of the converter C_o . The input filter includes the bulk capacitance between the back-end ACDC converter and the front-end DCDC converter. In reality part of the current ripple through the input filter caused by the DCDC stage is cancelled by the output current ripple of the ACDC converter but, for simplicity, we will only consider the *rms* current of the DCDC as a standalone converter.



Figure 5. Input capacitor, output choke and output capacitor currents of a simplified model of PSFB converter.

The current of the output choke is plotted in Figure 5 and can be calculated with equations (24):

$$\begin{cases} iL_{o} = IL_{o,avg} - \frac{\Delta IL_{o}}{2} + \frac{\left(\frac{V_{in}}{L_{r}} + V_{o}\right)}{\frac{L_{r} + L_{lkg}}{n^{2}} + L_{o}} \left(t - D_{loss}\frac{T}{2}\right) , t \in \left[D_{loss}\frac{T}{2}, \left(D_{eff} + D_{loss}\right)\frac{T}{2}\right] \\ iL_{o} = IL_{o,avg} + \frac{\Delta IL_{o}}{2} - \frac{V_{o}\left(t - \left(D_{eff} + D_{loss}\right)\frac{T}{2}\right)}{\frac{L_{r} + L_{lkg}}{n^{2}} + L_{o}} , t \in \left[\left(D_{eff} + D_{loss}\right)\frac{T}{2}, \left(1 + D_{loss}\right)\frac{T}{2}\right] \end{cases}$$
(24)

The *rms* current through the output choke can be estimated with (25):

* *

$$IL_{o,rms}^{2} = \frac{1}{3} \left(\left(IL_{o,avg} - \frac{\Delta IL_{o}}{2} \right)^{2} + \left(IL_{o,avg} + \frac{\Delta IL_{o}}{2} \right)^{2} + \left(IL_{o,avg} - \frac{\Delta IL_{o}}{2} \right) \left(IL_{o,avg} + \frac{\Delta IL_{o}}{2} \right) \right)$$
(25)

The current of the output capacitor can be calculated with (26):

$$\begin{cases} iC_{o} = \frac{\left(\frac{V_{in}}{L_{r}+L_{lkg}}+L_{o}\right)}{\frac{L_{r}+L_{lkg}}{n^{2}}+L_{o}} \left(t - D_{loss}\frac{T}{2}\right) - \frac{\Delta IL_{o}}{2} , t \in \left[D_{loss}\frac{T}{2}, (D_{eff} + D_{loss})\frac{T}{2}\right] \\ iC_{o} = \frac{\Delta IL_{o}}{2} - \frac{V_{o}\left(t - (D_{eff}+D_{loss})\frac{T}{2}\right)}{\frac{L_{r}+L_{lkg}}{n^{2}}+L_{o}} , t \in \left[\left(D_{eff}+D_{loss}\right)\frac{T}{2}, (1 + D_{loss})\frac{T}{2}\right] \end{cases}$$
(26)

The rms current through the output capacitor can be estimated with (27):

$$IC_{o,rms}^{2} = \frac{1}{3} \left(\frac{\Delta IL_{o}}{2}\right)^{2}$$
(27)

The current through the input capacitor can be calculated with the equations (28)-(29):

$$\begin{cases} iC_{in} = I_{p,lag} - I_{in,avg} - \frac{V_{in}}{L_r + L_{lkg}} t , t \in \left[0, D_{loss} \frac{T}{2}\right] \\ iC_{in} = I_{p,pwr} - I_{in,avg} - \frac{(V_{in} - V_o n)}{L_r + L_{lkg} + L_o n^2} \left(t - D_{loss} \frac{T}{2}\right) , t \in \left[D_{loss} \frac{T}{2}, (D_{eff} + D_{loss}) \frac{T}{2}\right] \\ iC_{in} = -I_{in,avg} , t \in \left[(D_{eff} + D_{loss}) \frac{T}{2}, \frac{T}{2}\right] \\ I_{in,avg} = \left[\left(\frac{I_{p,lag} + I_{p,pwr}}{2} - I_{p,pwr}\right) D_{loss} + \left(\frac{I_{p,lead} - I_{p,pwr}}{2} - I_{p,lead}\right) D_{eff}\right]$$
(29)

The *rms* current through the input capacitor can be estimated with (30):

$$IC_{in,rms}{}^{2} = \frac{1}{3} \begin{bmatrix} \left(\left(I_{p,lag} + I_{in,avg} \right)^{2} + \left(I_{in,avg} - I_{p,pwr} \right)^{2} + \left(I_{p,lag} + I_{in,avg} \right) \left(I_{in,avg} - I_{p,pwr} \right) \right) D_{loss} + \\ \left(\left(I_{in,avg} - I_{p,lead} \right)^{2} + \left(I_{in,avg} - I_{p,pwr} \right)^{2} + \left(I_{in,avg} - I_{p,lead} \right) \left(I_{in,avg} - I_{p,pwr} \right) \right) D_{eff} \end{bmatrix} + \\ I_{in,avg}{}^{2} D_{frew}$$
(30)

The conduction losses of the input and output filter can be estimated with the *rms* currents and the equation (31) where $C_{in,ESR}$ stands for the equivalent resistance of the input capacitor, $C_{o,ESR}$ stands for the equivalent resistance of the output capacitor and $L_{o,ESR}$ for the equivalent series resistance of the output choke:

$$P_{\text{cond,filter}} = IL_{o,\text{rms}}^{2}L_{o,\text{ESR}} + IC_{in,\text{rms}}^{2}C_{in,\text{ESR}} + IC_{o,\text{rms}}^{2}C_{o,\text{ESR}}$$
(31)

B. SWITCHING AND DRIVING LOSSES

The voltage and current cross over during switching transitions results in switching power losses. Additionally charging and discharging of the MOSFETs gate capacitance causes gate-driving power losses [15].

1) PRIMARY SIDE HV MOSFETS SWITCHING AND DRIVING LOSSES

If the primary side MOSFETs operate under zero voltage switching there is no overlap between voltage and current and transitions could be considered near lossless. However, it is known that in modern super-junction devices the charging and discharging of the device output capacitance shows a hysteresis which is source of an additional power losses that should be considered [24].

The minimum energy required to achieve ZVS transitions for the lagging and the leading leg can be estimated with (32)-(33), with C_{leading} equal to the sum of capacitances C_3 and C_4 , and C_{lagging} equal to the sum of C_1 and C_2 . The lumped capacitance of the transformer C_{Tr} constitutes an important contribution to the leading leg transition but it does not have an influence on the lagging leg.

$$\frac{V_{in}^2}{2} \left(C_{\text{leading}} + C_{\text{tr}} \right) \le \left(\frac{|L_{r,\text{lead}}^2}{2} L_r + \frac{|L_{lkg,\text{lead}}^2}{2} L_{lkg} + \frac{|L_{o,\text{lead}}^2}{2} L_o \right)$$
(32)

$$\frac{V_{\text{in}}^2}{2} C_{\text{lagging}} \le \left(\frac{IL_{r,\text{lag}}^2}{2} L_r + \frac{IL_{\text{lkg,lag}}^2}{2} L_{\text{lkg}} \right)$$
(33)

An efficiency optimized PSFB design operates in full or nearly full ZVS in all the load range. The ZVS is especially important at light and medium loads, where the switching losses become dominant [15], [25]. During partial ZVS the capacitance of the switches is not fully discharged when the device turns-on. For modern HV super-junction MOSFETs the remaining losses are not significative [26]. The use of an external resonant inductance (L_r) in the primary side of PSFB, while increasing the component count, helps achieving ZVS in light to

medium load conditions and thus increases the overall efficiency of the converter. Although it is possible to increase the leakage of the transformer for the same purpose, using an external resonant inductance on the primary side of the converter and placing clamping diodes between the transformer and L_r helps to reduce the secondary side rectifiers overshoot as well as reducing their switching/commutation related losses [27]-[28]. The solution, previously reported in the literature, is analyzed in detail in [29].

To achieve full ZVS, whenever there is enough energy available, a minimum dead time is also required for the transition of the drain voltage. The time it takes for the transition to happen depends on the transfer of energy from the inductances to the capacitances involved in the resonance. The output capacitance of modern MOSFETs is non-linear, an accurate estimation of the transition times is not straightforward. A simple approximation can be estimated with (34), where the capacitance is modelled by an equivalent time related fixed value of capacitance ($C_{o(tr)}$) and the current from the inductances is considered also as a constant current source. $C_{o(tr)}$ is a parameter often provided by the manufacturer in the datasheet of the device.

$$T_{ZVS} \approx \frac{2C_{O(tr)}}{IL} V_{in}$$
(34)

However, if there is not enough energy to achieve full ZVS, the transition time could be better approximated by the resonance between the inductors and the capacitors (35)-(36). Because the reflected value of L_0 is relatively big the transition of the leading leg can be well approximated by the previous linear model in all working conditions of the converter. However for the lagging leg, the dead time has to match one fourth of the resonance period to switch at the minimum possible voltage.

$$T_{\text{ZVS,leading}} \approx \frac{1}{4\omega_1} = \frac{\pi}{2} \sqrt{2C_{o(\text{tr})}(L_{\text{lkg}} + L_{\text{r}} + L_0 n^2)}$$
(35)

$$T_{\text{ZVS,lagging}} \approx \frac{1}{4\omega_1} = \frac{\pi}{2} \sqrt{2C_{o(\text{tr})}(L_{\text{lkg}} + L_{\text{r}})}$$
(36)

Assuming the dead time to be always optimum (with the devices switching at the minimum possible drain voltage), the switching losses can be estimated with (37) where E_{OFF} is a function of the current and voltage overlap during the turn-off transition. In general, for modern super-junction MOSFETs E_{OFF} is relatively small, but not zero.

$$P_{SW,p} = P_{SW,ZVS} \approx E_{OFF}(i, v)F_{SW}, \ v = V_{DS} \le 0$$
(37)

If the energy is not enough to achieve ZVS part or all the energy stored in the output capacitance is dissipated. The switching losses then becomes (38) where E_{ON} is a function of the current and drain voltage overlap and the E_{OSS} is the stored energy in the output capacitance of the switch, which is also a function of the drain voltage.

$$P_{SW,p} = P_{SW,HARD} \approx (E_{ON}(i,v) + E_{OSS}(v))F_{SW}, v = V_{DS} \ge 0$$
(38)

The switching losses could be calculated, measured or simulated and tabulated for different values of current and switching voltages. The switching losses are computationally costly to calculate accurately. Moreover, it is difficult to estimate the real layout parasitics which have a relatively big impact on the losses. Therefore, in the authors' extended model the switching losses where interpolated from a table extracted from experimental measurements and characterization.

The driving losses are a function of the driving voltage V_{drive} and the switching frequency. The reader may note that the gate charge differs in soft switching (ZVS) (39) and hard switching (40). In ZVS the Q_{gd} has been supplied by the power stage during the resonant transition prior to the charge of the switch input capacitance from the driver path.

$$P_{drive,p} = \frac{4(Q_g - Q_{gd})V_{drive}F_{SW}}{\eta_{bias}}, \quad v = V_{DS} > 0$$
(39)

$$P_{drive,p} = \frac{4Q_g V_{drive} F_{SW}}{\eta_{bias}} , \ v = V_{DS} \le 0$$
(40)

2) SECONDARY SIDE LV MOSFETS SWITCHING AND DRIVING LOSSES

It was mathematically demonstrated in [30]-[31] that charging a capacitor inevitably causes energy losses. When charged through a resistive path the resistor dissipates energy equal to the one eventually stored (41)-(43). The analysis shows that a capacitor can be charged with only a modest energy loss in a series RLC circuit only if the source is disconnected after $\frac{1}{2}$ resonance cycle. Otherwise the remaining energy is dissipated during the dampening of the resonance and the energy loss becomes also equal to the stored. Their analysis is consistent with the formula for the estimation of switching losses in SRs in [32].

$$E_{\text{sourced}} = E_{\text{stored}} + E_{\text{loss}} = (2Q_{\text{oss}} + 2Q_{\text{rr}})\frac{v_{\text{in}}}{n}$$
(41)

* *

$$E_{loss} = (Q_{oss} + 2Q_{rr})\frac{V_{in}}{n} , \quad E_{stored} = Q_{oss}\frac{V_{in}}{n}$$
(42)

$$P_{sw} = 2F_{sw}(Q_{oss} + 2Q_{rr})\frac{v_{in}}{n}$$
(43)

When using clamping diodes on the primary side of the converter part of the energy of the resonance is recovered. During the charge of Q_{rr} and Q_{oss} of the secondary side rectification devices an equal energy is stored in the inductances along the charging path (L_r , L_{lkg}). It follows that the larger L_r is in relation to L_{lkg} , the more energy it stores comparatively. Due to the action of the primary side clamping diodes, the energy in L_r is actually recirculated on the primary side of the converter and does not contribute to the secondary side commutation resonance. Therefore, the switching losses calculated in (41)-(43) are reduced down to the energy calculated in (44)-(46) where E_{clmp} stands for the conduction losses of the clamping diodes which can be estimated from their average current (45).

$$E_{loss} = \frac{V_{in}}{n} \left(Q_{oss} \frac{L_{lkg}}{L_r} + Q_{rr} \left(1 + \frac{L_{lkg}}{L_r} \right) \right) + E_{clmp}$$
(44)

$$E_{clmp} = 2V_{F,clmp}I_{avg,clmp}$$
(45)

$$P_{SW,SR} = F_{SW} E_{loss} \tag{46}$$

 Q_{rr} is not constant but depends on the average forward current of the diode, the conduction time, the temperature of the device and the slope of the current among other factors [32]-[33]. This was taken into consideration in the complete and more accurate model where Q_{rr} might is a linear fitting function of the average current and the slope (47). The coefficients of the relation were extracted from experimental measurements and characterization of the devices.

$$Q_{\rm rr} \propto I_{avg} \ and \ Q_{\rm rr} \propto \frac{{\rm di}}{dt}$$
 (47)

Driving losses is a function of the driving voltage and the switching frequency (48). Because the SRs are operated in ZVS, we can exclude the plateau charge (Q_{gd}) from the driving losses. Notice that the driving voltage V_{drive} is not necessary equal to the driving voltage of the HV MOSFETs. Because of the higher gate charge of the LV MOSFETs in high current output converters, it is usually desirable to lower their driving voltage, always in accordance to the device characteristics.

$$P_{drive,SR} = \frac{2Q_g V_{drive} F_{SW}}{\eta_{bias}}$$
(48)

C. CORE LOSSES

The empirical methods based on measurement results are one major group of core losses calculations. A widely used empirical-method is the Steinmetz equation (47) [15]. The frequency of the flux variation F_{core} in (49) is the switching frequency F_{sw} for the main transformer and the resonant inductance but two times the switching frequency for the output choke $2F_{sw}$. V_{core} is the volume of the core, B_{pk} is the peak magnetic flux density, and *k*, *a* and *b* are called the Steinmetz coefficients, which are material parameters generally found empirically from the materials B-H hysteresis curves. The coefficients for the Steinmetz equations are frequently given by the magnetic core manufacturers.

$$P_{\text{Core}} = V_{\text{Core}} F^{a}_{\text{Core}} B^{b}_{\text{pk}} k \tag{49}$$

The temperature of the cores also influences the core losses, with some materials having an optimum operating temperature. The relation of core-losses to temperature is often found in the material datasheets. In the authors' extended model the core losses of the transformer are recalculated until the solution converges, also taking into account the transfer of heat from the windings.

The Steinmetz equation accuracy is frequently discussed. In [34] an improved core-loss calculation is proposed. However, there is currently no agreement in a better estimation method. Moreover, manufacturers frequently provide the Steinmetz coefficients or only experimental data for pure sinusoidal excitation at several flux and frequency conditions. In the authors' extended model the core losses are interpolated from the manufacturer's experimental data for the main frequency component of the flux.

D. OTHER LOSSES

1) CONTROL CIRCUITRY AND FAN

The control circuitry in server PSU is generally powered by an auxiliary supply. The efficiency of the auxiliary bias (a converter itself) has to be taken into account in the power consumption of the control circuitry. Moreover,

an internal PSU fan is also commonly supplied from the bias. Therefore, the efficiency of the bias has to be considered also in this case (50).

$$P_{\text{bias}} = \frac{(P_{\text{ctrl}} + P_{\text{fan}})}{\eta_{\text{bias}}} , \ \eta_{\text{bias}} \in [0, 1]$$
(50)

Alternatively, the fan or the control circuitry could be supplied by the main converter itself. This is especially convenient in server PSU because of their output voltage is commonly equal to the control and fan supplies (12 V). Because of the efficiency of the main converter is normally higher than the small auxiliary converter, this technique slightly improves the overall efficiency of the system. In contrast to the reference converter in this document, in the optimized prototype the fan is supplied by the main converter.

2) CAPACITORS LEAKAGE

In addition to the previously analyzed conduction losses for the input and output capacitors there is an additional contribution from their current leakage (51). The values of current leakage can be often found in the manufacturer's datasheet.

$$P_{cap,leak} = V_{in}IC_{in,leak} + V_{o}IC_{o,leak}$$
(51)

E. OVERALL LOSSES

The overall losses of the converter include all previously analyzed contributions that should be evaluated for each of the load points P_0 of interest (52)-(53):

$$P_{\text{cond}}(P_{o}) = P_{\text{cond},\text{Tr}}(P_{o}) + P_{\text{cond},\text{HV}}(P_{o}) + P_{\text{cond},\text{SR}}(P_{o}) + P_{\text{cond},\text{filter}}(P_{o})$$
(52)

$$P_{\text{total}}(P_{o}) = \begin{pmatrix} P_{\text{cond}}(P_{o}) + P_{\text{SW},p}(P_{o}) + P_{\text{drive},p}(P_{o}) + P_{\text{SW},\text{SR}}(P_{o}) + P_{\text{drive},\text{SR}}(P_{o}) + P_{\text{bias}}(P_{o}) + P_{\text{core}}(P_{o}) + P_{\text{cap,leak}}(P_{o}) \end{pmatrix}$$
(53)

Because the losses distribution is load dependent, some different losses mechanisms are dominant at different load points. More interesting, reducing the conduction losses at full load often impacts negatively on the switching and core losses at light load and vice versa. Achieving the highest efficiency at mid load is the greatest challenge, because most of the losses contributions have a noticeable impact in that range. Therefore, a converter with the highest efficiency at mid load will have a balanced light and full loads efficiencies, so-called flat efficiency curve.

III. DESIGN CRITERIA

Following the Platinum 80PLUS requirements, the objective for the proposed design was to achieve maximum efficiency at the 50% of load of the converter while having a balanced light (20 %) and full load (100%) performances. The volume is constrained by the standard PSU height (1U). Additionally, the converter should have a reasonable Bill Of Materials (BOM) and/or production cost.

In this section we analyze the impact on the converter's efficiency of the most influential design parameters. In the analysis, the effects of the parameters are described sequentially, in the preferred order of design, and isolated from the other parameters effects. However, the design process is an iterative process and normally with more than one optimal solution. Because of the complex interrelations between the parameters, the possible alternative might be constrained by previous design choices. It is therefore convenient to explore the full space of solutions.

A. CLAMPING DIODES POSITION

The ZVS range of the converter can be extended adding an external resonant inductance (L_r) to the leakage of the transformer. However, the additional inductance causes loss of effective duty cycle and limits the maximum power of the converter at the minimum required input voltage [15], [25]. On the other hand, the secondary side overshoot induced during the commutation of the SRs can be effectively reduced by the usage of clamping diodes between the transformer and L_r, as is suggested in [28].

When using clamping diodes on the primary side of the converter part of the energy of the resonance is recovered. During the charge of Q_{rr} and Q_{oss} of the secondary side rectification devices an equal energy is stored in the inductances along the charging path (L_r , L_{lkg}). It follows that the larger L_r is in relation to L_{lkg} , the more energy it stores comparatively. Due to the action of the primary side clamping diodes, the energy in L_r is actually recirculated on the primary side of the converter and does not contribute to the secondary side commutation resonance.



Figure 6. Efficiency for different clamping diodes configuration and the effect on switching voltage of the primary side HV MOSFETs and the primary side circulating currents: (a) Differential efficiencies; (b) Differential losses; (c) Leading and lagging leg switching voltages with the clamping diodes on the lagging leg position; (d) Leading and lagging leg switching voltages with the clamping diodes on the leading leg position; (e) Primary side and clamping diodes current with clamping diodes in the lagging leg; (f) Primary side and clamping diodes current with clamping diodes in the leading leg.

The position of the clamping diodes and the external resonant inductance L_r influences on the current waveforms of the converter and on the overall efficiency of the system [28]. The clamping diodes in the leading position reduces notably the conduction losses along all the load range of the converter (Figure 6). However, the available energy for the ZVS transition of the leading leg is heavily reduced which has a major impact on the switching losses, in the reliability and the control of the converter: the non-linearity of the output capacitance of the HV super-junction MOSFETs makes it challenging to track the optimum dead time for the leading leg, which ultimately increases the switching losses.

In summary, the leading leg configuration of the clamping diodes is not recommended. In the new optimized design the clamping diodes have been placed in the lagging leg position, as in Figure 1, whereas in the reference design the diodes were placed in the leading leg position.

B. RECTIFICATION STAGE CONFIGURATION

Figure 7 shows a comparison between full bridge rectification and center tapped rectification configurations in low voltage server applications. Twice as much switches are required in full bridge configuration to achieve an equivalent $R_{ds,on}$ because the current passes always through two devices along the rectification path. Although the

Figure Of Merit (FOM) of the lower voltage class MOSFETs is better, it is not near twice as better. Therefore, overall the switching and driving losses increase in the full bridge configuration. Moreover, the high number of rectification devices is not practical from power density and cost point of view.



Figure 7. Performance comparison for different rectification stage configuration of equivalent $R_{DS,on}$. Full bridge rectification with 24 units of 40 V class devices in blue, and center tapped with 12 units of 60 V class devices in red. (a) Differential efficiency; (b) Differential losses.

C. TRANSFORMER TURNS RATIO SELECTION

In PSFB converter, like in other isolated topologies, the blocking voltage of the secondary side devices depends on the rectification stage configuration. However, unlike other resonant topologies, the secondary reflected voltage of the transformer does not depend on the output voltage V_o and it is always necessarily higher than it. The reflected voltage is proportional to the transformer turns ratio and the input voltage, as expressed in (54) where V_E and V_D represents the amplitude of the output voltage of the rectification stage, and N_P and N_S respectively the primary and secondary turns of the main transformer.

$$V_{E,max} = V_{D,max} = V_{in,max} \frac{N_S}{N_P} = \frac{V_{in,max}}{n} , \frac{N_S}{N_P} = n$$
(54)

In the PSFB converter the output voltage of the rectification stage is a square wave of duty cycle D_{eff} , with the amplitude of the transformer reflected voltage and the average value V_o (55). D_{eff} is necessarily less than or equal to one and, in practical converters, commonly much smaller, as the transformer turns ratio *n* is constrained by the input and output voltage range requirements: the converter should be capable of regulation at the minimum specified input voltage $V_{in,min}$ and maximum specified output voltage $V_{o,max}$.

$$V_{\rm o} = V_{\rm in} \frac{D_{\rm eff}}{n} = V_{\rm D} D_{\rm eff} = V_{\rm E} D_{\rm eff}$$
(55)

Wide input voltage is required, for example, during hold-up time conditions [8], [10], [35]. The power supply needs to maintain its output voltage during a time period of 20 ms (T_{hold}) after the input AC line is lost. The resulting minimum input voltage at the end of T_{hold} depends on the power supply intermediate storage capacity C_{bulk} , the nominal operating voltage, the maximum power of the DCDC converter $P_{o,max}$ and its efficiency η_{DCDC} (56). A simple solution to hold-up is to increase the amount of intermediate storage, which however increases the cost and reduces the power density.

$$C_{\text{bulk}} \frac{V_{\text{in,nom}}^2 - V_{\text{in,min}}^2}{2} = \frac{P_{\text{o,max}}}{\eta_{\text{DCDC}}} T_{\text{hold}}$$
(56)

The wide regulation requirement makes PSFB converter not to be operated with its maximum duty in nominal state. The turns ratio of the transformer is constrained by $V_{in,min}$ and $V_{o,max}$. Additionally, because of the time it takes the current through the transformer to reverse polarity part of the otherwise available duty is lost (D_{loss}), which further constraints the maximum possible transformer turn ratio (57)-(61). During the remaining duty, the so-called freewheeling (D_{frew}), the primary current recirculates without transferring energy to the output of the converter.

$$D_{loss} = 2F_{sw} \frac{(L_r + L_{lkg})}{V_{in}} \Delta I L_{r,1}$$
(57)

$$\Delta IL_{r,1} \approx \frac{2IL_{o,avg}}{n} , L_o \text{ in CCM}$$
(58)

$$D_{\text{loss,max}} = 4F_{\text{sw}} \frac{(L_{\text{r}} + L_{\text{lkg}})}{V_{\text{in,min}}} \frac{IL_{\text{o,avg,max}}}{n}$$
(59)

$$D_{eff} + D_{frew} + D_{loss} = 1$$
(60)

$$D_{\text{frew}} \ge 0 \xrightarrow{\text{yields}} V_{\text{in,min}} \ge \left(n V_{\text{o,max}} + \frac{4 F_{\text{sw}}(L_{\text{r}} + L_{\text{lkg}}) I L_{\text{o,avg,max}}}{n} \right)$$
(61)

On the other hand, the realizable transformer turns ratio is constrained by its mechanical construction: the available room for the windings, the wire size, and the amount of interleaving between primary and secondary windings. A planar construction reduces the transformer leakage which impacts the secondary side overshoot and consequently the required rectifier's voltage class. The bigger transformer capacitance in planar construction does not have a big impact on the ZVS capability, but does have an impact on the EMI performance. For isolated power converters, the inter-winding capacitance of the transformer and is a critical coupling path for Common Mode (CM) noise. The (CM) noise model of PSFB converter is analyzed in detail in [36]-[37]. However, the capacitance can be adjusted with low dielectric constant isolation between primary and secondary windings. In both of the designs analyzed in this work the transformers have a planar or semi-planar construction:

- In the reference design the primary winding of the transformer is made of forty-four turns built in PCB and distributed in three sections and the secondary winding of the transformer is made of four times two plus two turns (center tapped) interleaved with the primary in four sections.
- In the new design the primary winding of the transformer is made of two times twenty-one turns of Litz wire distributed in six sections and the secondary winding of the transformer is made of four times one plus one turns interleaved with the primary in eight sections.

Figure 8 shows a comparison among the reference design turns ratio (44:2:2), the new design turns ratio (21:1:1) and some possible similar variants (24:1:1 and 18:1:1). To fulfill the input wide range requirements of the converter L_r was adjusted consequently for each of the turn ratios. From the results in Figure 8 we can extract some conclusions:

- More primary turns reduces the core losses of the transformers which helps to improve the light load efficiency. However it also increases the conductions losses at mid and full load because of the extra winding length and the relatively reduced wire size.
- A larger turns ratio decreases the transformer secondary side reflected voltage, which reduces the freewheeling time and circulating currents. Potentially it could also enable a lower voltage class for the secondary side devices. However it limits the maximum possible L_r which in turn limits the ZVS range of the lagging leg. This can be noticed by the comparison among the 24:1:1 and 21:1:1 variants where the higher ratio performs worse at light load because of the extra switching losses.

In summary, primary side turns should be as high as possible without compromising conduction losses, and turns ratio high enough to fit the best possible SRs' voltage class. Additionally, increasing the primary winding number of turns also helps to implement a bigger magnetizing inductance L_m . Increasing the magnetizing inductance helps reducing the primary side circulating currents, reducing conduction losses and overall improving efficiency (Figure 9).

On the other hand, a compromise in L_m value is required since reducing the magnetizing inductance increases the available energy for the ZVS transition of the primary side HV switches. As shown in Figure 10, this enables full ZVS for the lagging leg at very light loads.



Figure 8. Performance comparison for different transformer turns ratios. The value of L_r is adjusted to maintain the required input voltage range. The original reference converter had a turn ratio of 44:2:2. The optimized converter has a turn ratio of 21:1:1. (a) Differential efficiency of the converter with the different configurations; (b) Differential power loss of the converter with the different configurations.







Figure 10. Available energy for the ZVS transitions depending on the value of the magnetizing inductance with the converter operating at 10 % of load.

D. EXTERNAL RESONANT INDUCTANCE AND LEACKAGE

Figure 11 shows the impact of increasing and decreasing the external resonant inductance with the reference being the nominal L_r value of the optimized prototype. The inductance is modified by changing the gap size between the ferrite cores, but keeping the same amount of turns. A larger resonant inductance decreases the conduction losses because the circulating currents are effectively reduced, however the hold-up time regulation cannot be fulfilled unless the transformer turn ratio or the amount of bulk capacitance is adjusted in consequence. Additionally a larger L_r increases ZVS energy at light load, which potentially reduces switching losses or enables a lower HV MOSFETs $R_{ds,on}$.



Figure 11. Performance comparison for different external resonant inductances: (a) Differential efficiency; (b) Differential losses.

E. OUTPUT FILTER INDUCTOR

The output filter inductor selection is constrained by the output current ripple and the maximum output voltage ripple requirements. The output current ripple can be calculated with the equation (62), which has an impact on the *rms* losses in the output capacitors (63). The maximum output voltage ripple is also a function of the total

amount of output capacitance and its parasitic equivalent resistance (64)-(66). Moreover, a small value of inductance at the output makes the secondary side rectifiers operate in DCM at light loads. When operating with SRs this can introduce additional complexity and reliability issues [29].

$$\Delta IL_{o} \approx \frac{T}{2} \frac{\left(\frac{V_{in}}{n} - V_{o}\right) D_{eff}}{L_{o}}$$
(62)

$$\begin{cases} iC_{o} \approx \frac{\left(\frac{V_{in}}{n} - V_{o}\right)}{L_{o}} t - \frac{\Delta IL_{o}}{2} , t \in \left[0, D_{eff} \frac{T}{2}\right] \\ AU_{o} = V_{o}\left(t - D_{o} \frac{T}{2}\right) , t \in \left[0, T_{o} \frac{T}{2}\right] \end{cases}$$
(63)

$$\left(iC_{o} \approx \frac{\Delta IL_{o}}{2} - \frac{v_{o}(t-D_{eff_{2}})}{L_{o}}, t \in \left[D_{eff_{2}}, \frac{T}{2}\right]$$

$$vC_{o,ripple} = C_{o,ESR}iC_o + \int_0^t \frac{IC_o}{C_o} dt + V_{o,ripple}\Big|_{t=0}$$
(64)

$$VC_{o,ripple,min} = \frac{(V_o n - V_{in})(16C_o^2 C_{o,ESR}^2 + D_{eff}^2 T^2)}{32C_o L_o n}$$
(65)

$$VC_{o,ripple,max} = \frac{V_{o}(4C_{o}^{2}C_{o,ESR}^{2} + D_{eff}^{2}T^{2})}{8C_{o}L_{o}}$$
(66)

A side effect of L_o value is the available energy for the ZVS transitions on the primary side of the converter. In the simplified model, not considering the effect of the clamping diodes, because $I_{p,lead}$ increases and $I_{p,lag}$ decreases for bigger output current ripples, the ZVS range of the lagging leg is extended for larger values of L_o . However, because of the effect of the clamping diodes in the lagging position, both $I_{p,lead}$ and $I_{p,lag}$ increase for larger output current ripples, and the ZVS range of the lagging leg can be further extended with smaller values of L_o (Figure 12).

In the realization of L_o a low permeability core is preferred because maintains a more stable value of inductance along the load and the core losses are normally lower. For a given core geometry and core material the core losses and copper losses can be balanced adjusting the number of turns and the number of parallel wires. However, the available winding room in the core limits the possible combinations. In Figure 13 we compare the effect of only changing the number of turns in the output choke of the optimized prototype design: 1.88 μ H corresponds to the five turns of five parallel wires of the prototype; 2.70 μ H corresponds to six turns and five parallel wires; 1.20 μ H corresponds to four turns and five wires; and 3.68 μ H to seven turns and five wires. Although for the estimation of losses in Figure 13 the number of wires or their diameter has not been adjusted the impact on the conduction losses is already visible because of the variations in winding length.



Figure 12. Available energy for the ZVS transitions depending on the value of the output inductor Lo. At 10 % of load. (a) Simplified model without clamping diodes. (b) With primary side clamping diodes in the lagging leg.



F. PRIMARY SIDE HVS MOSFETS AND SECONDARY SIDE SRS LV MOSFETS

The balance of switching losses and conduction losses for the different $R_{ds,on}$ allows the balance of the efficiency curve. The possible values are limited to the available portfolio of the selected MOSFET technology. Unfortunately there have been reports of failures of the primary HV MOSFETs during load jumps, light-load operation and start-up of the converter. The failure modes are linked to the incomplete clearance of the reverse recovery charge of the intrinsic body diode followed by the turn-on of the opposite half bridge device, so called hard-commutation. The remaining charge creates a large current at turn-on which may cause the failure of the MOSFET. To overcome this problem the use of MOSFETs with reduced Q_{rr} and rugged body diode has been suggested in [38]. Therefore, the most recommendable choice for the primary side HV MOSFETs is CoolMOSTM CFD7.

The available $R_{ds,on}$ also depends on the package selection (the package itself contributes to the equivalent resistance). In the optimized prototype all semiconductors are Surface Mount Devices (SMD). The selected $R_{ds,on}$ for the final design is 140 m Ω . The resulting efficiency for a few of the available $R_{ds,on}$ is compared in Figure 14. Because of the large available ZVS energy of the converter 115 m Ω is performing nearly better in all load range. The final selection of $R_{ds,on}$ is a matter of cost.





G. SECONDARY SIDE SRS LV MOSFETS

The voltage class selection of the SRs is key for the final performance of the system. The voltage class influences heavily on the MOSFET characteristics, frequently benchmarked by their Figure Of Merit (FOM) [39]. A summary of the characteristics of two devices with similar R_{ds,on} in Table 2 shows the influence of the blocking voltage in their characteristic charges and forward voltage drop, which ultimately affects the switching and conduction losses. A lower voltage class is enabled by a proper design of the transformer turns ratio, a reduction in the leakage combined with a big external resonant inductance and clamping diodes [29]. Any additional overshoot above the nominal blocking voltage would require to further increase the maximum limits of the blocking voltage capabilities of the rectification devices; or alternatively to use clamping or snubbering mechanisms that bring additional power losses, complexity and cost [22], [25]. Furthermore, it is a common practice in the design of switched mode power supplies (SMPS), to limit the maximum stress on the components (voltage, current, temperature) to a rated percentage of their safe maximum limits under any normal working conditions of the converter [40]. The rating percentage depends on the application, lifetime and reliability requirements, but 80 % is a common choice. For semiconductor devices the commonly rated parameters are the maximum drain voltage and the working temperature.

	TABLE II SI LV MOSFETS	
Parameter	BSC026N80NS5	BSC027N60LS5
V _{DS,max}	80 V	60 V
R _{DS,on,max}	2.6 mΩ @ 25 °C	2.7 mΩ @ 25 °C
Q _{oss}	88 nC	43 nC
Q _{rr}	92 nC	36 nC

Figure 15 shows the impact of the selection of voltage class between the former reference design, with 80 V MOSFETs, and the selection of the optimized prototype design, with 60 V devices. The losses both at light load and full load are higher, which indicates an increase in both the switching and conduction losses that cannot be balanced by $R_{ds,on}$ or paralleled devices. Like for the HV MOSFETs, the selection of the SRs $R_{ds,on}$ can balance the efficiency between light and full load by modifying the distribution of switching to conduction losses.

The number of paralleled devices adds another degree of freedom, at the expense of the extra cost and PCB area. Figure 15 compares the efficiency of different number of rectification devices, which effectively decrease the equivalent resistance of the rectification stage.

The Si-MOSFETs have been widely used to improve power density and efficiency. However, the SiC MOSFET and the GaN HEMT are promising alternatives to achieve high efficiency and high switching frequency. The advantages of Wide Band Gap (WBG) devices are lower parasitic capacitances, lower equivalent $R_{ds,on}$, zero reverse recovery charge and higher operating temperature capabilities. In [41] the efficiency of 2kW PSFB designs based on Si and SiC MOSFETs is measured and compared. In [21] the efficiency improvement in a 500 W PSFB converter with GaN HEMT SRs is verified experimentally.



Figure 15. Efficiency for different LV MOSFETs voltage class and number of devices: (a) Differential efficiencies; (b) Differential losses.

H. INPUT AND OUTPUT CAPACITANCE

The previous analysis demonstrates the influence of the input and output capacitances in the hold-up time operation and the output voltage ripple. However, the capacitors occupy large a volume and are costly, which will ultimately constraint their selection. Although the leakage current of the capacitors adds some losses, these losses are relatively small and in general can be dismissed.

I. SWITCHING FREQUENCY SELECTION. BALANCE OF LOSSES

The switching frequency is a key parameter to be optimized for the converter. A specific frequency achieves its maximum efficiency only under a given set of operating conditions. In [15] a variable switching frequency control method has been adopted in a PSFB DCDC converter to improve the efficiency. This method imply wide variations in switching frequency, which makes it difficult to design filter and control circuits, so these techniques are hard to implement in the PSFB converter.

For the two designs in this document the switching frequency was selected to be in the range of 100 kHz and all the other design variables chosen consequently. The transformer construction and the magnetics volume have the major impact in the resulting range of optimum switching frequencies for the converter, and/or vice versa. Figure 16 plots the efficiency patterns of the optimized prototype for different switching frequencies. For the point of load of interest (50 %) the estimated peak efficiency is reached around the target switching frequency.



Figure 16. Efficiency plot of the system as a function of the switching frequency. Not including fan. Keeping the wide input design maintaining a minimum freewheeling time (Lr is updated for each frequency in consequence).



Figure 17. Performance comparison for different switching frequencies: (a) Differential efficiencies; (b) Differential losses.

Figure 16 compares the overall system efficiency along the load range only modifying the switching frequency in the optimized prototype design, which was designed for peak efficiency at 50 % of load at 100 kHz F_{sw} . In the estimation of efficiencies L_r was also modified to account for the different freewheeling times available when the switching frequency changes. As depicted on Figure 17 the efficiency at 100 % of load peaks at 90 kHz F_{sw} , like previously reported in Figure 16.

J. THERMAL MANAGEMENT

Although the fan consumption is normally not taken into account while measuring efficiency for the 80 plus certification, the temperature of the converter has a major impact on the performance. Most of the losses contributions have a positive coefficient in relation to the temperature: the $R_{ds,on}$ of MOSFETs increases with temperature, like also does the resistance of the metallic conductors. However, some of the losses have a negative temperature coefficient: the forward voltage drop of diodes decreases with temperature; and the core losses of some magnetic materials has a minimum at a relatively high temperature. Controlling the temperature, or the fan speed, could impact notably the efficiency along all the load range.

K. INPUT AND OUTPUT VOLTAGE

Whereas the output voltage depends on the application and it is usually fixed to a certain value, the nominal input voltage can be adjusted taking into account the previously discussed hold-up time requirements. Moreover, other system restrictions apply: the bulk voltage has to be higher than the maximum VAC peak voltage for the PFC functionality to work (the front end is most commonly a boost converter). For the PSFB DCDC converter the efficiency is higher for lower input voltages mostly because of the reduction in switching, core losses and magnetizing currents. For the results in Figure 18 and Figure 19 the converter design was fixed only varying the input voltage operating point and the output voltage operating point, consequently the freewheeling time and the circulating currents are also reduced.



Increasing the output voltage operation point has a similar effect than reducing the input voltage reducing the freewheeling time and the circulating currents. However, this is usually fixed by the application requirements. In the intended application, in server power supplies typically 12 V.



Figure 19. Performance comparison for different nominal output voltages: (a) Differential efficiency; (b) Differential losses.

IV. COMPARISON OF TWO PSFB CONVERTER DESIGNS

In this section two different designs of DCDC PSFB converters for server applications are compared. Both converters have a maximum power of 1.4kW, same input voltage range, nominal input voltage 400 V and 12 V output voltage. The first design serves as a reference with state-of-the-art performance levels. The second converter has been designed with the provided loss model and design criteria. The new design improves the performance of the reference design in all working conditions while also achieving a higher power density.

A. SUMMARY OF SPECIFICATIONS

For a fair comparison, both converters have the same basic requirements, summarized in Table 3, targeting the front-end DCDC converter of a full PSU for server applications. The nominal operating voltage is 400 V, while the converters should be capable of regulation at full load down to 360 V required during hold-up time. The nominal output voltage is 12 V. During dynamic load jumps the overshoot and undershoot should fall within less than ± 5 % of the nominal output voltage. The load jumps are defined from 5% to 50% of load and from 50% of load up to 100% of load with a *di/dt* of 1A/µs.

TABLE III Summary of converter design specifications				
Parameter Minimum Nominal Maximum				
Vin	360	400	415	
Vout	11.5	12	12.5	
Iout	0	-	117	

B. SUMMARY OF DESIGN DATA

Both designs use the same HV MOSFETs technology, 600 V CoolMOS[™] CFD7 from Infineon Technologies AG. The reference design mounts through-hole devices, which are capable of higher power dissipation. The optimized design mounts all semiconductor switches in SMD. Although the power dissipation could be more challenging, an SMD solution achieves easily higher power density with less building complexity. In the new design

the $R_{ds,on}$ of the HV MOSFETs is slightly reduced (Table 4 and Table 5) taking advantage of the higher amount of energy available for the ZVS transitions at light loads.

The voltage class of the secondary side rectifier MOSFETs has been improved from 80V in the reference design down to 60V in the new optimized design. The improved transformer construction (less leakage), improved PCB layout, bigger value of external resonant inductance together with novel control techniques ensure that the drain voltage overshoot remains well within rated limits in all working conditions of the new converter. The better figure of merit of the 60 V technology enables the usage of lower R_{ds,on} and higher number of devices without sacrificing light or medium load efficiency thanks to the comparative reduction in switching and driving losses.

TABLE IV PRIMARY SIDE HV MOSFETS AND SRS MOSFETS IN REFERENCE DESIGN				
Designator	Part Number	Units	V(BR)DSS	R _{DS,on}
Bridge (Q1-Q4)	IPP60R170CFD7	4	600 V	170 mΩ
SR (Q5-Q6)	BSC026N80NS5	8	80 V	2.6 mΩ

TABLE V				
PRIMARY SIDE HV MOSFETS AND SRS MOSFETS IN OPTIMIZED DESIGN				
Designator	Part Number	Units	V(BR)DSS	R _{DS,on}
Bridge (Q1-Q4)	IPL60R140CFD7	4	600 V	$140 \text{ m}\Omega$
SR (Q5-Q6)	BSC016N60NS5	12	60 V	1.6 mΩ

The transformer turns ratio is very similar in both cases (44:2:2) and (21:1:1). The higher number of primary turns of the reference design reduces notably the core losses at light and medium loads, furthermore aided by the smaller core volume (Table 6 and Table 7). However, the high number of turns and the smaller room for the windings penalizes heavily on the conduction losses at full load. The new design has a more balanced relation between core and conduction losses among light, medium and full load. Moreover, the novel mechanical construction improves the coupling and reduces the leakage without excessive impact on the intra-winding and interwinding capacitances thanks to the usage of an isolation with low dielectric constant.

TABLE VI					
INDUCTANCE VALUES AND THEIR WINDING REALIZATION IN REFERENCE DESIGN					
Designator	Inductance	Turns	Windings	Strands	Diameter
Lm	1.2 mH	44	1	1	0.35 mm
Lr	12 µH	6	1	105	0.071 mm
Lo	5.65 µH	6	5	1	1.25 mm

TABLE VII					
INDUCT	INDUCTANCE VALUES AND THEIR WINDING REALIZATION IN OPTIMIZED DESIGN				
Designator	Inductance	Turns	Windings	Strands	Diameter
Lm	1.2 mH	21	2	7	0.3 mm
Lr	29.5 µH	8	1	140	0.1 mm
Lo	1.88 µH	5	5	1	1.45 mm

The nominal magnetizing inductance is equal in both designs, aiming to reduce the circulating currents. The external resonant inductance, however, is twice as big in the optimized design, which extends the full ZVS range for the lagging leg down to almost no load, whereas in the former reference design the lagging leg is partially hard switched up to near full load (further exacerbated by the clamping diodes position).

In the new design the output inductance value has been reduced using a core with lower permeability material but improved core losses (Table 8 and Table 9). The balance of core losses to conduction losses has been also improved reducing the number of turns and increasing the wire diameter. Furthermore, the smaller output inductance provides additional energy for the lagging leg ZVS, as previously analyzed.

		TABLE VIII		
MAGNETIC CORE SELECTION IN REFERENCE DESIGN				
Designator	Part Number	Manufacturer	Material	Permeability
Tr. Core	EQ30	TDG	TP4A	2400 μ
Lr. Core	EQ30	TDG	TP4A	2400 µ
Lo. Core	C058930A2	Magnetics	High Flux	125 µ

TABLE IX					
MAGNETIC CORE SELECTION IN OPTIMIZED DESIGN					
Designator	Part Number	Manufacturer	Material	Permeability	
Tr. Core	PQ35/28	DMEGC	DMR95	3300 µ	
Lr. Core	PQI35/23	DMEGC	DMR95	3300 µ	
Lo. Core	HP 270	Chang Sung	HP	60 µ	

The stacked magnetic structure integrated by the transformer and the external resonant inductance has a bigger core volume in the new design, which incurs in higher core losses and impacts in the light and medium load



converter losses. On the other hand, there is more room for the windings which enables more conduction area and decreases the conduction losses at medium and full load.

Figure 20. Prototypes of PSFB DCDC converter for server applications: (a) Original reference design; (b) Optimized design.

V. RESULTS

Two prototypes of PSFB converter, one of the reference design [42] and one of the new optimized design [43] were built and tested to compare their performance. Figure 20 shows a capture of both converters. While the reference design operates with open frame, the new design operates within an enclosure, not shown in Figure 20 for clarity. Many of the building components among the two converters are the same and have no impact on the difference in performance: input capacitor (size and model), output capacitors (size and model, but not number), fan, auxiliary bias supply and controller. The overall dimensions of the reference designs are 150 mm x 70 mm x 44 mm, which results in a power density in the range of 3.03 W/cm^3 (49.66 W/in³). The overall dimensions of the new design are 133 mm x 64.5 mm x 44 mm, which results in a power density in the range of 3.70 W/cm^3 (60.78 W/in³).

C. SUMMARY OF PERFORMANCE

Figure 21 shows the measure efficiency of the reference and the new design. The efficiency was notably improved in all load range. Table 10 is a summary of the requirements for the back-end PFC ACDC converter, which may accompany the new PSFB design in a full PSU achieving one of the 80 PLUS certification level (Table 1). This demonstrates the impact of the efficiency of the front-end DCDC stage in the final efficiency of the system and/or the imposed constraints on the back-end stage by a poorly designed DCDC. The efficiency levels for the ACDC PFC stage listed in Table 10 for the 80 PLUS Platinum can be achieved with a classic Continuous Conduction Mode (CCM) Boost converter with passive diode bridge rectification. This confirms the suitability of the design for an 80 PLUS Platinum server PSU. However, the required PFC efficiency levels for the 80 PLUS Titanium listed in Table 10 are beyond the levels commonly achieved with classic topologies.



Figure 21. Overall efficiency of the converters, including fan consumption. (a) Original reference design. (b) New optimized design.

SUMMARY OF EFFICIENCY REQUIREMENTS FOR BACK-END PFC ACDC STAGE				
80 PLUS Certification	230 V Internal Redundant (PFC ACDC stage)			
% of Rated Load	10 %	20 %	50 %	100 %
80 PLUS Bronze	-	84.5 %	87.7 %	84.6 %
80 PLUS Silver	-	88.7 %	91.9 %	88.8 %
80 PLUS Gold	-	91.8 %	95.0 %	91.9 %
80 PLUS Platinum	-	93.9 %	97.0 %	95.1 %
80 PLUS Titanium	96.9 %	98.1 %	99.1 %	95.1 %

TABLE X

The calculated efficiency was based on the losses model presented previously in this document which was further adjusted based on the measurements of efficiency and temperature of the different components in the converter. The losses model and its adjustment based on the measurements of the real hardware allows the estimation of the losses distribution of the two converters for the different points of load. The estimated distribution of losses is summarized in Figure 22. From the estimations, in both designs the main losses contribution corresponds to the stacked magnetic structure integrated by the transformer and the external resonant inductance. Table 11 and Table 12 details the previous Figure 22 numerically.

At full load, the difference in losses between the reference design and the new design is near 25 W. The extra losses make much more difficult to cool down the converter. This is confirmed by the position of the fan in the reference design, directly blowing over the integrated magnetic structure and the SRs.



Figure 22. Overall estimation of losses based in the loss model and the experimental results. (a) Reference design. (b) Optimized design.

SUMMARY OF THE DISTRIBUTION OF LOSSES IN THE REFERENCE DESIGN				
Contribution	100% Load	50% Load	20% Load	
Bias	0.96 W	0.96 W	0.96 W	
Fan	3.45 W	3.45 W	3.45 W	
Tr. Core	0.53 W	1.28 W	1.59 W	
Tr. Conduction	29.98 W	6.53 W	1.07 W	
Lr Core	0.18 W	0.08 W	0.02 W	
Lr Conduction	1.20 W	0.26 W	0.04 W	
Lo Core	0.58 W	0.58 W	0.58 W	
Lo Conduction	9.65 W	2.17 W	0.33 W	
Bridge Conduction	11.24 W	2.29 W	0.33 W	
Bridge Switching	0.42 W	0.42 W	1.29 W	
Bridge Driving	0.18 W	0.18 W	0.18 W	
SRs Conduction	10.29 W	2.63 W	0.48 W	
SRs Switching	4.33 W	3.70 W	3.35 W	
SRs Driving	0.89 W	0.89 W	0.89 W	
Clamping Diodes	0.9 W	1.30 W	1.50 W	
Capacitors	3.28 W	1.13 W	0.53 W	
PCB	10.32 W	2.58 W	0.41 W	
Total	88.38 W	30.43 W	17.00 W	

TABLE XI

SUMMARY OF THE DISTRIBUTION OF LOSSES IN THE OPTIMIZED DESIGN				
Contribution	100% Load	50% Load	20% Load	
Bias	0.96 W	0.96 W	0.96 W	
Fan	3.45 W	1.55 W	0.60 W	
Tr. Core	2.37 W	2.37 W	2.37 W	
Tr. Conduction	13.04 W	3.61 W	0.96 W	
Lr Core	0.30 W	0.15 W	0.05 W	
Lr Conduction	0.64 W	0.17 W	0.04 W	
Lo Core	0.39 W	0.39 W	0.39 W	
Lo Conduction	6.18 W	1.43 W	0.23 W	
Bridge Conduction	10.05 W	2.51 W	0.53 W	
Bridge Switching	0.49 W	0.42 W	0.42 W	
Bridge Driving	0.22 W	0.22 W	0.22 W	
SRs Conduction	5.19 W	1.28 W	0.25 W	
SRs Switching	3.26 W	2.10 W	1.40 W	
SRs Driving	1.17 W	1.17 W	1.17 W	
Clamping Diodes	1.47 W	1.67 W	1.77 W	
Capacitors	3.65 W	1.25 W	0.58 W	
PCB	12.33 W	3.09 W	0.50 W	
Total	65.16 W	24.34 W	12.44 W	

TABLE XII SUMMARY OF THE DISTRIBUTION OF LOSSES IN THE OPTIMIZED DESIGN

Table 13 details the difference between the components losses of the reference design and the improved design. Although in some of the losses contribution the losses actually have increased, the overall result is a general improvement in all points of load. In Table 13 it can be observed that the main improvements come from the transformer conduction and the SRs (conduction and switching), the output inductor (conduction and core), L_r conduction, the fan and the HV bridge (conduction and switching).

TABLE XIII
SUMMARY OF DIFFERENCE OF LOSSES BETWEEN THE OPTIMIZED AND THE REFERENCE DESIGNS

C. A.B. C.	100% Load.	50% Load.	20% Load.
Contribution	Difference	Difference	Difference
Bias	0 W	0 W	0 W
Fan	0 W	-1.9 W	-2.85 W
Tr. Core	1.84 W	1.09 W	0.78 W
Tr. Conduction	-16.94 W	-2.92 W	-0.11 W
Lr Core	0.12 W	0.07 W	0.03 W
Lr Conduction	-0.56 W	-0.09 W	0 W
Lo Core	-0.19 W	-0.19 W	-0.19 W
Lo Conduction	-3.47 W	-0.74 W	-0.1 W
Bridge Conduction	-1.19 W	0.22 W	0.2 W
Bridge Switching	0.07 W	0 W	-0.87 W
Bridge Driving	0.04 W	0.04 W	0.04 W
SRs Conduction	-5.1 W	-1.35 W	-0.23 W
SRs Switching	-1.07 W	-1.6 W	-1.95 W
SRs Driving	0.28 W	0.28 W	0.28 W
Clamping Diodes	0.57 W	0.37 W	0.27 W
Capacitors	0.37 W	0.12 W	0.05 W
PCB	2.01 W	0.51 W	0.09 W
Total	-23.22 W	-6.09 W	-4.56 W

D. WAVEFORMS REFERENCE DESIGN

The steady state operation of the reference design was tested and summarized in the captures in this section.

It was already analyzed in the previous sections the different energy available for the ZVS transitions of the leading and the lagging leg of the primary side bridge. Figure 23 shows captures of the leading leg drain and gate voltages at different loads. Whereas Figure 24 shows captures of the lagging leg drain and gate voltage also operating at different loads.

The leading leg operates in full ZVS in all load range of the converter, which can be observed in the gate voltages in Figure 23, where the drain voltage is zero prior to the gate voltage rising and no Miller Plateau can be observed. The full bridge is driven with an isolated pulse transformer which outputs $\pm V_{drive}$. Only during the dead time the gate voltage is zero. Certain C_{gd} feedback can be observed at higher loads where the dv/dt of the V_{DS} transition increases because of the higher starting currents involved in the resonant transition.



Figure 23. Turn-on switching waveforms of the low side switch of the leading leg at different loads ($I_{o,avg}$). (a) 25 A. (b) 60 A. (c) 75 A. (d) 117 A.

The lagging leg achieves full ZVS only at full load (Figure 24). The main reasons for the lack of energy for the ZVS transitions are the small external resonant inductance and the position of the clamping diodes. The reference design mounts the clamping diodes in the leading leg. The clamping diodes in the leading leg reduces circulating currents and conduction losses all along the load range of the converter. However it also reduces the current through L_r at the end of the freewheeling stage, which directly impacts the energy available for ZVS.

The lack of energy for the ZVS transitions of the leading leg increases the switching losses. Moreover, because of the non-linearity of the output capacitance of super-junction MOSFETs, the optimum dead time varies non-linearly with the load. The non-linear variation of the dead times makes it difficult to optimize the control with may further increase the switching losses. Further aggravated by the variation of capacitances and inductances between the components in different converters.





(c) (d) Figure 24. Turn-on switching waveforms of the low side switch of the lagging leg at different loads ($I_{o,avg}$). (a) 25 A of load; (b) 60 A of load; (c) 75 A of load; (d) 117 A of load (100 %).

Moreover, the fast dv/dt induced by the partial hard switching of the leading leg impacts on the secondary side overshoot at light loads. It can be observed in Figure 25 how the overshoot of the SRs is higher at light load in the former converter, exceeding the 80 % rating of the 80 V breakdown limit.

These results corroborate the drawbacks of the clamping diodes on the leading leg position, and support the recommendation of placing them in the lagging leg, instead.



Figure 25. SRs drain voltage overshoot: (a) Working at 140 W of output power (10 % of load); (b) Working at 1400 W of output power (full load).

Figure 26 shows in more detail the secondary side overshoot of the SRs in steady state and the effect on the primary side current of the clamping diodes on the leading leg position.



Figure 26. Detail on the SRs overshoot and the primary side current with the clamping diodes on the leading leg position.

E. WAVEFORMS OF NEW OPTIMIZED DESIGN

The leading leg of the new design achieves full ZVS above 20 % of the load (Figure 27). Moreover, it achieves nearly full ZVS down to no load. The lagging leg, like in the reference design achieves also full ZVS along all load range. However, the C_{gd} feedback effects on the gate voltage at full load are less noticeable thanks to the improved layout and driving scheme.



Figure 27. Primary side HV MOSFETs ZVS: (a) ZVS at 20 A of load; (b) ZVS at full load.

The overshoot on the secondary side rectifiers is very much improved in all load range, and well within the 80 % rated limit of the 60 V breakdown voltage (Figure 28).

Near no load, both the reference design and the optimized design, implement burst mode operation. The burst mode operation enables soft switching at no load operation. Figure 29 shows captures of the drain voltage overshoot on the primary side devices and the secondary side devices of the optimized converter. Also in burst mode operation the drain and gate voltages remain well within their rated limits.

Load jumps are usually considered critic for the PSFB topology. Figure 30 shows a capture of dynamic load jumps where the reader can observe that the drain voltage of the primary and secondary switches is well within the limits.



Figure 28. SRs drain voltage overshoot: (a) Working at 140 W of output power (10 % of load); (b) Working at 1400 W of output power (full load).



Figure 29. SRs and HV bridge MOSFETs overshoot during BURST: (a) SRs drain voltage overshoot; (b) HV bridge overshoot.



Figure 30. SRs overshoot during load jump

VI. CONCLUSIONS

Since the server power supplies consume an enormous amount of power, the most critical issue is high efficiency. In order to implement a high efficiency and high power density server PSU, PSFB converter with SRs MOSFETs, external resonant inductor and clamping diodes is the perfect topology for the DCDC stage. Its main characteristic is the wide ZVS operation from mid to full load, nearly suppressing switching losses. Moreover, the constant switching frequency allows a simple control and EMI design. One of the major advantages of PSFB over other resonant soft-switching topologies is the comparatively lower *rms* currents through the converter thanks to the output filter inductance. However, hold-up time regulation requirement makes PSFB converter not to be operated with its maximum effective duty in nominal conditions and causes long freewheeling period.

The design of a high efficiency PSFB converter is a complex problem with many degrees of freedom which requires of a sufficiently accurate modeling of the losses of the converter and of efficient design criteria. In this work a losses model of the converter has been proposed as well as design guidelines for the efficiency optimization of the PSFB converter. The losses model and the criteria have been tested with the redesign of an existing reference PSFB DCDC converter for server applications that achieved 95.85 % of efficiency at 50 % of load. The new converter was designed following the same specifications as the reference: 1400 W of maximum power; 400 V nominal input voltage; hold-up regulation down to 360 V input voltage; and 12 V output. The new optimized prototype of PSFB converter was built and tested achieving a peak efficiency of 96.68 % at 50 % of load, notably exceeding the performance of the reference converter in all load range and operating conditions.

The main differences between both designs are related to the magnetics construction, with an improved balance of core and conduction losses along the load range of the converter. Furthermore, the transformer turns ratio and the dimensioning of the external resonant inductance enabled lower $R_{ds,on}$ in the primary side HV devices and lower voltage class (and consequently also lower $R_{ds,on}$) in the secondary side LV devices. Moreover, all semiconductors in the new optimized design are SMD, which together with the high efficiency at full load enables a power density in the range of 3.70 W/cm³ (60.78 W/in³).

In summary, the key of an efficient and reliable DCDC PSFB converter in this power range and output voltage is in the magnetics design, more specifically the transformer and the external resonant inductance. This demonstrates that the PSFB converter is a relatively simple and efficient topology for DCDC converter applications at the level of fully resonant topologies.

REFERENCES

- Emami, Z.; Nikpendar, M.; Shafiei, N., Motahari, S.R. Leading and lagging legs power loss analysis in ZVS Phase-Shift Full Bridge converter. 2011 2nd Power Electronics, Drive Systems and Technologies Conference, Tehran, 2011, pp. 632-637; doi: 10.1109/pedstc.2011.5742497
- [2] Climate Savers Computing Initiative (CSCI). Available online: http://www.climatesaverscomputing.org (accessed on 28 August 2019).
- [3] 80Plus Program. Available online: http://www.plugloadsolutions.com (accessed on 28 August 2019).
- [4] Kim, D.; Kim, C.; Moon, G. A new control method in Phase-Shifted Full-bridge converter for reduced power consumption under light load conditions. IECON 2012 - 38th Annual Conference on IEEE Industrial Electronics Society, Montreal, Canada, 2012, pp. 86-91; doi: 10.1109/IECON.2012.6388826.
- [5] Jeong, Y.; Kim, J.; Lim, C.; Kim, D.; Baek, J.; Moon, G. A strategic control scheme of phase-shift full bridge converter for improving light-load efficiency in server power system. 2015 9th International Conference on Power Electronics and ECCE Asia (ICPE-ECCE Asia), Seoul, 2015, pp. 488-494; doi: 10.1109/ICPE.2015.7167830.
- [6] Kim, C. Optimal Dead-time Control Scheme for Extended ZVS Range and Burst-mode Operation of Phase-Shift Full-Bridge (PSFB) Converter at Very Light Load. *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* early access; doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2019.2896322.
- [7] Kolar, J.W. et al. PWM Converter Power Density Barriers. 2007 Power Conversion Conference Nagoya, Nagoya, 2007, pp. P-9-P-29; doi: 10.1109/PCCON.2007.372914.
- [8] Kathiresan, R.; Parthiban, T.; Das, P.; Pahlevaninezhad, M. Analysis of a ZVS DC-DC full-bridge converter with natural hold-up time. 2015 IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition (ECCE), Montreal, QC, 2015, pp. 1521-1527; doi: 10.1109/ECCE.2015.7309874.
- [9] Badstuebner, U.; Biela, J.; Faessler, B.; Hoesli, D.; Kolar, J.W. An Optimized 5 kW, 147 W/in3 Telecom Phase-Shift DC-DC Converter with Magnetically Integrated Current Doubler. 2009 Twenty-Fourth Annual IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition, Washington, DC, 2009, pp. 21-27; doi: 10.1109/APEC.2009.4802627.
- [10] Cao, Q.; Li, Z.; Wang, H. Wide Voltage Gain Range LLC DC/DC Topologies: State-of-the-Art. 2018 International Power Electronics Conference (IPEC-Niigata 2018 - ECCE Asia), Niigata, 2018, pp. 100-107.
- [11] Yang, B.; Lee, F.C.; Zhang, A.J.; Huang G. LLC resonant converter for front end DC/DC conversion. APEC. Seventeenth Annual IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (Cat. No.02CH37335), Dallas, TX, USA, 2002, Volume 2, pp. 1108-1112; doi: 10.1109/APEC.2002.989382.
- [12] Castro I. et al. Analytical Switching Loss Model for Superjunction MOSFET With Capacitive Nonlinearities and Displacement Currents for DC–DC Power Converters. *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 2016, Volume 31, no. 3, pp. 2485-2495; doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2015.2433017.
- [13] Badstuebner, U.; Biela, J.; Kolar, J.W. Design of an 99%-efficient, 5kW, phase-shift PWM DC-DC converter for telecom applications. 2010 Twenty-Fifth Annual IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC), Palm Springs, CA, 2010, pp. 773-780; doi: 10.1109/APEC.2010.5433582.
- [14] Cho. I.; Cho, K.; Kim, J.; Moon, G. A New Phase-Shifted Full-Bridge Converter With Maximum Duty Operation for Server Power System. *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 2011, Volume 26, no. 12, pp. 3491-3500; doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2011.2129532.
- [15] Zhao, L.; Li, H.; Liu, Y.; Li, Z. High Efficiency Variable-Frequency Full-Bridge Converter with a Load Adaptive Control Method Based on the Loss Model. *Energies* 2015, 8, pp. 2647-2673; doi: 10.3390/en8042647.
- [16] Yin, L.; Chen, Q.; Peng, B.; Wang, J.; Ruan, X. Key Issues of Clamping Diodes in DCM Phase-Shift Full-Bridge Converter. 2007 IEEE Power Electronics Specialists Conference, Orlando, Florida, 2007, pp. 1721-1725; doi: 10.1109/PESC.2007.4342258.
- [17] Ruan, X. Soft-Switching PWM Full-Bridge Converters, 1st ed.; John Wiley & Sons Singapore Pte. Ltd.: Singapore, China, 2014, pp. 1-66, 121-147, 181-198.
- [18] Phung A.; Meunier, G.; Chadebec, O.; Margueron, X.; Keradec, J. High-Frequency Proximity Losses Determination for Rectangular Cross-Section Conductors. *IEEE Transactions on Magnetics*, 2007, Volume 43, no. 4, pp. 1213-1216; doi: 10.1109/TMAG.2007.892303.
- [19] Finite Element Method Magnetics : HomePage. Available online: http://www.femm.info/wiki/HomePage (accessed on 10 September 2019).
- [20] Krismer, F.; Biela, J.; Kolar, J.W. A comparative evaluation of isolated bi-directional DC/DC converters with wide input and output voltage range. Fourtieth IAS Annual Meeting. Conference Record of the 2005 Industry Applications Conference, Kowloon, Hong Kong, 2005, Volume 1, pp. 599-606; doi: 10.1109/IAS.2005.1518368.
- [21] Yoo, J.; Joo, D.; Kim, H.; Kim, J. Implementation of a phase shift full-bridge converter for LDC using GaN HEMT. 2017 20th International Conference on Electrical Machines and Systems (ICEMS), Sydney, New South Wales, 2017, pp. 1-5; doi: 10.1109/ICEMS.2017.8056323.
- [22] Zeljkovic, S.; Reiter T.; Gerling, D. Analysis of rectifier topologies for automotive HV to LV phase shift ZVT DC/DC converter. 2012 15th International Power Electronics and Motion Control Conference (EPE/PEMC), Novi Sad, Serbia, 2012, pp. DS1b.4-1-DS1b.4-7; doi: 10.1109/EPEPEMC.2012.6397205.
- [23] Alou, P.; Oliver, J.A.; Garcia, O.; Prieto, R.; Cobos, J.A. Comparison of current doubler rectifier and center tapped rectifier for low voltage applications. Twenty-First Annual IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition, 2006, Dallas, Texas, 2006, pp. 7 pp.-; doi: 10.1109/APEC.2006.1620622.
- [24] Roig, J.; Bauwens, F. Origin of Anomalous Coss Hysteresis in Resonant Converters With Superjunction FETs. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, 2015, Volume 62, no. 9, pp. 3092-3094; doi: 10.1109/TED.2015.2455072.
- [25] Badstuebner, U.; Biela, J.; Kolar, J.W. An optimized, 99% efficient, 5 kW, phase-shift PWM DC-DC converter for data centers and telecom applications. The 2010 International Power Electronics Conference - ECCE ASIA -, Sapporo, Japan, 2010, pp. 626-634; doi: 10.1109/IPEC.2010.5543337.
- [26] Kasper, M.; Burkart, R.M.; Deboy, G.; Kolar, J.W. ZVS of Power MOSFETs Revisited. *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, 2016, Volume 31, no. 12, pp. 8063-8067; doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2016.2574998.
- [27] Chen, Q. et al. Phase-shifted full-bridge PWM converter with clamping diodes and current transformer. 2008 IEEE Power Electronics Specialists Conference, Rhodes, Greece, 2008, pp. 2403-2409; doi: 10.1109/PESC.2008.4592301.

- [28] Ruan, X.; Liu, F. An Improved ZVS PWM Full-bridge Converter with Clamping Diodes. 2004 35th Annual IEEE Power Electronics Specialists Conference (IEEE Cat. No 04CH37551), Aachen, Germany, 2004, Volume 2, pp. 1476-1481; doi: 10.1109/PESC.2004.1355642.
- [29] Escudero, M.; Kutschak, M.; Meneses, D.; Rodriguez, N.; Morales, D.P.; Synchronous rectifiers drain voltaje overshoot reduction in PSFB converters. *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, 2019, manuscript submitted for publication.
- [30] Paul, S.; Schlaffer, A.M.; Nossek, J.A. Optimal charging of capacitors. *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Fundamental Theory and Applications*, 2000, Volume 47, no. 7, pp. 1009–1016; doi: 10.1109/81.855456.
- [31] Perrin, Y.; Galisultanov, A.; Fanet, H.; Pillonnet, G. Optimal Charging of Nonlinear Capacitors. *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, 2019, Volume 34, no. 6, pp. 5023-5026; doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2018.2881557.
- [32] Mößlacher, C. et al. Improving Efficiency of Synchronous Rectification by Analysis of the Mosfet Power Loss Mechanism, PCIM 2009 proceedings, Nürnberg, Germany, 2009.
- [33] Mao, H.; Abu-Qahouq, J.A.; Qiu, W.; Wen, Y.; Batarseh, I. Lossless snubber circuits for current doubler rectifiers to reduce reverserecovery losses. IECON'03. 29th Annual Conference of the IEEE Industrial Electronics Society (IEEE Cat. No.03CH37468), Roanoke, Virginia, USA, 2003, Volume 3, pp. 2639-2644; doi: 10.1109/IECON.2003.1280664.
- [34] Muhlethaler J.; Biela, J.; Kolar, J.W.; Ecklebe, A. Improved Core-Loss Calculation for Magnetic Components Employed in Power Electronic Systems. *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, 2012, Volume 27, no. 2, pp. 964-973; doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2011.2162252.
- [35] Mao, S.; Popovic, J.; Ramabhadran, R.; Ferreira, J.A. Comparative study of half-bridge LCC and LLC resonant DC-DC converters for ultra-wide output power range applications. 2015 17th European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications (EPE'15 ECCE-Europe), Geneva, Switzerland, 2015, pp. 1-10; doi: 10.1109/EPE.2015.7311786.
- [36] Xie, L.; Ruan, X.; Ye, Z. Modeling of common-mode noise in phase-shift full-bridge converter. IECON 2016 42nd Annual Conference of the IEEE Industrial Electronics Society, Florence, Italy, 2016, pp. 1371-1375; doi: 10.1109/IECON.2016.7793794.
- [37] Makda, I.A.; Nymand, M. Common-mode noise analysis, modeling and filter design for a phase-shifted full-bridge forward converter. 2015 IEEE 11th International Conference on Power Electronics and Drive Systems, Sydney, New South Wales, 2015, pp. 1100-1105; doi: 10.1109/PEDS.2015.7203521.
- [38] Deboy, G.; Hancock, J.; Purschel, M.; Wahl, U.; Willmeroth, A. Compensation devices solve failure mode of the phase shift ZVS bridge during light-load operation. APEC. Seventeenth Annual IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (Cat. No.02CH37335), Dallas, Texas, USA, 2002, Volume 2, pp. 988-993; doi: 10.1109/APEC.2002.989365.
- [39] Wang, H.; Wang, F.; Zhang, J. Power Semiconductor Device Figure of Merit for High-Power-Density Converter Design Applications. IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, 2008, Volume 55, no. 1, pp. 466-470.
- [40] IPC, Performance Parameters for Power Conversion Devices, final draft; IPC Association Connecting Electronics Industries, 2007; doi: 10.1109/TED.2007.910573.
- [41] Haihong, Q.; Kefeng, X.; Xin, N.; Ziyue, Z.; Zhiyuan, Z.; Dafeng, F. Characteristics of SiC MOSFET and its application in a phaseshift full-bridge converter. 2016 IEEE 8th International Power Electronics and Motion Control Conference (IPEMC-ECCE Asia), Hefei, China, 2016, pp. 1639-1643; doi: 10.1109/IPEMC.2016.7512539.
- [42] Di Domenico, F.; Schmölzer, B.; Escudero, M.; Raghunath, S. 1400 W ZVS phase shift full bridge evaluation board. Available online: https://www.infineon.com/cms/de/product/evaluation-boards/eval_1k4w_zvs_fb_cfd7 (accessed on 10 September 2019)
- [43] Kutschak, M.; Escudero, M. 1400 W 12 V phase-shift full-bridge with 600 V CoolMOS[™] CFD7 and XMC[™]. Available online: https://www.infineon.com/cms/de/product/evaluation-boards/eval_1k4w_zvs_fb_smd/#!documents (accessed on 10 September 2019)

CHAPTER 10. FOURTH PUBLICATION

Non-linear capacitance of Si SJ MOSFETs in resonant Zero Voltage Switching applications

Manuel Escudero, Matteo-Alessandro Kutschak, Nico Fontana, Noel Rodriguez, and Diego Pedro Morales⁴

- IEEE Access, vol. 8, pp. 116117-116131, 2020, doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2020.3004440.
- Impact factor: 4.098
- JRC rank: (Q1)

Manuscript received May 31, 2020; accepted June 20, 2020. Date of publication July 2, 2020; date of current version July 2, 2020. (Corresponding author: Manuel Escudero.) M. Escudero, M.-A. Kutschak, and N. Fontana are with the Infineon Technologies Austria AG, Villach 9500, Austria (e-mail: Manuel.EscuderoRodriguez@infineon.com; Matteo-Alessandro.Kutschak@infineon.com; Nico.Fontana@infineon.com). D. P. Morales and N. Rodriguez are with the Department of Electronics and Computer Technology, University of Granada, Granada 18071, Spain (e-mail: diegopm@ugr.es; noel@ugr.es).

Abstract— The parasitic capacitances of modern Si SJ MOSFETs are characterized by their non-linearity. At high voltages the total stored energy $E_{oss}(V_{DC})$ in the output capacitance $C_{oss}(v)$ differs substantially from the energy in an equivalent linear capacitor $C_{oss(tr)}$ storing the same amount of charge. That difference requires the definition of an additional equivalent linear capacitor $C_{oss(er)}$ storing the same amount of energy at a specific voltage. However, the parasitic capacitances of current SiC and GaN devices have a more linear distribution of charge along the voltage. Moreover, the equivalent $C_{oss(tr)}$ and $C_{oss(er)}$ of SiC and GaN devices are smaller than the ones of a Si device with a similar $R_{ds,on}$. In this work, the impact of the non-linear distribution of charge in the performance and the design of resonant ZVS converters is analyzed. A Si SJ device is compared to a SiC device of equivalent $C_{oss(tr)}$, and to a GaN device of equivalent $C_{oss(er)}$, in single device topologies and half-bridge based topologies, in full ZVS and in partial or full hard-switching. A prototype of 3300 W resonant LLC DCDC converter, with nominal 400 V input to 52 V output, was designed and built to demonstrate the validity of the analysis.

Index Terms- Hard-switching, non-linear capacitance, resonant converter, Wide Band Gap, Zero Voltage Switching.

NOMENCLATURE

C _{ds}	Drain to source capacitance.
C_{gd}	Gate to drain capacitance.
C_{gs}	Gate to source capacitance.
Ciss	Input capacitance. C_{gs} plus C_{gd} .
C _{oss,1}	Output capacitance of the device turning-on in a half-bridge.
$C_{oss,2}$	Output capacitance of the device turning-off in a half-bridge.
C _{oss(er)}	Effective output capacitance, energy related.
C _{oss(tr)}	Effective output capacitance, time related.
Coss	Output capacitance. C _{ds} plus C _{gd} .
Eind	Energy stored in the series inductor.
Eind,1	Required stored energy in single device topologies.
E _{ind,2}	Required stored energy in single device topologies starting at higher voltage than V_{DC} .
Eind,3	Required stored energy in single device topologies starting at voltage lower than V_{DC} .
Eind,4	Required stored energy for charging Coss,2.
Eind,5	Total required stored energy in half-bridge topologies.
Eind,linr,1	Required stored energy in single device topologies for linear capacitances.
Eind,linr,2	Required stored energy in single device topologies starting at voltage higher than V _{DC} for linear ca-
	pacitances.

E _{ind,linr,3}	Required stored energy in single device topologies starting at voltage lower than V_{DC} for linear ca
	pacitances.
Eoss	Stored energy in the C _{oss} .
E _{oss,linr}	Stored energy in a linear C _{oss} .
i _{ch}	Channel current.
i _d	Drain current.
i_{dg}	Drain to gate current.
i _{ds}	Drain to source current.
Lr	Series resonant inductor.
\mathbf{Q}_{gd}	Stored charge in C _{gd} .
Q _{oss}	Stored charge in C _{oss} .
$V_{gs,max}$	Maximum induced gate to source voltage by the Miller feedback effect.
$V_{G,off}$	Turn-off driving voltage.
V _{Miller}	Miller-Plateau voltage.
R _{ds,on}	Drain to source on-state resistance.
R _g	Integrated gate resistance.
R _{g,off}	Turn-off gate resistance.
R _s	Series resistance.
V _{DC}	Nominal voltage of the converter's supply.
V_{ds}	Drain to source voltage.
V_{end}	Final supply voltage.
V_{start}	Initial supply voltage.
V_{supply}	Converter's supply voltage.
V_{th}	Gate threshold voltage.
$\Delta E_{loss,tot}$	Total energy loss in the hard-switched turn-on transition of a half-bridge.
$\Delta E_{loss,t,linr}$	Total energy loss in the hard-switched turn-on transition of a half-bridge for linear capacitances.
$\Delta E_{loss,2}$	Energy lost in the hard-switched charge of $C_{oss,2}$.
$\Delta E_{loss,2,linr}$	Energy lost in the hard-switched charge of C _{oss,2} for linear capacitances.
$\Delta E_{supply,2}$	Supplied energy for the hard-switched charge of Coss,2.
$\Delta E_{supply,2,linr}$	Supplied energy during the hard-switched. charge of C _{oss,2} for linear capacitances.
ΔQ	Variation of stored charge.
ΔV_{supply}	Variation in the supply voltage.

I. INTRODUCTION

The development of Switched Mode Power Supplies (SMPS) continuously moves towards improvements in efficiency, volume and cost, which can be observed in the trend of high efficiency standards, like the Climate-Savers-Computing Initiative (CSCI) [1] or the 80 PLUS qualification program [2], with increasing requirements extending also to light load operation. The efficiency, volume and cost are parameters of performance closely interdependent in the design of SMPS [3]-[4]. The improvements in one of the parameters often implies a negative impact in one or, often, several of the other ones. It is only through new design paradigms or technology break-throughs that it is possible to push further the limits in terms of efficiency, volume, cost or the overall performance of power converters.

One of the key design paradigms in modern high-efficiency SMPS is the reduction or the elimination of the switching losses in the power semiconductors devices, which has limited traditionally the maximum switching frequencies and, consequently, the maximum power density of the converter. The switching losses can be reduced limiting the overlap of current and voltage during the switching transitions by one of these means: turning the switch at Zero Voltage (ZVS), at Zero Current (ZCS) or a combination of both. The ZVS turn-on of High Voltage (HV) devices is especially beneficial because the high amount of energy stored in the parasitic capacitances would be otherwise lost [5]-[7]. The ZVS can be achieved discharging and charging the parasitic capacitances in a loss-less manner prior to the switching transition.

The charge and discharge of a capacitor can be near lossless when the energy is transferred from an inductor and such transfer is not resistively limited. This can be considered true when the charge and discharge transient is underdamped: the RC time constant of the circuit is several orders of magnitude smaller than the time constant of the LC resonance [8]-[9]. This property is the key attribute in the so-called resonant and quasi-resonant converters, all of which comprise at least one inductor, which charges and discharges the parasitic capacitances of the switches in a resonant manner. Apparently, in some cases a variable series resistance within the output capacitance of power semiconductor devices may limit resistively its charge and discharge causing additional losses that will not be analyzed in this work [10]. Commonly used resonant converter topologies may comprise one single switching device or several of them, stacked in pairs and conforming one or several building blocks, so-called half bridges. Examples of single switch resonant or quasi-resonant topologies are the fly-back and its variants [11], and the Critical Conduction Mode (CrCM) [12] boost converter. For high-power applications are common two switch topologies, like the Transition Conduction Mode (TCM) [13] boost converter and the half-bridge LLC [14], and four switch topologies, like the Phase Shift Full Bridge (PSFB) [15]-[16], the Dual Active Bridge (DAB) [17] and the full-bridge LLC. The general analysis in this work will be applied to the two basic scenarios, a single device and a half-bridge (or stacked devices), which can be conveniently extended to any of the above-mentioned topology examples.

Another key design paradigm in modern high-efficiency SMPS is the reduction of switching losses by the improvement of the characteristics of the switching device itself. Silicon (Si) based power switching devices have continuously improved their Figure Of Merit (FOM) becoming closer and closer to the theoretical limit of the material itself [18]-[19]. Frequently, the improvement of the FOM implies certain side effects on the device characteristics, e.g. the distribution of charge in the parasitic capacitance along the blocking voltage becomes highly non-linear (Fig. 1). The non-linear distribution of charge in the output capacitance of modern Super Junction (SJ) MOSFETs allows the total stored energy to be much less of what would be stored in an equivalent linear capacitor with the same amount of charge $C_{oss(tr)}$ (Fig. 2). This divergence requires the definition of an additional energy related equivalent linear capacitor $C_{oss(tr)}$ (Fig. 3), which would store the same amount of energy than the non-linear output capacitance of the semiconductor switch. The equivalent $C_{oss(tr)}$ (1-4) have been previously defined in the literature [20] and are commonly available in the datasheet of commercial devices.

$$Q_{oss}(V_{DC}) = \int_0^{V_{DC}} C_{oss}(v) \, dv \tag{1}$$

$$C_{oss(tr)}(V_{DC}) = \frac{Q_{oss}(V_{DC})}{V_{DC}}$$
(2)

$$E_{oss}(V_{DC}) = \int_0^{Q_{oss}(V_{DC})} v \, dq = \int_0^{V_{DC}} v \cdot C_{oss}(v) \, dv$$
(3)

$$C_{oss(er)}(V_{DC}) = \frac{2E_{oss}(V_{DC})}{V_{DC}^2}$$
(4)

Moreover, the commercial availability of switching devices made of Wide Band Gap (WBG) semiconductor materials promises to bring a considerable leap in performance in power converters [21]-[23]. Currently, the most promising technologies are Silicon Carbide (SiC) MOSFETs and Gallium Nitride (GaN) HEMTs. The devices made of WBG semiconductors can have parasitic capacitances several orders of magnitude smaller than a Si device with similar $R_{ds,on}$. Furthermore, the distribution of charge along the voltage of currently available WBG devices is more linear than the distribution of charge in Si devices (Fig 1). It can be observed in Fig. 4 and Fig. 5 that the equivalent $C_{oss(tr)}$ and $C_{oss(er)}$ for SiC and GaN technologies do not diverge as much as in the Si example.

In this work the impact on the performance and design of resonant converters originated by the absolute stored charge within the parasitic output capacitance and its distribution along the voltage excursion is analyzed. This works aims to bring further insights in the behavior of the power switches' non-linear capacitances in resonant converters, to extend and complete the analysis presented in [5] and [20]. Moreover, this works includes the analysis of single device and half-bridge device topologies.

For the sake of a meaningful comparison of their output capacitances, a Si SJ MOSFET (IPP60R170CFD7) [24] is compared to a SiC MOSFET (IMZA65R027M1H) [25] with nearly equal total stored charge, and compared to a GaN HEMT (IGT60R070D1) [26] of nearly equal total stored energy. A summary of the main characteristics of the devices is listed in Table I. For the sake of simplicity, only the parasitic capacitances of the device itself will be considered in the following analysis: the effects of the packaging, the heat-sink mounting or the PCB layout will be omitted. In the following, the compared devices will be referred simply as Si, SiC and GaN unless otherwise noted.

The rest of this work is organized as follows. In Section II, the required initial stored energy in the resonant inductor to achieve full ZVS in single and half-bridge based topologies is analyzed. In Section III, the impact on the losses of partial or full hard switching in single and half bridge based topologies is analyzed. In Section IV, the impact of the parasitic capacitance characteristics on the dv/dt during hard-switched turn-off and the impact on the losses of purposely decreasing the maximum dv/dt is analyzed. In Section V, the analysis is verified experimentally on a 3.3 kW half-bridge LLC DCDC converter prototype with nominal 400 V input and wide range output: 43.5 V – 59.5 V. Finally, in Section V the conclusions of this work are summarized.





Fig. 1. IPP60R170CFD7 (Si), IMZA65R027M1H (SiC) and IGT60R070D1 (GaN) typical output capacitances C_{oss} . Data extracted from the datasheets of the devices.





Fig. 3. Si typical stored energy in Coss and the stored energy in an equivalent Coss(rr) and in an equivalent Coss(er).

		TABLE I		
	SUMMARY OF	DEVICE CHARACTERIST	FICS	
IPP60R170CFD7 IMZA65R027M1H IGT60R070D1				
R _{DS,on}	144 mΩ @ 25 °C	27 mΩ @ 25 °C	55 mΩ @ 25 °C	
2 _{oss}	157 nC @ 400 V	147 nC @ 400 V	40.5 nC @ 400 V	
Eoss	3.18 µJ @ 400 V	29.46 µJ @ 400 V	8.10 µJ @ 400 V	
Q_{gd}	3.18 nC @ 400 V	12.2 nC @ 400 V	2.08 nC @ 400 V	
gs	1208 pF	2114 pF	380 pF	
۲ğ	10.9 Ω	3Ω	0.78 Ω	
/ _{th}	4 V	4.5 V	1.2 V	



II. ANALYSIS OF ZERO VOLTAGE SWITCHING ENERGIES

A. SINGLE DEVICE TOPOLOGIES

For the sake of generality in the analysis, a single device resonant converter during the switching transition is represented by the simplified equivalent circuit in Fig. 6. In this simplified circuit there is a capacitor C_1 that stands for the equivalent output capacitance C_{oss} of the power switch. The inductor L_r stands for a discrete auxiliary

resonant inductance or other equivalent inductances in the circuit (e.g. the leakage of a transformer), which provides the initial energy for the ZVS transition. An equivalent series resistor R_s stands for all of the series resistances along the charging and discharging path.



Fig. 6. Simplified circuit for the analysis of the resonant discharge of the output capacitance of the power switch in a single device topology.

In its initial state the switch is off or in its blocking state, and the output capacitor C_{oss} is charged-up to a starting voltage V_{DC} equal to the voltage in V_{supply} . Because the drain to source voltage V_{ds} equals to the supply voltage V_{DC} , the circuit is stable and would remain in this state indefinitely unless there is a certain initial energy E_{ind} in the inductor that forces the output charge Q_{oss} out of C_{oss} and into V_{supply} . Thanks to that initial energy (E_{ind}) the capacitor C_{oss} would be effectively discharged and with zero stored energy (E_{oss}) at the end of the transition, enabling a ZVS turn-on. Like a transfer between two capacitors in series, the total amount of charge that is transferred corresponds to the initial amount of charge in the smallest of the capacitors, which is C_{oss} in this scenario. Because C_{oss} is a non-linear capacitor the total amount of charge in C_{oss} when it is charged up to a voltage V_{DC} is referred as $Q_{oss}(V_{DC})$.

Although less lossy than a purely resistively limited charging, the resonant charge and discharge of C_{oss} still causes conductive losses due to the required circulating currents passing through the circuit and its equivalent series resistance R_s . Notice that the related conductive losses would be proportional to the square of the current passing through the circuit, while the required ZVS current is proportional to the square root of E_{ind} and inversely proportional to the square root of the resonant inductor L_r .

Continuing with the simile of the two capacitors in series, assuming V_{supply} to be a linear capacitor, the amount of energy that is stored in it because of the charge ΔQ that has been transferred from C_{oss} , can be calculated with (5). Because we can safely assume the capacitance of V_{supply} to be much bigger than the equivalent capacitance of C_{oss} , we can neglect the variation of voltage ΔV_{supply} in equation (5) and simplify the expression into (6).

$$\Delta E_{\text{supply}} = \Delta Q \cdot \frac{V_{\text{end}} + V_{\text{start}}}{2} = \Delta Q \cdot \frac{(V_{\text{DC}} + \Delta V_{\text{supply}}) + V_{\text{DC}}}{2}$$
(5)

$$\Delta E_{\text{supply}} = Q_{\text{oss}}(V_{\text{DC}}) \cdot \frac{2 \cdot V_{\text{DC}}}{2} = Q_{\text{oss}}(V_{\text{DC}}) \cdot V_{\text{DC}}$$
(6)

The energy extracted from C_{oss} during its discharge corresponds to the initial energy that was stored in it at the supply voltage V_{DC} , which is referred as $E_{oss}(V_{DC})$. Because C_{oss} is a non-linear capacitor, $E_{oss}(V_{DC})$ has to be calculated with equation (3). The energy extracted from C_{oss} is not lost during the transition, but transferred to and later stored in V_{supply} . The rest of the energy that is stored in V_{supply} has to be provided by the resonant inductor, and corresponds to the minimum initial energy required at the start of the transition for achieving full ZVS (7-8).

$$E_{ind,1} = \Delta E_{supply} - E_{oss}(V_{DC})$$
⁽⁷⁾

$$E_{ind,1} = Q_{oss}(V_{DC}) \cdot V_{DC} - E_{oss}(V_{DC})$$
(8)

In the case of C_{oss} being a linear capacitor, the energy stored in it can be calculated with (9) and the previous formula can be simplified into (10). In this case, the required energy results to be equal to the initial energy stored in C_{oss} .

$$E_{oss,linr}(V_{DC}) = Q_{oss}(V_{DC}) \cdot \frac{V_{DC}}{2}$$
(9)

$$E_{ind,linr,1} = Q_{oss}(V_{DC}) \cdot \frac{V_{DC}}{2}$$
(10)

The clear consequence of this analysis is that in single device resonant topologies the most relevant parameter is the total stored charge in the output capacitance of the device. Moreover, the bigger the divergence between the equivalent charge related capacitance $C_{oss(tr)}$ and energy related capacitances $C_{oss(er)}$ the higher the required initial energy in the inductor (11). Si SJ MOSFETs have the biggest divergence between the values among the three compared devices. Consequently, while the Si and the SiC devices have very similar $C_{oss(tr)}$ the initial required energy is nearly twice as much for the Si device due to the much smaller $E_{oss}(V_{DC})$ of the Si device in comparison

to the SiC device. In the case of GaN, because its output charge $Q_{oss}(V_{DC})$ is much smaller, the required initial energy is also much smaller.

$$E_{oss}(V_{DC}) < E_{oss,linr}(V_{DC}) \xrightarrow{\text{yields}} E_{\text{ind},1} > E_{\text{ind},\text{linr},1}$$
(11)

The previous analysis is verified by the calculation of the required initial energies for achieving ZVS in the three example devices (Si, SiC and GaN), and the simulation of the energy distribution in time during the transition, represented in Fig. 7 and Fig. 8. The drain to source voltage along time during the transition has been represented in Fig. 9, where it can be observed that the transition time also depends mostly on the total stored charge $Q_{oss}(V_{DC})$. Table II summarizes the results of the simulations, which has been represented in the previous figures.





Fig. 7. Si and SiC typical distribution of energies during the resonant discharge of the $C_{\mbox{\scriptsize oss.}}$

Fig. 8. GaN typical distribution of energies during the resonant discharge of the $C_{\rm oss}$



B. SINGLE DEVICE AT A HIGHER VOLTAGE

In certain topologies, the voltage stored in C_{oss} before the discharge transition could be higher than the voltage in the supply V_{DC} . Since the initial voltage in C_{oss} is higher than the voltage in V_{supply} , both capacitors will tend to balance naturally. If we assume the equivalent capacitance of V_{supply} to be much bigger than the equivalent capacitance of C_{oss} , the balance voltage will be, for all purposes, equal to V_{DC} .

When the voltages become equal, the total amount of charge that has been transferred from C_{oss} into V_{supply} can be calculated with (12) and the energy that has been consequently stored in V_{supply} can be estimated with equation (13). The energy that has been extracted from C_{oss} can be calculated with (14). Because the ΔQ was stored in C_{oss} at a higher voltage than V_{DC} , the initial energy in C_{oss} was always necessarily higher than the energy that has been transferred into V_{supply} . The rest of the energy would have been stored in the resonant inductor (15-16).

$$\Delta Q = Q_{oss}(V_{DC} + \Delta V) - Q_{oss}(V_{DC})$$
(12)

$$\Delta E_{\text{supply}} = \Delta Q \cdot V_{\text{DC}} \tag{13}$$

$$\Delta E_{oss} = E_{oss}(V_{DC} + \Delta V) - E_{oss}(V_{DC})$$
(14)

$$\Delta E_{ind} = \Delta E_{oss} - \Delta E_{supply} \tag{15}$$

$$\Delta E_{\text{oss}} > \Delta E_{\text{supply}} \xrightarrow{\text{yields}} \Delta E_{\text{ind}} > 0$$
(16)

After both C_{oss} and V_{supply} have reached the same voltage, V_{DC} , the scenario becomes equal to the one analyzed in the previous section for single device topologies, where the initial energy required in the inductor is equal to $E_{ind,1}$ (8). Therefore, the initial energy required at the start of the transition would be $E_{ind,1}$ minus the additional ΔE_{ind} that has already been stored in the inductor during the natural balance of the capacitor voltage (17-19).

$$E_{ind,2} = E_{ind,1} - \Delta E_{ind} \tag{17}$$

$$E_{ind,2} = Q_{oss}(V_{DC}) \cdot V_{DC} + \Delta Q \cdot V_{DC} - E_{oss}(V_{DC} + \Delta V)$$
(18)

$$E_{ind,2} = Q_{oss}(V_{DC} + \Delta V) \cdot V_{DC} - E_{oss}(V_{DC} + \Delta V)$$
(19)

Because of this, the higher the initial difference between the voltages the lower the required initial stored energy in the resonant inductor. The turning point is the one where the initial required energy in the inductor $E_{ind,2}$ equals zero, which occurs when ΔE_{ind} is greater than or equal to $E_{ind,1}$ (20).

$$E_{ind,2} = 0 \xrightarrow{\text{yields}} Q_{oss}(V_{DC} + \Delta V) \cdot V_{DC} = E_{oss}(V_{DC} + \Delta V)$$
(20)

For a linear capacitor, the previous expression (20) can be simplified into the well-known condition that the starting voltage should be at least twice of the supply voltage V_{DC} (21-23).

$$E_{oss,linr,2}(V_{DC} + \Delta V) = Q_{oss}(V_{DC} + \Delta V) \cdot \frac{(V_{DC} + \Delta V)}{2}$$
(21)

$$Q_{oss}(V_{DC} + \Delta V) \cdot V_{DC} = Q_{oss}(V_{DC} + \Delta V) \cdot \frac{(V_{DC} + \Delta V)}{2}$$
(22)

$$V_{DC} = \frac{(V_{DC} + \Delta V)}{2} \xrightarrow{\text{yields}} \Delta V = V_{DC}$$
(23)

For modern Si SJ MOSFETs the variation in stored energy at high voltages is comparatively smaller than in a charge equivalent linear capacitor $C_{oss(tr)}$. Consequently, the decrease on the required starting energy in the inductor at starting voltages higher than the supply is comparatively smaller than in the SiC or GaN example devices. Practically, without additional stored energy in the inductor the full ZVS range is very much constrained (e.g. CrCM boost converter). Another side effect of the same phenomena is that a small amount of residual energy in the parasitic inductances during the charge of the C_{oss} potentially induces a higher V_{ds} overshoot in Si SJ switches than in an equivalent linear $C_{oss(tr)}$ capacitance. This effect makes this technology less suited for applications like synchronous rectification [27]. The required initial energy in the inductor for different starting voltages and a V_{DC} equal to 200 V has been calculated for the three example devices (Si, SiC and GaN) and represented in Fig. 10.

The previous analysis is verified by the calculation of the required initial energies for achieving ZVS in the three example devices (Si, SiC and GaN), and the simulation of the energy distribution in time during the transition, which is represented in Fig. 11 and Fig. 12. For the simulated examples in Fig. 11 and Fig. 12 the starting voltage in C_{oss} was 400 V and the V_{supply} voltage was half of it (200 V). Table III makes a summary of the results in the previously stated conditions.

TABLE III				
	SINGLE DEVICE AT A HIGHER VOLTAGE SUMMARY			
	IPP60R170CFD7	IMZA65R027M1H	IGT60R070D1	
V _{DC}	200 V	200 V	200 V	
ΔV	200 V	200 V	200 V	
Eind,2	30.08 µJ	7.45 μJ	1.76 μJ	
$Q_{oss}(V_{DC})$	153.01 nC	96.35 nC	26.08 nC	
$E_{oss}(V_{DC})$	1.80 µJ	7.06 µJ	2.05 µJ	
E _{supply}	33.25 µJ	29.69 µJ	8.12 µJ	
Time	41.32 ns	43.99 ns	23.52 ns	


Fig. 10. Si, SiC and GaN typical additional required energy for discharge of $C_{\rm oss}$ for different initial $V_{\rm ds}$ voltages when the supply voltage is 200 V.



Fig. 11. Si and SiC typical distribution of energy during the discharge of the C_{oss} with starting voltage equal to 400 V and V_{DC} voltage equal to 200 V.



Fig. 12. SiC and GaN typical distribution of energy during the discharge of the C_{oss} with starting voltage equal to 400 V and V_{DC} voltage equal to 200 V.

C. SINGLE DEVICE AT A LOWER VOLTAGE

For completeness, the required energy for the discharge of C_{oss} when its initial voltage is lower than V_{DC} is analyzed in this section. The remaining charge in C_{oss} will be transferred into V_{supply} , which yields a net energy variation in V_{supply} that can be estimated by (24). The energy extracted from C_{oss} can be calculated with equation (25). The required initial energy in the inductor at the start of the transitions equals to the difference between the stored and the extracted energies, which can be calculated with equations (26-27).

$$\Delta E_{supply} = Q_{oss}(V_{DC} - \Delta V) \cdot V_{DC}$$
(24)

$$E_{oss}(V_{DC} - \Delta V) = \int_0^{(V_{DC} - \Delta V)} v \cdot C_{oss}(v) dv$$
(25)

$$E_{ind,3} = \Delta E_{supply} - E_{oss}(V_{DC} - \Delta V)$$
(26)

$$E_{ind,3} = Q_{oss}(V_{DC} - \Delta V) \cdot V_{DC} - E_{oss}(V_{DC} - \Delta V)$$
(27)

For an equivalent charge related linear capacitor $C_{oss(tr)}$ the stored energy can be alternatively calculated with (28), whereas the expression in (27) can be simplified into (29-30). In this scenario, the energy required is equal to the energy initially stored in C_{oss} .

$$E_{oss,linr}(V_{DC} - \Delta V) = Q_{oss}(V_{DC} - \Delta V) \cdot \frac{(V_{DC} - \Delta V)}{2}$$
(28)

$$E_{\text{ind,linr,3}} = Q_{\text{oss}}(V_{\text{DC}} - \Delta V) \cdot \left(V_{\text{DC}} - \frac{(V_{\text{DC}} - \Delta V)}{2}\right)$$
(29)

$$E_{\text{ind,linr,3}} = Q_{\text{oss}} (V_{\text{DC}} - \Delta V) \cdot \left(\frac{V_{\text{DC}} + \Delta V}{2}\right)$$
(30)

Like in the other two previous scenarios for single device topologies, the non-linear distribution of charge in the output capacitance of Si SJ devices requires comparatively more initial energy stored in the inductor than SiC

or GaN for achieving full ZVS. The results of the analysis were already represented in Fig. 10 for a supply voltage V_{DC} equal to 200 V and starting V_{ds} voltages lower than 200 V. Table IV makes a summary of the results for an alternative scenario where VDC equals 400 V and the starting V_{ds} equals half of it (200 V).

TABLE IV				
SINGLE DEVICE AT A LOWER VOLTAGE SUMMARY				
IPP60R170CFD7 IMZA65R027M1H IGT60R070D1				
VDC	400 V	400 V	400 V	
ΔV	-200 V	-200 V	-200 V	
Eind,3	62.86 µJ	31.95 µJ	8.44 μJ	
E_{supply}	64.65 μJ	39.02 µJ	10.52 µJ	
Time	28.61 ns	22.61 ns	11.82 ns	

D. HALF-BRIDGE TOPOLOGIES

For the sake of generality in the analysis, a half-bridge in a resonant or quasi-resonant converter during the switching transition is represented by the simplified equivalent circuit in Fig. 13. In the simplified circuit there is a capacitor C_2 that stands for the output capacitance $C_{oss,2}$ of the device which is turning-off. The capacitor C_1 stands for the output capacitance $C_{oss,1}$ of the device which is turning-on. The inductor L_r is connected to the midpoint of the half-bridge and stands for an equivalent resonant inductance that provides the required energy for the ZVS transition. The equivalent series resistor R_s stands for all of the parasitic series resistances along the charging and discharging path.

In this scenario, the output capacitance $C_{oss,1}$ of the device that is turning-on is discharged towards the supply V_{supply} just like in the single device topology example. However, the output capacitance $C_{oss,2}$ of the device that is turning-off is being charged up to the supply voltage from the resonant inductor. Because the conduction path for the discharge of the $C_{oss,1}$ and the conduction path for the charge of $C_{oss,2}$ closes around different paths, the energy required for each of the transitions can be analyzed separately and later joined together to get the complete result. Notice that the analysis of the discharging transition of $C_{oss,1}$ is equivalent to the single device scenario analyzed in the previous section.

The previous analysis for single device topologies can also be applied for the charge of the capacitance $C_{oss,2}$ in Fig. 13. The supply voltage in V_{supply} is assumed equal to zero, which is effectively a short circuit. Substituting the values in equation (8) and taking into account the inverted polarity of voltages yields the well-known expression in (31). Alternatively, a more simple analysis methodology for the charge of $C_{oss,2}$ would be based on the balance of energies. All the energy stored in the inductor at the start of the transition would be moved and stored without loss into $C_{oss,2}$, which comprehensively yields as well to the expression in (31).

$$E_{\text{ind},4} = Q_{\text{oss}}(-V_{\text{DC}}) \cdot 0 - E_{\text{oss}}(-V_{\text{DC}}) = E_{\text{oss}}(V_{\text{DC}})$$
(31)

To the result previously obtained in equation (8) has to be added the result of equation (31) accounting for the additionally required charge of $C_{oss,2}$ and resulting in a single expression which can be used to calculate the minimum required inductor energy to reach ZVS in a half-bridge (32). For simplicity in the analysis, both stacked devices and their capacitances have been considered to be equal.



Fig. 13. Simplified equivalent circuit for the analysis of the required initial energy to achieve ZVS in a half bridge configuration.

$$E_{\text{ind},5} = E_{\text{ind},1} + E_{\text{ind},4} = Q_{\text{oss}}(V_{\text{DC}}) \cdot V_{\text{DC}}$$
(32)

The consequence of the analysis is that in stacked devices topologies the required initial energy to achieve ZVS is independent of the stored energy $E_{oss}(V_{DC})$ and depends exclusively on the stored charge $Q_{oss}(V_{DC})$ and the supply voltage of the system V_{DC} . Unlike in the previous single device topology scenario, the non-linear distribution of charge in Si does not have a drawback on the ZVS range compared to other devices with an equivalent $C_{oss(tr)}$.

On the other hand, the $R_{ds,on}$ of a SiC or GaN device with an equivalent $C_{oss(tr)}$ is smaller than the $R_{ds,on}$ of the Si, which potentially decreases the conduction losses and improves the overall performance of the system. Therefore, the optimum results in the replacement of a Si device with a specific $R_{ds,on}$ by a SiC or GaN device with a similar or equal $R_{ds,on}$ requires to redesign the converter taking into account the reduced ZVS energy requirements. A simple one to one $R_{ds,on}$ based replacement would not take full advantage of the potential reduction in circulating currents and the overall benefits of the improved semiconductor technology characteristics.

The previous analysis is verified by the calculation of the required initial energies for achieving ZVS with the three example devices (Si, SiC and GaN), and the simulation of the energy distribution in time during the transition, represented in Fig. 14 and Fig. 15. The drain to source voltage along time during the transition has been represented in Fig. 16, where it can be observed that the total transition time also depends mostly on the total stored charge $Q_{oss}(V_{DC})$, similar for Si and SiC but much smaller for GaN. Table V makes a summary of the results represented in the previously stated figures.



Fig. 14. Si and SiC typical distribution of energy during the discharge of $C_{\rm oss,1}$ and the charge of $C_{\rm oss,2}.$

Fig. 15. GaN typical distribution of energy during the discharge of $C_{\rm oss,1}$ and the charge of $C_{\rm oss,2}.$



Fig. 16. Si, SiC and GaN typical V_{ds} voltage during the resonant discharge of $C_{oss,1}$ and the resonant charge of $C_{oss,2}$.

III. HARD SWITCHED TURN ON LOSSES

A. SINGLE DEVICE TOPOLOGIES

The conclusions extracted from the analysis in the previous sections are valid whenever full ZVS is ensured in all the operating conditions of interest of the resonant converter. However, it is not always possible or necessarily better performing a converter designed to operate in full ZVS in all conditions. Depending on the balance of switching to conduction losses in a specific design, it could be more effective to allow partial ZVS (or partial hard-switching). The impact of partial ZVS, and the non-linear stored charge distribution along the voltage in C_{oss} in the event of partial ZVS will be analyzed in this section.

In single device topologies it is only necessary to consider the remaining stored energy $E_{oss}(\Delta V)$ at the voltage ΔV at which the device turns-on under partial or full hard-switching [5]. That remaining energy will be dissipated within the device itself. In this scenario, the switching losses of Si compared to the other two devices would be bigger or smaller depending on the hard-switched voltage. In Fig. 17 can be observed that the Si device is superior to an equivalent $C_{oss(tr)}$ SiC device in the range between 75 V and 400 V (V_{DC}). More noticeably, it can be observed in Fig. 17 that the Si device is superior to a similar $C_{oss(er)}$ GaN device in the voltage range between 175 V and 375 V. However, the Si device performs worse than the other two devices in partial or full hard-switching out of those ranges. Fig. 18 represents the comparative increment of losses between Si and the other two devices while hard-switching them at 22 V and at different frequencies.

Consequently, the non-linear distribution of charge in Si output capacitance C_{oss} could be theoretically advantageous to other equivalent $C_{oss(tr)}$ devices and/or $C_{oss(er)}$ devices when partial ZVS occurs within a defined voltage range. However, in practice, for a decreasing initial inductor energy, Si would perform initially worse until the remaining E_{oss} of SiC and GaN goes beyond the remaining E_{oss} of Si (Fig. 19). Table VI makes a summary of the results in a scenario with low initial E_{ind} , which is enough for GaN to achieve full ZVS but causes SiC to present more switching losses than Si.

2.0

1.5



0.0 1.0 0.0 10 Frq [kHz] 100 1000

ΔLoss

ΔLoss

Fig. 17. Si, SiC and GaN typical hard switching losses at different $V_{\rm ds}$ voltages and comparative loss between the Si and the SiC and GaN devices.

Fig. 18. Comparative increase of losses for the hard switching of the Si, SiC and GaN devices at 22 V and different switching frequencies.



Fig. 19. Comparative increase of loss for the hard switching of the Si, SiC and GaN devices with different starting energies in the resonant inductor.

TABLE VI

SINGLE DEVICE HARD-SWITCHED SUMMARY				
IPP60R170CFD7 IMZA65R027M1H IGT60R070D1				
V _{DC}	400 V	400 V	400 V	
Eind	10 µJ	10 µJ	10 µJ	
V _{ds,1}	398 V	379 V	0 V	
$E_{oss,1}(V_{ds})$	_{s,1}) 3.16 μJ	20.24 µJ	0 µJ	
Eloss	3.16 µJ	20.24 µJ	0 µJ	

B. HALF-BRIDGE TOPOLOGIES

In the event of partial or full hard-switching in the stacked configuration in Fig. 13, the device which is hardswitched turned-on (Q₁ in this analysis) dissipates within itself the remaining stored energy in its output capacitance $E_{oss}(\Delta V)$, similarly to the single device scenario. However, in a half-bridge configuration, in the event of partial or full hard-switching the capacitance which was being charged (C_{oss,2}), completes its charge resistively.

The energy that is extracted from the supply during the resistive charge of $C_{oss,2}$ can be calculated with (33), whereas the energy stored into $C_{oss,2}$ can be calculated with (34-35). The difference between the supplied and the stored energy (36) corresponds to the energy that has been dissipated within the series resistances in the charging path R_s , mostly in the channel of the opposing device Q_1 .

$$\Delta E_{\text{supply},2} = \left(Q_{\text{oss}}(V_{\text{DC}}) - Q_{\text{oss}}(V_{\text{DC}} - \Delta V) \right) \cdot V_{\text{DC}}$$
(33)

$$\Delta E_{oss,2} = E_{oss}(V_{DC}) - E_{oss}(V_{DC} - \Delta V)$$
(34)

$$\Delta E_{oss,2} = \int_{(V_{DC} - \Delta V)}^{V_{DC}} v \cdot C_{oss}(v) \, dv$$
(35)

$$\Delta E_{\text{loss},2} = \Delta E_{\text{supply},2} - \Delta E_{\text{oss},2}$$
(36)

The total loss in the event of partial or full hard-switched turn-on in a half-bridge is the sum of the loss within the switching device Q_1 plus the loss caused by the completion of the charge of the opposing device Q_2 (37).

$$\Delta E_{\text{loss,tot}} = \Delta E_{\text{loss,2}} + E_{\text{oss,1}}(\Delta V)$$
(37)

In the case of a linear capacitor the stored energy $\Delta E_{oss,2}$ calculated in (35) can be simplified into (38-40). Whereas the energy extracted from the supply can be further simplified into (41), and the expression for the dissipated energy during the completion of the charge simplified into (42-43).

$$E_{oss,2,linr}(V_{DC}) = Q_{oss}(V_{DC}) \cdot \frac{V_{DC}}{2} = C_{oss(tr)} \cdot \frac{V_{DC}^2}{2}$$
(38)

$$E_{oss,2,linr}(V_{DC} - \Delta V) = C_{oss(tr)} \cdot \frac{(V_{DC} - \Delta V)^2}{2}$$
(39)

$$\Delta E_{\text{oss,2,linr}} = C_{\text{oss(tr)}} \cdot \left(\frac{V_{\text{DC}}^2}{2} - \frac{(V_{\text{DC}} - \Delta V)^2}{2}\right)$$
(40)

$$\Delta E_{\text{supply},2,\text{linr}} = C_{\text{oss}(\text{tr})} \cdot (V_{\text{DC}}^2 - (V_{\text{DC}} - \Delta V) \cdot V_{\text{DC}})$$
(41)

$$\Delta E_{\text{loss,2,linr}} = \Delta E_{\text{supply,2,linr}} - \Delta E_{\text{oss,2,linr}}$$
(42)

$$\Delta E_{\text{loss},2,\text{linr}} = C_{\text{oss}(\text{tr})} \cdot \frac{(\Delta V)^2}{2}$$
(43)

The total loss in the event of partial or full hard-switched turn-on in a half-bridge with linear capacitances $C_{oss(tr)}$ results in the expression in (44). Therefore, when partial ZVS occurs within certain voltage range the non-linear distribution of charge in the Si output capacitance C_{oss} is theoretically advantageous with regard to other equivalent $C_{oss(tr)}$ devices or equivalent $C_{oss(er)}$ devices (Fig. 20 and Fig. 21). However, the required resonant energy to reach a certain switching voltage is very distinct. Consequently, for a certain available resonant energy the switching losses are directly related to the equivalent $C_{oss(tr)}$, which has been represented in Fig. 22, where the SiC and GaN devices outperform the Si device in all the energy range. Moreover, notice how the total switching loss of Si increases dramatically near the end of the supply range V_{DC} because most of the charge in $C_{oss,2}$ is stored under a V_{ds} of 22 V.

$$\Delta E_{\text{loss,t,linr}} = C_{\text{oss(tr)}} \cdot (\Delta V)^2$$
(44)

Table VII makes a summary of the results in Fig. 22 in a scenario with low initial E_{ind} , which is not enough for any of the devices to achieve full ZVS.



Fig. 20. Si, SiC and GaN typical half bridge hard-switching loss at different Q1 turn-on voltages.



ferent Q1 turn-on voltages.



Fig. 22. Si, SiC and GaN typical half bridge hard-switching loss for different starting energies in the resonant inductor.

TABLE VII	

HALF-BRIDGE HARD-SWITCHED SUMMARY					
	IPP60R170CFD7 IMZA65R027M1H IGT60R070D1				
V _{DC}	400 V	400 V	400 V		
E_{ind}	10 µJ	10 µJ	10 µJ		
V _{ds,1}	398 V	384 V	129 V		
V _{ds,2}	2 V	16 V	271 V		
$Q_{oss,2}(V_{ds})$	₂) 26.79 nC	22.25 nC	20.15 nC		
$E_{oss,1}(V_{ds,}$	ı) 3.16 μJ	20.73 µJ	3.28 µJ		
Eloss	52.35 µJ	48.67 µJ	6.16 µJ		

C. MILLER FEEDBACK EFFECT

The charge of the gate to drain capacitance C_{gd} , which is part of C_{oss} , causes the injection of current into the gate to source capacitance C_{gs} and into the gate-driving path. Depending on the rising slope of the drain voltage, the ratio of the capacitance values and the impedance of the gate-driving path, it could happen that the device turns-on unexpectedly by the so-called Miller feedback effect. The phenomena could occur during the turn-off transition, effectively delaying the turn-off and increasing the switching losses, or during the hard-switching turnon of the opposing device, causing a short circuit of the half-bridge that may destroy the devices. This mechanism is frequently confused with hard-commutation, which could also cause the failure of the devices by other means [28]-[29].

Applying a similar analysis to one in the previous sections for the charge of two capacitors in series, we can stablish criteria for the minimum prerequisites for the Miller feedback induced turn-on to occur. The worst possible scenario is where all the charge in C_{gd} ($Q_{gd}(V_{DC})$ in equation (45)) is transferred into C_{gs} fast enough that negligible voltage is discharged through the gate driving path. The induced voltage raise in C_{gs} (which is approximately equal to Ciss) should reach at least the threshold voltage of the device Vth for the feedback induced turnon to occur (46). With the parameters in Table I, it can be calculated that for the Si device the $V_{gs,max}$ would be 2.63 V, well under its threshold, whereas for the SiC device is 5.77 V and for the GaN device is 5.47 V, both of which are above their respective thresholds.

$$Q_{gd}(V_{DC}) = \int_0^{V_{DC}} C_{gd}(v) \, dv$$
(45)

$$V_{gs,max} \cong \frac{Q_{gd}(V_{DC})}{C_{iss}} < V_{th}$$
(46)

IV. HARD SWITCHED TURN OFF LOSSES

A contribution to the switching losses that is frequently neglected in resonant ZVS topologies is the one caused by the hard-switched turn-off transition. In resonant ZVS topologies, in spite of the devices turning-on under ZVS conditions, the prior turn-off necessarily happens in hard-switching. However, it is true that hard-switching turnoff losses can be significatively lower than the hard-switched turn-on losses, and that whenever the device turnsoff fast enough the losses are in fact negligible. In this section, we analyze the conditions for a fast and near lossless turn-off and the consequences of a slow or delayed turn-off.

The dv/dt during a resonant turn-off transition is given by the available resonant current and the size of the output capacitances of the semiconductor device. The output capacitance C_{oss} of the semiconductor power switch can be split conveniently into the equivalent drain to source capacitance C_{ds} and the gate to drain capacitance C_{gd} . While the drain voltage raises, both capacitances are charged simultaneously, but through different paths. Whenever the dv/dt is limited by the C_{gd} charging path, the turn-off of the device is slowed down, and the channel carries part of the resonant current, which is therefore not fully stored in C_{oss} (47-50). Moreover, the overlap of current and voltage during a slowed down turn-off causes losses.

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\mathbf{v}}{\mathrm{d}\mathbf{t}} = \frac{\mathrm{i}_{\mathrm{dg}}(\mathrm{t})}{\mathrm{C}_{\mathrm{dg}}(\mathrm{v})} = \frac{\mathrm{i}_{\mathrm{ds}}(\mathrm{t})}{\mathrm{C}_{\mathrm{ds}}(\mathrm{v})} \tag{47}$$

$$i_d(t) = i_{ch}(t) + i_{dg}(t) + i_{ds}(t)$$
 (48)

$$i_{ch}(t) = 0 \xrightarrow{\text{yields}} i_{ds}(t) = i_d(t) - i_{dg}(t)$$
(49)

$$\frac{c_{ds}(v)}{c_{dg}(v)} = \frac{i_d(t) - i_{dg}(t)}{i_{dg}(t)} = \frac{i_d(t)}{i_{dg}(t)} - 1$$
(50)

The maximum gate current $i_{dg}(t)$ capability depends on the driver's turn-off path total impedance $R_{g,off}$, the offstate driving voltage $V_{G,off}$ and the voltage at the gate during the voltage transition (V_{Miller} or approximately V_{th} when the channel does not conduct) (51). We can substitute (51) in (50) and simplify it into (52) assuming the driver turn-off voltage to be zero, which is the most frequent case for the devices in this comparison. The expression (52) summarizes the condition for a lossless resonant turn-off. Notice that $C_{ds}(v)$ and $C_{dg}(v)$ are a function of the voltage. Moreover, the condition is a function of the drain current $i_d(t)$, which is load dependent in most of the converters. From the previous analysis it can be concluded that the fast turn-off range can be extended by several means: decreasing $R_{g,off}$, increasing V_{th} of the device, or increasing the ratio of $C_{ds}(v)$ to $C_{dg}(v)$ (e.g. placing an additional capacitor in parallel to $C_{ds}(v)$).

$$i_{dg}(t) = \frac{V_{gs}(t) - V_{G,off}}{R_{g,off}} \approx \frac{V_{th}}{R_{g,off}}$$
(51)

$$\frac{c_{ds}(v)}{c_{dg}(v)} \ge \frac{i_d(t) \cdot R_{g,off}}{v_{th}} - 1$$
(52)

The previous analysis is verified by the simulation of the slow turn-off losses in the three example devices (Si, SiC and GaN) and represented in Fig. 23 and Fig. 24. Whereas all the devices in the simulated examples are turning-off with the same resonant current of 12 A, the driving impedance has been adjusted for all of them to cause the same amount of total loss ($E_{loss,tot}$). Notice, however, that the driving impedance for the Si device already accounts for the integrated resistance and cannot be further decreased, whereas the driving impedance of the SiC and GaN devices has been increased with additional external resistances.

On the other hand, it is sometimes desirable to slow down the maximum dv/dt during the switching transitions in certain applications or due to EMI constraints [30]. The dv/dt can be controlled limiting the charge of C_{gd} at the expense of the additional switching losses. Fig. 25 represented the switching losses while limiting the maximum dv/dt for the three devices in the comparison (Si, SiC and GaN). It can be observed that, whereas the non-linearity of Si causes extremely high maximum dv/dt, the SiC device is very well suited for low dv/dt applications because its capacitances are quasi-linear and relatively big in comparison to GaN. Table VIII makes a summary of the results of the required conditions for achieving similar turn-off losses with the same initial current and voltage in the three analyzed devices.



Fig. 23. Si and SiC typical hard switched turn-off slowed down by the gate impedance. Si: $R_{g,off}$ = 10.9 Ω (value of the embedded R_g) and 12A turn-off current. SiC: $R_{g,off}$ = 19 Ω (including embedded R_g) and 12A turn-off current.

Fig. 24. SiC and GaN typical hard switched turn-off slowed down by the gate impedance. SiC and GaN: $R_{g,off} = 19 \Omega$ (including embedded R_g) and 12 A turn-off current.



Fig. 25. Slow turn-off with limited dv/dt. Total time of the transition and switching losses for the three different capacitance profiles.

V. EXPERIMENTAL

A 3300 W LLC DCDC converter [31] (Fig. 26) was designed and built with the specifications given in Table IX to test the analysis and guidelines presented in this work. The Si device IPW60R031CFD7 in Table X was mounted for its test in the primary side HV half-bridge of the converter. The control was implemented with XMCTM 4200 ARM® Cortex®-M4 microcontroller from Infineon Technologies AG. The equivalent simplified circuit of the prototype corresponds to the one in Figure 13. A complete schematic can be found in [31].

TABLE IX
KEV DAD AMETEDS OF DROTOTV

KEY PARAMETERS OF PROTOTYPE		
Parameter	Value	
Nominal input voltage	400 V	
Input voltage range	350 V - 415 V	
Nominal output voltage	52 V	
Output voltage range	43.5 V – 59.5 V	
Maximum output power	3300 W	
Maximum output current	65 A	
Switching frequency	45kHz-250 kHz	
Resonant frequency	70 kHz	
Magnetizing inductance (Lm)	100 µH	
Resonant inductance (Lr)	10 µH	



Fig. 26. Prototype of the 3.3 kW LLC resonant converter.

TABLE X			
SUMMARY OF DEVICE CHARACTERISTICS			
IPW60R031CFD7 IMZA65R027M1H IGT60R070D1			
R _{DS,on}	26 mΩ @ 25 °C	27 mΩ @ 25 °C	55 mΩ @ 25 °C
Q _{oss}	840 nC @ 400 V	147 nC @ 400 V	40.5 nC @ 400 V
Eoss	16.24 µJ @ 400 V	29.46 µJ @ 400 V	8.10 μJ @ 400 V
C_{gs}	5623 pF	2114 pF	380 pF
R _g	3.8 Ω	3 Ω	0.78 Ω
V_{th}	4 V	4.5 V	1.2 V

Because of the wide input and wide output range requirements of the prototype the circulating currents are relatively high and the converter switches in full ZVS along most of its operating range. In Fig. 27 the characteristic change of slope in the drain voltage caused by the non-linear capacitance of Si can be observed. Notice in Fig. 27 a slight evidence of Miller plateau that can be identified during the turn-on because of a slightly short dead-time. In Fig. 28 illustrates the lossless turn-off transition while the converter operates slightly above resonance. Notice in Fig. 28 the Miller plateau at a voltage near the threshold during the resonant charge of Coss.

In the LLC topology, at light loads and low output voltages the relation between the switching frequency and the gain of the converter becomes non-monotonic. This effect is caused by the parasitic capacitances of the transformer and the secondary side rectifiers [14]. In these operating conditions, the switching frequency of the converter increases to maintain the regulation, while the resonant current and the available energy for the ZVS transition decreases. In Fig. 29 the partial hard-switching when the converter's frequency raises up to 130 kHz can be observed. As previously analyzed, the switching losses of the Si device would be higher than an equivalent $C_{oss(tr)}$ SiC device in this very same condition. Furthermore, a SiC or GaN device of equivalent $R_{ds,on}$ will be still capable by far of achieving full ZVS.

During the start-up, at high loads and low voltages the converter operates switching off relatively high currents. In these conditions the switching losses could increase significatively if the turn-off transition is limited by the driving path. Moreover, because of the high resonant currents, the dv/dt and di/dt within the commutation loop increase, causing the voltage ringing in Fig. 30. However, the speed of the transition can be controlled by the impedance of the driving path R_{g,off} or by adding a capacitance in parallel to C_{ds}.





Fig. 27. ZVS turn-on in the LLC 3.3 kW converter switching at its resonant frequency.

Fig. 29. Partial ZVS turn-on in the LLC 3.3 kW converter operating at light load and switching far above its resonant frequency.



Fig. 28. Fast and lossless hard-switched turn-off in the LLC 3.3 kW switching above its resonant frequency.



Fig. 30. High current hard-switched turn-off transitions in the LLC 3.3 kW. The high resonant current causes high dv/dt and di/dt within the commutation loop.

VI. CONCLUSION

The parasitic capacitances of modern Si SJ MOSFETs are characterized by its non-linearity. At high voltages the total stored energy $E_{oss}(V_{DC})$ in the output capacitance $C_{oss}(v)$, differs substantially from the energy in an equivalent linear capacitor $C_{oss(tr)}$ that stores the same amount of charge. That difference requires the definition of an additional equivalent linear capacitor $C_{oss(er)}$ that stores the same amount energy at a specific voltage. However, the parasitic capacitances of current SiC and GaN devices have a more linear distribution of charge along the voltage. Moreover, the equivalent $C_{oss(tr)}$ and $C_{oss(er)}$ of SiC and GaN devices is smaller than the ones of a Si device with a similar $R_{ds,on}$.

In this work the impact of the non-linear distribution of charge in the output capacitance of modern Si devices on the performance and requirements for the design of resonant ZVS converters has been analyzed. Furthermore, the non-linear capacitance of Si has been compared to the quasi-linear capacitance of a SiC device of equivalent time related output capacitance $C_{oss(tr)}$, and compared to the quasi-linear capacitance of a GaN device of similar energy related output capacitance $C_{oss(er)}$. The advantages and disadvantages of each of the alternatives have been analyzed for single device and half-bridge based topologies, as well as in full ZVS and partial or full hard-switching operating conditions.

In half-bridge topologies the required energy to achieve full ZVS depends exclusively on the total output stored charge $Q_{oss}(V_{DC})$ and the supply voltage V_{DC} , whereas in single device topologies the required energy is further increased by a relatively smaller $E_{oss}(V_{DC})$. In summary, in the full ZVS scenario, the equivalent SiC and the GaN devices are superior to the Si device in single device and half bridge topologies.

In partial hard-switching turn-on, within certain hard-switching turn-on voltage, the losses of the Si device could be lower than the switching losses of the equivalent $C_{oss(tr)}$ SiC or the equivalent $C_{oss(er)}$ GaN device. However, for a certain energy in the resonant inductor the switching voltage of the SiC or the GaN devices is much lower. Moreover, the Si advantage window dramatically diminishes when is compared to equivalent $R_{ds,on}$ SiC or GaN devices.

Overall, this work demonstrates that a meaningful one-to-one replacement of devices without a redesign of the converter would be among devices with an equivalent $C_{oss(tr)}$. Moreover, to fully unleash the potential improvement in the overall performance of the converter while replacing a Si device by an equivalent $R_{ds,on}$ SiC or GaN device requires the redesign of the resonant ZVS converter accounting for the reduced ZVS energy requirements. Finally, a highly efficient 3300 W DCDC LLC resonant converter prototype was designed and built to demonstrate the validity of the analysis.

REFERENCES

- [1] Climate Savers Computing Initiative (CSCI). Available online: http://www.climatesaverscomputing.org (accessed on 1 February 2020).
- [2] 80Plus Program. Available online: http://www.plugloadsolutions.com (accessed on 1 February 2020).
- Kolar, J.W. et al. "PWM Converter Power Density Barriers". 2007 Power Conversion Conference Nagoya, Nagoya, 2007, pp. P-9-P-29.
- [4] U. Badstuebner, J. Biela and J. W. Kolar, "Design of an 99%-efficient, 5kW, phase-shift PWM DC-DC converter for telecom applications," 2010 Twenty-Fifth Annual IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC), Palm Springs, CA, 2010, pp. 773-780.
- [5] M. Kasper, R. M. Burkart, G. Deboy and J. W. Kolar, "ZVS of Power MOSFETs Revisited," in IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, vol. 31, no. 12, pp. 8063-8067, Dec. 2016.
- [6] I. Castro et al., "Analytical Switching Loss Model for Superjunction MOSFET With Capacitive Nonlinearities and Displacement Currents for DC–DC Power Converters," in IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 2485-2495, March 2016

- [7] J. Wang, H. S. Chung and R. T. Li, "Characterization and Experimental Assessment of the Effects of Parasitic Elements on the MOSFET Switching Performance," in IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 573-590, Jan. 2013.
- [8] S. Paul, A. M. Schlaffer, and J. A. Nossek, "Optimal charging of capacitors," in IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Fundamental Theory and Applications, vol. 47, no. 7, pp. 1009–1016, Jul 2000.
- [9] Y. Perrin, A. Galisultanov, H. Fanet and G. Pillonnet, "Optimal Charging of Nonlinear Capacitors," in IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, vol. 34, no. 6, pp. 5023-5026, June 2019.
- [10] J. Roig and F. Bauwens, "Origin of Anomalous Coss Hysteresis in Resonant Converters With Superjunction FETs," in IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, vol. 62, no. 9, pp. 3092-3094, Sept. 2015.
- [11] A. Medina-Garcia, M. Schlenk, D.P. Morales and N. Rodriguez, "Resonant Hybrid Flyback, a New Topology for High Density Power Adaptors", in Electronics 2018, 7, 363.
- [12] J. W. Kim, S. M. Choi and K. T. Kim, "Variable On-time Control of the Critical Conduction Mode Boost Power Factor Correction Converter to Improve Zero-crossing Distortion," 2005 International Conference on Power Electronics and Drives Systems, Kuala Lumpur, 2005, pp. 1542-1546.
- [13] C. Marxgut, J. Biela and J. W. Kolar, "Interleaved Triangular Current Mode (TCM) resonant transition, single phase PFC rectifier with high efficiency and high power density," in 2010 International Power Electronics Conference - ECCE ASIA -, Sapporo, 2010, pp. 1725-1732.
- [14] Q. Cao, Z. Li and H. Wang, "Wide Voltage Gain Range LLC DC/DC Topologies: State-of-the-Art," in 2018 International Power Electronics Conference (IPEC-Niigata 2018 - ECCE Asia), Niigata, 2018, pp. 100-107.
- [15] M. Escudero, D. Meneses, N. Rodriguez and D. P. Morales, "Modulation Scheme for the Bidirectional Operation of the Phase-Shift Full-Bridge Power Converter," in IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, vol. 35, no. 2, pp. 1377-1391, Feb. 2020.
- [16] Xinbo Ruan, "Soft-Switching PWM Full-Bridge Converters", Nanjing University of Aeronautics and Astronautics, China: Wiley, 2014, pp. 1-66, 121-147, 181-198.
- [17] M. Ryu, D. Jung, J. Baek and H. Kim, "An optimized design of bi-directional dual active bridge converter for low voltage battery charger," 2014 16th International Power Electronics and Motion Control Conference and Exposition, Antalya, 2014, pp. 177-183.
- [18] B. J. Baliga, "Power semiconductor device figure of merit for high-frequency applications," in IEEE Electron Device Letters, vol. 10, no. 10, pp. 455-457, Oct. 1989.
- [19] J. Roig and F. Bauwens, "Overcoming switching limits in silicon power MOSFETs with silicon-based solutions," in IET Power Electronics, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 629-637, 10 4 2018.
- [20] D. Costinett, D. Maksimovic and R. Zane, "Circuit-Oriented Treatment of Nonlinear Capacitances in Switched-Mode Power Supplies," in IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 985-995, Feb. 2015.
- [21] G. Liu, D. Li, Y. Jang and J. Zhang, "Over 300kHz GaN device based resonant bidirectional DCDC converter with integrated magnetics," 2016 IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC), Long Beach, CA, 2016, pp. 595-600.
- [22] Qin Haihong, Xu Kefeng, Nie Xin, Zhu Ziyue, Zhong Zhiyuan and Fu Dafeng, "Characteristics of SiC MOSFET and its application in a phase-shift full-bridge converter," 2016 IEEE 8th International Power Electronics and Motion Control Conference (IPEMC-ECCE Asia), Hefei, 2016, pp. 1639-1643.
- [23] C. Fei, R. Gadelrab, Q. Li and F. C. Lee, "High-Frequency Three-Phase Interleaved LLC Resonant Converter With GaN Devices and Integrated Planar Magnetics," in IEEE Journal of Emerging and Selected Topics in Power Electronics, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 653-663, June 2019.
- [24] IPP60R170CFD7, "600V CoolMOSTM CFD7 Power Transistor", available online (accessed on 1 February 2020)
- [25] IMZA65R027M1H, "650V CoolSICTM M1 SiC Trench Power Device", available online (accessed on 1 February 2020)
- [26] IGT60R070D1, "600V CoolGaNTM enhancement-mode Power Transistor", available online (accessed on 1 February 2020)
- [27] M. Escudero, M. Kutschak, D. Meneses, D. P. Morales and N. Rodriguez, "Synchronous rectifiers drain voltage overshoot reduction in PSFB converters," in IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics.
- [28] G. Deboy, J. Hancock, M. Purschel, U. Wahl and A. Willmeroth, "Compensation devices solve failure mode of the phase shift ZVS bridge during light-load operation," APEC. Seventeenth Annual IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (Cat. No.02CH37335), Dallas, TX, USA, 2002, pp. 988-993 vol.2.
- [29] L. Saro, K. Dierberger and R. Redl, "High-voltage MOSFET behavior in soft-switching converters: analysis and reliability improvements," INTELEC - Twentieth International Telecommunications Energy Conference (Cat. No.98CH36263), San Francisco, CA, USA, 1998, pp. 30-40.
- [30] L. Xie, X. Ruan and Z. Ye, "Modeling of common-mode noise in phase-shift full-bridge converter," IECON 2016 42nd Annual Conference of the IEEE Industrial Electronics Society, Florence, 2016, pp. 1371-1375.
- [31] M. Kutschak, M. Escudero, "3300 W 52 V LLC with 600 V CoolMOSTM CFD7 and XMCTM", available online (accessed on 1 February 2020).

CHAPTER 11. FIFTH PUBLICATION

High Efficiency, Narrow Output Range and Extended Hold-Up Time Power Supply with Planar and Integrated Magnetics for Server Applications

Manuel Escudero, Matteo-Alessandro Kutschak, David Meneses, Noel Rodriguez, and Diego Pedro Morales⁵

- PCIM Europe digital days 2021; International Exhibition and Conference for Power Electronics, Intelligent Motion, Renewable Energy and Energy Management, 2021.
- Print ISBN:978-3-8007-5515-8

Date of publication July 2, 2021; date of current version May 5, 2021. (Corresponding author: Manuel Escudero.) M. Escudero, M.-A. Kutschak, and D. Meneses are with the Infineon Technologies Austria AG, Villach 9500, Austria (e-mail: Manuel.EscuderoRodriguez@infineon.com; Matteo-Alessandro.Kutschak@infineon.com; David.Meneses@infineon.com). D. P. Morales and N. Rodriguez are with the Department of Electronics and Computer Technology, University of Granada, Granada 18071, Spain (e-mail: diegopm@ugr.es; noel@ugr.es).

Abstract— In this paper, the design of a new complete power supply for server applications is discussed. The main constraints of the new solution are the very high peak efficiency, the long hold-up time and the maximum outer dimension. The PSU is comprised of a front-end ACDC bridgeless totem-pole PFC and a back-end DCDC half-bridge LLC. Due to the extended hold-up time, the PSU requires large intermediate energy storage and an extended gain range for the LLC. Due to the outer dimension limits, a planar transformer with reduced height and volume is preferred. Finally, the very high efficiency target requires a careful design based on the accurate modeling of the overall losses of the converter. The analysis is demonstrated experimentally with a 3 kW PSU achieving 97.47 % of efficiency at 230 V_{AC} .

GLOSSARY

Dconduction	Boost diode conduction loss
Ehys	Coss charge-discharge loss
EMI	Electromagnetic interference filter
Poff	Turn-off loss
Pon	Turn-on loss
SWconduction	Boost switch conduction loss
Vf	Diode forward voltage

I. INTRODUCTION

Due to the continuous increment in processing power in server applications, the requirements of efficiency and power density in the server Power Supply Unit (PSU) also increase consequently. On the one hand, the electric power consumption raises the operating cost of the infrastructure. On the other hand, the wasted power produces unwanted heat that requires additional cooling of the system at all levels, e.g. PSU, server rack, and building.

In 2019 the Open Compute Project (OCP) [1] released a draft of the third version of the OCP rectifier specifications. The main changes between this version and the previous ones are the higher output voltage and the higher power density and efficiency. The output voltage has been increased from 12 V to 50 V [2]-[3], which significantly decreases the conduction losses in the bus bars at a rack level. Moreover, it makes it easier to achieve higher power and efficiency in the PSU. The required peak efficiency of the rectifier at 230 V_{AC} input is 97.5 %. Further efficiency constraints are summarized in Fig. 1.

⁵ © 2019 IEEE. Reprinted, with permission, from Manuel Escudero Rodriguez, Matteo-Alessandro Kutschak, David Meneses Herrera, Noel Rodriguez and Diego Pedro Morales, IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, March 13, 2020.



Fig. 1: OCP v3 efficiency requirements and estimated efficiency curve of a compliant PSU.

The preliminary analysis indicated that the most feasible solution for achieving the target specifications is a PSU comprised of two stages [4]. The front-end ACDC conversion stage provides power factor correction (PFC) and total harmonic distortion (THD), while the back-end DCDC conversion stage provides tight regulation of the output and safety isolation. The PFC is realized by a bridgeless totem-pole PFC with Silicon Carbide (SiC) MOSFETs [5], while the back-end isolated DCDC is realized by a half-bridge LLC series-parallel resonant converter [6] with Silicon (Si) Superjunction (SJ) High-Voltage (HV) MOSFETs and Si Low-Voltage (LV) MOSFETs rectifiers. Fig. 2 shows a simplified schematic of the complete PSU.

Although the nominal output voltage of the converter has narrow range 50 V_{DC} , due to the long hold-up time requirements, up to 20 ms at full rated power, the PSU requires large intermediate storage energy and extended gain range of the LLC [7]-[8].

The large intermediate storage can be achieved with a large bulk capacitance value and/or a higher bulk capacitance voltage. Whereas a large bulk capacitance value requires additional volume and cost, a higher bulk capacitance voltage requires capacitors and power semiconductor switches with a higher voltage rating, which are costly and, in general, with a worse Figure of Merit (FoM).

The extended gain range of the LLC requires reducing the magnetizing inductance of the main transformer, therefore increasing the conduction losses and overall reducing the peak efficiency of the converter. Moreover, the clamping diodes further limit the theoretical boosting gain capability during the hold-up time.

In this regard, the high peak efficiency requirements together with the constrained dimensions and the extended hold-up time make the design of a PSU compliant with the newly released OCP v3 a challenging task.

In this work, a complete power supply has been built and tested with a peak efficiency of 97.47 %. The analysis of the results and the thermal captures show that the main contributions to the overall losses are the main transformer of the LLC, and the switching losses of the SiC MOSFETs in the PFC and the Si SRs in the LLC.

The rest of this document is organized as follows. The design and estimated performance of the totem-pole PFC stage are discussed in section II. The design and estimated performance of the LLC stage is discussed in section III, together with a detailed description of its magnetics construction. The experimental results are discussed in section IV. Finally, section V presents a summary of conclusions out of this work.



Fig. 2: Simplified schematic of the prototype PSU. Front-end totem-pole PFC followed by a half-bridge LLC resonant converter.

II. TOTEM-POLE PFC

The totem-pole PFC is a bridgeless ACDC converter capable of achieving very high efficiencies (Fig. 3). Unlike the classic boost ACDC converter, there is only one semiconductor in the rectification path at any given time (Q_1 and Q_2). The rectification losses can be further reduced by actively switching Q_1 and Q_2 and implementing them with very low $R_{DS(on)}$ devices. It should be noted that the switching and driving loss contribution of Q_1 and Q_2 is very limited because they switch at only twice the grid frequency (50 Hz-60 Hz).

However, one of the main drawbacks of this topology is that the boost switches (Q_3 and Q_4) operate most of the time in hard-commutation. Therefore, Q_3 and Q_4 need to be implemented with low or very low reverser recovery charge (Q_{rr}) devices for the best efficiency and reliability. Due to this, the preferred alternatives are Wide Bandgap (WBG) semiconductor devices (SiC or GaN). However, alternative modulations may enable the use of Si SJ MOSFETs in what is commonly known as ZVS totem-pole or Triangular Current Mode (TCM) totem-pole [9].

A summary of the key design parameters of the prototype is presented in Table 1. Due to the extended hold-up time requirements, the bulk capacitance is comprised of three times 820 μ F and the nominal voltage is set at 410 V_{DC}. Therefore, the bulk consumes a large part of the volume of the PSU. Nevertheless, a positive side effect of the large capacitance is the reduced voltage ripple at the input of the back-end DCDC stage, which can operate at its most efficient point in steady state.

Parameter	Value
Nominal input voltage	$180 \ V_{AC} - 277 \ V_{AC}$
Nominal output voltage	410 V _{DC}
Rated power	3 kW
Switching frequency	65 kHz
Boost inductor (Lb)	539 µH
Core material	High Flux GT 60 µ
Inductor turns	62 (AWG 15)
SR MOSFETs (Q1, Q2)	IPW60R017C7
Boost MOSFETs (Q ₃ , Q ₄)	IPZA65R048M1

Table 1: Key specifications of the totem-pole prototype.

Figure 4 summarizes the estimated overall distribution of losses in the totem-pole PFC converter stage operating at 50 % of the rated power (1.5 kW) and at 230 V_{AC}. It can be observed that the major contribution of loss is due to the boost switch and diode (Q₃ and Q₄, which are SiC MOSFETs). Therefore, Q₃ and Q₄ should be dimensioned considering their operation at the worst case as well, i.e. minimum input voltage (180 V_{AC}) and maximum ambient temperature (50°C). At those conditions, both the switching losses and the conduction losses increase. Although, the low temperature dependency of the R_{DS(on)} in SiC and its high temperature capability provides more freedom in their selection and the design of the cooling system [10].



III. HALF-BRIDGE LLC

The back-end isolated DCDC is a half-bridge series-parallel resonant converter (LLC). The LLC can achieve Zero Voltage Switching (ZVS) in the primary side HV switches in all the load range. Moreover, the secondary side LV Synchronous Rectifiers (SRs) operate in ZVS but can be Zero Current Switched (ZCS) as well. Therefore,

the switching losses can be nearly eliminated. However, other loss phenomena due to the charge and discharge of the switches' capacitances could still have a noticeable contribution [11].

Table 2 includes a summary of the key specifications of the prototype. The nominal input voltage at which the converter achieves its best efficiency is 410 V_{DC} , where the LLC operates slightly above the series resonance frequency (93 kHz). It should be noted that, although the output voltage range is narrow (fixed 50 V_{DC}), due to the large hold-up time, the input voltage range is relatively wide (320 V_{DC} - 420 V_{DC}), therefore constraining the design.

Figure 5 is a summary of the estimated overall distribution of losses at 50 % of the rated power and at the nominal input and output voltages. It can be observed that the major contributions of losses are the main transformer, the secondary side SRs, and the primary side switches. Moreover, three different alternative semiconductor devices for the HV primary side devices are compared in Fig. 6. It is worth noting that due to their lower capacitances, the switching loss of the WBG devices is comparatively lower than that of the Si SJ MOSFETs.

Parameter	Value
Nominal input voltage	$320 \ V_{DC} - 420 \ V_{DC}$
Nominal output voltage	50 V _{DC}
Rated power	3 kW
Series resonant frequency	93 kHz
Series resonant inductor	6 µH
Parallel resonant inductor	65 µH
Resonant capacitor	480 nF
Transformer turn ratio	16:4
Primary MOSFETs	IPW60R024CFD7
SR MOSFETs	ISC031N08NM6

Table 2: Key specifications of the LLC prototype.

Figure 6 shows the estimated efficiency of the LLC converter stage at the nominal input and nominal output voltages, and along the load range. Moreover, the performance of the converter with three different alternative devices is compared. It can be observed that in spite of the different loss contributions (Fig. 5), the variation of the overall efficiency of the converter is relatively small at the somewhat low switching frequencies of this design.





Fig. 5: Estimated overall distribution of loss of the back-end LLC DCDC converter.

It is worth highlighting that the efficiency of the complete PSU is the result of multiplying the respective efficiencies of the two stages (Fig. 3 and Fig. 5), and therefore necessarily lower than any of them. However, it shall be noted that some of the loss contributions appear only once in the complete PSU, e.g. capacitors current leakage and auxiliary circuitry.

A. HALF-BRIDGE LLC MAGNETICS

The resonant tank of the LLC converter comprises a series resonant inductor (L_r) , a parallel resonant inductor (L_m) and a resonant capacitor C_r . One of the advantages of this topology is that L_r and L_m can be realized by the leakage and the magnetizing inductance of the main transformer. Although this alternative reduces the component count, it constrains the freedom of the design and the achievable performance of the converter. Therefore, in the prototype, the series inductor and the parallel inductor are built as discrete components. In the following, the construction of the magnetics will be further discussed.

1) SERIES RESONANT INDUCTOR

The series inductor is constructed with a PC95 PQ35/13 DG core from TDK and six turns of Litz wire (245 strands of diameter 0.1 mm). The multiple small gaps in the ferrite core's central column help reduce the losses caused by the stray fields in the winding and in the surrounding conductors. A spacer (represented in beige in Fig. 7) maintains the winding away from the remaining gaps between the PQ and the I piece (Fig. 7).



Fig. 7: Simplified construction structure of the series resonant inductor of the LLC DCDC converter.

2) MAIN TRANSFORMER AND PARALLEL INDUCTOR

The main transformer and the parallel resonant inductor (L_m) have been integrated into the same structure (Fig. 8). In this structure, the flux in part of the volume is effectively canceled, therefore, reducing the total core loss. L_m is made of a PC95 PQ35/28 core from TDK and 16 turns of Litz wire (512 strands of diameter 0.05 mm). A spacer maintains the winding away from the gaps, therefore reducing the loss caused by the stray fields.

The main transformer is made of two PC95 PQI35/23 cores from TDK and four separate planar PCB windings for the primary (in blue in Fig. 8) and eight planar PCB windings for the secondary (in green in Fig. 8).

One of the main advantages of the separation between the parallel resonant inductor and the main transformer is the improved coupling of the transformer. The magnetizing inductance of the main transformer can be made arbitrarily high. Therefore, the magnetizing current becomes neglectably small. On the one hand, this reduces the proximity losses, especially important in planar windings. On the other hand, the gap of the main transformer is virtually zero, therefore, reducing the effect of the stray fields, also very harmful in planar windings.

One of the main disadvantages of this approach is the loss caused by the additional core volume. However, in this design, the improvement in the conduction loss is larger than the additional loss caused by the core volume, therefore becoming the preferred solution.

Figure 9 represents the structure of the planar PCB windings. The FR-4 material is represented in blue, and the copper is represented in green. The primary side HV winding requires safety isolation; therefore, demanding the double FR-4 layer in the outer sides and the large margin to the lateral walls (1 mm). The secondary side windings only require functional isolation to the core; therefore, less margin to the lateral walls is required (0.5 mm). It follows that a large percentage of the transformer window is taken by the insulation. Moreover, the kind reader may observe that for smaller transformer geometries (smaller cores), the portion of the window consumed by the insulation increases.



Fig. 8: Simplified construction structure of the integrated transformer plus the parallel resonant inductor of the LLC DCDC converter.



Fig. 10: Photograph of the assembled integrated structure of the transformer and the parallel resonant inductor.







Fig. 11: Photograph of the primary and secondary side PCB windings of the planar transformer soldered onto the main board.

Figure 10 and Fig. 11 show two different assembly stages of the main transformer and the integrated parallel resonant inductor. It can be observed that due to the height constraints of the converter (40 mm), the main PCB needs to be cut out (the transformer's total height is 38 mm).

IV. EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS

This section summarizes the main experimental results of the two separate conversion stages and the complete PSU.

A. TOTEM-POLE PFC

It was already discussed in previous sections that one of the major contribution of loss in the totem-pole PFC are the switching losses of the boost switch and boost diode. Aiming to reduce the switching loss in this converter, Q_3 and Q_4 are devices with Kelvin-source connection (IPZA65R048M1) that cancel the otherwise negative feedback in the gate driving loop caused by the power source of the package, and therefore enabling a faster turn-on and turn-off.

Nevertheless, the switching speed of the devices still needs to be controlled due to the remaining parasitic inductances in the commutation loop, which may cause undesirably high overshoots in the drain or excessive ringing in the gate. It can be observed in Fig. 12 that the stress in the devices is well within the rated limits at the worst case (maximum load). Note that the drain (V_{DS}) and the gate (V_{GS}) voltage were measured referenced to the Kelvin-source connection.

Figure 13 offers a detailed view of the V_{AC} zero crossing where the polarity of the SRs (Q₁ and Q₂) changes. The idle time at the zero crossing shall be kept relatively narrow for improved THD of the converter.



B. LLC DCDC

In Fig. 14, it can be observed that the primary side devices achieve ZVS relatively easily at all load ranges. Thanks to the relatively small parallel resonant inductor (65 μ H), which is required due to the extended hold-up time, the magnetizing current is large enough to provide energy for the full ZVS even without load current (light load) [12].

Figure 14 also demonstrates the very small overshoot in the secondary side SRs. The LLC does not require a filter inductor at the output of the rectification stage. Therefore, filtering capacitors can be placed directly after, effectively clamping the commutation overshoot and enabling the best voltage class for the rectifiers (ISC031N08NM6, which are 80 V devices).

The clamping diodes D_1 and D_2 (Fig. 2) are not strictly required for the operation of the half-bridge LLC. However, they provide protection features, e.g. effectively limiting the peak current through the converter during spurious over-load events. On the other hand, the clamping diodes effectively limit the maximum achievable gain of the converter. Moreover, at the lower input voltages, the allowed voltage excursion in Cr further decreases (Fig. 15). This needs to be considered during the design and the sizing of Cr.



Fig. 14: Full ZVS at 10% of the rated load.

Clamping diodes limit the maximum VCr voltage amplitude, and therefore the gain of the converter.

1) **TEMPERATURE**

Figure 16 shows a temperature capture of the complete PSU at full load and at 230 V_{AC} input. It should be noted that the capture was taken with the PSU out of its chassis and with an auxiliary fan at the side.

Mainly two hot areas can be identified that correspond to the SiC switches in the totem-pole (upper-right area), and the main transformer and the secondary side SRs (lower-left area). This further corroborates the estimated overall distribution of losses discussed in the previous sections.

Further temperature measurements were captured with the PSU inside of its chassis, cooled by the PSU internal fan, and after running the PSU at full load for 30 min. The results of the main hot spots are represented in Fig. 17. In further revisions, to increase the safety margin in the SRs, two additional heat-sinks will be added and one of the output capacitors removed for improved airflow. It is worth mentioning that in this PSU, unlike in the most common cases, the fan blows into the unit, carrying hot air from the PFC into the DCDC stage.



C. EFFICIENCY

The efficiency of the complete power supply was measured at 230 V_{AC} with the fan supplied externally as well as by the PSU itself (as required by the OCP v3 specification). The results are represented in Fig. 18, together with the efficiency requirements at 230 V_{AC} given by the specifications



Fig. 18: Measured efficiency of the complete power supply prototype at 230 V_{AC} .

Although the efficiency at 10 % exceeds the requirements, and the efficiency at 50 % load is very close to the target, the efficiency at full load falls below the minimum by nearly 0.14 %. Further revisions of the converter with improvements in the conduction and switching losses are still needed.

V. CONCLUSION

In 2019 the Open Compute Project released a draft of the third version of the OCP rectifier specifications. The main changes between this version and the previous ones are the higher output voltage (50 V_{DC}), the higher power density (3 kW), and the efficiency requirements (97.5 % at 230 V_{AC}). Moreover, although the output voltage range is narrow, due to the large hold-up time (20 ms), the input voltage range of the back-end DCDC stage of the PSU is still wide.

Therefore, the design of a complete PSU compliant with the specifications is a challenging task. The preliminary analysis shows that the best alternative is a PSU comprised of two stages: a front-end bridgeless totem-pole PFC ACDC converter followed by a back-end half-bridge series-parallel resonant (LLC) isolated DCDC converter.

The complete power supply has been built and tested, achieving a peak efficiency of 97.47 %. The analysis of the results and the thermal captures shows that the main contributions to the overall losses are the main transformer of the LLC, the switching losses of the SiC MOSFETs in the PFC, and the switching losses of the secondary side SRs in the LLC.

REFERENCES

- [1] Open Compute Project (OCP). Available online: http://www.opencompute.org (accessed on 12 October 2020).
- [2] X. Zhang, B. Nguyen, A. Ferencz, T. Takken, R. Senger and P. Coteus, "A 12- or 48-V Input, 0.9-V Output Active-Clamp Forward Converter Power Block for Servers and Datacenters," in IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, vol. 35, no. 2, pp. 1721-1731, Feb. 2020
- [3] S. Saggini, O. Zambetti, R. Rizzolatti, M. Picca and P. Mattavelli, "An Isolated Quasi-Resonant Multiphase Single-Stage Topology for 48-V VRM Applications," in IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, vol. 33, no. 7, pp. 6224-6237, July 2018
- [4] P. Das and M. Pahlevaninezhad, "A novel full load range ZVS DC-DC full-bridge converter with natural hold-up time operation,"
 2015 IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC), Charlotte, NC, 2015, pp. 2056-2062
- [5] M. Kutschak, D. Meneses, "3300 W CCM bi-directional totem pole with 650 V CoolSiCTM CFD7 and XMCTM", available online (accessed on 12 October 2020).
- [6] M. Kutschak, M. Escudero, "3300 W 52 V LLC with 600 V CoolMOS™ CFD7 and XMC™", available online (accessed on 12 October 2020).
- [7] Y. Jeong, M. Lee, J. Park, J. Kim and R. A. L. Rorrer, "Hold-Up Time Compensation Circuit of Half-Bridge LLC Resonant Converter for High Light-Load Efficiency," in IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, vol. 35, no. 12, pp. 13126-13135, Dec. 2020
- [8] J. Lee, J. Kim, J. Baek, J. Kim and G. Moon, "Resonant Capacitor On/Off Control of Half-Bridge LLC Converter for High-Efficiency Server Power Supply," in IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics, vol. 63, no. 9, pp. 5410-5415, Sept. 2016
- [9] C. Marxgut, F. Krismer, D. Bortis and J. W. Kolar, "Ultraflat Interleaved Triangular Current Mode (TCM) Single-Phase PFC Rectifier," in IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, vol. 29, no. 2, pp. 873-882, Feb. 2014
- [10] "CoolSiCTM MOSFET 650 V M1 trench power device", available online (accessed on 13 February 2021).
- [11] M. Escudero, M. Kutschak, V. Toral, N. Rodriguez and D. P. Morales, "Practical evaluation of the switching loss in the secondary side rectifeirs of LLC converters," in IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, submitted for approval
- [12] M. Escudero, M. Kutschak, N. Fontana, N. Rodriguez and D. P. Morales, "Non-Linear Capacitance of Si SJ MOSFETs in Resonant Zero Voltage Switching Applications," in IEEE Access, vol. 8, pp. 116117-116131, 2020

SECTION III. PATENTS

CHAPTER 12. FREQUENCY MODULATION OF PSFB FOR INPUT VOLTAGE RANGE EXTENSION

1. INTRODUCTION

In PSFB converters the range of ZVS is given by the energy stored in the magnetics L_r , L_{lkg} , L_o and L_m . The two bridge legs (Q_1 , Q_2 , Q_3 and Q_4 in Figure 1) behave differently during the switching transitions. One of the legs turns on/off after a power transfer primary to secondary (lagging the power transfer, Figure 2), while the other leg turns on/off before the following power transfer (leading the power transfer, Figure 2).



Figure 1. Simplified model of a phase shift full bridge with equivalent parasitic capacitances and inductances.



Figure 2. Lagging and leading power transfer transitions of the full bridge switches.

1.1. LEADING LEG

The leading leg (in this example Q_3 and Q_4) transition occurs before a power transfer from the primary side to the secondary side and after the freewheeling phase (Figure 3). Because during the freewheeling phase the transformer is effectively shorted by the rectification stage, the output filter inductance and the magnetizing inductance of the transformer do not contribute to this transition (Figure 3). The energy available for charging-discharging the parasitic capacitances of the leading leg half bridge can be calculated with (5).

$$E_{\text{leading}} = \frac{I_{\text{Lr}}^2 L_{\text{r}} + I_{\text{Llkg}}^2 L_{\text{lkg}}}{2}$$
(1)

 Q_{oss} stands for the charge stored in the output capacitance one of the HV bridge devices, to which we may have to add other stray capacitances of the half bridge node for a more accurate result. For achieving full ZVS on the leading leg the available energy should be big enough to discharge the capacitance of the device which was off and to charge the capacitance of the device turning-off (2) [1].



Figure 3. Leading leg transition. Switch Q_3 has turned-off and the energy of the inductances flows into the parasitic capacitances until the parallel diode of D_4 conducts enabling ZVS of Q_4 .

In this leg ZVS does not occur easily along all the load range and requires careful design of the transformer and/or external resonant inductances. In general increasing L_r , L_{lkg} or reducing L_m (because it will effectively increase current through L_r and L_{lkg}) will increase the available energy. However, both approaches have their tradeoffs:

- Decreasing L_m increases primary circulating current and conduction losses.
- Increasing L_r, L_{ikg} reduces the available duty cycle and limits the maximum load at which the converter can regulate.

1.2. LAGGING LEG

The lagging leg (in this example Q_1 and Q_2) transition occurs right after a power transfer from the primary side (input side of the converter) to the secondary side (rectification stage). Because during this transition the filter inductance L_0 is effectively connected to the bridge through the transformer (Figure 4), it also contributes to the quasi-resonant transition. The energy available for charging-discharging the parasitic capacitances of the lagging leg half bridge can be calculated with (3).

$$E_{\text{lagging}} = \frac{I_{Lr}^2 L_r + I_{Lm}^2 L_m + I_{Lo}^2 L_o + I_{Llkg}^2 L_{lkg}}{2}$$
(3)

For achieving full ZVS of the lagging leg the available energy should be larger than the energy required to move the stored charge into the input supply (4).

$$Q_{oss}V_{in} \le \frac{I_{Lr}^{2}L_{r} + I_{Lm}^{2}L_{m} + I_{Lo}^{2}L_{o} + I_{Llkg}^{2}L_{lkg}}{2}$$
(4)

For a step down converter (where there are more primary turns than secondary turns in the transformer, $N_p > N_s$) the contribution of energy by the output filter inductance is in general much larger than the contribution by the other inductances, so ZVS is usually easily achieved through all the load range for this leg. $L_{o,pri}$ stands for the equivalent reflected value of the output filter inductance through the transformer (5-6). Replacing (6) in (3) we can derive the relation in (7), which proves that the available lagging leg energy (3) is always much bigger than the leading leg energy (1).



Figure 4. Lagging leg transition. Switch Q_2 has turned-off and the energy of the inductances flows into the parasitic capacitances until the parallel diode D_1 conducts enabling ZVS of Q_1 .

$$n = \frac{N_p}{N_s}$$
(5)

$$L_{o,pri} = L_o n^2 \tag{6}$$

$$\frac{I_{Lm}^2 L_m + (I_{Lr} - I_{Lm})^2 L_{0,pri}}{2} \gg \frac{I_{Lr}^2 L_r + I_{Llkg}^2 L_{lkg}}{2}$$
(7)

1.3. DUTY CYCLE LOSS

The effective duty cycle of the converter depends only on the input voltage, the output voltage and the transformer turns ratio. Therefore the effective duty is constant along the load range (8), dismissing the minor effects of the circuit voltage drops at the higher currents.

$$duty_{effective} = \frac{V_o}{V_{in}}n$$
(8)

The duty cycle loss occurs due to the time it takes to the primary current to reverse polarity along L_r and L_{lkg} , and reduces the available freewheeling time (Figure 6). Therefore, the remaining freewheeling time depends on load, because the primary current is the sum of the reflected secondary current plus the transformer magnetizing current (9-11). Should be noted that the freewheeling duty has to be always bigger than or equal to zero for the converter to maintain regulation (Figure 5).

$$duty_{loss} = \frac{L_r + L_{lkg}}{V_{in}} \Delta I_p 2 F_{sw}$$
⁽⁹⁾

$$\Delta I_p = \frac{2\overline{I_o}}{n} \tag{10}$$



1.4. TRADEOFF BETWEEN PERFORMANCE AND HOLD-UP TIME

From the point of view of performance, it would be desirable to design the converter for having zero freewheeling time at full load, due to the following reasons:

- Maximum ZVS range for the full bridge (specifically for the leading leg), maximizing the size of L_r and L_{lkg} .
- Minimum freewheeling time causing less circulating current in primary side.
- Maximum effective duty, maximizing the transformer turn ratio and lowering the secondary side reflected voltage and consequently having better secondary side voltage class switches (better FoM).

However, in a full ACDC converter the design has to ensure that the DCDC stage can maintain output regulation at full load during a specified hold-up time (time during which the AC input voltage is missing). During hold-up time, the output voltage of the primary ACDC stage will drop (e.g. from 400V to 350V). The DCDC stage has to maintain regulation at full load within that input voltage range (Figure 7). It was previously analyzed that the available duty cycle depends on the input voltage (9). In consequence, from the point of view of the hold-up time specification, the transformer turns ratio, L_r and L_{lkg} has to be dimension for the lowest input voltage, effectively decreasing the maximum possible performance at the nominal conditions.



Figure 7. Variation of freewheeling time at full load (available duty cycle) at different input voltages when all other parameters fixed. Standard hold-up operation. Sweeping voltage with a fixed L_r (11.1 μ H) at 100 kHz switching frequency.

2. FREQUENCY MODULATION FOR INPUT VOLTAGE RANGE EXTENSION

The effective duty time can be calculated from (8) considering that the effective frequency at the output of the converter is twice the switching frequency of the primary side half-bridges (12). The same applies to the duty loss time which can be calculated from (9) dividing by twice the switching frequency and resulting in (13). Therefore, from (11) it can be derived the expression for the available regulation time (freewheeling time) as a function of the switching frequency (14). The expression can be further simplified into the equation (15), where it can be observed that, all other parameters fixed, freewheeling time increases when the switching frequency decreases.

$$duty_{effective,time} = \frac{nV_o}{V_{in}2F_{sw}}$$
(12)

$$duty_{loss,time} = \frac{L_r + L_{lkg}}{V_{in}} \Delta I_p$$
(13)

(16)

$$duty_{freew,time} = \frac{1}{2F_{sw}} - duty_{loss,time} - duty_{effective,time}$$
(14)

$$duty_{\text{freew,time}} = \frac{n^2 V_o - n V_{in} + 4 \overline{I_o} L_F F_{\text{sw}}}{2 n V_{in} F_{\text{sw}}}$$
(15)

For the PSFB design in Figure 1 the freewheeling time dependency on the switching frequency at different input voltages has been plotted in Figure 8. The core of the proposed technique is to vary the switching frequency of the converter to compensate for the loss of duty cycle due to the drop in the input voltage (e.g. during hold-up time). This would allow the design for optimal performance at nominal conditions while fulfilling the hold-up time requirements. The expression (15) can be rewritten to calculate the required switching frequency to maintain regulation based on the design parameters, load, input voltage and output voltage (16).



Figure 8. Variation of freewheeling time at different switching frequencies and voltages when all other parameters are fixed. The arrow indicates the frequency trajectory of standard modulation in Figure 7. Sweeping the switching frequency with a constant L_r (11.1 μ H).

Thanks to this technique, L_r , L_{lkg} can be increased up to zero freewheeling time at the maximum possible load at the nominal input voltage. Alternatively, the turn ratio of the transformer can be modified for a longer duty and lower secondary reflected voltage. This technique can bring these benefits to the system:

- Improved ZVS range for the full bridge (especially for the leading leg), reducing switching losses at light load.
- The magnetizing current can be reduced, as L_r and L_{lkg} can provide more energy for the transitions, therefore reducing conduction losses.
- Minimize the freewheeling time, therefore decreasing the circulating currents in the primary side and reducing the conduction losses.
- Maximize the effective duty, therefore lowering the secondary side reflected voltage and allowing better secondary side voltage class switches.

2.1. PRACTICAL IMPLEMENTATION

In one possible implementation of the proposed modulation technique the controller modifies the switching frequency of the converter as a function of the input voltage. The dependency of the switching frequency on the input voltage can maintain (but not necessarily) a constant freewheeling time or apply some other non-linear frequency variation schemes, which includes the following alternatives:

- Switch to a minimum switching frequency under certain input voltage threshold (e.g. Trajectory B in Figure 9 and Figure 10).
- Decrease the switching frequency proportionally to the input voltage variation (e.g. Trajectory A in Figure 9 and Figure 10).
- Follow some other arbitrary trajectory varying frequency as a function of one or more of the variables in equation (16).





constant freewheeling time. Trajectory B implements two input volt-

age windows with two different switching frequencies.

Figure 9. Example of possible frequency trajectories. Sweeping the switching frequency with a constant Lr (11.1 μ H).



Figure 11. Example of frequency trajectory algorithms. Trajectory A sets the switching frequency at different discrete values within different ranges of the input voltage. Trajectory B sets the switching frequency as function of the input voltage or at a discrete value (nominal frequency) out of certain range of input voltage.

A digital controller can modify the switching frequency in relation to the input voltage whenever the input voltage measurement is available. Alternatively the input voltage can be estimated out of other measurements (e.g. reflected secondary voltage). In case that an analog controller is used, external circuitry can be added to provide the proposed switching frequency variation depending of the input voltage. How to implement this solution would depend of the specific analog controller being used and is out of the scope of this work. Figure 11, Figure 12 and Figure 13 show simplified diagrams of the proposed practical implementations.

(1)



PWM controller

Vin1 Hysteretic comparato voltage PWM controller conditionina

ou

ou

requency

Figure 12. Simplified example of Trajectory A implemented with analog circuit blocks. PWM controller with at least one frequency setting input (observe that the controller would have more inputs and outputs, as needed).



3. SIMULATION RESULTS

In the following we compare an optimized design with standard modulation to an optimized design applying the proposed new modulation:

The standard design implements $L_r = 8.5 \,\mu\text{H}$ and a transformer ratio of 21:4 for having enough available duty at the minimum input voltage (350 V) (Figure 14). The reflected secondary voltage is 76.19 V at nominal conditions. Consequently the required SRs rated voltage class is at least 120 V.

• The proposed design applying the proposed modulation technique implements $L_r = 8.5 \mu$ H and a transformer ratio of 24:4 for having enough available duty at the minimum input voltage (350 V) (Figure 15) and the minimum desired switching frequency (43 kHz). The reflected secondary voltage is 66.66 V at nominal conditions. Consequently the rated voltage class of 100V could be used for the SRs.

At nominal conditions the estimated performance of the proposed design exceeds that of a standard design around 0.2-0.5 % of efficiency along all the load range (Figure 16).





Figure 14. Transformer primary current at different input voltages for standard modulation scheme with a transformer ratio 21:4 and $L_{\rm r}$ equal to 8.5 μH

Figure 15. Transformer primary current at different input voltages for the proposed modulation scheme with a transformer ratio 24:4 and L_r equal to 8.5 μ H.



Figure 16. Effect of the proposed modulation technique on the design optimization of a 3300 W PSFB design. Efficiency estimation including the fan and the auxiliary bias consumption.

4. CONCLUSIONS

The proposed modulation technique in this chapter decreases the switching frequency of the PSFB DCDC converter to compensate for the loss of duty cycle due to the drop in the input voltage (e.g. during hold-up time). The proposed control scheme allows the design of PSFB for its optimal performance at the nominal operating conditions while fulfilling the specifications for hold-up time. Alternatively, the proposed control scheme allows increasing the input voltage regulation range and/or the output voltage regulation range.

The proposed modulation technique in this chapter is patent pending, and the application has been already published [2].

REFERENCES

- M. Escudero, M. Kutschak, N. Fontana, N. Rodriguez and D. P. Morales, "Non-Linear Capacitance of Si SJ MOSFETs in Resonant Zero Voltage Switching Applications," in *IEEE Access*, vol. 8, pp. 116117-116131, 2020
- [2] M. Escudero, M. Kutschak, inventors; Infineon Technologies Austria AG, assignee. Frequency Modulation Control for Phase-Shift Full Bridge Converters. United States patent application 16/362138. March 22, 2019

CHAPTER 13. MODULATION SCHEME FOR THE RESET OF CIRCULATING CURRENT IN PSFB

1. INTRODUCTION

The PSFB is a buck derivate, isolated DCDC converter topology. Like other resonant or quasi-resonant converters it can achieve ZVS in the primary side devices. However, unlike other fully resonant topologies (LLC or DAB) it suffers of circulating current losses in the primary side during the so-called freewheeling phase that do not contribute to the power transfer to the secondary side.

An example of a standard PSFB configuration is given in Figure 1. The problem and solution discussed in this chapter applies both for passive (diode) or active rectification (synchronous rectifiers). For simplicity we will assume diode rectification in the following examples. As discussed in previous chapters, the clamping diodes in the primary side (D_1 and D_2) help reducing the voltage overshoot of the secondary side rectifiers. Table 1 is a summary of the key component values that have been used in the simulations to obtain the results in this chapter.



Figure 1. PSFB DCDC converter with clamping diodes in the primary and diode rectification.

Table 1. Summary of component values in the simulations		
Component	Parameter	Value
Q_1 - Q_4	R _{ds,on}	$37.5 \text{ m}\Omega$
D_1-D_2	$V_{\rm f}$	1 V
Q5-Q8	R _{ds,on}	$2.32 \text{ m}\Omega$
Transformer primary	Turns	21
Transformer secondary	Turns	4
L _r	Inductance	2.3 µH
Lo	Inductance	9.8 µH

1.1. PRIMARY SIDE CIRCULATING CURRENTS IN PHASE SHIFT FULL BRIDGE CONVERTERS

The standard modulation of PSFB converter is widely covered in the literature [1]. Figure 2 shows the main waveforms of the converter operating at full load and at the nominal input voltage. The modulation scheme is briefly summarized in Figure 3. In this condition there are circulating currents in the primary side during the freewheeling time. Moreover the clamping diodes D_1 and D_2 conduct two times per period.



Figure 2. Converter waveforms at full load, nominal input voltage (400 V) and nominal output voltage.

The circulating currents are especially significant in wide input and/or wide output PSFB DCDC converters. Although the wide input voltage range can be reduced increasing the bulk capacitance between the ACDC (PFC) stage and the DCDC isolated output stage, it is however at the expense of cost and volume, which is not practical. Other fully resonant topologies like LLC can be fully optimized for its nominal operation. However, the secondary side *rms* currents are higher in LLC designs in comparison to PSFB. Therefore, reducing the primary side circulating currents in PSFB converters can potentially increase the performance of the topology at the level of fully resonant converters. Table 2 is a summary of currents through the main components of the converter for the standard modulation scheme and the example converter in Figure 2.



Figure 3. PSFB DCDC converter standard modulation scheme. Simplified power flow.

2. MODULATION SCHEME FOR THE RESET OF CIRCULATING CURRENTS IN PSFB

The newly proposed modulation scheme for PSFB converters resets the primary side circulating currents and provides ZCS for one of the primary side bridge legs. Figure 4 and Figure 5 show the main waveforms of the proposed modulation scheme (compare to Figure 2). In Figure 4, unlike in Figure 2, Q_2 is turned-off at the same instant than Q_3 . The current flowing throw the primary side is therefore blocked by Q_2 and forced to discharge the output capacitance of Q_1 . Because Q_2 has blocked the current circulation path, the circulating current resets to zero. Although, in practice there is a small current flow of reverse polarity by the resonance between the output capacitances of Q_1 and Q_2 , and the inductances L_r and L_{lkg} .

Figure 6 summarizes the key operating modes for the proposed modulation scheme. Compare the simplified power flow in Figure 6 with the power flow of the standard modulation in Figure 3.



Q3 -ogic 0 — iLr --- iTrx 10 Current (A) 5 0 -5 -10 t₀ t_1 t₂ 400 Vds,Q2 Vds,Q4 € 300 002 Voltage 100 0 9.135 9.145 9.155 9.185 9.165 9.175 Time (s) 9.195 × 1e-

Figure 4. Full load at nominal input voltage (400 V) and nominal output voltage applying the proposed modulation scheme. Clamping diodes conduction.





[t₄] Hard commutation

Figure 6. PSFB DCDC converter proposed novel modulation scheme which resets primary side circulating currents. Simplified power flow.

Because Q_1 is still turned-off after Q_2 transition, L_r and L_{lkg} current resonates back and forward bias the body diode of Q_2 . Because Q_2 body-diode would be conducting during Q_1 transition, Q_1 turns-on in hard-switching and hard-commutates D_2 . It follows that for low output capacitance devices (e.g. Wide Band Gap devices) the circulating current would be closer to zero than in the case of SJ MOSFETs. Moreover, the reduced reverse recovery charge of WBG will decrease the related switching losses of the hard-commutated transition. Table 3 is a summary of the currents passing through the main components of the converter for the proposed novel modulation scheme, both at minimum and at nominal input voltages.

Table 3. Summary of *rms* currents for the example design at different input voltages with the proposed novel modulation scheme.

	Minimum input (350 V)	Nominal input (400 V)
Q_1 - Q_2 Irms (A)	8.23	7.76
Q_3 - Q_4 Irms (A)	8.02	7.54
D_1 - D_2 Iavg (A)	0.11	0.12
Transformer primary Irms (A)	11.47	10.75
Transformer secondary Irms (A)	60	56.42

3. SIMULATION RESULTS

The proposed modulation scheme could be implemented with a standard PSFB controller and a few additional logic gates. As described above, Q_1 would be turned-off at the same instant than Q_3 turns-off, and Q_2 would be turned-off at the same instant than Q₄ is turned-off.



Figure 7. Simplified circuit blocks of a possible implementation of the proposed modulation scheme.

The captured waveforms in the figures as well as the estimated rms currents to illustrate the novel modulation scheme are obtained by simulation in PLECS [2]. Table 4 and Table 5 summarize the main conduction loss contributions for the standard modulation scheme and for the new proposed modulation scheme in the example converter and at the nominal input voltage. Overall the proposed modulation scheme achieves an estimated loss saving around 2.74 W. For the converter used as an example, where the losses at full load (3300 W) are in the range of 89.38 W, the estimated saving in power loss represents a reduction of 3% of the total losses.

Table 4

Table 4. Standard modulation scheme. Co	onduction losses of the main com	ponents at the no	ominal input voltage (400 V).
	Nominal input (400 V)	$R_{ds,on}(m\Omega)$	Loss (W)
Q_1 - Q_2 Irms (A)	8.45	37.5	5.36
Q_3 - Q_4 Irms (A)	7.91	37.5	4.70
D_1 - D_2 Iavg (A)	0.37	$V_{\rm f}{=}0.85~V$	0.32
Transformer primary Irms (A	.) 11.26	98.6	12.50
Transformer secondary Irms	(A) 58.26	1.69	5.74
S. Rectifiers Irms (A)	41.58	2.32	8.02
		TOTAL	36.64
Table 5. Proposed modulation scheme. Co	onduction losses of the main con	nponents at the n	ominal input voltage (400 V)
	Nominal input (400 V)	$R_{ds,on}(m\Omega)$	Loss (W)
Q_1 - Q_2 Irms (A)	7.76	37.5	4.51
Q_3 - Q_4 Irms (A)	7.54	37.5	4.26
D_1 - D_2 Iavg (A)	0.12	$V_{\rm f}{=}0.85~V$	0.10
Transformer primary Irms (A	.) 10.75	98.6	11.39
Transformer secondary Irms	(A) 56.42	1.69	5.38

2.32

TOTAL

8.26

33.90

3.1. WIDE BAND GAP DEVICES

S. Rectifiers Irms (A)

For devices with a smaller output capacitance the current would reset to nearly zero (see Figure 8 and compare to Figure 4). Table 6 is a summary of the currents passing through the main components of the converter for the proposed novel modulation scheme while using WBG devices in the primary side of the converter. Although there is no evident conduction loss advantage in comparison to Table, it should be expected that the switching losses would decrease significantly because of the reduction in Qoss and Qrr (the leading leg is hard-commutated in the proposed modulation).

42.19



Figure 8. Full load at nominal input voltage and nominal output voltage applying the proposed modulation scheme. The HV switches in this simulation are ideal devices with no output capacitance. ZVS of lagging leg and ZCS of leading leg.

Table 6. Proposed modulation scheme. Conduction losses of the main components at the nominal input voltage (400 V) for WBG like

	devices.		
	Nominal input (400 V)	$R_{ds,on}(m\Omega)$	Loss (W)
Q_1 - Q_2 Irms (A)	7.74	37.5	4.49
Q_3 - Q_4 Irms (A)	7.54	37.5	4.26
D_1 - D_2 Iavg (A)	0.12	$V_{\rm f} = 0.85 \ V$	0.10
Transformer primary Irms (A)	10.75	98.6	11.39
Transformer secondary Irms (A)	56.32	1.69	5.36
S. Rectifiers Irms (A)	41.54	2.32	8.00
		TOTAL	33.60

4. CONCLUSIONS

The primary side *rms* current in PSFB DCDC converters is larger than in other quasi-resonant or fully resonant converter (DAB or LLC). During the freewheeling phase the current recirculates in the primary side of the converter without effective power transfer to the secondary side. There are techniques described in the literature for resetting the primary circulating currents but always with additional circuitry in the primary or in the secondary side of the converters. The newly proposed modulation scheme for PSFB DCDC converters resets the primary side circulating currents without additional circuitry.

The control scheme presented in this chapter reduces the primary side conduction losses in PSFB topology for highly efficient DCDC converters. The new modulation is especially advantageous in designs with Wide Band Gap devices in the primary side of the converter. The lower reverse recovery charges (Q_{rr}) and output charges (Q_{oss}) of the devices further helps reducing the circulating currents and the additional switching losses caused by the loss of ZVS of one of the primary side full-bridge legs.

The proposed modulation technique in this chapter is patent pending, and the application has been already published [3].

REFERENCES

- [1] X. Ruan, Soft-Switching PWM Full-Bridge Converters: Topologies, Control, and Design. Science Press, 2014.
- [2] PLECS, The Simulation Platform for Power Electronic Systems, https://www.plexim.com/plecs, accessed 12 July 2020
- [3] M. Escudero, M. Kutschak, inventors; Infineon Technologies Austria AG, assignee. Switching Converter. European patent application EP3723258A1. October 15, 2020

CHAPTER 14. SWITCHED CAPACITOR DRIVING SCHEME FOR POWER SEMICONDUCTORS

1. INTRODUCTION

The switching loss of a MOSFET increases with the time it takes to the voltage and current to complete the transition from off to on and from on to off states (Figure 1 and Figure 2). Discarding other phenomena, and for the area of interest of this chapter, losses are mostly given by the overlap of current and voltage during the switching time [1]-[2].

A standard driver circuit (Figure 3) would provide a low ohmic path to the positive driving voltage rail V_{GG} when the device is turning-on, typically in the range of 12-15V for high voltage SJ MOSFETs; and a low ohmic path to the negative driving voltage rail V_{SS} when the device is turning-off (to simplify we will reference the off driving voltage as V_{SS} , when it could be zero or negative in reference to the source potential).



The turn-on speed is usually limited by an external resistor ($R_{g,on}$) in order to keep dv/dt and di/dt under acceptable values, especially in hard-switched turn-on topologies. Turn-off speed is usually not purposely slowed down externally by the driving path, but desired to be as fast as possible because dv/dt and/or di/dt is limited itself by the resonant elements in the power commutation loop. A low impedance path from gate to source with small $R_{ds,on}$ in the low side MOSFETs of the driver is, in general, the best option. Therefore, it is common to place a diode in parallel to the $R_{g,on}$ resistor (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Standard driving scheme for MOSFETs

1.1. TURN-OFF AID

A fast hard switched turn-off transition (inductively limited) can be divided into four stages (Figure 4):

- $[t_0, t_1] V_{gs}$ decreases from V_{GG} down to the Miller plateau voltage, which value depends on the current passing through the channel of the device, the threshold voltage and the transconductance.
- $[t_1, t_2] V_{gs}$ stays constant at the Miller voltage, all the driving current discharges C_{gd} capacitance of the MOSFET. C_{oss} (C_{gd} plus C_{ds}) is charged up by the load (inductances in the circuit). At the end of this stage V_{ds} has risen up to the upper rail voltage (power rail). During this stage, voltage and current overlap causing losses.
- [t₃, t₄] V_{gs} decreases from the Miller voltage down to V_{th}. The current through the channel decreases down to zero at the end of the transition. During this stage the voltage and the current overlap causing additional switching losses. The device can be considered off at the end of this stage.
- $[t_5, t_6] V_{gs}$ decreases down to the source voltage or to a negative value under the source reference voltage (Vss).



The turn-off loss is given mostly by the dv/dt stage (second step above) and the di/dt stage (third step above) where there is overlap of voltage and current. The turn-off loss could be reduced whenever dv/dt (second stage) is not limited by the gate current, but by the C_{oss} resonant charge. In this condition all current diverts from the channel to the capacitances and the linear losses are negligible. Turn-off loss could be also reduced having a faster di/dt transition (third stage) whenever some current remains in the channel after the previous stage. In order to speed-up the whole turn-off transition, a negative voltage (in reference to the source) can be applied. At the end of the transition the negative voltage can be removed and go back to the source reference potential (Figure 5 and Figure 6) or be kept negative in reference to the source, which could be advantageous in some scenarios (Miller clamp).



Figure 5. Voltage transition stage during a hard switched turn-off with a standard solution.



1.2. TURN-ON AID

A fast hard switched turn-on transition can be divided into four stages (Figure 7):

- [t₀, t₁] V_{gs} rises up to the threshold voltage (V_{th}) of the MOSFET. The channel of the switch can be considered open, with no current flowing.
- [t₁, t₂] V_{gs} crosses V_{th}, closing the channel, and raises up to the Miller voltage, which depends on the channel final current. During this time current and voltage overlap causing losses. At the end of this stage, current is at its final value.
- $[t_2, t_3] V_{gs}$ stays constant, all the driver current charges the C_{gd} capacitance of the MOSFET. The driving impedance together with the size of C_{gd} determines the dv/dt. During this stage there is still overlap of voltage and current, which causes additional losses.
- $[t_3, t_4] V_{gs}$ rises up to the final V_{GG} . The voltage in the drain (V_{ds}) corresponds to the ohmic drop in the channel.



Turn-on loss is given mostly by the di/dt stage (second step above) and the dv/dt stage (third step above). Turnon loss could be reduced, still keeping under control dv/dt, having a faster di/dt transition (second stage). In order to speed up the di/dt stage, a voltage higher than V_{GG} is applied at the output of the driver during the second phase (Figure 8 and Figure 9). This higher driving voltage goes back to V_{GG} at the end of the stage.



Figure 8. Current transition stage of a hard-switched turn-on with standard solution.

Figure 9. Current transition stage of a hard-switched turn-on with proposed solution.

2. SWITCHED CAPACITOR DRIVING SCHEME FOR POWER SEMICONDUCTORS

In the newly proposed driving circuit the standard driving structure composed by complementary switches (Q_{D1} , Q_{D2}) remains unchanged (Figure 10). The core of the proposed technique comprises an additional turn-off aid and/or additional turn-on aid realized by a switched capacitor charge pump scheme.



Figure 10. Proposed turn-on and turn-off aid circuit.

2.1. TURN-OFF AID

The source of the power MOSFET switch, which is the reference rail of the driver, is decoupled from the driver output stage turn-off path (or negative rail) by a diode D_3 . A capacitor (C_{OFF}) is placed in parallel to the diode connected also to Q_{D2} and to two additional complementary push-pull circuits for the charging and discharging of C_{OFF} .

 C_{OFF} is charged through Q_{L1} and D_3 while Q_{D2} and Q_{L2} are in off state (Figure 11). Before or while Q_{D2} turnson, Q_{L1} becomes off and Q_{L2} becomes on. At this point D_3 blocks C_{OFF} voltage. The anode of D_3 becomes negative in reference to the source potential right at the start of the power MOSFET transition (Figure 12). Depending on the ratio of C_{OFF} to the MOSFET gate capacitance (and other external additional capacitances) C_{OFF} could be totally discharged. In that case D_3 will continue conducting till the end of the power MOSFET turn-off transition (Figure 13).



Figure 11. C_{OFF} is charged up while the output of the driver is in on state.



Figure 12. Charge balance of C_{OFF} and C_{gs} during the turn-off transition.



Figure 13. If C_{OFF} gets discharged during the negative driving pulse D₃ will conduct till the end of the turn-off transition.

In the following analysis the ohmic losses during the charging and discharging of C_{OFF} as well as other parasitics of the circuit whit a minor influence in the working principles of the circuit will be ignored. At the start of the turn-off transition, C_{gs} and any other external capacitance appears in parallel to C_{OFF} . The charge stored in both capacitors will balance to a voltage equilibrium. If C_{OFF} is big enough in relation to C_{gs} the final voltage of C_{OFF} will be bigger than zero ($V_0 \le 0V$) (1-2).

$$C_{gs}(V_{GG} - V_0) = C_{OFF}(V_{OFF} - V_F) + C_{OFF}V_0$$
(1)

$$V_0 = \frac{-c_{OFF}(v_{GG} - v_F) + c_{gS}v_{GG}}{c_{OFF} + c_{gS}}$$
(2)

 C_{OFF} should be big enough not to be discharged fully during the voltage balance transition for a negative voltage charge of C_{gs} at the end of the transition ($V_0 \le 0V$). The minimum required value of C_{OFF} is given by the relation (3-4).

$$C_{gs}V_{GG} = C_{OFF}(V_{GG} - V_F) \tag{3}$$

$$C_{OFF} = \frac{C_{gs} V_{GG}}{V_{GG} - V_F} \tag{4}$$
The charge up of C_{gd} during the dv/dt stage of the turn-off transition will provide extra charge to both equivalent parallel capacitances C_{gs} and C_{OFF} . Due to C_{gd} appearing in series to the paralleling of C_{gd} with C_{OFF} , same amount of charge injected in C_{gd} will be injected in the parallel equivalent capacitance comprised by C_{gs} and C_{OFF} (5).

$$C_{gd}(V_{bus} + V_{GG} + V_0) = \Delta V_{miller}(C_{OFF} + C_{gs})$$
⁽⁵⁾

To simplify, because V_0 would be much smaller than V_{bus} (power switch high voltage rail), we can rewrite the previous equation as (6-7).

$$C_{gd}(V_{bus} + V_{GG}) = \Delta V_{miller}(C_{OFF} + C_{gs})$$
(6)

$$\Delta V_{miller} = \frac{C_{gd}(V_{bus} + V_{GG})}{C_{OFF} + C_{gs}} \tag{7}$$

The final voltage of the gate would depend on the two relations above: voltage balance of the parallel capacitors and series charge of the Miller capacitance (8).

$$V_{gs} = \Delta V_{miller} + V_0 = \frac{c_{gd}(v_{bus} + v_{GG})}{c_{OFF} + c_{gs}} - \frac{c_{OFF}(v_{GG} - v_F) - c_{gs}v_{GG}}{c_{OFF} + c_{gs}}$$
(8)

2.2. TURN-OFF AID CAPACITOR DIMENSIONING

The value of C_{OFF} could be selected to achieve different behaviors of the circuit:

• Have negative bias voltage driving the MOSFET during the whole off gate pulse. This would be the case when C_{OFF} is chosen to be big enough not to be fully discharged (9-11).

$$V_0 < 0 \text{ And } V_0 < \Delta V_{miller} \tag{9}$$

$$V_{qs} < 0 \tag{10}$$

$$C_{OFF} > \frac{c_{gd}v_{bus} + c_{gd}v_{GG} + c_{gs}v_{GG}}{v_{GG} - v_F} \tag{11}$$

• Speed up whole turn-off transition of the power MOSFET (Figure 14). This would be the case when V_{gs} is zero at the end of the transition (12-14).

$$V_{as} = 0 = \Delta V_{miller} + V_0 \tag{12}$$

$$\frac{C_{gd}(V_{bus}+V_{GG})}{C_{OFF}+C_{gs}} = \frac{C_{OFF}(V_{GG}-V_F)-C_{gs}V_{GG}}{C_{OFF}+C_{gs}}$$
(13)

$$C_{OFF} = \frac{C_{gd}V_{bus} + C_{gd}V_{GG} - C_{gs}V_{GG}}{(V_{GG} - V_F)}$$
(14)

• Speed up only the *dv/dt* stage of the power MOSFET turn-off transition (Figure 15). This would be the case when C_{OFF} is fully discharged at the end of the miller plateau (15-16).

$$V_{0} = \frac{c_{OFF}(v_{GG} - v_{F}) - c_{gs}(v_{GG} - v_{miller})}{c_{OFF} + c_{gs}} = \Delta V_{miller} = \frac{c_{gd}(v_{bus} + v_{GG})}{c_{OFF} + c_{gs}}$$
(15)

$$C_{OFF} = \frac{C_{gd}V_{bus} + C_{gd}V_{GG} + C_{gs}V_{GG} - C_{gs}V_{miller}}{(V_{GG} - V_F)}$$
(16)



Figure 14. Example of alternative selection of C_{OFF} value in proposed circuit. C_{OFF} is not totally discharged and V_{gs} becomes lower than the source voltage during the whole off pulse.

Figure 15. Example of modulation scheme and C_{OFF} value on proposed circuit. Speed up of the dv/dt stage.

2.3. TURN-ON AID

The positive voltage rail of the driving stage (V_{GG}) is decoupled from Q_{D1} by a diode D_2 . A capacitor (C_{ON}) is placed in parallel to the diode and connected also to Q_{D1} and to two additional complementary switches (Q_{H1} and Q_{H2}) for the charging and discharging of C_{ON} .

 C_{ON} is charged through Q_{H2} and D_2 while Q_{D1} and Q_{H1} are in off state (Figure 16). Before or while Q_{D1} turnson, Q_{H2} becomes off and Q_{H1} becomes on. At this point D_2 will block C_{ON} voltage. The anode of D_2 becomes positive above V_{GG} at the start of the power MOSFET turn-on transition (Figure 17).





Figure 16. $C_{\mbox{\scriptsize ON}}$ is charged up while the output of the driver is in off state.

Figure 17. Charge balance of C_{ON} and C_{gs} during the turn-on transition.

Depending on the ratio C_{ON} to the MOSFET gate capacitance (and other possible external additional capacitances) C_{ON} voltage may discharge totally. In that case D_2 will continue conducting till the end of the power MOSFET turning-on transition (Figure 18).



Figure 18. If CON gets discharged during the positive driving pulse, D2 will conduct and keep the driving voltage high.

In the following analysis the ohmic losses during the charging and discharging of C_{ON} as well as other parasitics of the circuit whit a minor influence in the working principles of the circuit will be ignored. At the start of the turn-off transition, C_{gs} and any other external capacitance appears in parallel to C_{ON} . The charge stored in the parallel capacitances will balance to a voltage equilibrium. Due to C_{ON} being stacked over the driving supply voltage V_{GG} at the start of the transition, we can simplify assuming $2V_{GG}$ as the starting voltage. Because the turnoff aid might be used in combination with the turn-on aid, the starting voltage could be different from zero. V_0 is the initial voltage in C_{gs} . The final voltage in C_{gs} would be V_0 plus the variation ΔV (17-18).

$$C_{gs}(\Delta V - V_0) = C_{ON} * (2V_{GG} - V_F) - C_{ON}\Delta V$$
(17)

$$\Delta V = \frac{c_{ON}(2V_{GG} - V_F) + c_{gs}V_0}{c_{ON} + c_{gs}}$$
(18)

 C_{ON} should be bigger enough not to be discharged fully during the voltage balance transition for a positive (higher than V_{GG}) voltage charge in C_{gs} at the end of the transition The minimum required value of C_{ON} is given by the relation in (19-20).

$$C_{gs}(V_{GG} - V_0) = C_{ON}(2V_{GG} - V_F)$$
(19)

$$C_{ON} = \frac{C_{gs}(V_{GG} - V_0)}{(2V_{GG} - V_F)}$$
(20)

The discharge of C_{gd} will provide extra charge to both C_{gs} and C_{ON} . Because C_{gd} appears in series to the paralleling of C_{gd} and C_{ON} , the same amount of charge injected into C_{gd} will be injected into the parallel equivalent capacitance comprised by C_{gs} and C_{ON} (21-22).

$$C_{gd}(V_{bus} + V_{GG} + V_0) = \Delta V_{miller}(C_{ON} + C_{gs})$$

$$\tag{21}$$

$$\Delta V_{miller} = \frac{c_{gd}(v_{bus} + v_{GG} + v_0)}{c_{ON} + c_{gs}} \tag{22}$$

The final voltage in the gate would depend on the result of the two phenomena above, voltage balance of the parallel capacitors and series charge of the Miller capacitance (23).

$$V_{gs} = \Delta V + V_0 - \Delta V_{miller} = \frac{c_{ON}(2V_{GG} - V_F) + c_{gs}V_0}{c_{ON} + c_{gs}} + V_0 - \frac{c_{gd}(V_{bus} + V_{GG} + V_0)}{c_{ON} + c_{gs}}$$
(23)

2.4. TURN-ON AID CAPACITOR DIMENSIONING

The value of C_{ON} could be selected for achieving different behaviors of the circuit:

4

• Set higher gate voltage than V_{GG} during the whole turn-on gate pulse (Figure 19). The external capacitor C_{ON} is not fully discharged at the end of the transition (24-26).

$$\Delta V > (V_{GG} + (V_0 - \Delta V_{miller}))$$
⁽²⁴⁾

$$V_{gs} > V_{GG} \tag{25}$$

$$C_{ON} > \frac{c_{gd} V_0 - 2c_{gs} V_0 + c_{gd} V_{bus} + c_{gd} V_{GG} + c_{gs} V_{GG}}{V_0 - V_F + V_{GG}}$$
(26)

 Speed up whole turn-on transition of the power MOSFET (Figure 20). The external capacitor is fully discharged right at the end of the turn-on transition (27-28).

$$V_{as} = V_{GG} \tag{27}$$

$$C_{ON} = \frac{c_{gd}V_0 - 2c_{gs}V_0 + c_{gd}V_{bus} + c_{gd}V_{GG} + c_{gs}V_{GG}}{V_0 - V_F + V_{GG}}$$
(28)

Speed up only the *di/dt* stage of the power MOSFET turn-on transition. The external capacitor C_{ON} is fully discharged at the start of the Miller plateau.

$$C_{gs}(V_{miller} - V_0) = C_{ON}(2V_{GG} - V_F)$$
⁽²⁹⁾

$$C_{ON} = \frac{c_{gs}(v_{miller} - v_0)}{2v_{GG} - v_F}$$
(30)



Figure 19. Example of one alternative selection of C_{ON} value in proposed circuit. C_{ON} is not totally discharged and V_{gs} becomes higher than V_{GG} (15V).

Figure 20. Example of one alternative selection of $C_{\rm ON}$ value in proposed circuit. Speed up of the turn-on transition.

3. PRACTICAL IMPLEMENTATION

3.1. BOOTSTRAPPING

The proposed circuit can be used to drive the high-side devices in a half-bridge configuration with standard bootstrapping techniques (Figure 21). The low side driving supply charges a bootstrapping capacitor C_{BSTRP} through the bootstrapping diode while the middle point of the half bridge (between power semiconductors Q_1 and Q_2) is grounded (at GND potential or the potential of the low side MOSFET source). For simplicity we show in the following figures only the turn-off aid, but what is stated in this section applies for any of the possible configurations proposed before.



Figure 21.Half bridge configuration with bootstrapping circuitry to supply the high side driving circuitry.



Both the turn-on and the turn-off behavior of the low side behaves as stated in the previous sections (Figure 22 and Figure 23). However, the voltage in C_{BSTRP} will be lower than V_{GG} (low side driving supply) because of the voltage drop in the bootstrapping diode.

3.2. BIASING OF DRIVER OUTPUT STAGE

The voltage between the rails of the output stage of the driver (V_{bias} in Figure 24) may have some transients during the turn-on and the turn-off charge and discharge of the power MOSFET gate capacitance (Figure 25 and Figure 26).



Figure 24. Point of measurement of the voltage between the rails of the output stage of the driving circuit (V_{bias}).



Figure 25. Example of high side turn-on signals and voltage at the rails of the output of the driving stage.

Figure 26. Example of high side turn-off signals and voltage at the rails of the output of the driving stage.

Adding a capacitor in parallel to the output stage of the driver (C_{BIAS} in Figure 27) and an extra diode in the switched capacitor charging stage (D_3) the circuit can provide a stable voltage for Q_{D1} and Q_{D2} . This may help in the implementation of the driving stage for Q_{D1} and Q_{D2} . In comparison to the previous configuration (Figure 25 and Figure 26), the output driver stage voltage has less of a variation during the switching on and off (Figure 28 and Figure 29).



Figure 27. Point of measurement of the voltage between the rails of the driving circuit output stage (V_{bias}).



Figure 28. Example of high side turn-on signals and voltage at the rails of the output of the driving stage.

Figure 29. Example of high side turn-off signals and voltage at the rails of the output of the driving stage.

3.3. IMPLEMENTATION WITH AVAILABLE COMMERCIAL DRIVER ICS

The proposed solution could be implemented with standard driver integrated circuits (ICs) plus additional external diodes and capacitors, like it is shown in the simplified circuit in Figure 30.



Figure 30. Example of implementation with commercial available driver ICs.

4. SIMULATION RESULTS

The standard and the proposed solution have been simulated for the most common topologies and their basic switching configurations (Figure 31 and Figure 32).



Figure 31. Half bridge configuration. Switching loss estimation of hard and soft-switched topologies.

Figure 33, Figure 34 and Figure 35 represent the simulation results of the switching losses for a device model of CFD7 TO-247 with 3 pin in three different scenarios: single device against a SiC diode, half-bridge hard-switched turn-on, and half-bridge soft-switched turn-on respectively. It can be observed that in all the cases the proposed driving circuit reduces considerably the switching losses. Moreover, it can be observed that the difference in losses increases as the switched current rises.



Figure 32. Boost converter, switch against diode configuration.



Figure 33. Switching loss of CFD7 TO-247 3 pin model with proposed circuit against standard solution in a boost converter. The energy E includes the witching energies E_{ON} plus E_{OFF} , with 15 Ω R_{g,on} at different switched currents The complementary diode in the simulation is a SiC device, IDH20G65C6, with negligible Q_{rr} losses.

Figure 34. Switching loss of CFD7 TO-247 3 pin model with proposed circuit against standard solution in a half-bridge hard switched converter (TTF like). The energy E includes the switching energies E_{ON} plus E_{OFF} , with 15 Ω R_{g,on} at different switched currents.



Figure 35. Switching loss of CFD7 TO-247 3 pin model with the proposed circuit against a standard solution in a half-bridge soft switched converter (LLC like). The energy E includes the switching energies E_{ON} plus E_{OFF} , with 75 Ω R_{g,on} at different switched currents.

5. CONCLUSIONS

In this chapter a novel driving circuit for power semiconductors based on a switched capacitor charge pump circuit is proposed. The proposed technique could be applied to aid the turn-on transition or to provide higher positive driving voltage during the full turn-on pulse, to aid the turn-off transition or to provide lower negative driving voltage during the full turn-off pulse. The proposed turn-on aid and the turn-off aid can be used separately or combined together.

The proposed solution behaves differently and offers different advantages depending on the dimensioning of the external capacitors, and depending on their size ratio to the gate capacitance of the power semiconductor. A detailed analysis and design rules have been given in this chapter.

The proposed solution brings benefits to power semiconductor devices in all topology scenarios, reducing switching losses and allowing their usage in higher current applications with standard packages. It offers advantages both in hard-switched and soft-switched applications: lower switching losses, better clamping capabilities, and dual supply generation from a single source.

The proposed driving techniques in this chapter are patent pending, and the application has been already published [3].

REFERENCES

- [1] I. Castro *et al.*, "Analytical Switching Loss Model for Superjunction MOSFET With Capacitive Nonlinearities and Displacement Currents for DC–DC Power Converters," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 2485-2495, March 2016
- [2] E. Locorotondo, L. Pugi, F. Corti, L. Becchi and F. Grasso, "Analytical Model of Power MOSFET Switching Losses due to Parasitic Components," 2019 IEEE 5th International forum on Research and Technology for Society and Industry (RTSI), Florence, Italy, 2019, pp. 331-336
- M. Escudero, M. Kutschak, inventors; Infineon Technologies Austria AG, assignee. Switched capacitor driving circuits for power semiconductors. United States patent application 16/444,384. June 18, 2019

CHAPTER 15. MODULATION SCHEME FOR THE COLD START-UP OF THE ISOLATED BOOST CONVERTER

1. INTRODUCTION

The current-fed isolated boost converter, also referred in the literature as bidirectional PSFB (Figure 1), has the limitation of requiring of auxiliary circuitry for the so-called cold start-up [1]-[2]. The large signal gain of the converter is equal or greater than one, like any other boost converter. In cold start-up conditions (with the output capacitor discharged), it suffers of great overshoots in the secondary side devices and the current in the boost inductor (L_o) raises uncontrollably.

In [2] an auxiliary external circuitry is suggested for the pre-charge of the bulk voltage prior to the converter starting up in the current-fed isolated boost mode (Figure 2). In [3] a second ACDC stage pre-charges the bulk capacitance from the grid prior to the bidirectional PSFB starts-up and provides energy back from the LV supply. After the bidirectional converter has started-up, the ACDC changes mode and becomes and inverter feeding energy back to the grid.



Figure 2. Cold start-up proposed auxiliary circuitry in [2].

In this chapter a novel modulation scheme is proposed enabling the cold start-up of the bidirectional PSFB (current-fed isolated boost) without additional circuitry or the availability of a second ACDC stage with bidirectional capability, which would enable as well its use in e.g. islanding grid applications. The basis of the proposed modulation is the transfer of energy in a limited manner, maintaining under control the current in the output inductor (L_o) and keeping the overshoot of the synchronous rectifiers under their rated limit.

2. MODULATION SCHEME FOR THE COLD START-UP OF THE ISOLATED BOOST CONVERTER

The principle of operation of the proposed modulation consist in enabling one of the synchronous rectification branches (LV side) during a limited time (Figure 3). During this time the current through the inductor L_0 increases and at the same time a proportional current is being transferred to the primary (HV side) through the transformer. At a defined peak of current the synchronous rectification branch is turned-off. All the energy, which has been stored in the inductor L_0 , will resonate against the output capacitance of the synchronous rectifiers (Figure 4, Figure 6 and Figure 5). After the current through the inductor L_0 reaches zero again, a new cycle can be started (t₄ in Figure 3).



Figure 3. Simplified waveforms of the proposed modulation.

ing the interval [t₁,t₂].



Figure 4. Simplified flow of currents in the proposed modulation during the interval $[t_0,t_1]$.



Figure 5. Simplified flow of currents in the proposed modulation during the interval $[t_2,t_3]$.

In the following, the validity of the proposed modulation is analyzed and demonstrated mathematically. The charge that is being transferred into the input capacitor C_{in} is equal to the integral of the primary transformer current i_{Tr} during the interval $[t_0, t_2]$ and can be estimated with (1-2), whereas the increase in voltage of the input capacitor can be estimated by (3).

$$\Delta Q_{Cin} = \int_{t0}^{t2} i_{Tr} dt \cong \frac{I_{pk, ref}(t_2 - t_0)}{2}$$
(1)

$$I_{pk,ref} = \frac{N_{sec}}{N_{pri}} \cdot I_{pk}$$
(2)

$$\Delta V_{\text{Cin}} \cong \frac{I_{\text{pk,ref}}(t_2 - t_0)}{2 \cdot C_{\text{in}}}$$
(3)

The peak current I_{off} can be estimated from the output and input voltages and the value of the output inductance L_o (4-5).

$$I_{off} = \frac{V_o - V_{in,ref}}{L_o} \cdot (t_1 - t_0)$$

$$\tag{4}$$

$$V_{\rm in,ref} = \frac{N_{\rm sec}}{N_{\rm pri}} \cdot V_{\rm in} \tag{5}$$

From the previous equations it is possible to estimate how much time it is required to maintain the switches Q_{EH} and Q_{EL} (or alternatively Q_{FH} and Q_{FL}) in their conducting state. However, after the synchronous rectifiers are switched off, the current will continue increasing up to I_{pk} due to the charge of the output capacitance of the synchronous rectifying branches. The additional increase of current can be calculated by the amount of energy



Figure 6. Simplified flow of currents in the proposed modulation dur-

being stored into the capacitors, which will be stored in an equal amount in the inductor during the transition (6-9).

$$\Delta E_{Lo} = 2 \cdot E_{oss}, t_1 < t < t_2 \tag{6}$$

$$E_{\text{Lo,max}} = \frac{I_{\text{off}}^2 \cdot L_0}{2} + 2 \cdot E_{\text{oss,SR}}(V_0) + 2 \cdot \left(E_{\text{oss,SR}}(V_0) - E_{\text{oss,SR}}(V_{\text{in,ref}})\right), t = t_2$$
(7)

$$E_{\text{Lo,max}} \approx \frac{I_{\text{off}}^{4} \cdot L_{\text{o}}}{2} + 2 \cdot E_{\text{oss,SR}}(V_{\text{o}}) + 2 \cdot E_{\text{oss,SR}}(V_{\text{o}} - V_{\text{in,ref}}), t = t_{2}$$
(8)

$$I_{pk} = \sqrt{\frac{2 \cdot E_{Lo,max}}{L_0}} = \sqrt{I_{off}^2 + \frac{\left(4 \cdot E_{oss,SR}(V_0) + 4 \cdot E_{oss,SR}(V_0 - V_{in,ref})\right)}{L_0}}$$
(9)

On the other hand, the energy which has been stored in the inductor during the interval $[t_0, t_2]$ will continue to be dumped into the output capacitance of all of the synchronous rectifiers, until the V_{ds} achieves its peak at $[t_3]$. However, because all the synchronous rectifiers are in blocking state the actual V_{ds} of each of the switches in the stacked half-bridges is half of the apparent blocking voltage of the full rectification stage (10-12). Notice that in center-tapped configuration, although a single device blocks the resonance, the devices are rated for twice the blocking voltage.

$$\Delta E_{SR} = E_{Lo,max}, t_2 < t < t_3 \tag{10}$$

$$E_{SR,max} = \frac{I_{off}^2 \cdot L_0}{2} + 2 \cdot E_{oss,SR}(V_0) + 2 \cdot E_{oss,SR}(V_0 - V_{in,ref}) + 4 \cdot E_{oss,SR}(V_0), t = t_3$$
(11)

$$V_{K,max} = \sqrt{\frac{2 \cdot E_{SR,max}}{4 \cdot C_{oss,SR}}} = \sqrt{\frac{I_{off}^2 \cdot L_o + 12 \cdot E_{oss,SR}(V_o) + 4 \cdot E_{oss,SR}(V_o - V_{in,ref})}{4 \cdot C_{oss,SR}}}$$
(12)

It is desirable to maintain the maximum V_{ds} overshoot of the synchronous rectifiers under a specified limit, commonly 80% of their rated breakdown voltage. That would limit the maximum energy that could be transferred in each of the switching cycles and how long it would take to achieve the nominal V_{in} voltage depending on the size of the input capacitor C_{in} (13-15).

$$I_{off,max} = \sqrt{\frac{V_{K,max}^{2} \cdot 4 \cdot C_{oss,SR} - 12 \cdot E_{oss,SR}(V_{o}) - 4 \cdot E_{oss,SR}(V_{o} - V_{in,ref})}{L_{o}}}$$
(13)

$$(t_2 - t_0) \cong \frac{I_{\text{pk}} \cdot L_0}{(V_0 - V_{\text{in,ref}})}$$
(14)

$$\Delta V_{\text{Cin,max}} \cong \frac{I_{\text{pk,max}}^{2} \cdot L_{\text{o}}}{2 \cdot C_{\text{in}} \cdot (V_{\text{o}} - V_{\text{in,ref}})} = \frac{I_{\text{off,max}}^{2} \cdot L_{\text{o}} + 4 \cdot E_{\text{oss,SR}}(V_{\text{o}}) + 4 \cdot E_{\text{oss,SR}}(V_{\text{o}} - V_{\text{in,ref}})}{2 \cdot C_{\text{in}} \cdot (V_{\text{o}} - V_{\text{in,ref}})}$$
(15)

$$(t_4 - t_2) \cong \frac{2 \cdot \pi \cdot \sqrt{L_0 \cdot 4 \cdot C_{\text{OSS,SR}}}}{2} \tag{16}$$

From the previous formulas it is obvious that $I_{off,max}$ it is nearly independent of the charging state of C_{in} (V_{in}). The duty cycle would have however to adapt to compensate for the increase in V_{in} and the reduction in the slope of the current through L_o (13). From (14) it is obvious that the increase in voltage in C_{in} is only possible while V_o is bigger than the reflected voltage in the transformer. This modulation scheme can only provide buck gain. Once the V_{in} equals the reflected output voltage, the proposed modulation scheme in [1] can be used to achieve boost gain and finish the start-up sequence.

It interesting to point out as well that the closer $V_{in,ref}$ is to the final voltage the more energy can be transferred to the input capacitor per switching cycle. This is due to the proportional increase in the time it takes to reach I_{pk} in the inductor (13). During that longer time, current flows proportionally more into the primary side capacitor. Nevertheless, the saturation limit of the transformer has still to be observed.

3. PRACTICAL IMPLEMENTATION

There are two possible implementations of the proposed novel modulation scheme:

- A fixed switching frequency control. The converter operates in Discontinuous Conduction Mode (DCM) for the small duty and in boundary mode once the duty is limited by the switching frequency.
- A variable switching frequency control. The converter operates in boundary mode only limited in the lower frequency range by the saturation of the transformer.

Both variants can be implemented in a programmable controller like the XMC from Infineon as an extension of the currently available bidirectional PSFB controller in [1].

4. SIMULATION RESULTS

In an implementation of the proposed modulation with constant switching frequency, the maximum duty that could be applied is equal to the period minus the resonance time (16). Substituting the values in the previous formulas we can solve numerically the charging time for the cold start-up of a converter with $C_{in} = 440 \ \mu\text{F}$, $V_o = 54 \ \text{V}$, $C_{oss,SR} = 4.604 \ \text{pF}$, $E_{oss,SR}(Vo) = 0.88 \ \mu\text{J}$, $L_o = 6 \ \mu\text{H}$, $V_{ds,SR,max} = 120 \ \text{V}$, $N_{pri} = 21 \ \text{and} \ N_{sec} = 4$. The $I_{off,max}$ for the given parameters would be equal to $I_{off,max} = 3.71 \ \text{A}$. The corresponding $I_{pk,max}$ would be equal to 4.30 \ A. The resonance time would be approximately 378 ns.

For a fixed frequency scheme the maximum possible duty at 200 kHz switching frequency would be approximately 4.24 μ s. The maximum V_{in} at which we could apply the I_{off,max} at 200 kHz would be V_{in,DCM} = 251 V. Therefore, under V_{in,DCM} the converter operates in DCM (Figure 7 and Figure 8), above V_{in,DCM} and until V_{in,max} = 283 V the converter operates in boundary mode (Figure 9).





Figure 9. Simplified waveforms of the proposed modulation in boundary mode.

In a fixed frequency cold-start-up scheme the start-up takes relatively long time, a minimum of 360 ms for the previous example parameters (Figure 10). In a variable frequency scheme the converter operates in boundary mode always, limited only by the maximum $I_{off,max}$ (Figure 11 and Figure 12). In this mode the charging time from $V_{in} = 0$ until $V_{in,max} = 283$ V can be calculated also numerically. In this mode of operation the start-up requires less time, a minimum of 146 ms (Figure 13).



Figure 10. Cold start-up with a fixed frequency scheme (DCM). Approximately 360 ms.



Figure 11. Simulation of variable frequency cold-start-up (boundary mode) with the proposed modulation.





Figure 13. Cold start-up with a variable frequency scheme (boundary mode). Approximately 146 ms.

Figure 12. Simulation of variable frequency cold-start-up (boundary mode) with the proposed modulation.

5. CONCLUSIONS

In this chapter a new modulation scheme for the cold start-up of current-fed isolated boost converters and bidirectional Phase Shifted Full Bridge converters has been proposed. The proposed modulation scheme allows using PSFB topology as part of a bidirectional converter with cold start-up requirements, common in electric vehicles DCDC converters, UPS, or islanding grid applications among others. The proposed control technique enables the PSFB DCDC converter as an alternative to bidirectional converters with buck-boost capabilities like DAB or CLLC.

Two alternative implementations of the modulation scheme have been proposed. In a fixed frequency implementation the converter operates in Discontinuous Conduction Mode and in boundary mode limited by the fixed period. In a variable frequency implementation the converter operates in boundary mode only limited in the lower frequency range by the saturation of the transformer.

Finally the proposed modulation scheme has been demonstrated mathematically and in simulations.

REFERENCES

- M. Escudero, D. Meneses, N. Rodriguez and D. P. Morales, "Modulation scheme for the bidirectional operation of the Phase Shift Full Bridge Power Converter," in IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics.
- M.A. Kutschak, M. Escudero, "3300 W 54 V bi-directional phase-shift full-bridge with 600 V CoolMOSTM CFD7 and XMCTM", Infineon
- [3] M.A. Kutschak, D. Meneses, "3300 W CCM bi-directional totem pole with 650V CoolSiCTM and XMCTM", Infineon

CHAPTER 16. MODULATION SCHEME FOR THE GAIN RANGE EXTENSION AND BIDIRECTIONAL OPERATION OF LLC CONVERTERS

1. INTRODUCTION

The LLC resonant converter working in the forward direction (Figure 1) has a large signal gain that depends on the switching frequency: the gain decreases above the series resonant frequency (buck operation) and increases under the series resonant frequency (boost operation) (Figure 2). Additionally, the gain also varies depending on the load of the converter:

- For heavy loads the boost capability decreases.
- For light loads the buck capability reduces. The phenomenon is aggravated by the effects of additional circuit parasitics that may cause the gain to become non-monotonic and to actually increase as the switching frequency goes up [1].

In consequence, the design of a wide output and/or wide input range LLC converter requires of special design considerations (increase of the magnetizing current, with the consequent decrease in overall efficiency) and/or control techniques (e.g. burst mode), especially at light load or at the minimum output voltage. A good summary of solutions for the light load regulation of LLC converters is covered in [1]-[5]. It is noteworthy that in [5] a delayed turn-off is applied to the SRs to decrease the gain of the converter while operating under resonance and in forward mode. However, the most common solution, when possible, is burst mode operation.

It is acknowledged that the LLC converter can operate as a bidirectional converter (Figure 3). However, when operating in reverse direction the maximum possible gain is lower than or equal to one (Figure 4). The converter operates as series resonant converter in this mode (the equivalent resonant tank is comprised of only two resonant elements, LC). This limits the applicability of the reverse operation of the LLC [4], often replaced by CLLC or other symmetrical topologies like Dual Active Bridge (DAB) when bidirectional capability is a requirement [6].







Figure 2. LLC converter frequency to gain curves at different loads. Buck operation above the series resonance (70 kHz) and boost operation under the series resonance.



Figure 4. Reverse operating LLC converter frequency to gain curves at different loads. Gain is always lower than or equal to one.

In this chapter a new modulation scheme is proposed which provides boosting gain for the series resonant converter. Moreover, the proposed control scheme works both in forward and reverse operation of the LLC and addresses both the problems listed above: light load regulation in forward mode and boost gain in reverse mode. The novel modulation scheme controls the large signal gain of the LLC converter adjusting the synchronous rectifier's conduction time without any additional circuitry. For the proposed modulation scheme the only requirement is the operation of the LLC above the resonant frequency.

2. MODULATION SCHEME FOR THE GAIN RANGE EXTENSION AND BIDIRECTIONAL OPERATION OF LLC CONVERTERS

2.1. INCREASE OF GAIN

The gain of the converter can be increased by delaying the turn-off of the synchronous rectifiers (Figure 5). The delayed turn-off increases the initial current at the start of the next power transfer and the total amount of energy transferred (enclosed area between iL_r and the magnetizing current, which corresponds to the secondary side reflected current (Figure 5)).



Figure 5. Proposed increase of gain of the LLC by delayed turn-off of the SRs.

2.2. DECREASE OF GAIN

The gain of the converter can be decreased by advancing the turn-on of the synchronous rectifiers (Figure 6). The early turn-on decreases the initial current at the start of the next power transfer and the total amount of energy transferred (enclosed area between iL_r and the magnetizing current, which corresponds to the secondary side reflected current (Figure 6)).



Figure 6. Proposed decrease of gain of the LLC by early turn-on of the SRs.

3. SIMULATION RESULTS

3.1. BIDIRECTIONAL OPERATION, INCREASE OF GAIN

The LLC converter in Figure 3 was simulated both with a standard modulation and applying different turn-off delays to the SRs. The resulting gains of the converter plotted in Figure 7 and Figure 8 demonstrate the effect of the proposed modulation scheme. Furthermore, the graphs in Figure 7 highlight the fact that the proposed modulation scheme only works above the resonant frequency of the converter.

Figure 9 and Figure 10 emphasize the influence of the working point on the circulating currents through the converter. Nearly the same increase in gain can be achieve in D and H, C and G, B and F but the latest points E to H are more practical since the resulting *rms* currents are much lower.

On the other hand, it is noteworthy to mention that while the HV side is always soft switched in all working points A to G, the LV side is soft-switched in A, E and F but it is partially hard-switched in G and F, and hard-commutated in B, C and D.



Figure 7. Reverse operating LLC converter frequency to gain curves with the proposed modulation and applying different turn-off delays to the SRs. Includes four examples of possible boost operating points close to the resonance and four examples of possible boost operating points at high frequencies in relation to the series resonance.



Figure 8. Simulated waveforms of the standard and the proposed modulation scheme for the points E to H in Figure 7.



Figure 9. Simulated waveforms of standard and proposed modulation scheme for the points A to D in Figure 7. The *rms* currents are higher than in the operating points E to H in Figure 7.

3.2. DECREASE OF GAIN

The LLC converter in Figure 1 was simulated with a standard modulation and applying different turn-on delays to the synchronous rectifiers. The resulting gains of the converter plotted in Figure 10 demonstrate the effect of the proposed modulation scheme. The graph in Figure 10 highlights the fact that the proposed modulation scheme only works above the resonant frequency of the converter.

On the other hand, Figure 11 emphasizes the increase in *rms* currents for the proposed modulation scheme while reducing the gain. Moreover, it is noteworthy to mention that while the HV side is soft-switched in L-I, the LV side is hard-commutated in K-I.



Figure 10. Forward operation of the LLC converter. Frequency to gain curves with the proposed modulation applying different turn-on delays to the SRs. Includes four example working points at high frequencies in relation to the series resonance.



4. CONCLUSIONS

In this chapter a new modulation scheme for LLC converters is proposed, which increases or decreases the large signal gain of the converter by delaying or advancing the synchronous rectifiers gating signals. The proposed modulation scheme does not require of any hardware modification of the power stage. The control can be applied to a standard LLC which controller allows delaying and/or advancing the synchronous rectifiers (SR) gating signals. The preferred implementation would be a digital controller with multimode operation where the frequency control and SR delay control can be integrated.

The solution presented enables the LLC as a bidirectional converter in applications where the efficiency in the reverse boost operation mode is not important. For example, it is a requirement in On Board Chargers (OBC) to charge up the bus capacitors prior to the battery switch closes and connects the high voltage (HV) battery to the bus. However, most of the time the OBC works in the forward direction. The solution presented in this chapter enables a more efficient and cost effective solution than the CLLC or the DAB alternatives.

The proposed control techniques in this chapter are patent pending, and the application has been already published [7].

REFERENCES

- Owen Song, "LLC Output Characteristics Analysis under Light Load and Solutions to Maintain Output Voltage within Specification", Infineon Technologies
- [2] Q. Cao, Z. Li and H. Wang, "Wide Voltage Gain Range LLC DC/DC Topologies: State-of-the-Art," 2018 International Power Electronics Conference (IPEC-Niigata 2018 - ECCE Asia), Niigata, 2018, pp. 100-107.
- [3] N. Shafiei, M. Ordonez, M. Craciun, C. Botting and M. Edington, "Burst Mode Elimination in High-Power LLC Resonant Battery Charger for Electric Vehicles," in IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, vol. 31, no. 2, pp. 1173-1188, Feb. 2016.
- H. Li et al., "A 6.6kW SiC bidirectional on-board charger," 2018 IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC), San Antonio, TX, 2018, pp. 1171-1178.
- [5] K. Kim, H. Youn, J. Baek, Y. Jeong and G. Moon, "Analysis on Synchronous Rectifier Control to Improve Regulation Capability of High-FrequencyLLCResonant Converter," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 33, no. 8, pp. 7252-7259, Aug. 2018.
- [6] F. Krismer, J. Biela and J. W. Kolar, "A comparative evaluation of isolated bi-directional DC/DC converters with wide input and output voltage range," Fourtieth IAS Annual Meeting. Conference Record of the 2005 Industry Applications Conference, 2005, Kowloon, Hong Kong, 2005, pp. 599-606 Vol. 1.
- [7] M. Escudero, M. Kutschak, inventors; Infineon Technologies Austria AG, assignee. Bi-directional LLC converter. United States patent application 16/585,166. September 27, 2019

SECTION IV. CONCLUSION

CHAPTER 17. RESULTS AND CONCLUSIONS

1. MAIN RESULTS

For the currently available semiconductor power switching devices the resonant and quasi-resonant converters are the most attractive options for achieving high efficiency, high power density or a combination of both at a reasonable cost. The key advantage of the resonant and quasi-resonant converters is the reduction of the switching losses. The switching losses can be reduced achieving ZVS for the turn-on transition and ZCS for the turn-off transition.

Among the isolated, resonant and quasi-resonant DCDC converter topologies, the most common ones in medium-high power and high-voltage applications are the LLC, the PSFB and the DAB due to their simplicity and high efficiencies. Among those topologies each one has its own advantages and disadvantages, which makes each of them best suited for different applications, power and voltage ranges.

This thesis is focused in the study of the LLC and the PSFB. Both of this topologies are very promising and well suited for any of the available power switching semiconductor technologies in the market, specifically for Si SJ MOSFETs, which are currently the most mature devices and the most competitive in cost now and in the foreseeable future. The objective of this thesis is the optimization, improved reliability and functionality of the LLC and the PSFB maintaining as much as possible the simplicity of the standard circuit configuration.

Therefore, the main contribution of this thesis is the design and construction of two converters with similar specifications and similar magnetic structure to study the achievable performance of the two main topologies objective of this work: LLC and PSFB. It has been found that, although PSFB can achieve higher efficiencies than is commonly expected thanks to the newest devices and the newly proposed control techniques, the LLC is still potentially superior and capable of still higher efficiencies with less components at a lesser cost. However, in bidirectional applications the large signal gain range of the PSFB makes it still superior to the LLC.

Chapter 4 introduces a complete system solution for a 3300 W bidirectional PSFB DCDC converter from 400 V to 54 V which achieves 98 % efficiency in forward or buck mode and 97% in reverse or boost mode. The achieved power density is in the range of 4.34 W/cm³ (71.19 W/in³), which is enabled by the use of SMD packages, the innovative stacked magnetic construction and the innovative cooling solution. This DCDC converter proves the feasibility of PSFB topology as a high efficiency topology at the level of fully resonant topologies when combined with the latest SJ MOSFET technologies. This DCDC converter proves as well that the PSFB topology can be used as a bidirectional DCDC stage without changes in the standard design or construction of a traditional and well known topology through innovations in control techniques powered by digital control.

Chapter 5 introduces a complete system solution for a 3300 W LLC DCDC converter from 400 V to 51.5 V achieving 98.1 % peak of efficiency. The achieved power density is in the range of 4 W/cm³ (66 W/in³) which is enabled by the use of SMD packages, the innovative stacked magnetic construction and the innovative cooling solution. The optimized layout and an optimized driving circuitry achieves benchmark performance with minimum stress in the devices, enabled also by the innovative cooling concepts presented in this board. This DCDC converter proves the feasibility of the half-bridge LLC as a high-efficiency topology for a 3300 W converter, at the level of full-bridge LLC or a dual stage LLC. This DCDC converter also proves that digital control, powered by XMC[™] Infineon general purpose microcontrollers, is not only capable of controlling the LLC topology but the most effective way to overcome its difficulties and pitfalls. Moreover, the included protections mechanisms and control schemes further boost the reliability and performance of the converter achieving the best possible efficiency.

2. CONCLUSIONS

2.1. PHASE SHIFT FULL BRIDGE CONVERTER DESIGN

Since the server power supplies consume an enormous amount of power, the most critical issue is high efficiency. In order to implement a high efficiency and high power density server PSU, PSFB converter with SRs MOSFETs, external resonant inductor and clamping diodes is the perfect topology for the DCDC stage. Its main characteristic is the wide ZVS operation range from mid to full load, nearly suppressing switching losses. More-over, the constant switching frequency allows a simple control and EMI design. One of the major advantages of PSFB over other resonant soft-switching topologies is the comparatively lower *rms* currents through the secondary side of the converter thanks to the output filter inductance. However, hold-up time regulation requirement makes PSFB converter not to be operated with its maximum effective duty in nominal conditions and causes long free-wheeling time and large circulating currents in the primary side of the converter.

The design of a high efficiency PSFB converter is a complex problem with many degrees of freedom which requires of a sufficiently accurate modeling of the losses of the converter and of efficient design criteria. In the published paper in Chapter 9 a losses model of the converter has been proposed as well as design guidelines for

the efficiency optimization of the PSFB converter. The losses model and the criteria have been tested with the redesign of an existing reference PSFB DCDC converter for server applications that achieved 95.85 % of efficiency at 50 % of load. The new converter was designed following the same specifications as the reference: 1400 W of maximum power; 400 V nominal input voltage; hold-up regulation down to 360 V input voltage; and 12 V output. The new optimized prototype of PSFB converter was built and tested achieving a peak efficiency of 96.68 % at 50 % of load, notably exceeding the performance of the reference converter in all load range and operating conditions.

The main differences between both designs are related to the magnetics construction, with an improved balance of core and conduction losses along the load range of the converter. Furthermore, the transformer turns ratio and the dimensioning of the external resonant inductance enabled lower $R_{ds,on}$ in the primary side HV devices and lower voltage class (and consequently also lower $R_{ds,on}$) in the secondary side LV devices. Moreover, all semiconductors in the new optimized design are SMD, which together with the high efficiency at full load enables a power density in the range of 3.70 W/cm³ (60.78 W/in³).

Chapter 3 further describes the new optimized PSFB DCDC converter for server applications which was introduced in the published paper in Chapter 9. This DCDC converter proves the feasibility of PSFB topology as high efficiency topology at the level of fully resonant topologies when combined with the latest SJ MOSFETs devices. This DCDC converter proves as well that digital control, powered by XMCTM Infineon general purpose microcontrollers, is not only capable of controlling PSFB topology but also to overcome its drawbacks and to enable the usage of the latest SJ MOSFET devices and the lowest possible voltage class devices, both in the HV and in the LV side, to achieve the best possible performance.

2.1.1. PSFB PRIMARY SIDE CIRCULATING CURRENTS

The primary side *rms* current in PSFB DCDC converters is larger than in other quasi-resonant or fully resonant converters (DAB or LLC). During the freewheeling phase the current recirculates in the primary side of the converter without effective power transfer to the secondary side. There are techniques described in the literature for resetting the primary circulating currents but always with additional circuitry in the primary or in the secondary side of the converter.

Chapter 12 has proposed a new modulation technique which decreases the switching frequency of the PSFB DCDC converter to compensate for the loss of duty cycle due to the drop in the input voltage (e.g. during holdup time). The proposed control scheme allows the design of PSFB for its optimal performance at the nominal operating conditions while fulfilling the specifications for hold-up time. Alternatively, the proposed control scheme allows increasing the input voltage regulation range and/or the output voltage regulation range.

Chapter 13 has proposed a new modulation scheme for resetting the primary side circulating currents in PSFB DCDC converters without additional circuitry. The proposed control scheme reduces the primary side conduction losses in PSFB topology for highly efficient DCDC converters. Moreover, the proposed modulation scheme is especially advantageous in designs with Wide Band Gap devices or similar in the primary side of the converter. The lower reverse recovery charges (Q_{rr}) and output charge (Q_{oss}) of the devices further helps reducing the circulating currents and the additional switching losses in this newly proposed modulation scheme.

2.1.2. PSFB SYNCHRONOUS RECTIFIERS VOLTAGE CLASS

One of the major disadvantages of the PSFB topology in comparison to other resonant topologies is the higher blocking voltage required for the SRs. This is especially detrimental in wide range operation converters and further aggravated by the SRs drain voltage overshoot. Unlike other resonant topologies, the inductor at the output of the PSFB effectively decouples the capacitor bank from the rectification stage, which otherwise becomes a strong lossless snubber.

In the published paper included in Chapter 8 the main causes for the secondary side rectifiers drain voltage overshoot in PWM converters, specifically in PSFB converters, have been analyzed. Design guidelines and solutions for each of the scenarios, including a novel modulation scheme for the operation of PSFB with the output filter operating in DCM have been proposed. Traditionally the main criterion for the selection of the external resonant inductance has been the available energy for the ZVS of the HV primary side devices and the loss of duty cycle at full load. However, the analysis in this work demonstrates that, from the point of view of the overall performance of the system, the impact on the secondary side drain voltage overshoot and the reduction of the secondary side switching losses has to be taken into account for the dimensioning of the transformer's turns ratio n and the external inductance L_r .

The proposed strategies enable the design of DCDC PSFB converters targeting high efficiency without penalties in reliability, complexity or cost. Lower blocking voltage requirements for the rectification devices improve their Figure of Merit, potentially reducing their related losses and increasing the overall efficiency of the converter.

The feasibility of the proposed solutions have been tested in the two PSFB DCDC converters in this thesis, a 1400 W PSFB converter for server application in Chapter 3 and Chapter 8, and a 3300 W PSFB converter for

telecom and battery charging applications in Chapter 4 and Chapter 7. The drain voltage overshoot has been proven to remain well within standard rated limits in all working conditions of these converters.

2.1.3. BIDIRECTIONAL PSFB DCDC CONVERTER

In the published paper included in Chapter 7 a modulation scheme for the operation of the PSFB as a bidirectional DC/DC converter has been proposed to overcome well-known problems on isolated boost converters: high drain voltage overshoot on the secondary or current-fed side devices, and the lack of ZVS capability on the primary or voltage-fed side devices. Furthermore, these issues are addressed without penalties in complexity, cost or performance: the design optimization procedure (selection of the output inductor, leakage or magnetizing inductance among other parameters) is not constrained by the proposed bidirectional operation of the converter.

The main issues and the solutions given by the proposed control techniques have been analyzed in detail. The proposed modulation allows boost operation with minimized drain voltage overshoot equalizing the currents through the boost inductor and other inductances of the converter (L_r , L_{lkg} and stray) prior to a power transfer. Moreover, it enables the usage of primary side clamping diodes, with their advantages in forward or buck operation.

With the proposed modulation the primary side devices achieve full or nearly full ZVS along all load range of the converter in both forward and reverse operation. In addition, a method for extending ZVS range of the lagging leg while operating in boost mode with the proposed modulation has been introduced: precharging the inductances above the minimum required for reducing the overshoot.

In the proposed boost mode operation the secondary side devices are turned-on in hard switching conditions, whereas they are soft switched in buck operation mode. The conduction loss of the primary side clamping diodes is also relatively higher in the boost mode. Those additional contributions to losses, which are the main drawbacks of the modulation presented in this paper, decrease the overall system efficiency of the converter when working in reverse or boost mode in comparison to the forward or buck mode.

A high efficiency prototype of bidirectional 3300 W PSFB was designed and built to demonstrate the feasibility of the proposed solution. The experimental results confirm the analysis introduced in this paper. The prototype achieves a peak efficiency of 98 % in the buck mode and 97.5 % in the boost mode at nominal conditions and 50 % load points. Overall, this work demonstrates that the PSFB is a competitive alternative when building highly efficient and cost-competitive bidirectional DC/DC converters.

In Chapter 15 a new modulation scheme for the cold start-up of current-fed isolated boost converters and bidirectional Phase Shifted Full Bridge converters is proposed. The proposed modulation scheme allows using PSFB topology as part of a bidirectional converter with cold start-up requirements, common in electric vehicles DCDC converters, UPS, or islanding grid applications among others. The proposed control technique enables the PSFB DCDC converter as an alternative to bidirectional converters with buck-boost capabilities like DAB or CLLC.

Two alternative implementations of the start-up modulation scheme are proposed. In a fixed frequency implementation the converter operates in Discontinuous Conduction Mode and in boundary mode limited by the fixed period. In a variable frequency implementation the converter operates in boundary mode only limited in the lower frequency range by the saturation of the transformer. Finally the proposed modulation scheme has been analyzed mathematically and demonstrated in simulations.

2.2. BIDIRECTIONAL LLC DCDC CONVERTER

In Chapter 16 a new modulation scheme for LLC converters has been proposed that increases or decreases the nominal large signal gain of the converter by delaying or advancing the synchronous rectifiers gating signals. The proposed modulation scheme does not require of any hardware modification of the power stage. The control can be applied to a standard LLC whose controller allows delaying and/or advancing the synchronous rectifiers (SR) gating signals. The preferred implementation would be a digital controller with multimode operation where the frequency control and SR delay control can be integrated.

The solution presented enables the LLC as a bidirectional converter in applications where the efficiency in the reverse boost operation mode is not important. For example, it is a requirement in On Board Chargers (OBC) to charge up the bus capacitors prior to the battery switch closes and connects the high voltage (HV) battery to the bus. However, most of the time the OBC works in the forward direction. The solution presented in this chapter enables a more efficient and cost effective solution than the CLLC or the DAB alternatives.

2.3. SI SJ MOSFETS IN RESONANT AND QUASI-RESONANT CONVERTERS

In the published paper included in Chapter 10 the impact of the non-linear distribution of charge in the output capacitance of modern Si devices on the performance and requirements for the design of resonant ZVS converters has been analyzed. Furthermore, the non-linear capacitance of Si has been compared to the quasi-linear capacitance of a SiC device of equivalent time related output capacitance $C_{oss(tr)}$, and compared to the quasi-linear capacitance of a GaN device of similar energy related output capacitance $C_{oss(tr)}$. The advantages and disadvantages

In half-bridge topologies the required energy to achieve full ZVS depends exclusively on the total output stored charge $Q_{oss}(V_{DC})$ and the supply voltage V_{DC} , whereas in single device topologies the required energy is further increased by a relatively smaller $E_{oss}(V_{DC})$. In summary, in the full ZVS scenario, the equivalent SiC and the GaN devices are superior to the Si device in single device and half bridge topologies.

In partial hard-switching turn-on, within certain hard-switching turn-on voltage, the losses of the Si device could be lower than the switching losses of the equivalent $C_{oss(tr)}$ SiC or the equivalent $C_{oss(er)}$ GaN device. However, for a certain energy in the resonant inductor the switching voltage of the SiC or the GaN devices is much lower. Moreover, the Si advantage window dramatically diminishes when is compared to equivalent $R_{ds,on}$ SiC or GaN devices.

Overall, this work demonstrates that a meaningful one-to-one replacement of devices without a redesign of the converter would be among devices with an equivalent $C_{oss(tr)}$. Moreover, to fully unleash the potential improvement in the overall performance of the converter while replacing a Si device by an equivalent $R_{ds,on}$ SiC or GaN device requires the redesign of the resonant ZVS converter accounting for the reduced ZVS energy requirements. Finally, a highly efficient 3300 W DCDC LLC resonant converter prototype was designed and built to demonstrate the validity of the analysis.

2.3.1. DRIVING SCHEME FOR POWER SEMICONDUCTORS

In Chapter 14 a novel driving circuit for power semiconductors based on a switched capacitor charge pump circuit is proposed. The proposed technique could be applied to aid the turn-on transition or to provide higher positive driving voltage during the full turn-on pulse, to aid the turn-off transition or to provide lower negative driving voltage during the full turn-off pulse. The proposed turn-on aid and the turn-off aid can be used separately or combined together.

The proposed solution behaves differently and offers different advantages depending on the dimensioning of the external capacitors, and depending on their size ratio to the gate capacitance of the power semiconductor.

The proposed solution brings benefits to power semiconductor devices in all topology scenarios, reducing switching losses and allowing their usage in higher current applications with standard packages. It offers advantages both in hard-switched and soft-switched applications: lower switching losses, better clamping capabilities, and dual supply generation.

Finally, the proposed solution can be used together with any type of power semiconductor devices reducing losses in any topology and providing a dual supply bias from a single supply source when required.

2.4. MAGNETICS CONSTRUCTION

Reducing the switching and conduction losses of the semiconductor switches is not enough [1]. The key of an efficient and reliable isolated DCDC converter is in the magnetics design, more specifically the transformer. The main transformer has two main contributions to the losses: core loss and conduction loss. The core loss is proportional to the switching frequency and the flux density. The conduction loss in the transformer becomes increasingly complicated to estimate as the switching frequency increases (skin, proximity and fringing effects). The same principles apply to other magnetics in the converter like the series resonant chokes or the output inductors. This is the reason why so many studies focus in improving the magnetics: reducing the flux density, or improving their construction to alleviate the effects of the high frequency in the conductors.

In Chapter 6 and Chapter 11 a complete PSU with high efficiency requirements and constrained dimensions is presented. Due to the outer dimension limits, a planar transformer with reduced height and volume is preferred. In the proposed construction, the main transformer and the parallel resonant inductor have been integrated into the same structure. One of the main advantages of the discrete implementation of the parallel resonant inductor and the main transformer is the improved coupling of the transformer. The magnetizing inductance of the main transformer can be made arbitrarily high. Therefore, the magnetizing current becomes neglectably small. On the one hand, this reduces the proximity losses, especially important in planar windings. On the other hand, the gap of the main transformer is virtually zero, therefore, reducing the effect of the stray fields, also very harmful in planar windings.

With the proposed construction technique it is possible to achieve high efficiency at reasonable cost and power density in isolated DCDC converters.

3. FUTURE WORKS

3.1. NARROW RANGE DAB CONVERTER WITH SI SJ MOSFETS

The DAB is a fully symmetric converter in which the large signal gain is controlled by the overlap or phase shift between the primary side and the secondary side duty and the direction of the power flow is controlled by the sign of the phase shift between the primary and the secondary side duty. In its most simple modulation scheme the primary and the secondary side devices are controlled by a fixed frequency 50% duty signal. Other more advanced modulation schemes are possible in which the duty of the primary, the secondary or both sides can vary.

Whereas the most advanced modulation schemes bring the advantage of an extended ZVS range, and lower *rms* currents through the converter in part of the operation range, the control complexity greatly increases. Moreover, the simple 50 % duty modulation allows the implementation of a DAB converter with a half-bridge in the primary and center tapped rectification in the secondary, which greatly reduces the circuit complexity of the circuit and has a total component count at the level of LLC converters. Furthermore, the efficiency levels that can be achieved in this configuration are potentially near the level of an LLC with similar specifications.

Finally, it is commonly acknowledged that the DAB converter is not well suited for wide range applications with Si SJ MOSFETs. The ZVS operation range is limited at light loads. Moreover, the primary side or the secondary side can become hard-commutated depending on the load, the input and output voltages. However, the issue can be alleviated increasing the primary side magnetizing currents, at the expense of the additional circulating currents and conduction losses. This approach can be effective in narrow range output converters.

3.2. WIDE BAND GAP DEVICES IN PSFB, LLC AND DAB CONVERTERS

Whereas the Si MOSFETs and more specifically the Si SJ MOSFETs are currently the most mature and cost effective power semiconductor switches in modern SMPS, other alternative superior technologies, like SiC and GaN devices, are becoming increasingly common. Moreover, it is to be expected that thanks to their general adoption their cost will progressively decrease and become a very competitive option in the near future.

Wide Band Gap devices (SiC and GaN) with their most notable intrinsic characteristics (very low Q_{oss} and Q_{rr}) enable alternative design rules for the presented converters in this thesis. For SiC and GaN devices hard-switching and hard-commutation are not as much of a performance or reliability issue as they are for Si devices. Moreover, the driving and switching losses allow the increase in the switching frequency without a major impact in the overall efficiency but with a potential improvement of the maximum achievable power density of the converter.

3.3. PLANAR MAGNETICS

Most of the main transformers in the converters included in this thesis have been realized with a semi-planar construction technique combining Litz wire with planar copper plates. Thanks to the semi-planar arrangement it is possible to interleave in multiple sections the primary and secondary windings, which greatly improves the proximity losses, decreases the leakage inductance and achieves a high window utilization of the transformer.

However, the construction of this type of transformers is still mostly not automated. Therefore it requires of extra assembly effort and cost. Moreover, due to the manual assembly the parameter values and the overall quality has a larger variability than fully automated solutions.

Fully planar magnetics are manufactured with one or several Printed Circuit Boards (PCBs). This alternative construction technique offers several advantages to more traditional arrangements, among them: low profile magnetics, very repeatable and automatable production. Moreover, thanks to the improvements in the PCB manufacturing it is possible to achieve as well very high window utilization. However, although it is possible to interleave primary and secondary windings in many sections, like in the semi-planar arrangement, the fully planar windings are more susceptible than Litz wire to the effect of the stray magnetics fields caused by the gaps or the magnetizing current.

Therefore, it remains a challenge to replace the semi-planar transformers in this thesis with fully planar assemblies achieving equal or better performance in a similar or smaller space.

4. OPENED WORK FOR FUTURE LINES

4.1. CONVERTER DESIGN TOOLS

During the development of the prototypes in this thesis a set of design tools have been created to estimate or predict the efficiency of the converters prior to their construction. During and after the testing, the tools have been continually adjusted to further improve the accuracy and further include observed losses phenomena within the converters.

Some of this tools have been based on analythical closed form expressions for the losses estimation of the different topologies, whereas other of the tools have been based on time domain simulations. Whichever is the approach, it has been observed that achieving the highest efficiency targets requires of accurate modelling and an iterative design process. Moreover, it has been observed that the models have to be proofed within real experimental converters, especially due to sometimes unexpected or unkown losses mechanisms.

Works like the published article in chapter 9 have proben to be very popular and highly accessed by practicing engineers and scholars. In that publication a detailed loss analysis of the PSFB converter and design rules were

given. It is therefore of high interest to continue the development of design tools and the publication of works including detailed loss analysis and design rules for other topologies.

4.2. HIGH FREQUENCY CONVERTERS

Since the power requirements of applications like server, datacenter, telecommunications, adapters, etc. continue to increase, and due to the cost of the infrastructure space or simply due to the convenience of smaller size electronics, the requirements for power density of power supplies also increase continuously.

Achieving higher power densities requires of higher efficiencies. On the one hand, the heat dissipation capabilities of some components is limited by their exposed surfaces and by the cooling system capabilities. On the other hand, the sources of heat are closely packed together, therefore rising the ambient temperature at the power supply level, or at a larger scale, of the infrastructure itself.

Finally, achieving higher power densities requires of higher switching frequencies, which can decrease the volume of the magnetic and/or capacitive energy storage components in the SMPS. However, building a high-frequency and high-efficiency power supply is a great challenge which will continue to be a field of study in the ongoing years, especially due to the adavnces in new semiconductor and magnetic material technologies.

REFERENCES

[1] J. W. Kolar, D. Bortis and D. Neumayr, "The ideal switch is not enough," 2016 28th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and ICs (ISPSD), Prague, 2016, pp. 15-22